
Health and Wellbeing Board

Date Tuesday 30 July 2019
Time 9.30 am
Venue Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to 
attend.

Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman’s 
agreement

1. Election of Chair  

2. Appointment of Vice-Chair  

3. Apologies for Absence  

4. Substitute Members  

5. Declarations of Interest  

6. Minutes of the meeting held on 8 May 2019  (Pages 5 - 12)

7. Health and Social Care Plan (standard item): Verbal update from 
Corporate Director Adult and Health Services, Durham County 
Council; Chief Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales, 
Easington & Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups; and 
Director of Integrated Community Services, NHS County Durham 
and Durham County Council  



8. A Vision for County Durham: Report and Presentation of 
Corporate Director Adult and Health Services, Durham County 
Council  (Pages 13 - 40)

9. Joint Strategic Needs Assessment: Report of Director of Public 
Health, Durham County Council  (Pages 41 - 54)

10. Area Action Partnership update: Report and presentation of Area 
Action Partnership Coordinator, East Durham Rural Corridor 
AAP, Durham County Council, and presentation from Revitalise 
Project  (Pages 55 - 88)

11. Tobacco Control Annual Update: Report of Director of Public 
Health, Durham County Council  (Pages 89 - 98)

12. Tobacco Dependency in Pregnancy: Report of Director of Public 
Health, Durham County Council  (Pages 99 - 130)

13. Joining the Dots update: Report of Director of Public Health, 
Durham County Council, and update from Service User  (Pages 
131 - 142)

14. Joint Health and Social Care Commissioning Strategy - Learning 
Disabilities: Report of Strategic Commissioning Manager, 
Learning Disabilities and Mental Health, Durham County Council  
(Pages 143 - 190)

15. Better Care Fund Q4 performance: Report of Strategic 
Programme Manager Integration, Durham County Council  
(Pages 191 - 198)

16. Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy Q4 performance update: 
Report and presentation of Head of Strategy, Transformation and 
Partnerships, Durham County Council  (Pages 199 - 240)

17. Healthwatch County Durham Annual report 2018/19 and 
Workplan 2019/20: Report of Chair, Healthwatch County Durham  
(Pages 241 - 282)

18. Health and Wellbeing Board Campaigns: Presentation of Director 
of Public Health, Durham County Council  (Pages 283 - 292)



19. Integrated Care System: Report of Chief Officer, North Durham 
and Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield Clinical 
Commissioning Groups  (Pages 293 - 302)

20. Clinical Commissioning Group merger: Report of Chief Officer, 
North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Groups  (Pages 303 - 330)

21. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

22. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information  

Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)

23. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
22 July 2019

Councillors L Hovvels, O Gunn and J Allen

J Robinson Adult and Health Services, Durham 
County Council

M Whellans Children and Young People’s Services, 
Durham County Council

A Healy Public Health, County Durham Adult and 
Health Services, Durham County 
Council

To: The Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board

Durham County Council



N Bailey North Durham and Durham Dales 
Easington and Sedgefield Clinical 
Commissioning Groups

Dr D Smart North Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group

Dr S Findlay Durham Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Group

Dr J Smith Durham Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Group

S Jacques County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust

J Gillon North Tees and Hartlepool NHS 
Foundation Trust

L Buckley Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust

V Mitchell City Hospitals Sunderland NHS 
Foundation Trust

B Jackson Healthwatch County Durham
R Chillery Harrogate and District NHS Foundation 

Trust
L Jeavons North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington 

and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Groups and Durham County Council

S White

D Brown

Office of the Police, Crime, and Victim’s 
Commissioner
County Durham and Darlington Fire and 
Rescue Service

Contact: Jackie Graham Tel: 03000 269704



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Health and Wellbeing Board held in Committee Room 2 - County 
Hall, Durham on Wednesday 8 May 2019 at 9.30 am

Present:

Councillor L Hovvels (Chairman)

Members of the Committee:
Councillors J Allen and O Gunn

Apologies:
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors  N Bailey, Brown, Gillon, 
Jackson, S Jacques and White

1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from N Bailey, D Brown, J Gillon, B Jackson, 
S Jacques and S White

2 Substitute Members 

J Foggin for S Jacques, M Mitchell for B Jackson and K Wanley for D Brown

3 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

4 Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 6 March 2019 were agreed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chairman.

5 Health and Social Care Plan (standard item) 

The Board received an update from the Corporate Director of Adult and Health 
Services, Durham County Council on the County Durham Health and Social Care 
Plan.  The Cabinet report had been received by CCG governing bodies and 
commissioners were now working on a model based on principles.  Further options 
would be reported back to Cabinet and CCGs in the autumn prior to implementation 
by April 2020.

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



The Chief Clinical Officer, North Durham and DDES CCG gave a presentation that 
provided an update on the 2019/20 GP contract which covered the following key 
themes:-

 Primary Care Networks
 Digital Improvement
 Improving Access
 Workforce and Indemnity Solutions
 Changes to Quality Outcomes Framework
 Schedule of Contract Changes 2019/20

The Chief Clinical Officer went on to explain that it was the early stages for Primary 
Care Networks and in future would encompass all areas of care, not just general 
practice.  

The Director of Public Health, Durham County Council added that link workers and 
social prescribing was one element of a lot of work being carried out and she 
highlighted that the level of funding was a risk as there were no infrastructure costs 
built into the model. She explained that close working was taking place within 
different sectors in County Durham to further develop the PCNs.

The Director of Integration commented that capacity within the sector was also a 
risk.

Resolved:
That the update be noted.

6 Durham Health and Wellbeing System Plan 2019/20 - Part B 
Children and Young People 

The Board received a report and presentation from the Chief Officer, North Durham 
and Durham Dales Easington & Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups that 
presented part B (Children and Young People) of the Durham Health and Wellbeing 
System Plan 2019/20 (for copy see file of Minutes).

The Director of Strategy and Delivery, North Durham and DDES CCG highlighted 
the key areas of the plan which had been developed under the leadership of the 
Integrated Steering Group for Children, which included:

 Children and Young People’s Strategy
 The Integrated Steering Group for Children governance and work 

programme
 Integrated commissioning approach for children and the priorities linked to 

the inspection regimes in children’s services
 Therapy services
 Development of place based 0-19 services

The Director of Strategy and Delivery advised of a joint development session being 
held on 13 June with the Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 

Page 6



Committee and the Health and Wellbeing Board that would discuss the 
development of the longerterm plan.

Councillor Gunn commented that partnership working was the key and crucial to 
keep improving ways of working together.  Referring to the quarter 4 presentation 
slide about co-production with children, young people and families, she asked how 
this would operate and how would engagement work.  The Director of Strategy and 
Delivery reported that the CCG fund an organisation to help with the co-production 
and that they would be going out to ask the people affected how they would like to 
see the services delivered.  Stakeholder groups would also be utilised to help talk to 
parents and carers.  Councillor Gunn added that the voice of the child ran through 
everything we were doing and these discussions needed to be ongoing.

The Strategic Manager, Partnerships, Durham County Council informed the board 
the Head of Partnerships and Community Engagement, Durham County Council 
was carrying out a wider piece of work in the Council and with partners to take on 
board the views of young people to ensure we can show what difference we are 
making to the lives of children and young people.

The Director of Public Health, Durham County Council added that the co-production 
of this area of work would also help to refresh the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy and the Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services, 
Durham County Council said that we needed to report more of the good things that 
we had done as a lot of positive work had already been undertaken with children 
and young people.  She added that an annual report would be developed about the 
‘Voice of the Child’ and assured the board that children and families had been 
engaged with lots of different pieces of work.

The Chairman thanked officers for the report and was pleased that the board had 
some good positive actions adding that the child’s voice was fundamental in moving 
forward and capturing all the good things that were happening.

Resolved:
(i) That the report and plan were noted.
(ii) That the approach to the development of the long term Durham System 

Health and Wellbeing Plan outlined in the report be noted.

7 SEND Strategy Refresh 

The Board received a report from the Corporate Director of Children and Young 
Peoples Service, Durham County Council that presented a refreshed strategy for 
supporting work across local partners for children, young people and adults with 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) (for copy see file of Minutes).

The Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children, Children and Young 
People’s Services, Durham County Council highlighted the key aims of the strategy 
and gave an update on progress made.  He went on to advise that the service 
continued to lobby government for extra resources as the insufficient funding was a 
challenge in County Durham.

Page 7



Councillor Gunn expressed concerns about the SEND funding, which was a 
national problem.  She was pleased that Durham County Council had committed 
£5.6m from reserves as a one-off contribution and that the service were looking at 
ways that spending could be reduced in the longer term.  She applauded the staff 
who worked extremely hard in the schools and Council and confirmed that she was 
involved in lobbying the Secretary of State and Minister for Schools and Education 
on these concerns around funding.  Councillor Gunn also chairs Regional Lead 
Member meetings that had committed to making this a priority across the region.

Resolved:
(i) That the refreshed strategy be approved.
(ii) That the strategy be updated in 2019/20 following completion of an in depth 

health needs analysis.

8 Paediatric Admissions to Secondary Care 

The Board received a report from the Chief Officer North Durham and Durham 
Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups that provided an 
update on work being undertaken by the CCGs to reduce paediatric admissions to 
hospital (for copy see file of Minutes).  The report had previously been requested 
from the Board due to the number of non-elective admissions of young people into 
hospital that had impacted upon performance through Better Care Fund monitoring. 
In addition the aim was to improve outcomes for children and young people who 
were not best placed to be admitted to hospital.

The Director of Strategy and Delivery, North Durham and DDES CCG explained 
about the number partnership projects underway to help reduce paediatric 
admissions and how to improve pathways by looking at training needs.  She 
highlighted a concern about bed wetting and constipation and a pilot in Newton 
Aycliffe with community nurses aimed at reducing admissions to hospital and 
building confidence for parents.  She went on to inform the board that a lot of work 
was required in order to change perceptions, cultures and behaviours.

Councillor Allen asked how we would ensure that parents were given the 
confidence that they needed, and was advised that this would be done with better 
communication.  The Director of Strategy and Delivery explained that engagement 
with people so that they better understood the 111 service would be taking place, 
as a number of expert clinicians were available for people to speak to.  The Deputy 
Director of Public Health added that this would encompass a wider systems 
approach, including housing strategies for public, private landlords and for 
personally owned homes, as most injuries occurred in the home.  A further issue 
was around smoking and advice and guidance was given around second hand 
smoke and how to communicate with families and the wider community around this.

Resolved:
That the report be accepted and progress to date be noted.

9 Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership Arrangements 

Page 8



The Board considered a report of the Independent Chair of Durham Safeguarding 
Children Partnership that provided an update on the transition from the Local 
Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) to the new statutory partnership arrangement 
known as the Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership (DSCP).

The Independent Chair referred the board to a copy of the plan that outlined the 
new safeguarding arrangements and he highlighted the vision of what the 
partnership were trying to achieve.  He advised of the structure including the day to 
day functioning and the independent scrutiny arrangements.

He went on to explain the DSCP would engage with the Criminal Justice Service, 
Education Sector, Health Service and the Voluntary and Community Sector who 
would help to shape the agenda for the Executive.

Councillor Allen asked what key differences these changes would make to children 
and young people in County Durham.  The Independent Chair explained that there 
would be better engagement with partners and the voice of the child.  He added 
that a survey had been carried out with young people which would help shape 
better outcomes.

Councillor Gunn commented that safeguarding children was hugely important and 
this new structure had the potential to improve the ways things were done, such as 
sharing information.

The Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services highlighted the 
importance of the benefits of having equal partners who were equally accountable 
for safeguarding children and young people.  She praised the independent chair for 
being very robust throughout the transition period and for introducing a fundamental 
shift in the way partners would work together.

The Chairman thanked the Independent Chair for his report and said that 
safeguarding was everyone’s business so was pleased to see these new ways of 
working being introduced.

Resolved:
(i) That the content of the report be noted.
(ii) That the update of the transition arrangements was received.
(iii) That an annual update from the DSCP to ensure links were made between 

local child death issues and learning from regional reviews be agreed. 

10 First Annual Update of the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 
2018-21 Action Plan 

The Board received a report of the Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council that presented the first annual update of the Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment (PNA) 2018-21 action plan (for copy see file of Minutes).

The Public Health Pharmacy Advisor, Durham County Council highlighted the 
progress made against the actions of the PNA with joint partnership working and 

Page 9



one of the key statements was to promote the role of the pharmacy.  She thanked 
the support and help from the Local Pharmaceutical Committee and Healthwatch.

The Chairman was pleased to see good practice being shared and everyone 
playing their part.

Resolved:
That the first annual update, progress to date and ongoing and future workstreams 
be noted.

11 Better Care Fund - Quarter 3 2018/19 Performance 

The Board considered a report of the Strategic Programme Manager Integration, 
Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council that provided an update on the 
Better Care Fund (BCF) Quarter 3 2018/19 performance metrics (for copy see file 
of Minutes).

The Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services highlighted the improvements 
and challenges for quarter three data, including non-elective admissions.

Further to a query from Councillor Gunn about how long the work taking place on 
non-elective admissions would be to impact positively on performance, the 
Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services explained that there would be a 12-
24 month timescale as it was not something that happened overnight.

The Director of Integration assured the board that there was a focus on non-elective 
admissions with two threads – one to avoid admissions and two, to reduce the 
length of stay and encourage discharge as soon as practically possible.

Resolved:
(i) That the contents of this report be noted.
(ii) That to receive further updates in relation to BCF quarterly performance be 

agreed.

12 Overview of Initiatives Linked to the Adult Care Transformation 
and Innovation Fund 

The Board considered a report and presentation from the Corporate Director Adult 
and Health Services, Durham County Council that provided an update on initiatives 
linked to the Adult Care Transformation and Innovation Fund (for copy see of 
Minutes).

The Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services gave a presentation that 
highlighted:-

 Main areas of supporting the provider market
 Winter pressures
 Alleviating NHS pressure
 List of agreed schemes

Page 10



Referring to winter pressures, Mrs Mitchell, Healthwatch asked what would happen 
to those people who did not have care connect.  She was assured by the Director of 
Integration that not everyone takes that up as an option however, assessments 
would be carried out and people could receive a service regardless of funding 
capacity.  It may not be care connect but a service based on need.

Resolved:
(i) That the report be updated.
(ii) That the continued use of ACTIF funding to alleviate system pressures and 

support the local health and social care system, including providers, be 
endorsed.

(iii) That further updates on the use of funding be received.

13 Falls Prevention Strategy 2018-2021 

The Board received a report from the Interim Head of Commissioning, Durham 
County Council and Associate Director of Nursing, Patient Safety and Governance, 
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust that gave an update of the 
work undertaken as set out in the Community Action Plan element of the Falls 
Prevention Strategy 2018-21 (for copy see file of Minutes).

The Strategic Commissioning Manager OP/PDSI, Adult and Health Services, 
Durham County Council gave an update on the performance and progress.  He 
informed the board that additional funding had been received from the Adult Care 
Transformation and Innovation Fund and Care Connect for the purchase of two 
raizers, a system used to lift someone when they had fallen.  

Mrs Mitchell, Healthwatch thanked the service for operating the raizers as she had 
witnessed first hand how they were operated and said that this was very positive 
step forward.  The Strategic Manager offered to share a clip of how the system 
worked.

Resolved:
(i) That the report be noted.
(ii) That updates on the strategy be received.

14 Health and Wellbeing Board Campaigns 

The Board noted a presentation from the Director of Public Health, on the following 
public health campaigns (for copy of presentation see file of minutes):

 Alcohol
 Tobacco
 Stay Well This Winter
 Mental Health
 Breastfeeding

Page 11



Referring to breastfeeding the Operational Director, Harrogate and District NHSFT 
said that they had received some positive feedback after speaking to mothers, 
especially young and first-time mothers.

Councillor Allen suggested that we should be asking what people needed at a local 
level and develop those ideas as we had for dementia and autism friendly services 
such as ‘friendly town’ statuses.

The Deputy Director of Public Health said that it was important to change the 
cultures around breastfeeding and to ‘normalise’ it.  Public Health were encouraging 
places to display a sticker to promote that they were breastfeeding friendly.

Councillor Gunn said that community centres and local communities should try to 
provide a place where mothers felt welcome.  She encouraged all partners to 
promote this.

The Chairman commented that it was important to lead by example as a Health and 
Wellbeing Board.  All members of the Board agreed to undertake an audit of their 
premises with the intention of as many as possible being breastfeeding friendly and 
advertised as this.  This would show the Board’s commitment to improving 
breastfeeding rates across the county.  It was agreed that a report would be 
provided back in six months’ time following the audit and to outline next steps for all 
organisations who form the Board.  This was felt to be a positive step by the Board, 
especially as we were encouraging other organisations to be breastfeeding friendly.

15 Any other business 

The Chairman informed the board that the Quality Accounts had been received 
from the three trusts in the region and a draft response had been circulated.  Any 
comments on the accounts should be fed back to the Strategic Manager, 
Partnerships, Durham County Council by the end of 8 May 2019.

The Strategic Manager, Partnerships advised that the Local Government 
Association had asked the board to contribute to one of their publications.  Work 
had therefore been carried out with the Director of Public Health on the Voice of the 
Child, Integration and the work on Tobacco.  The publication would be launched at 
the LGA’s annual conference in July.

Page 12



A vision for County Durham 
 
2019 - 2035

County Durham PartnershipOur future is Durham

Page 13

Agenda Item 8



2Our future is Durham

This page is intentionally blank

Page 14



The purpose of this proposed vision is to provide 
a shared understanding of what everyone wants 
County Durham to look like in 15 years’ time.  
it is to provide direction to key public, private and 
voluntary sector organisations that make up the 
County Durham Partnership enabling them to 
work together to improve the quality of life of our 
residents. A shared understanding of the issues 
we face and our vision for the future will help 
organisations work together, removing 
boundaries and co-delivering services for the 
benefit of our residents.  

County Durham is a forward thinking area with 
a strong sense of community. Our friendly 
people, fascinating history and beautiful natural 
environment, from the dales to the coast, are 
what makes our county great. We have rebuilt 
and reinvented our economy and communities 
to overcome past challenges. We are passionate 
about building a better future for all and forming 
a new relationship between the County Durham 
Partnership and everyone who lives in, works 
in or visits our county.  

County Durham is well-connected and 
welcoming, and a centre for innovative business 
and manufacturing. Our distinct identity and 
sense of community offers something different for 
people and businesses. The county has fast and 
reliable links by road, rail and air to the rest of the 
country and internationally. We are a skilled and 
dynamic area which develops ideas and products 
that support progress across the county, the 
North East and beyond.  

Our vision is powered by people. It builds on our 
strengths and opportunities whilst recognising 
our challenges. It sums up our optimism and 
ambitions for the future. It feels real and is 
owned by the people of County Durham. It is 
an ambitious vision. We do not profess to have 
all the answers. In some cases, it will mean us 
having to develop new and innovative solutions, 
together with our communities, in order to 
progress and achieve the level of improvement 
we want for our residents.  

It is forward-looking and is aligned to our spatial 
plan: the County Durham Plan. 

We have listened closely to local communities 
and partners to develop this vision, underpinned 
by a series of objectives, to reflect the voices of 
the people of Durham. 

We want to work together with the people of 
County Durham to help shape our communities and 
provide help to those who need it. We recognise that 
achieving a vision is beyond the grasp of any one 
organisation. In times when resources are scarce, 
it is important to collaborate. History has taught us 
that the best outcomes are always achieved when 

we work together with communities to achieve 
our goals. We believe that the future is bright for 
Durham. Together, we can tackle the challenges  
that we face more effectively and through 
harnessing the potential of the people who live 
in County Durham, we can achieve great things 
together.  

We have developed a vision and three strategic 
ambitions to develop County Durham over the 
next 15 years. 

3

County Durham in 2035

County Durham Partnership

Durham: Powered by People

Page 15



4Our future is Durham

More and better jobs 

Our young people will achieve their full potential 
by having access to good quality education and  
training to prepare them for employment. We 
will work together to help them find rewarding 
work and reduce the number of people living in 
poverty.  

We will help people to create more and better 
jobs by developing major employment sites 
across the county to build a strong, competitive 
and lower carbon economy, establishing the 
county as a premier place in the North East 
to do business.  

We will build on our successful tourist economy 
through culture-led regeneration to broaden the 
leisure experience for residents and visitors to 
the county. Our visitor experience will compete 
with the best offered by other comparable 
destinations.   

People live long and independent lives 

Our children and young people will have the best 
start in life and enjoy good health and emotional 
wellbeing. We will work with families to make sure 
that children and young people with special 
educational needs and disabilities can achieve 
the best possible outcomes.  

We will design the physical environment to 
give people greater opportunity for exercise, 
and to cycle and walk more for everyday 
journeys. We will reduce carbon emissions 
and mitigate the impact of climate change 
on people’s lives.  

We will promote positive healthy behaviours and 
help people to stop smoking. We will tackle the  
stigma and discrimination of poor mental health, 
build more resilient communities and promote 
positive mental health. 

 

People will be able to live independently for 
longer. We will further integrate the work of health 
and social care organisations to improve the 
lives of people receiving these services. We will 
also deliver more housing to meet the needs 
of older people. 

We will work to tackle health inequality across 
the county and close the gap in healthy life 
expectancy between our communities.  
 
Connected communities 

We will deliver new high-quality housing in a 
range of house types and tenures including 
affordable homes that are accessible and meet 
the needs and aspirations of our residents. 

Properties in our communities will be well used. 
We will work with owners to help bring more 
empty homes back into use and ensure that 
privately rented homes are well managed.  

Our town and village centres will be well used, 
clean, attractive and safe.  

Our transport network will support cycling and 
walking and provide good access to workplaces, 
retail and leisure opportunities and will be 
relatively free from congestion. Widespread use 
of electric vehicles will reduce noise and improve 
air quality.  

We want our communities to remain welcoming, 
accept one another and build new relationships 
to support each other. Children will have a safe 
childhood and victims of crime will have easy  
access to the services and support that they 
require.
 
 

Vision statement

Our proposed vision for 2035 is that County Durham is a place where there are more and 
better jobs, people live long and independent lives and our communities are well connected 
and supportive.

Page 16



5

Consultation feedback

County Durham Partnership

This proposed vision has been built on an extensive public consultation. Residents, businesses and 
specific groups, such as people with a disability and children and young people, were asked what 
they would like to see in a new vision for County Durham. A separate consultation report details the 
results from this exercise. A summary is below. 
 

Main areas highlighted during consultation

  People wanted to see a thriving economy in County Durham with more and better jobs 
 for everyone.
 
  Residents were rightly proud of the history and heritage of the county and its beautiful 
 countryside. They felt that the county could be further developed as a place for tourists 
 and residents to visit, stay and return to.

  There is a strong sense of community spirit in County Durham. People wanted to build on 
 this and ensure that people support each other within their own communities. 

  Everyone wanted County Durham to continue to be a great place to grow up. This involves  
 making sure children are safe, healthy and have access to good education so that they are  
 well placed to access jobs.

  Local people highlighted the importance of people helping themselves and adopting   
 healthy behaviours to keep themselves fitter for longer. Residents were also concerned 
 about mental health problems in some communities. 
 
  Transport is a key issue across the county. It should support a thriving economy and ensure  
 that our towns and villages are vibrant and well used. 

  People wanted to see a range of good quality housing that meets our future needs. 
 The need for more affordable housing, including good quality rented accommodation 
 and more specialist housing to suit the requirements of older and vulnerable people, 
 was also highlighted. 

  There was a recognition amongst those consulted that the growth in online shopping in 
 recent years is leading to store closures in our high streets and that this is a national problem.  
 We need to think more innovatively around mixed uses for our high streets and town centres  
 and initiatives to make them more vibrant and well used.  

The symbols used here are reflected throughout this document and show how these priorities   
are being addressed. 

Page 17



Our ambition is to continue with the economic 
renaissance of the county. By 2035, our aim is 
for County Durham to enjoy a thriving economy 
with more and better jobs, better employment 
opportunities for all and reduced levels of poverty 
and deprivation. 

We will build on our existing portfolio of 
businesses specialising in leisure and tourism, 
green technologies, creative industries, 
financial services, pharmaceuticals and 
advanced engineering and technologies. 
We will support a low carbon economy, 
encouraging the use of low carbon 
technologies and renewable energy sources.  

County Durham has some of the most beautiful 
countryside and coastal landscapes in Britain, 
a fascinating history, a wealth of attractions and  
regular events programme. Over the last 10 years, 
great strides have been made to improve our  
tourist economy. Our aim is to have County Durham 
recognised nationally and internationally as a 
leading centre for culture, with a range of 
experiences that match and exceed the best 
offered by England’s premier destinations.  

A number of our villages were developed around 
collieries and homes were built to house the 
population boom at the peak of coal production. 
These communities have suffered a decline  
following the demise of these industries. 
 
We want to work with these communities to 
address the underlying causes of deprivation  
and socio-economic inequality. 

More and better jobs

6Our future is Durham

Page 18



7 County Durham Partnership

Six specific objectives will help us to achieve more and better jobs across the whole county. 
These objectives have been developed following consultation with the public and our partners.  

1.1 We will deliver a range of accessible employment sites across the county
New and expanded employment sites across the county which are accessible to our labour market 
will attract new employers, allow expansion of existing businesses and respond to the changing 
needs of the business sector. These sites will be located in areas of the county that offer good 
opportunities to attract investment, in line with the County Durham Plan (the spatial plan for the 
county).  
 
1.2 We will have a strong, competitive economy and County Durham will be a premier place 
in the North East to do business 
Our aim is to bridge the gap between the economic performance of County Durham, initially with 
that of other parts of the North East and following this, the rest of England. This will be achieved 
by creating and sustaining employment, improving productivity and competitiveness of our 
businesses. We will build on the growth over the last 10 years in green technologies, creative 
industries, financial services, pharmaceuticals and advanced engineering sectors. We will 
continue to work in partnership with the government to explore opportunities for more local 
control by devolving housing, transport and planning powers and funding. We will continue with 
the rollout of superfast broadband to stimulate growth in our economy and open up new economic 
sectors. Our plans will support rural growth whilst preserving the quality of what makes these 
areas distinctive.  

1.3 We will broaden the experience for residents and visitors to the county 
We will protect and enhance our core heritage and natural assets and provide a programme 
of cultural and sporting events to promote the whole county. We will support and enhance visitor 
accommodation, towns and villages and we will improve the quality of visitors’ post-arrival 
experience by developing green, visitor-friendly transport options connecting the county’s main 
visitor attractions. 
 
1.4 Young people will have access to good quality education, training and employment 
We will strive to ensure that children and young people achieve the best possible education and 
will pay particular attention to improving the educational attainment of vulnerable children and 
young people. We will reduce inequality in educational outcomes across the county and support 
young people to gain the necessary qualifications, skills and experience to progress into sustained 
employment. 

1.5 We will focus our efforts on helping all people into rewarding work
We will increase the number of apprenticeship opportunities across the county, particularly 
within growth and labour intensive sectors. We will increase employment of young people, 
older people, vulnerable and disadvantaged people by creating and building pathways to 
help them into education, training and employment. 

1.6 Fewer people will be affected by poverty and deprivation in the county
We will work to continue our economic renaissance in the county and help regenerate areas 
suffering high levels of deprivation. We will work with communities to help to tackle the impact 
of welfare reform and support individuals and families affected by these changes. We will also 
develop programmes of work to build stronger families and support workless households.  

Page 19



8Our future is Durham

People will have long and independent lives

Good health is central to people’s happiness 
and has a significant impact on the economy.
Health is determined by several factors, many of 
which are not based on an individual’s behaviour 
or choice but are a consequence of where they 
live, their environment, access to a good natural 
and built environment, high quality education and 
jobs, and a supportive network of friends and family.  

Seven specific objectives will help support people 
to have long and independent lives. These objectives 
have been developed following consultation with the 
public and other interested parties.

Page 20



9 County Durham Partnership

2.1 Children and young people will enjoy the best possible start in life, good health 
and emotional wellbeing
Childhood is the springboard to a successful adulthood. It is the foundation on which our lives 
are built. We will provide the best support to expectant mothers, mothers of new born babies 
and older children, as well as high quality nursery and primary education. We will improve health 
and wellbeing outcomes for children and young people and help children and their families 
achieve and maintain their optimum mental health and wellbeing.   

2.2 Children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities will achieve 
the best possible outcomes 
We will secure high-quality support to children and young people with special educational needs 
and disabilities and their families, and ensure that they are well prepared for adult life and can live 
independently. 

2.3 We will create a physical environment that will contribute to good health
We will maximise the quality of our local environment and clean air with opportunities to be 
physically active and achieve a healthy weight. We will reduce our carbon emissions and mitigate 
against the impact of climate change on our residents and communities. We will encourage 
transport choices that are the most sustainable by improving the attractiveness of these modes 
of transport including cycling and walking for everyday journeys.  
 
2.4 We will promote positive behaviours
We will create a smoke-free county for our residents. We would like our children to have a future 
free from harm due to drug and alcohol misuse.  
 
2.5 We will tackle the stigma and discrimination of poor mental health and build 
resilient communities
County Durham will be a county where mental health is seen as equal to physical health and 
where discrimination relating to mental health issues is challenged. We will implement a programme 
called ‘Mental Health at Scale’ where we will tackle the stigma and discrimination of mental health 
focusing on young people, the workplace and the community to build more resilient communities 
and promote positive mental health. 

2.6 Better integration of health and social care services
Our residents will be able to live independently for longer with support from a more integrated health 
and social care system. We will ensure that health underpins all public sector policies and plans so 
we can make better connections between health, employment, housing, education and community 
safety.  

2.7 People will be supported to live independently for as long as possible by delivering more 
homes to meet the needs of older and disabled people
The number and proportion of older and disabled people is forecast to increase in the future. We will 
develop housing and care options specifically to meet the needs of the older and disabled people 
within our communities. This will include building appropriate types of housing. Where residential 
or nursing care is required, we will ensure that it is safe. 

Page 21



10Our future is Durham

Connected communities

Our residents are rightly proud of their heritage 
and values. We want to have a caring and 
welcoming county where everyone is valued, 
where we can help each other and we support 
our vulnerable people. We want communities that 
give everyone the opportunity to realise their 
potential. We also recognise that communities are 
not just geographical. Social networks can be an 
important part of people’s lives and be a force for 
good, reducing social isolation, providing a sense 
of belonging and playing a big role in building  
communities and catalysing neighbourhood 
cooperation and social action.  

A range and choice of housing which is accessible, 
well designed and meets our future needs is key 
to the sustainability of our communities. This 
should include an appropriate level of affordable 
housing, a good standard of rented property and 
an increased range of new housing options. Our 
housing will be energy efficient for increased 
comfort and reduced running costs.  

Many high streets across the country are facing a 
range of challenges including the growth of online 
retail and changes in consumer behaviour. High 
streets and town centres retain an important place 
in our society, but they need to adapt to ensure that 
they remain vibrant, safe and attractive social hubs 
that people want to use.  

People also expect local travel to be convenient, 
with good quality direct links to major town centres, 
employment locations such as business parks and 
leisure opportunities. If we are to enjoy connected 
communities then they must be connected by an 
appropriate transport infrastructure. 

Seven specific objectives have been developed 
to improve our communities in County Durham.

Page 22



11

3.1 All children and young people will have a safe childhood
We will protect and support children and young people in need and make sure that they are safe. 
Social work practice and other support services to vulnerable children will be improved. We will 
provide excellent care for looked after children and care leavers and provide support to young 
offenders and young victims of crime.
 
3.2 Victims of crime will have access to the right level of support, with services available 
to address their needs
Victims of crime are often vulnerable people. Some suffer from poor mental health. Being a victim 
of a crime can also make you more vulnerable. All victims will be offered support to cope and 
recover from their ordeal at all stages and to engage in the justice system. 

3.3 Standards will be maintained or improved across County Durham’s housing stock 
We will work with communities most affected by long-term empty properties, including owners 
and landlords to bring these homes back into use. An approach to selective licensing of private 
landlords will be developed to provide further powers to intervene where landlords are operating 
poor management practices and tenants are living in unsatisfactory conditions. The design of 
new development in rural areas will be sympathetic to the natural, built and historic environment 
and reflect local distinctiveness. More affordable low carbon homes will be delivered through 
a combination of housing for sale or rent, including housing that provides a subsidised route into 
home ownership. This issue is particularly acute in some of our rural areas. 

3.4 Our towns and villages will be vibrant, well used, clean, attractive and safe
We will work together and take appropriate action to ensure that our town and village centres are 
well used for a range of purposes including retail, commercial, leisure, residential, cultural and 
service uses. Our towns and villages will be an attractive proposition to visit and spend time in. 
All generations will feel that they enjoy visiting them and will feel safe. Residents will be proud 
of the towns and villages that they live in and improvements will lead to a better quality of life.  

3.5 People will have good access to workplaces, services, retail and leisure opportunities
We want a transport system that supports a thriving economy. People need access to 
employment in the region, places to shop and key services such as education, hospitals and 
leisure opportunities. Our transport network should be reliable, with buses and trains running on 
time and traffic congestion at a minimum. Large volumes of standing traffic in Durham City make 
it less attractive to visitors and residents and impact on air quality and health. We will consider 
further traffic interventions to boost our economy and to reduce congestion. 

3.6 Communities will come together to accept and support each other
We will work together to tackle crime and anti-social behaviour adversely affecting our communities 
and to address the underlying causes of crime and community tensions. We will actively take 
steps to encourage community cohesion and mark specific events which encourage greater 
understanding of each other to promote good relationships. We want to work with communities  
to solve problems together and develop local solutions that will work.  

3.7 We will deliver new high-quality housing which is accessible and meets the needs and 
aspirations of our residents
Our county needs to have housing with a range of house types and tenures which are in the right 
place and that meet the needs of all of our residents. 

County Durham Partnership
Page 23



Our future is Durham

This vision document will replace the current 
Sustainable Community Strategy for County 
Durham and will commence in 2019. A high-level 
action plan detailing the major changes that we 
want to make will be developed, together with a set 
of key performance indicators which will be used by 
the County Durham Partnership to monitor progress 
and measure success in achieving our vision.  

We will deliver this vision together with our 
communities. We will operate to the following 
principles of working in order to improve the 
wellbeing of our residents: 

 Solutions will be designed and produced together  
 with service users. 

 We will work with communities and support their   
 development and empowerment. 

 We will acknowledge the differing needs of our   
 communities whilst acknowledging and building   
 on their potential strengths.

 We will direct our activities where they can make  
 the biggest difference to those who are most   
 vulnerable and help to build resilience. 

 We will tailor support to each individual’s 
 needs, ensuring they feel empowered and 
 are not stigmatised.

 We will align our related strategies, policies 
 and services to reduce duplication and ensure 
 greater impact. 

Delivery and next steps

County Durham Partnership

47
45

1

12

Page 24



A vision for County Durham

County Durham Vision 2035

1

P
age 25



Our future is Durham County Durham Partnership

A vision for County Durham

Why do we need to change? 

2

Our vision has served us well until now

Many long-term aspirations have been 
achieved or are being implemented

The world has changed since 2009

P
age 26



Our future is Durham County Durham Partnership

A vision for County Durham

Building on our success

3

Employment increased 

from 64.6% (2010) to 

74.6% 

Strong growth in 

visitor economy 

(£627m 2008 to 

£891m in 2017)

P
age 27



Our future is Durham County Durham Partnership

A vision for County Durham

Building on our success

4

Carbon emissions reduced 

by over 52% in the last 10 

years

Less than 5% of 

household refuse 

collected now goes to 

landfill (60% 10 years 

ago)

P
age 28



Our future is Durham County Durham Partnership

A vision for County Durham

Building on our success

Life expectancy improving 
(increase of 3.4 years for men 
and 2.1 years for women since 

2000)

Tobacco smoking down from 
22% in 2012 to 14% (UK levels)

Teenage conceptions more than 
halved in last five years

Older people living in their own 
homes for longer

5

P
age 29



Our future is Durham County Durham Partnership

A vision for County Durham

Building on our success

6

Area Action Partnerships

- Over the last 10 years, over 6,000 community projects

- Benefiting over 30,000 people

- Securing over £100m funding 

30,454 volunteers across all sectors in 
County Durham over two year period

P
age 30



Our future is Durham County Durham Partnership

A vision for County Durham

Partners Recognised

7

Durham Constabulary rated as 
outstanding for the fourth year in a row

CDDFRS winners of UK fire and rescue 
service of the year 

Both North Durham and DDES CCG rated 
as Good

University of Durham ranked in top 10 
UK universities and top 100 worldwide 

P
age 31

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwiz8Im1neTiAhUJmhQKHdHxB6AQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https://www.facebook.com/Durham-University-Congregation-Graduation-117070971704445/&psig=AOvVaw17uZ80etCkrALvP4i9iuZQ&ust=1560438727105913


Our future is Durham County Durham Partnership

A vision for County Durham

8

P
age 32



Our future is Durham County Durham Partnership

A vision for County Durham

But still a way to go

9

P
age 33



Our future is Durham County Durham Partnership

A vision for County Durham

Consultation so far

10

Special Interest GroupsChildren and Young PeopleAAPs and Partnerships

CouncillorsThe Durham Message Wall

P
age 34



Our future is Durham County Durham Partnership

A vision for County Durham

What you told us was important

11

Tourism
Broadened offer to visitors and residents

Economy
Accessible employment sites

A thriving and lower carbon economy

Helping people into work

Children and Young People
Best start in life and good health

Good education, training and employment 

Best possible outcomes for those with SEND

Safe childhood

Health and Wellbeing

An healthy environment inc. tackling climate change

Promote positive behaviours

Tackle mental health

Better integration of health and social care

Housing
Good quality new housing

Housing for older people

Improved existing housing

Towns and Villages

Vibrant, attractive, safe

Transport

Good access 

Communities

Support and accept

Deprivation and poverty

Support victims of crime

P
age 35



Our future is Durham County Durham Partnership

A vision for County Durham

Our proposed ambitions 
and objectives

12

More and Better Jobs

Accessible employment sites

A competitive lower carbon economy

Broadened offer to visitors and residents

Helping people into work

Good education, training and employment 

Deprivation and poverty

Long and Independent Lives

Best start in life and good health

Best possible outcomes for those with SEND

Environment that is good for health and climate

Promote positive behaviours

Tackle mental health

Better integration of health and social care

Housing for older people

Connected Communities

Safe childhood

Good quality new housing

Improved existing housing

Vibrant, attractive, safe

Support and accept

Good access 

Support victims of crime

P
age 36



Our future is Durham County Durham Partnership

A vision for County Durham

Our Vision

Our vision for 2035 is that County Durham is a place where there are more 
and better jobs, people live long and independent lives and our 
communities are well connected and supportive.

13

P
age 37



14

P
age 38



Our future is Durham County Durham Partnership

A vision for County Durham

Thank you for listening

1. Do you agree that our vision strikes the right balance of priorities and ambitions for the county? 
Tell us what you think

2. We all need to work together to achieve our aspirations
How can we work together to achieve this?

15

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

  

Health and Wellbeing Board 

30 July 2019 

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

(JSNA) and Insight transformation 

update  

   

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council and Dr Stewart Findlay, Chief Officer, DDES Clinical 
Commissioning Group, and Co- Chair of JSNA and Insight Strategic 
Group 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with an update on the JSNA 
and Insight transformation process in County Durham, and to seek 
support to continue this transformation. 

Executive summary 

2 The Health and Social Care Act of 2012 placed a statutory responsibility 
on local authorities and CCGs, via Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWB) 
to jointly prepare a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) in order 
to inform the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS).  

3 The JSNA should provide the evidence base for the JHWS, and Council 
and Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) commissioning plans. It 
should also assist the HWB to consider wider factors that impact on the 
communities’ health and wellbeing and local assets that can help to 
improve outcomes and reduce inequalities. 

4 The transformation of County Durham’s JSNA and Insight is an iterative 
process. The JSNA and Insight Strategic Group (JISG) has been 
established to set the strategic focus of the JSNA and link it explicitly to 
planning, strategy development and joint commissioning. This group will 
drive the workplan of the renamed JSNA and Insight Delivery Group 
(JIDG), based on the strategic and commissioning requirements of 
partners.  

5 The JSNA and Insight workshop of February 12th was both well 
attended and well received. The main themes arising from the workshop 
included content prioritisation, links with commissioning, co-production, 
ensuring that strategy development is linked into the JSNA calendar 

Page 41

Agenda Item 9



and engagement and training around the knowledge and use of Durham 
Insight. 

6 Key messages from the JSNA to inform strategic development and 
priority setting have been presented to both the Health and Wellbeing 
Board and Children and Families Partnership Development sessions. 
JSNA content has been central to production of the Director of Public 
Health annual reports. 

7 County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board draft priorities (based on 
the JSNA) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8 Durham Insight continues to be developed as the shared intelligence, 
research and knowledge base for County Durham, informing strategic 
planning across Durham County Council and its partners. 

9 Current content on the site includes in depth JSNA and Insight 
factsheets (including the recently published SEND and Children Looked 
After factsheets), Health Needs Assessments and Health Equity Audits, 
DPH Annual Reports, specific topic-based landing pages with County 
Durham context, and embedded intelligence (e.g. PHE Fingertips, LG 
Inform), infographics, maps and Storymaps. Further developments 
include a new Durham Insight logo and the creation of a desktop icon 
for roll out to all staff.  

Page 42

https://www.durhaminsight.info/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/


10 New intelligence content is regularly added. Recent developments 
include a new ‘Vulnerable Children’ landing page, a new Children 
Looked After and Care Leavers factsheet. New co-produced infographic 
resources for Primary Care Networks have also been published, co-
produced between public health Intelligence, public health and the 
CCG.  

11 The proposed ‘Approach to Wellbeing’ will support the development of 
an asset based JSNA by building on existing community assets and 
stronger community engagement. JSNAs traditionally focus on ‘what’s 
wrong, not what’s strong’. Developing as asset based JSNA, 
underpinning a new Approach to Wellbeing will increase in the 
identification and mobilisation of assets is known to build social capital 
and resilience amongst its members, leading to better health outcomes.   

Recommendation(s) 

12 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

(a) Note the update on JSNA and Insight development and consider 
further ways to embed the use of the JSNA and Insight into 
decision-making, commissioning and service-development by all 
partners. 

(b) Support the continued development and strengthening of the 
JSNA and Insight process;  

(c) Support the further development of Durham Insight to ensure it 
becomes embedded in everyday practice in support of strategic 
development and decision making across health and social care. 

(d) Ensure the JSNA supports the refresh of the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy. 

Background 

13 The JSNA is a process through which a comprehensive picture of 
current and future health and wellbeing needs for the local population is 
formed and used to shape joint commissioning priorities to improve 
health and wellbeing and reduce health inequalities in our communities. 
Intelligence from the JSNA and Insight helps to inform the successes 
and priorities for improvement in County Durham.  The JHWS sets out 
our plans to improve and how these improvements will be made.  The 
JHWS delivery plan monitors how effective are actions are in terms of 
improving performance and outcomes and is reported to the HWB on a 
regular basis. 

 

Page 43



14 County Durham’s JSNA has provided the evidence base for the JHWS 
and informed the development of other key strategies and plans, 
including Children and Young People’s Strategy and the Mental Health 
and Wellbeing Strategic Plan.  

15 However, there was a corporate requirement to transform the vision, 
scope and delivery of the JSNA and further develop the Integrated 
Needs Assessment approach to create a JSNA that is fit for the future; 
that drives local health and wellbeing priorities and informs local 
commissioning linked to the health and social care integration agenda; 
is rooted in the changing intelligence about our population, and the 
wider evidence about what drives health and wellbeing in County 
Durham. This process is outlined in the diagram overleaf. 

JSNA transformation process: Key themes 

 

 

16 To address this need, a number of steps were taken: 

(a) The statutory requirement of the Local Authority and CCGs to 
jointly produce a JSNA in order to inform the JHWS was re-
emphasised. Stewart Findlay, Chief Officer, DDES CCG and 
Deputy Chair of County Durham HWB agreed to act as co-
sponsor for the JSNA and co-chair of the JSNA and Insight 
Strategic Group with Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health.  

Refreshed 
JSNA process 

- embeded 
into 

commissioning 
cycles to 
support 
strategic 
planning

Strategic 
direction

Prioritisatio
n and rolling 

workplan

Co-
production

Quality 
assurance 

and 
approvalAsset 

development 
and 

Inspection 
ready

Annual key 
messages

Improved 
use of 

available 
evidence eg 
DPH Annual 

report, 
HNAs, HEAs

Developme
nt of 

methods/to
ols to 

engage 
stakeholder

s and to 
inform

Page 44



(b) The JSNA and Insight Strategic Group was established in order 
to drive the work programme of the JIDG, and to strengthen the 
strategic focus of the process and the links between JSNA and 
planning/strategy development/joint commissioning, particularly 
with reference to NHS and social care integration, development of 
an Integrated Care System across the county and STP 
developments. The governance for the process is outlined in the 
diagram over the page. 

17 Structure for the County Durham JSNA and Insight process. 

JSNA Insight Workshop  

18 The JSNA and Insight workshop of February 12th was well received. 
The workshop purpose was: 

(a) To understand our current JSNA process and structure 

(b) To shape how JSNA meets strategic planning, commissioning 
and inspection requirements 

(c) To determine future JSNA requirements and priorities 

(d) To introduce other intelligence products 

19 The main themes from the workshop discussions centred around 
prioritisation of JSNA topics, co-production of those topics, ensuring that 
strategy development is linked into the JSNA calendar and training 
around the use of Durham Insight. These are in the process of being 
implemented 

 

Page 45



JSNA and Insight workshop purpose  

 

New Durham Insight logo and desktop icon 

 

 

 

 

Durham Insight 

20 Durham Insight was developed as a single portal for strategic analysis, 
insight and statistics about life in County Durham; with themes from 
population to deprivation, the economy to heath, education to crime; for 
County Durham and several statistical and administrative/service 
provision geographies within the county.  All Integrated Needs 
Assessment content from the County Durham Partnership website was 
migrated to Durham Insight. Feedback to identify ways of further 
improving access to and utility of Durham Insight, the JSNA and other 
strategic assessments will continue to be sought; 

Page 46



Durham Insight front page and themes menu 

 

21 Further work is still to be undertaken including the development of a 
communications and marketing plan (linked to the work programme) to 
keep stakeholders informed through a range of mechanisms including 
infographic summaries, social media utilisation where appropriate, 
regular updates via intranet and staff publications; 

22 Developing the Asset side of the JSNA. By focussing only on the 
“needs” of local communities the JSNA does not acknowledge the 
importance of the assets within communities or take account of the 
protective factors and strength within individuals to counteract the 
deficits. This links closely with the proposed development of our new 
‘Approach to Wellbeing’ in County Durham.  

23 This system-wide approach to improving wellbeing across the county 
would further engage with the community and voluntary sector to 
support the development of a new model for assets and wellbeing. 
Outcomes would include greater devolution of decision making to 
communities, and stronger community engagement. The approach, 
supported by a strong emerging evidence base, is intended to increase 
the identification and mobilisation of assets within communities and 
opportunities to link with social prescribing. This approach to wellbeing 
is known to build social capital and resilience in communities, leading to 
better health outcomes. Factors that affect resilience and wellbeing can 
be seen in the following diagram. 

Page 47



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Other Intelligence Tools 

24 Other intelligence tools, referenced in the presentation at the JSNA 
workshop, include Health Needs Assessments, Health Equity Audits 
and Health Impact Assessments. Completed examples of these are in 
the process of being uploaded on to Durham Insight. Examples of some 
of these tools were given in the workshop and included: 

Tool             Topic   Outcome 

 

 

Page 48



25 Other recent examples include: 

(a) A Breastfeeding Health Equity Audit which informed the 
development of a Local Breastfeeding Action Plan 

(b) A Teenage Conceptions Health Needs Assessment which 
underpinned development of an informed Teenage Conceptions 
action plan and informed commissioning of Relationships and 
Sex Education (RSE) programme in schools.  

(c) A Health Needs Assessment for Long Term Opiate Clients, which 
has informed more targeted interventions with clients 

(d) Current Health Impact Assessments on the Housing and 
Homelessness strategies are in production. 

26 There are a number of these tools already loaded onto Durham Insight, 
and the final versions of those not currently published are in the process 
of being sourced. There are a number of these products in various 
stages of production currently or in the planning stages (e.g. Housing 
Health Impact Assessment,  COPD Health Equity Audit,  Special 
Educational Needs and Disability Health Needs Assessment, Student 
Health Needs Assessment) which when finalised and approved will be 
published on Durham Insight to add to the evidence base. 

Recent Developments 

27 Recent developments on Durham Insight include: 

(a) A development of a Vulnerable Children’s landing page, 
containing associated factsheets, the LAC HNA and a related 
infographic  

(b) A new Children Looked After factsheet published 

(c) A new infographic resources for each of the 14 Primary Care 
Networks in County Durham, co-produced between Public Health 
Intelligence, Public health and the CCG. These PCN resources 
have been developed to provide insights into PCN populations, 
aiming to help shape priorities and influence whole-system 
collaboration. In the first instance this resource focus on the 
social risk factors for poor health and poor outcomes that affect 
the adult population across County Durham based on available 
data and consultation feedback. These may be of particular 
interest when considering social prescribing, efficient early 
interventions and maximising pathways to community-based 
support, such as fuel poverty advice services. 

Page 49



New infographic resources on Durham Insight 

28 Vulnerable Children 

Primary Care Networks (x14) 

 

Page 50



29 The JSNA and Insight Delivery Group workplan includes JSNA and 
Insight factsheets on: 

(a) Children Looked After (published June 2019) 

(b) Learning Disabilities. In support of the commissioning strategy  

(c) Autism 

(d) Children in Need and Child Protection (draft) 

(e) Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs).  

(f) Carers (across the life course) 

(g) Poverty and Child Poverty  

(h) Revisit, review and potentially edit existing JSNA factsheet 
content on Durham Insight, particularly relating to the HWB 
priority themes. 

Next Steps 

30 Associated Durham Insight development on: 

(a) Work is ongoing with Environmental, Economic and Spatial Policy 
teams to widen the evidence base in Durham Insight. 

(b) Translating key messages from PowerPoint presentation at the 
Health and Wellbeing Development session into an interactive 
StoryMap. 

(c) ‘Standard’ reports in Durham Insight are in the process of being 
rewritten to make them more user friendly. 

(d) Revisiting the format and content structure of Durham Insight  

31 Further work to underpin the refresh on the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy, and continued engagement with Management Teams, 
Partnership Boards and other strategic groups is planned. This is an 
ongoing process and dates with Environment MT, County Durham 
Economic Partnership, and Planning and Assets MT have been 
arranged.  

32 Further work to ensure synergy between the JSNA, JHWS and Durham 
Insight, the new County Durham Vision, the Health and Care System 
Plan and the proposed Population Health Management approach. 

 

Page 51



Conclusion 

33 Continued transformation of the County Durham JSNA and Insight 
process is required to create a JSNA that: 

(a) Drives local health and wellbeing priorities through the refresh of 
the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

(b) Informs local commissioning linked to the health and social care 
integration agenda;  

(c) Is rooted in the changing intelligence about our population, and 
the wider evidence about what drives health and wellbeing in 
County Durham; 

(d) Identifies strategic level issues and priorities to influence long 
term decision making. 

34 JSNA and Insight should underpin all strategic decision making across 
Durham County Council and partners.  Strategic engagement in the 
process, and in the content delivered through Durham Insight and its 
wider use as a practical tool to inform stakeholders, is therefore critical. 

Background papers 

• None 

Other useful documents 

• None 

 

Contact: Michael Fleming Tel:  03000 267664 
   

  

Page 52



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Legal Implications 
The Health & Social Care Act 2012 refers to Section 2B NHS Act 2006 which 
places a duty on each local authority to take such steps as it considers 
appropriate for improving the health of the people in its area. 

Finance 
Durham Insight has a recurring fee of £9,850. Year 1 was funded centrally. 
The next three years will be jointly funded by Adults and Health Services, 
Transformation and Partnerships and both CCGs.  

Consultation 
None 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
Equality Impact Assessment will be completed for Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy (JHWS) 2018-21. 

Human Rights 
None 

Crime and Disorder 
None 

Staffing 
None 

Accommodation 
None 

Risk 
Active use of Durham Insight and an effective JSNA by all partners will help to 
align strategic planning and decision-making behind consistent priorities 
across the various County Durham Partnerships, so making best use of 
resources. 

Procurement 
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 outlines that commissioners should take 
regard of the JHWS when exercising their functions in relation to the 
commissioning of health and social care services. 

Disability Issues  
The needs of those with disabilities are reflected in the JHWS. 
 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Health and Wellbeing Board 

30 July 2019 

Area Action Partnership Update 

 

Report of Area Action Partnerships 

Gordon Elliott, Head of Partnerships and Community Engagement 

Councillor Brian Stephens, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Neighbourhoods and Local Partnerships 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update in relation to the work 
taking place to enhance the interface between Area Action Partnerships 
(AAPs) and the Health and Wellbeing Board (the Board), to improve the 
alignment of AAP developments and investments, and the priorities of the 
Board.  
 

2 To make suggestions on how AAPs and the Health and Wellbeing Board 
can continue to develop their working relationship to better benefit 
residents in County Durham. 

Executive summary 

3 This report forms part of a regular update to the Board that reviews joint 
working between health and wellbeing partners and the 14 AAPs. 
 

4 The last report on the work of AAPs was presented to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board on 4 September 2018. 

Recommendation(s) 
 
5 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to note: 

(a) The work that is taking place across the County; 
(b) The continued improved alignment of the work of the AAPs to the 

Health and Wellbeing Board; 
(c) The work undertaken by the AAPs during 2018/19 in addressing 

the Health and Wellbeing agenda; 
(d) The shared work that AAPs and partners are currently working on. 

 

Page 55

Agenda Item 10



Background 

6 The report provides information on the following: 
 
(a) county wide partnerships and services in which the AAPs are 

involved; 
(b) the AAP priorities and available funding; 
(c) update on progress with the Social Isolation Fund;  
(d) amount of Area Budget and Neighbourhood Budget allocated in 

2018/19, and the amount of match funding it attracted; 
(e) number of health and wellbeing related projects funded;  
(f) a number of projects funded that support the key objectives of the 

Board. 
 
AAPs and Delivery Partnerships  
 
7 The following section provides an update on county wide partnerships 

and services in which the AAPs are involved. It has been agreed with the 
lead agencies responsible that progress summaries will be provided 
through this report to the Board.   

 
County Durham Dementia Action Alliance (CDDAA) and the Dementia 
Friendly Communities Network (DFCN) 
 
8 Councillor Lucy Hovvels and several other local elected members are at 

the heart of developing numerous Dementia Friendly Communities 
across the county in the next few years alongside partners and led by the 
Alzheimer’s Society. 

 
9 There were 3 key objectives for the 2018/19 CDDAA Action Plan: 
 

(a) to create and support the development of Dementia Friendly 
Communities across County Durham; 

(b) to raise the awareness of dementia amongst children and younger 
people; 

(c) to examine ways in which the CDDAA can tackle isolation amongst 
those affected by dementia. 
 

10 There are numerous partners feeding into the plan including AAPs, 
Durham County Council Adult and Health Services Commissioning, Her 
Majesty’s Passport Office, Beamish, Care Homes and Hospices. 
 

11 Working alongside the Alliance, and supporting its first objective, is the 
Dementia Friendly Communities (DFC) Network which has been 
established by the Alzheimer’s Society to share best practice and support 
those who are in the process of establishing DFCs. 
 

Page 56



12 At the Mental Health Strategic Partnership Board held on the 28 March 
2019 which has AAP representation it was reported that four more 
Dementia Friendly Communities had been established. Also a Dementia 
Action Week took place from the 20th to the 26th May; a Dementia Guide 
is due to be rolled out in July. 

 
AAPs Update  
 
13 There are 11 AAPs (an increase of 3 since the last report) who have 

Health and Wellbeing as a key priority, each of these are operating a task 
and finish group and through the use of the AAP Priority Survey, their 
AAP Profile and service partner knowledge they are identifying key 
issues to examine. An overview of all 14 AAPs Key Priorities can be 
found in Appendix 2.  
 

14 AAPs receive core funding of £100,000 each year. In recent years this 
has been supplemented with additional funding linked to social isolation, 
welfare reform and youth related activities. AAPs also support the 126 
County Councillors in allocating their Neighbourhood Budgets (£19,400 
per Councillor). 
 

15 From 2018/19 to 2020/21 (3 years) each AAP is receiving £25,000 from 
the Adult Care Transformation and Innovation Fund (ACTIF)’ to establish 
an Older People’s Social Isolation Fund.  Criteria for this fund has been 
agreed between Adults and Health Commissioning and AAPs and is now 
being implemented across each AAP.  An update on how this is 
progressing is set out in Appendix 3 as promised in the last report. For 
further information on any of the projects, please contact the relevant 
AAP team. 
 

16 In 2018/19 the AAPs and Elected Members allocated £452,272 of AAP 
Area and Neighbourhood Budget to 79 health and wellbeing projects, this 
in turn attracted an additional £429,327 of matched funding. Details on 
projects are available on request. However the number of projects and 
monies allocated to projects is significantly higher when taking into 
account projects developed under other AAP priorities such as Children, 
Young People and Families and Older People. 

 
Summary of AAP Health and Wellbeing Projects 
 
17 AAPs have funded a number of projects during 2018/19 that support the 

key objectives of the Health and Wellbeing Board. A number of these 
have been highlighted below under the key objective headings. Further 
information is available from the AAPs on all of the projects summarised. 

 

Page 57



Children and young people make healthy choices and have the best start in 
life 
 
18 The Baby Ready or Not (BRON) project delivered by The Cornforth 

Partnership will contribute to tackling the increasing number of teenage 
conceptions in the East Durham Rural Corridor AAP area, and also 
challenge the high levels of anti-social behaviour. The work started in 
Sedgefield where there was an issue with youths congregating, but the 
project is flexible to move around the area in line with need, following a 
partnership working approach. Staff will encourage young people to 
speak up around their wants and needs in their local communities. Staff 
will also provide youth work advice and C-Card services. C-card is the 
County Durham condom distribution service for young people. Feedback 
from the young people will then be fed back to the AAP Board for 
discussions and to aid future project development.  

 
19 The Partnership has created an accredited sex and relationships training 

programme for young people (both boys and girls) aged 14+. Their Open 
College Network accredited Baby Ready or Not programme challenges 
young people's attitudes and beliefs around sex and relationships. It also 
provides young people with the knowledge to be better able to make 
appropriate choices when entering into intimate relationships. The course 
also covers contraception, its different forms and the correct usage. The 
programme also utilises electronic baby simulators to provide a hands on 
experience of what it is like to care for a child. 

 
20 Prison Me No Way (PMNW) delivered a Crime and Safety Awareness 

Day (CASAD) at Parkside Academy within the 3 Towns Partnership to all 
year 8 pupils, and are currently working on the bespoke delivery of Your 
Choice days which will be delivered in two primary schools as a pilot in 
the 3 Towns area. These days will involve 300 children and young people 
in programmes designed to help them make healthy choices. 

 
21 There are two themes within the Social and Emotional project led by 

Oxhill Youth Club within the Stanley AAP. The first theme’s focus is 
online safety, and looking at all issues that affect young people from 
cyber bullying to how to stay safe online. The project will work with young 
people to identify issues and how to deal with them effectively. The 
second theme is to work with young people on self-resilience, self-
esteem and confidence, based on self-defence and exercise delivered by 
a local Martial Arts Teacher.  

 

 
 
 

Page 58



Reduce health inequalities and early deaths 
  
22 The Revitalise project delivered by Foundation of Light aims to improve 

the health and wellbeing of people aged 50 years and above within the 
East Durham Rural Corridor AAP area. Sessions and activities are 
provided to engage participants in a healthier lifestyle and to reduce 
social isolation. Three weekly sessions including bingo, luncheon clubs, 
arts and crafts, walking football, exercise classes, and coffee mornings 
are delivered from local community centres and care homes, along with 
trips. There is currently a 104 year old person taking part in Boxercise!  

 
Improve the quality of life, independence and care and support for people with 
long term conditions 

23 The Headway County Durham project has been funded in the Stanley 
AAP area to employ a Project Development Worker due to the increase 
in brain injury and the growing demand for Headway support from their 
increasing client list. The worker will; 

(a) oversee a new programme of activity and develop the service,  
(b) be the main contact to ensure Headway Members are supported in 

Stanley, and new members are recruited to access their support 
services,  

(c) carry out one to ones with clients to support them and their families 
in their homes,  

(d) establish a link with University Hospital of North Durham to ensure 
brain injury survivors are signposted to the service and the support 
they provide, and 

(e) maintain the relationships they have developed with other 
professional services in particular James Cook Hospital and the 
RVI, the two main major brain trauma centres.  
 

24 Headway County Durham have links with the Walkergate Park Centre for 
Neurorehabilitation and Neuropsychiatry, which is an all encompassing 
service for people with a disability caused by injury or disease affecting 
the brain, spinal cord or muscles. The project obtains clients from this 
service, ensuring pathways are joined up in terms of working 
arrangements. 

 
25 The Centre of Excellence for Dementia Patients and their Carers   

project had a total project cost of £32,000, including £17,000 Area 
Budget from East Durham AAP. The project employed a Dementia 
Support Worker for 3 days a week to work in the East Durham area 
employed by the Alzheimers Society. The employee was based at the 
Robin Todd Centre which became a centre of excellence for East 
Durham. The development of this project saw an all round information, 
support and signposting service develop for dementia patients and their 

Page 59



families. This support was provided via one to one and group activities 
and included emotional, financial and medical advice, developing support 
networks designed to give emotional support to those families and carers 
feeling isolated and alone.    
 

26 The post holder signposted and linked with The Hospital of God at 
Greatham, Age UK, Carers Association, Alzheimer's Society, Mental 
Health Services for Older People and Relate to give an all round advice 
and care service for people diagnosed with Dementia and their carers.  A 
key role for the Officer was to co-ordinate the training for the 
Management Committees, Staff, or Volunteers of East Durham 
Community Buildings to enable community based activities to be 
developed and work towards making East Durham 'Dementia Friendly' 
 

27 There was an extension to this project which was slightly changed to 
include Dementia Friendly Communities (DFCs). The workers role was to 
work in communities giving help and advice to Community Buildings, 
places of work, schools and villages in the East Durham area. To work 
with communities to help them work toward Dementia Friendly 
Communities status. 
 

28 A further extension to Dementia Friendly Communities in 2018 followed 
using £11,016 Area Budget towards a total project cost of £12,614. The 
project extension is for 6 months to expand on the work of the Dementia 
Friendly Communities Co-ordinator. This work expands the geographical 
area to include more of the outlying villages and to complete work started 
in many areas. The funding enables a 21-hour-per-week Dementia 
Friendly Communities Coordinator to work across East Durham, 
developing DFCs further. The Coordinator also helps current DFCs in 
areas they have found difficult and builds on the opportunities that have 
been created over the past year. The Coordinator will also provide 
greater cohesion between DFCs and services across East Durham, 
ensuring future sustainability. 
 

29 The Coordinator engages with various key community members across 
East Durham to work towards becoming dementia friendly, in particular 
making towns and villages more accessible, raising awareness about 
dementia in order to reduce stigma, and promoting independence for 
people affected by dementia. 

 

30 The Talking Dementia project, funded with £5,000 Area Budget from 
East Durham AAP provided two conferences; one for young people and 
one for the people of East Durham, as follows: 

 

Page 60



(a) One day conference - National Touring Theatre exploring 
dementia, room hire was included at a local community  venue, 
knowledgeable speakers were in attendance sharing information, 
and partner agencies/community groups giving information on help 
and support available for people living with dementia and their 
carers. ‘Jack and Jill & The Red Postbox’ explored some of the 
complexities of living with dementia and encouraged participants to 
think about how they live and work alongside those in 
communities. Market place displays were provided to give various 
health information.     
 

(b) Night event for young people – included National Touring Theatre 
exploring dementia, room hire and buffet included at a local 
community venue to encourage participation.  Information stands 
relating to health, geared towards young people, for example; 
young carers, School nurses, young people’s health problems and 
the Alzheimers Society. Also artwork was developed with a group 
of young people working alongside people living with dementia. 
The resulting artwork was displayed in various venues across East 
Durham, with a final presentation at an East Durham AAP Board 
meeting. 

 
Improve the mental and physical wellbeing of the population 

31 The Derwent Valley AAP fully funded £10,000 to Consett Hiking Group.  
This enabled: 

(a) the continuation of weekly ‘Mams and Babies’ walks to ensure 
mothers are given the opportunity to meet each other regularly, 
exercise and get their children interacting with nature and other 
children,   

(b) the continuation of ‘Peace of Mind’ Walks in partnership with 
Derwentside Mind. These popular walks involving service users 
from Derwentside Mind bring people together to walk and then 
have refreshments together, allowing them space to walk and talk 
in a relaxed, lively and enjoyable atmosphere. 

(c) The Steel Town 20 event which is growing into a community 
celebration to promote walking and its physical and mental health 
benefits. For instance, 70 people walked 20 miles around the 
Derwent Valley in the heart of the AAP on the May Bank holiday 
last year.  

(d) To create walks around the locality for families/tourists to follow 
using GPS technology. 

(e) The continuation of Consett Hiking Group open walks every 
weekend and in the summer months, midweek walks. 
 

Page 61



32 Following the successful pilot of Family Actions Neighbourhood Charter 
work within the Bishop Auckland and Shildon (BASH) AAP area; the East 
Durham Rural Corridor Neighbourhood Charter project has been 
funded with a view to being rolled out across the County. The project 
works with Primary and Secondary schools within the AAP area, as well 
as community and voluntary groups working with young people to 
achieve Neighbourhood Charter status. The Young Carers Charter aims 
to make positive change for children, young people and families where 
there is a caring role. The Charter was originally focused on supporting 
schools to put in place effective processes, training and staff capacity to 
improve recognition and responsiveness to the needs of young carers. 
However, on the back of successful delivery and growing interest from 
other organisations, the Charter has since been extended to support GP 
surgeries and other voluntary groups, as well as various DCC 
departments including the One Point Teams. Some AAP's are also going 
through the charter process. EDRC AAP will be the third Young Carers 
Charter Status Neighbourhood in County Durham. Following BASH AAPs 
involvement this would demonstrate a wider area of County Durham’s 
ongoing commitment to lead the way in supporting young carers.  
 

33 The PrimarEAMH programme led by If U Care Share has started to roll 
out to the remaining 10 Primary Schools in the 3 Towns Partnership area, 
based on the previous successful pilot in three Schools. East Durham 
Rural Corridor have also funded this project in the past. 473 pupils took 
part in the pilot within the 3 Towns Partnership area, and a large 
proportion of school staff, creating a culture that sees the next generation 
confident and comfortable in talking about their emotions. 1170 people 
will be involved in initiatives aimed at improving mental health/wellbeing 
and 90 people will receive formal training. 
 

34 As a specialist in behavioural education Delta North currently work with 
around 70 young people locally, each with needs that weren't being met 
in mainstream school. Over the past few years they found an increase in 
the amount of young people turning to drawing and creative art-based 
aids to help calm them down when they were in emotional turmoil or 
simply not coping. As an organisation they were keen to assist young 
people in the development of their mental health and offer tools to help 
them when they needed it. 
 

35 Under the Angry Artists project, they have devoted key areas of their 
building to be used for art based therapeutic means through digital art, 
drawing, doodling, crafts and mural painting.  They were funded £7,750 
from the Derwent Valley Partnership AAP for a bank of creative artistic 
tools and resources, which were placed in these key areas and to train 
various staff on ways to incorporate art as a therapeutic tool with young 
people. 

Page 62



 
36 The What’s Stopping You project funded by 4 Together Partnership, 

and led by Ferryhill LADDER Centre offered free accessible exercise to 
men and women over 18 years of age, was very successful over the last 
12 months and incredibly well received by members of the community 
and partner referral services. By its end, 88 people had signed up for the 
project and regularly taken part in the organised activities. This exceeded 
the target of 50, set against the key performance indicator in relation to 
number of people involved in initiatives aimed at improving mental health/ 
wellbeing. 

 

37 A growing number of referrals from outside agencies were received 
including local GP surgeries in Ferryhill, Chilton and West Cornforth, 
Wellbeing for Life, Mental Health Matters, Talking Changes, Social 
Workers and Floating Support Services from Durham County Council. 
 

38 Innovative ways to support people have been provided to those who 
would normally not be able to access sport, exercise and healthy living 
activities to improve their overall health and wellbeing, improve their 
mental health and tackle social isolation. Project members designed and 
produced their own stunning garden display at The Ladder Centre to 
celebrate the Centenary of the First World War. 
 

39 A weekly health walk was provided led by qualified volunteers, identified 
through the project, and a healthy meal and social session where group 
members could mix and form friendships. Over the course of the project, 
training has been delivered in healthy eating and understanding the 
positive effects of exercise on your body. Group members have been 
encouraged to take part in community volunteering, and in the Summer 
2018, a team of ‘Litter Pickers’ helped with community litter picks in Dean 
Bank. 
 

40 Weekly Walking Football sessions, taster sessions of Qigong, seated and 
gym exercise have been provided, as well as 10 monthly walking trips 
aimed at reducing social isolation, but also giving the project members 
something to aim for and a sense of achievement. An example of this 
was an organised trip to climb Roseberry Topping.  

 

41 The project provided one to one mentoring/ support sessions to project 
members throughout the lifetime of the project. This has helped empower 
those taking part to make positive changes in their lives and lifestyles. 
Work has taken place with those requiring help to complete referrals to 
dedicated support services such as Smoking Cessation, Alcohol Support 
Services and Talking Changes. 
 

Page 63



42 The North Durham Man v Fat Football League project which had an 
overall project cost of £10,000, utilised £5,000 from Chester-le-Street & 
District AAP to facilitate the development of the league for men living in 
the AAP area wanting to lose weight and get healthier. Uniquely, the 
league is decided not just on points won, but also on pounds lost. 
Support and inspiration are provided 24/7 to help men lose weight, get 
fitter, meet new people and enjoy the beautiful game! 
 

43 The Man v Fat Football league takes place over 16 weeks, including 1 
registration week, 14 weeks of football, and 1 ‘friendly’ week. The 
registration session gives everyone a chance to meet each other and get 
assigned to their teams. Captains and team names are decided and 
players are placed onto a WhatsApp Group which is used to maintain 
enthusiasm and motivation. 
 

44 Men are weighed at the start of each week and results are compared to 
the previous weeks to determine weight loss/ gain. Teams gain points for 
their weight loss, and these are combined with the points total from the 
matches they’ve played to determine their overall position in the league. 
 

45 There are currently 87 local men engaged in the league, and a collective 
loss of 150kg was achieved in the first week, with a further 60kg lost in 
the second week; one player has lost four stones. 
 

46 In relation to addressing the wider determinants of health such as social 
isolation, poverty and worklessness for example; REfUSE is a 
Community Interest Company that intercepts food before it becomes 
waste and turns it into healthy accessible meals, served on a ‘Pay As 
You Feel’ basis. Through pop up events, media campaigns, a schools 
project and community café, the organisation works to highlight and 
challenge the levels of food waste in the UK, and give everyone access 
to basic education on food provision and food waste management. 
 

47 REfUSEs café premises in Chester-le-Street has become the projects 
hub, hosting volunteer teams, training and coaching volunteers with 
significant barriers to employment, as well as providing food for the local 
community. The café is an inclusive community space, open to all. 
Partnerships with other local organisations like the YMCA, Handcrafted, 
Changing Lives, the Job Centre and Refugee Service mean that the café 
is somewhere where those who can’t afford food or are lonely can find 
company and community.  
 

48 The 2018 Small Grants Social Isolation Pot using £10,000 of Area 
Budget from East Durham AAP recognises the need to strengthen the 
resilience of the community to resist and minimise the impact of social 
isolation. At the Health, Mental Health and Wellbeing Priority Group it 

Page 64



welcomed East Durham AAP receiving £25,000 for 3 years to help 
develop innovating projects to help with socially isolated over 50's but 
discussed and recognised that people are isolated for a number of 
reasons . This project is open to deliver projects of between £1,000 and 
£2,500 from the smaller pot of £10,000, to run alongside the £25,000 
OPSIF monies. This will have a dual purpose of being a smaller grants 
pot but could also be used to support those suffering isolation under the 
age of 50. 
 

49 It also offers supported volunteering opportunities where those who are 
out of work, and at risk of social isolation can gain confidence and feel a 
sense of belonging whilst also gaining skills for employability. Accredited 
Level 2 qualifications in food handling and food and beverage service are 
offered through Sunderland College. AAP Area Budget funding of £9,560 
contributed to the total project cost of £21,000 and was used to purchase 
essential equipment for the cafes kitchen. 
 

50 The Come Eat Together project (2018) with a total project cost of 
£10,946, including £3,786 from Mid Durham AAPs Area Budget delivered 
by Age UK, uses innovative ways to work across the AAP area to combat 
loneliness, social isolation and malnutrition among people aged over 50 
in Mid Durham by bringing older people together using food as an 
overarching theme. Older people are targeted, who whilst not necessarily 
frail or in poor health, are at risk of social isolation. Activities will bring 
older people together to enjoy good food in company, learn, talk, taste, 
grow and shop for food that will promote good health and wellbeing.  
 

51 This project promoted enjoyment of life by involving older people in a 
wide range of enjoyable volunteer activities. These include acting as a 
'buddy' to support new members, and meeter greeters to welcome 
people at activities, assisting with activities such as Let’s Get Growing or 
'Eat well, Feel great' sessions or helping older people with their food 
shopping. 

 
52 It will deliver sessions in the community to encourage people to grow fruit 

and vegetables in containers/small garden areas at home. Everyone 
receives an information booklet and starter pack (seeds/compost). 
Finally, it will help people gain the skills and confidence to use the 
Internet to shop online.  Outcomes include:  

(a) Older people feel more socially included and be better equipped to 
cope with life stage changes.  

(b) Older people have increased knowledge how good nutrition helps 
maintain/improve health & wellbeing 

(c) Older people have increased knowledge, skills & ability to access, 
grow and prepare healthy food 

Page 65



(d) Local organisations have improved knowledge, skills and capacity 
to deliver activities for older people 

 
53 55 older people have benefited from the above scheme gaining the 

outcomes outlined, 4 community groups and 4 community buildings have 
benefitted, 5 people have volunteered. 

 
54 The St Margaret’s Old School Café project which received £11,000 

Area Budget from Durham AAP, is a well-established mental health 
recovery organisation, and works with people providing a safe and 
therapeutic environment that allows them to regain confidence and self-
esteem.  

 
55 This project helped the centre to renovate their entrance way to improve 

access for all and to refurbish the café area.  It has now been completed 
with the opening of the café on the 21st January.  All problems were 
resolved, this was mainly around alterations to layout and design. The 
luncheon club for older people in isolation was scheduled to start in June. 
There is a constant stream of older people using the facility, and their 
needs are being gauged before advertising.  

 
56 There has been a positive response from the local community for the 

need of this service. A few local residents are using the facility for take 
away evening meals so as not to cook. The facility is accessed by the 
general public, and is being host for a young people’s peer support group 
on a Wednesday evening. The first session ran on the 1st May 2019. 
 

57 The key performance indicators have exceeded the targets set with the 
number of voluntary and community groups supported actual to date 
recorded as 9, against a target set of 6; the number of community 
buildings/ facilities supported actual to date is 8 against the target of 4.  

 
Protect vulnerable people from harm 
 
58 The Hearts and Minds – Domestic Abuse project delivered by The 

Cornforth Partnership includes an award winning level 2 accredited 
training programme through the Open College Network, which has been 
developed by working with female survivors to understand their support 
needs. Hearts and Minds is a bespoke training programme which is being 
delivered across the East Durham Rural Corridor AAP area; targeted in 
the villages which had the highest figures on the Police crime map in 
relation to violence and sexual offences during January and April 2018. 
During the programme participants look at and define what Domestic 
Abuse is and underpin the tell-tale signs and traits of an abusive 
relationship. They then move on to developing recovery strategies and 
designing their own personal development plans for the future.  Staff are 

Page 66



also on hand to support the female survivors with any additional support 
they may need, and will fully support families to make referrals to the 
Police and Harbour etc. 
The Partnership recognises that children and young people who have 
been living in abusive homes are also affected by the abuse, therefore 
one to one support is offered to all children and young people from their 
dedicated youth work staff. The programme is an excellent progression 
opportunity for those participants who have completed the freedom 
programme, and as a result, the Partnership has developed excellent 
working relationships with One Point centres and Social Care Direct 
teams, who support the Partnership in generating referrals.   

To ensure the programmes are inclusive to all areas within the AAP, 
transport is provided, along with childcare, where necessary. The 
programme also includes two social activities to help bring the female 
survivors together, and to celebrate their achievements upon completion. 

59 Just for Women Centre – New Premises: 
The Just for Women Centre is a small independent not- for-profit 
organisation founded to help women in the community who suffer from 
mental health issues, or are survivors of abuse, first time offenders or 
long term unemployed. Stanley AAP and partners have supported them 
to secure a new base fit for their activities and business expansion. 

 
Shared and Supported Work 
 
60 AAPs continue to be part of and input into the Severe Weather Plan, 

Holiday Activities with Food Work Stream, Active Durham, the Mental 
Health Strategic Partnership Board, Teenage Pregnancy Steering Group, 
Suicide Prevention Alliance and Resilient Communities Group. The AAP 
representative responsible for connecting AAP work with that of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board partners is also the AAPs link to the above 
groups, and the Time to Change Champion for the AAPs. 

 
61 The AAPs have been involved in work to help establish the foundations 

for a new vision for the County Durham Partnership, via the priority voting 
and workshops within the community prior to Christmas.  
 

62 AAPs are keen to ensure that they are working with the most up to date 
information so continued regular updates from the Health and Wellbeing 
Board on reports such as this help to shape local actions supported by 
the AAPs. All AAPs have Board meetings and task and finish groups and 
the AAP Coordinators meet regularly so there are plenty of opportunities 
to share information at a local and county level.  In addition, prior to 
approving AAP projects, comments are sought from the relevant statutory 
agencies on the proposed action. 
 

Page 67



63 AAPs have Forum membership of approximately 15,000 and send 
regular e-bulletins to their members.  Each AAP also has their own 
Facebook page that can be utilised to raise key messages and 
consultations to local communities.  These methods of communication 
could be a further way of getting the messages out to communities. 
 

64 AAPs have supported campaigns such as Fresh, smoke free play areas 
and smoke free school gates, but not funded any particular projects 
around tobacco and smoking in pregnancy. 
 
 

Conclusion 

65 This report is intended as an update from the AAPs to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.  

 

Contact: Jane Bellis Tel:  03000 261128 
   

  

Page 68



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

No implications. 

Finance 

As above, the finance highlighted within this report is linked to budgets provided to 
the AAPs via Durham County Council. 

Consultation 

The AAPs engage with local residents and partners throughout the year, and base 
their work on the contributions provided. They provide an opportunity for residents 
and partners to be part of the Task and Finish Groups established to examine, 
develop and evaluate the outcomes of the aforementioned contributions. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

AAPs fund projects which contribute to improving levels of crime and disorder. 

Staffing 

Not applicable. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

Not applicable. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 69



            

Appendix 2: AAP Priorities 
            
 

AAP 2019-20 Priorities 

3 Towns - Children, Young People and Families 
- Older People 
- Community Safety  

4 Together - Children, Young People and Families and/ or Older People to 
improve physical and/ or mental wealth 
- Health and Wellbeing (overarching priority) 
- Older People 

Bishop Auckland and 
Shildon 

- Children, Young People and Families 
- Community Safety 
- Older People 

Chester le Street and 
District 

-Thriving Chester-le-Street: Focusing on Town Centre Development 
and Employment. 
- Supporting Chester-le-Street: Focusing on Health, Children, Young 
People and Families and Welfare Reform. 
- Environment and Community Safety: Focusing on Neighbourhood 
Issues including environment, crime and community safety, 

Derwent Valley - Health and Wellbeing 
- Environment and Employment 
- Enterprise and Training 

Durham - Children, Young People and Families (incorporating Health and 
Wellbeing) 
- Older People (incorporating Health and Wellbeing) 
- Improving our villages and city 

East Durham - Children and Young People 
- Health, Mental Health and Wellbeing 
- Maintaining the Social Fabric of Our Community 

East Durham Rural - Children, Young People and Families 
- Health and Wellbeing 
- Older People 

Great Aycliffe and Middridge  - Children, Young People and Families 
- Older People 
- Community Safety 

Mid Durham - Children, Young People and Families 
- Older People including Health 
- Crime and Community Safety including Environment 

Spennymoor - Safer, Stronger and Healthier Communities 
- Children, Young People and Families 
- Culture, Your Local Environment, Tourism and Heritage 

Stanley Stronger Stanley: 
- Children, Young People and Families 
- Community Safety 
Supporting Stanley: 
- Older People 
- Health and Wellbeing 
Successful Stanley: 

- Employment, Enterprise and Training 

Teesdale - Children, Young People and Families 
- Older People 
- Health and Wellbeing 

Weardale - Children Young People and Families 
- Supporting of Local Groups 
- Culture, Tourism and Heritage 
- Health, Wellbeing and Safety 

Page 70



Appendix 3:  Update on Older Peoples Social Isolation Fund (OPSIF) 

 

OPSIF 
 
AAPs - 
south 

Current Position £ Allocated and 
approved at AAP 
Boards  

3 Towns Been working with partners on the issue of older people’s social isolation to decide where to invest the OPSIF funding 
of £25k for 18/19 as per below. 

• Mapped and timetabled current provision across the 3 Towns area and shared with groups and the community 
to identify any gaps. 

• Organised a Network meeting of organisations delivering activities to older people across the 3 Towns. 16 
different organisations attended and we ran workshop style sessions looking at the timetable and map for 
specific gaps.   

• Explored what’s working well and any challenges faced by current providers. 

• Identified any training or support needs of current providers. 

• Created an e-network to inform 3 Towns Providers on relevant training and funding opportunities 

• Supported several organisations to successfully apply for external funding for current and new activity, including 
a years’ worth of running costs for a Dementia Café, and for Friends Together, a social group with links to local 
GPs. Transport for a Willington luncheon club, funding to set up a new luncheon club in Crook ran by Churches 
together. Funding for a new church hall floor mostly used for older people’s activities. We have also supported 
several organisations with access to smaller grants across the area from our Connecting Communities fund. We 
continue to support organisations with external funding. 

• Shared the current timetable of provision with the DCC locality team who have used it to have informal 
conversations with clients in the 3 Towns area to identify barriers to participation and reasons for non-
participation currently. 

• The main results from this work identified transport and special transport. Not knowing what’s going on and 
don’t want to attend/can’t be bothered. 

£25,000 to a 
Small Grants Pot. 

P
age 71



From all of this work the Task group and Board have agreed a grants scheme would be the best way to help facilitate 
social interaction in the 3 Towns area this year with an agreement that another network meeting will be organised to 
move forward. We will continue to work with the locality team and contact other DCC and partner services who are 
most likely to access the older socially isolated. 

 

4 Together Funded Healthy Communities, managed by the Cornforth Partnership which is an exciting new initiative which  built 
around the five ways to health and wellbeing model. The project will have a health focus to supporting older residents to 
make sustained change to their personal wellbeing and ensure they have opportunities to live healthy and prosperous 
lives which are free from risk and harm through participation in a holistic programme of support and activities 
throughout their local community.  
 
We are using year 1 of this project as a pilot, the results of which will determine the continuation of the project.  

£25,000 

Bishop 
Auckland 
and 
Shildon 

Bishop Auckland and Shildon AAP Older Person Social Isolation Fund  

Project 
Name  

Lead 
Organisation  

Amount 
Requested  

Total 
project 
Costs  

Proposed OPSIF Budget Breakdown 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Total  

£25,000 £25,000 £25,000 £75,000 

Social 
Transport 
Scheme  

Supportive 
SRC Ltd  £7,000 £7,000 £0 £7,000 £0 £7,000 

Bishop 
Auckland 
Healthy 
Heartbeat 
Support 
Group  

Bishop 
Auckland 
Healthy 
Heartbeat 
Support 
Group  £5,800 £5,800 £5,800 £0 £0 £5,800 

West of 60  

St Helens 
Parish 
Church  £7,240 £7,240 £3,620 £3,620 £0 £7,240 

See table to left 

P
age 72



Lunch 
Club, Day 
Club and 
Meals on 
Wheels 

Woodhouse 
Close Church 
Community 
Centre  £11,763 £11,763 £9,235 £2,528 £0 £11,763 

Green 
Links  

Groundwork 
North East £9,458 £9,458 £0 £9,458 £0 £9,458 

Four 
Clocks 
Club and 
Memory 
Club  

Bishop 
Auckland 
Community 
Partnership  £6,345 £6,345 £6,345 £0 £0 £6,345 

TOTAL  £47,606 £47,606 £25,000 £22,606 £0 £47,606 

 

Great 
Aycliffe 
and 
Middridge 
Partnership 
(GAMP( 

Three project proposals supported and approved by the Board (currently in the process of collating required 
documentation to forward to Funding Team for technical appraisal). 
 
Be Connected (Home Group) £5,000 
To deliver a service that promotes inclusion, and health and wellbeing for the older people of the GAMP area. Funding 
will be used to deliver activities and lunch clubs to older residents who may be socially isolated in the area. Activities 
will be based around promoting good mental health, creating opportunities to socialise and combating isolation. 
 
Green Links (Groundwork North East) £9,460 
This is a client-led programme of eco-therapy which addresses social isolation and low activity in people living with 
dementia and their carers. The key focus is to address loneliness to reduce the risk of deterioration.  By providing 
regular social activities, with use of outdoors, the project will support the maintenance of cognitive and physical health 
through learning and developing practical skills and activities like walking and gardening. Addressing the health needs 
of the clients can help support families and carers to live well too.  The programme will support a minimum of 45 people 
living with dementia and 15 carers.  
 
Town of our Times (Pioneering Care Partnership) £10,540 
The proposal is to bring together key stakeholders from the GAMP area to develop a healthy town approach focusing 
initially on two main topics, Dementia Friendly Communities and Time to Change GAMP-wide pledges.  A dementia-

£25,000 

P
age 73



friendly community is a town or village where people with dementia are understood, respected and supported, they are 
important to help people to live well with dementia. We would work with a wide range of partners to develop a 
comprehensive plan. 
 
A part time worker will be appointed to: 
1. Co-ordinate the multi-agency Action Group; 
2. Develop and lead on an AAP wide Action Plan; 
3. Support individual organisations (voluntary orgs, community centres, library, leisure facilities, retailers, business) to 
make small but meaningful adjustments; and 
4. Seek additional funding for training, awareness campaigns and resources. 
 
All are one year projects. 

Teesdale 
Action 
Partnership 
(TAP) 

Association of Teesdale Day Clubs (agreed by TAP Board 19th Sept – project is now live)  
The Teesdale Day Club project will be funded on a yearly basis. Outcomes will determine if the project is funded for            £25,000 
a further 2 years. (£10,000) 
 
 
 

Durham Wildlife Trust (Woodland Volunteers Project). The Durham Wildlife Trust project will be a 1 year funded project. 
(£6,000)  
 
 
UTASS (Social Isolation Project). The project is in the pipeline. Initial discussions at task group level. The project will be 
discussed further at the Older People Task Group for approval. The UTASS project will be funded on a yearly basis.  
Outcomes will determine if the project is funded for a further 2 years. (£9,000) 
 
 
 

Weardale 
Action 
Partnership 
(WAP) 

Medical/social hybrid model. Reviewing personal health utilizing the STAR model of independent living to develop 
tailored solutions addressing the needs of the individual. Social element of the model utilizing a client centred EGAN 
approach to achieve movement in engagement and empowerment. WAP are developing a three year project, using 
staged payments dependent on results and outcomes. 

£25,000 
(full £75k 
potentially) 

East 
Durham 
Rural 

Keeping safe and Well in EDRC, Age UK County Durham - £10,000 
 

£25,000 

P
age 74



Corridor 
AAP 
(EDRC) 

Age UK County Durham works to promote the wellbeing of all people aged over 50, their families and carers in County 
Durham.  Fuel poverty and poor access to information and support can lead to social isolation, loneliness, poverty and 
poor health. They want to ensure older people are fully prepared, not only for the winter months, but all year round.  
 
This funding is enabling them to develop a pilot project that will help people aged over 50 cope with winter across the 
EDRC area, with a focus on those who experience poverty, loneliness and social isolation. They bring older people at 
risk of social isolation together for winter warming lunch clubs in community venues where they take the opportunity to 
provide taster sessions and information. The aim is for these to cover the following areas Quarrington Hill, Kelloe, 
Cassop, Coxhoe, Fishburn, Trimdons, and Sedgefield. The sessions are used to increase participants personal 
resilience and consult with them to identify potential new activities that could be developed locally to help them keep 
safe and well in later life.  
 
Awareness of initiatives are raised (e.g. boiler replacement schemes) which improve the safety and warmth of older 
peoples’ homes. They ensure older people know how to contact their Information and Advice Service for help with 
accessing welfare benefits, refer/signpost to partner organisations, winter grants and initiatives to ensure that older 
people are accessing their full entitlements. They also signpost and refer older people to activities and services to 
reduce social isolation and loneliness such as lunch clubs, social groups, exercise classes, befriending (home visits 
and telephone), and services to help with shopping. In addition they distribute Keep Warm Keep Well packs to older 
people; which give older people the information and contact details they need to stay safe and well in winter and a room 
thermometer. Finally, they distribute winter warmth items such as food, warm clothing or blankets to those in need of 
extra help, and talk to people about avoiding scams, keeping cool in a heatwave, Durham County Council services, 
help for those with Dementia, staying safe around the home and on the Internet. 
 
Information and Advice Project, Age UK County Durham - £8,000 (Joint project with other AAP areas) 
 
This project encourages and assists older people and their carers to claim their welfare benefit entitlements, helping 
and empowering them to find solutions to problems, make informed choices and connect to services which can help 
them to maintain/improve their physical and/or mental wellbeing and quality of life, and retain their independence. 
Information on a wide range of topics including welfare benefits, housing, community care, social services, health, and 
leisure/social opportunities is provided; along with the provision of factsheets and leaflets. Assistance is given with the 
completion of welfare benefit claim forms, problem solving and simple advocacy. 
 
 
Supportive - £7,000 
 

P
age 75



Supportive are a charity who provide home care, and the Volunteer Drivers Scheme across parts of County Durham. 
The Volunteer Drivers Scheme has helped thousands of customers all over the County, and has run for over 24 years. 
It has been well received in the EDRC AAP area. 
 
The funding is being used to provide door to door transport to those aged 50+ who live in the EDRC area. They also 
aim to support others who need help within EDRC on a case by case basis. They currently have 10 active drivers 
across the EDRC AAP area aim to recruit 10 additional drivers. They advertise on a regular basis for volunteers and will 
continue to do so. Their drivers are fully trained with safeguarding and DBS checks, and cars are checked regularly for 
tax/insurance/MOT. There are approximately 150 drivers across Co. Durham.  
 
Clients have benefited from using the service for hospital visits, shopping, community/day centres, and lunch clubs.This 
has been very successful, and excellent feedback has been received from the customers who travelled from Trimdon 
Colliery, Bowburn, Trimdon Station, Trimdon Village, Quarrington Hill, Fishburn and Sedgefield. The volunteer driver 
also plays an integral role in this great service which has given them a reason/purpose to get up in the morning and 
meet new friends so they are not socially isolated.   
 
They are working well with community groups to close the gaps in current transport provision. In addition, to add value 
to other projects the AAP have funded they are providing transport for Age UK County Durham and the Foundation of 
Light. They have also had various discussions with Durham County Council about transport difficulties for carers who 
are unable to get to and from hospital to visit loved ones. Therefore, Supportive can also provide transport for 
vulnerable people who do not fit with the criteria of the link2 journeys (who only provide journeys within a 5mile radius 
or to the nearest hub). 
 
Supportive charge 60p per mile (includes an overhead fee). Out of the 60p per mile, the volunteer driver is paid 40.55p 
per mile expenses from leaving home to returning home. The passenger pays 50p per mile (minimum charge of £1 per 
journey) only for the time they are in the car. This money goes back into the funding pot. The example used shows how 
the charges/overheads only occur when a journey takes place. 
 
 
All are 1 year projects. 

East 
Durham  

Durham Deafened Support were funded to make community centres, leisure centres, GP surgeries etc more user 
friendly to people with hearing difficulties. This is a one year project.  

£25,000 

Spenny A project callout has taken place and four applications were received as follows: 
 

• AGE UK County Durham 

£25,000 

P
age 76



• Durham Together, Durham County Council 

• Spennymoor Green Links, Groundwork 

• Supportive 
 
The full £25,000 has been allocated for 2018/19, however for information on which projects from the above list were 
funded and further detail on each, please contact the Spennymoor AAP team. 

AAPs – 
north 

Current Position £Allocated and 
approved at AAP 
Boards?  

Chester-le-
Street 

A project call out took place in September with an oversubscription of £19,497. A dedicated funding sub group 
shortlisted the applications in October; they were then approved by the ‘Supporting Chester-le-Street’ Task group in 
October and four projects were taken to Novembers AAP Board for approval. The projects are as follows: 
 

• Supportive, £7,000 for a Social Transport Scheme 

• Rhythm Not Blues, £5,100 

• Pelton Community Centre, £6,024 for The Hawthorn Project 

• Bullion Hall, £6,876 for Evergreen Elders 
 
The above projects are working together to ensure a greater impact on the community. All projects are 1 year, but will 
be invited to apply in year two provided evaluation and monitoring are in place. 

£25,000 

Stanley Approved project that just started delivery in February 2019: 
 

Naturally Social (£9,000 OPSIF, £10,440 Match) – Naturally Social is a mechanism to support older people to access 
a constructive, positive healthy and sociable activity in the local area. It will support an existing group of volunteers to 
continue being outdoors, building their confidence and using their enthusiasm to encourage new older people to get 
involved. The aim will be to increase the number of volunteers who are participating in outdoor activities in this friendly 
and relaxed atmosphere. They will meet regularly and do small scale task such as cutting back vegetation, clearing 
footpaths, keeping sites tidy, going for walks and spotting wildlife.  Going to a new activity can be daunting, the 
Naturally Social Officer hosted by Durham Wildlife Trust will encourage existing volunteers to be the group’s friendly 
face, welcoming new members and becoming advocates for Naturally Social. They have been in that position and can 
put people at their ease.  
 

£0 

P
age 77



Naturally Social will be promoted via local outlets including community centres, shops, GP surgeries, pharmacies, 
libraries and building good links with local stakeholders such as WellBeing for Life and Supportive. The aim is that local 
organisations will help us promote Naturally Social and signpost individuals to the project.     
 
Naturally Social’s success will be assessed on how participants have felt, if they enjoyed it, feel fitter and more involved 
in their local area, and made new friends  
 
Funding committed to the following two projects: 
 
Information & Advice Service – Age UK County Durham (£10,000 OPSIF, £15,000 Match) – The service will 
encourage and assist older people and their carers from the Stanley area to claim their welfare benefit entitlements, 
helping and empowering them to find solutions to problems, make informed choices and connect to services which can 
help them to maintain/improve their physical and/or mental wellbeing and quality of life, and retain their independence.  
Topics covered include; welfare benefits, housing, community care, social services, health, and leisure/social 
opportunities.  We assist with the completion of welfare benefit claim forms, problem solving and simple advocacy. 
 
Stanley Transport Scheme (£6,000 OPSIF, Match TBC) – The Scheme provides affordable lifts for vulnerable and 
isolated people in the Stanley area to enable them to access local groups and activities.  Volunteer Drivers are 
recruited and trained to assist the passengers and transport to them to their specific activity or take them to visit their 
loved ones in hospitals/care homes.   
 
 

Durham The funding was allocated to the following: 
 

• Durham Fybrohaven £6160  

• Supportive for volunteer drivers £7000 

• The Woodpile £10,000 

• DERIC for Bearpark Older Peoples Project £1840 
 
All are 1 year projects. 

£25,000 

Derwent 
Valley 
Partnership 

Name of 
Project / 
Delivery 

Deliverer Project Summary Requested 
Funding / Match 
Funding 

£25,000 – see 
table to left 

P
age 78



Timescale / 
Priority 

Older Persons 
Social Isolation 
Environment 
Small Grant 
Fund. 

 

To be 
launched in 
May/June 
2019. 

 

Environment. 

DVP Team and 
Environment Task 
Group 

The funding will be used to 
create a small grants fund 
for local community 
organisations who wish to 
apply for funding to deliver 
village/town based 
environmental activities for 
residents aged 50+ to help 
reduce loneliness and 
improve mental health and 
wellbeing. Groups will be 
able to apply for a minimum 
of £500 up to a maximum of 
£2,000. The Task Group 
have developed an 
application pack and 
specific OPSI related criteria 
for the small grants fund. 

£8,333 / Not yet 
known until small 
grant fund 
applications are 
received. 

Dementia 
Memory Café. 

 

June 2019 – 
June 2020. 

 

Health and 
Wellbeing. 

St Patrick’s Church 
Hall 

The funding will be used to 
create a Dementia Café in 
the hall lounge at St 
Patrick’s Church Hall for 
residents with memory 
problems or dementia and 
their carers. The café will 
provide a social setting to 
help reduce isolation often 
felt by dementia sufferers, 
their carers and families via 
social outings, bingo, crafts, 
activity programmes and 

£8,333 / 
£1,925.28 

P
age 79



professional speakers. It is 
hoped the café will also 
provide some emotional 
support to those attending. 
The project will be run by 
volunteers. These funds are 
also being used to support 
improvements to the 
dementia café held at 
Consett Methodist Church. 

Keep I.T. Real. 

 

April/May 2019 
– June 2020. 

 

Employment, 
enterprise and 
training. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

St Patrick’s Church 
Hall 

The funding will be used to 
bring together local 
residents aged 50+ who are 
isolated through lack of I.T. 
skills. The training will 
increase confidence in the 
use of computers, the 
internet and all that they can 
be used for to help people 
combat the feeling of being 
left behind and not able to 
have control over their own 
lives, money, health etc. 
Large numbers of groups 
currently use St Pat’s for 
other activities i.e. slimming, 
tea dancing, blood donors 
etc. and all have members 
who ask for help with IT. It is 
becoming clear that more 
older people are being left 
feeling isolated and have 
trouble keeping up with new 
technology, especially such 

£8,333 / £0 

P
age 80



things as online banking, 
online GP services including 
prescription requests etc. 

 

Mid 
Durham  

AAP Board agreed to support the following two projects put forward by the Support for Older Peoples Task group at 
their meeting in September 2018 
 

• Come Eat Together (Age UK County Durham) - £10,946 total project cost, £4,579 OPSIF. 1 year project. 

• Mid Durham Intergenerational Programme (Age UK County Durham) - £41,699 total project cost, £20,421 
OPSIF. 18 month project. 

 

£25,000 

 TOTAL ALLOCATED TO DATE £322,606 
(£25,000 of 
which to a Small 
Grants Pot) 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Revitalise

Michae l  Co lc lough

P
age 83



Revitalise

How the Foundation of Light started to engage Over 50’s

• Outreach with Karbon Homes

• Sit and Be Fit – care homes

• Gentoo sustainability, community projects, ballroom 

dancing

Initial engagement

P
age 84



Revitalise

From the success of Revitalise as a small scale project the FOL expanded provision for Over 50’s into Sunderland

• Extra Time Hubs - ‘Extra Time Hubs’ is a national project from the EFL Trust, with Foundation of Light one of the 12 

EFL Clubs chosen to deliver the first phase. Suitable for men and women, a range of activities will be available as part 

of the project including walking football, walking netball, seated exercise (Sit Fit and Strong) and table tennis.

• Classroom-based activities will also be available offering information around nutritional advice and helping to improve 

participants’ cooking skills.

• The launch of the Foundation’s Extra Time Hub has been made possible with thanks to National Lottery funding from 

Sport England and aims to bring together retired and semi-retired people to offer a range of positive activities and the 

opportunity to meet and spend time with like-minded people from the area, and to prove that you’re never too old learn 

to do the things you’ve always wanted to do.

✓ Walking Football

✓ Walking Netball

Progression of Over 50’s provision

P
age 85



Revitalise

• The Foundation of Light aimed to replicate Over 50’s provision from 

Sunderland to County Durham

• Working from outreach centres in Chester-le-Street, Peterlee, and Shildon

• Working with partners such as Housing Associations and Area Action 

Partnerships

• Funding opportunities to deliver in local area

County Durham

P
age 86



Revitalise

Successful funding application to EDRC AAP with match from Livin enabled 

Revitalise to be delivered in County Durham

• Willowdene Care Home, every Monday, 11am – 12pm

• Trimdon Village Hall Community Centre, every Thursday, 10am-11am

• Kelloe Working Men’s Club, every Monday, 1pm-2pm

• New eldest participant… 104yrs of age

• Supporting healthy living for body and mind and tackling social isolation

Current provision in County Durham

P
age 87



Revitalise

• Replicate provision from EDRC and Sunderland into other areas of County 

Durham

• Walking Football

• Walking Netball

• Extra Time Hubs

• Intergeneration provision with Kicks participants completing social action 

projects

Future provision in County Durham

Contact:

Michael.Colclough@foundationoflight.co.uk

Head of Operations (Delivery)

Foundation of Light

P
age 88

mailto:Michael.Colclough@foundationoflight.co.uk


 

             

Health and Wellbeing Board  

 30 July 2019 

 Tobacco Control – Annual Update  

 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council 

Councillor Lucy Hovvels, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adults and 
Health Services 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To update the Health and Wellbeing Board on developments in 
Tobacco Control for the financial year 2018/19.   

Executive summary 

2 Smoking prevalence has reduced to 14.3% in County Durham which is, 
for the first time, below the England average. This means there are just 
over 60,000 smokers remaining in County Durham many of whom live 
in the more deprived areas of the County and who will experience 
adverse effects of continued smoking.   

3 Partners across the Tobacco Control Alliance network continue to focus 
their effort on tobacco with excellent results through the year on illicit 
tobacco, high profile campaigns such as Quit-16 and Stoptober and 
supporting smokers to quit.  

4 Tobacco Control Plans for 2019/20 include undertaking a Challenge, 
Leadership, Results (CLeaR) self-assessment, recommissioning stop 
smoking support, Smokefree NHS Trust status for County Durham and 
Darlington Foundation Trust (CDDFT), working towards smokefree 
homes, continuing powerful advertising and lobbying through Fresh as 
well as undertaking a pilot with Vape Shops to support people to quit 
smoking.   

 

 

 

Page 89

Agenda Item 11



Recommendations 

5 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

(a) Note the contents of the report; 

(b) Maintain Health and Wellbeing Board support for Tobacco 
Control;  

(c) Ensure organisational representation at the Tobacco Control 
Alliance;  

(d) Ensure organisational support and implementation of 
communications campaigns led by Fresh; 

(e) Support the CleaR self-assessment and the implementation of 
any recommendations which may result.  

Background 

6 Smoking remains the single largest cause of preventable deaths and 
one of the largest causes of health inequalities in England. Despite 
reductions in prevalence, there are still approximately 7.3 million adult 
smokers and more than 200 people a day die from smoking related 
illness, which could have been prevented.  

7 Smoking prevalence across all target groups has dropped. This is a 
huge achievement, but these headline numbers disguise the fact that 
smoking and its associated harms continue to fall hardest on some of 
the poorest and most vulnerable people in our society. The difference in 
life expectancy between the poorest and the richest can be as much as 
nine years. Smoking accounts for approximately half of this difference. 
This is an injustice which must be addressed.  

8 As well as dying prematurely, smokers also suffer many years in poor 
health. Many of the conditions caused by smoking are chronic illnesses 
which can be debilitating for the sufferer and make it difficult to carry out 
day to day tasks and engage with society and the economy. Smokers 
proportionately are less likely to be in work. 

Partners engaged in the County Durham Tobacco Control Alliance have 
an ambition to reduce smoking prevalence in the County to 5% or less 
by 2030. This ambition is driven by a vision to achieve a tobacco-free 
generation:  
 
“The tobacco-free generation is a vision well worth striving for – that a 
child born now in any part of County Durham will reach adulthood 
breathing smokefree air, being free from tobacco addiction and living in 
a community where to smoke is unusual.  We owe it to our children to 

Page 90



make this happen” (Adapted with kind permission from ASH Scotland - 
2013) 
 

9 To achieve this ambition, the Tobacco Control Alliance has an eight-
point action plan which is monitored on a quarterly basis and refreshed 
annually: 
 

• Developing infrastructure, skills and capacity at local level and 
influencing national action; 

• Reducing exposure to second hand smoke; 

• Helping smokers to quit; 

• Media communications and social marketing; 

• Reducing the availability of tobacco products and reducing supply 
of tobacco; 

• Reducing the promotion of tobacco; 

• Tobacco Regulation; and 

• Research, Monitoring and evaluation. 
 

Local Tobacco Control Profile 

10 Smoking prevalence in County Durham is 15% which is lower than the 
regional prevalence and is similar to the rest of England. Whilst 
prevalence is decreasing there remain approximately 63,000 people in 
County Durham who continue to smoke.  

 
Figure 1: Smoking Prevalence County Durham v England 2011-2018 

 
11 Deaths from smoking attributable conditions including heart disease, 

stroke, lung cancer and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) 
remain statistically worse than England with over 13,000 years of life 
lost in County Durham alone. In 2017/18 there were over 6,500 smoking 
attributable hospital admissions for County Durham residents. 

Page 91



12 According to the 2018 Tobacco Control Profile, County Durham remains 
above average for the number of people setting a quit date, quitting at 4 
weeks and Carbon Monoxide (CO) monitoring validated quits.    

Cost of smoking 

13 Action on Smoking and Health (ASH) estimate the costs to County 
Durham due to smoking at £121.9m per year. This is made up of costs 
to the NHS (largely borne by primary care and ambulatory services), the 
local economy (through lost productivity and absenteeism at work), 
social care, fire and rescue and littering. 

14 Smokers in County Durham are estimated to spend £157.5m per year 
on tobacco products contributing to approximately 1 in 3 households 
with a smoker falling below the poverty line. If the money spent on 
tobacco was put back into the household, almost 7,000 households in 
County Durham would be elevated out of poverty.    

2018/19 Highlights 

Fresh 

15 In 2018 Fresh have been instrumental in developing campaigns to 
support the Tobacco Control agenda in County Durham. The “Quit 16” 
campaign used the real-life stories of Maggie and Tony who shared 
their personal account of being diagnosed with a smoking-related 
cancer. The campaign featured on TV adverts and was amplified 
through partners support with displaying posters and distributing the 
images via social media. The campaign ran throughout October 2018.   

16 A second wave of 'Quit16' launched in early March 2019 was on air for 
4 weeks. The campaign generated thousands of social media 
responses and coverage went global, including Mail Online.  

 

17 Fresh supported County Durham in the local delivery of the national 
Stoptober campaign which ran through September and October 2018 
with interviews and quitter case studies. As quit attempts got underway 
in October, there was ongoing media coverage and a series of boosted 

Page 92



Facebook posts, encouraging quits attempts. Our Specialist Stop 
Smoking Service reported an increase in people contacting the service 
throughout this time.  

 

18 Fresh supported the Public Health England (PHE) New Year health 
harms campaign with PR activity which gained coverage on both ITV 
Tyne Tees and BBC Look North. At the same time, they ran a social 
media campaign around vaping with videos of North East GP Dr Chris 
Tasker and Ailsa Rutter giving advice to smokers. 

19 The 'Keep it out' campaign https://keep-it-out.co.uk/ around illicit 
tobacco ran for three weeks in November 2018 advertising on radio, 
digital, social media, PR and materials to local teams. This campaign 
generated significant levels of intelligence and provided to relevant local 
Trading Standards.  

Smokefree Life County Durham 

20 In 2018/19 the Stop Smoking Service engaged with 6,314 people which 
is 10.5% of the current smoking population. Of those people, 61% 
(3,855) went on to set a quit date with 2,313 people being successfully 
quit at 4 weeks – almost 90% of these quits were CO validated.  

21 Smokefree Life County Durham provide training and infrastructure for 
organisations who provide support to people to stop smoking. Recently, 
a school nurse, Mary, has been praised for supporting young people to 
stop smoking. The school nursing team offer clinics in schools 
supporting young people who wish to stop smoking and offering them 
advice on the risks associated with smoking. As well as advice and 
support, the team also provides the young people with vouchers for 
nicotine replacement therapies – including patches and mouth spray.   

 

Page 93

https://keep-it-out.co.uk/
https://keep-it-out.co.uk/


Enforcement 

22 Durham County Council’s Trading Standards department continues to 
prioritise tackling illicit tobacco and have had significant success over 
the 2018/19 period which was detailed in a report to Durham County 
Council’s Cabinet on 3rd April 2019. 

23 As a result of intelligence led targeted operations in 2018/2019, trading 
standards in County Durham seized a total of:  

• 24,400 cigarettes  

• 129.24 kg of Hand Rolling Tobacco  

 
24 Locally, we received 120 intelligence reports via the anonymous 

reporting “Keep It Out” hotline during 2018/2019, 50 of these were 
following the refresh of the campaign in November 2018. 

NHS Smokefree 

25 Building on the innovative work undertaken by Tees, Esk and Wear 
Valley (TEWV) NHS Foundation Trust in achieving Smokefree status; 
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust has identified     
1 October 2019 as their target for becoming a Smokefree NHS Trust. 
The Tobacco Dependency Policy has been developed to ensure that 
everyone who is identified as a smoker will be offered Nicotine 
Replacement Therapy on admission and throughout the duration of their 
hospital stay.  

Stop Smoking Support in Primary Care  

26 During 2018/19 the Clinical Commissioning Groups have established a 
Stop Smoking Support in Primary Care Task and Finish Group. As a 
result: 

• A CCG Strategic Clinical Lead has been identified for tobacco 
control; 

• Stop Smoking Champions have been identified in GPs surgeries 
and will promote and advise on good practice with other practices; 

• Exploration of automated referrals into stop smoking services 
from clinical systems has begun; 

• Dispelling of myths surrounding e-cigarettes with health care staff;  

• Training of all staff in Very Brief Advice; 

• Support for regional Fresh campaigns within GP surgeries in 
conjunction with the Cancer Champions based in each practice 

• A feedback loop from the specialist stop smoking service to 
primary care in relation to successful quits is being developed. 

Page 94



Plans for 2019/20  

27 The Tobacco Control Alliance will be repeating the CLeaR Self-
Assessment. CLeaR is an improvement tool which enables a 
comprehensive review of local action to tackle tobacco against the 
latest evidence-based practice. The CLeaR process will identify areas 
of strength and weakness of our approach to tobacco control and will 
form the basis for improvement plans. It covers three areas:  

(a) Challenging services – local innovation and learning 

(b) Leadership – local vision, planning and commissioning and 
partnerships 

(c) Results – local outcomes and local priorities 

28 The Alliance will be progressing work on Smokefree homes linking with 
housing providers to take forward the Action on Smoking and Health 
(ASH) recommendations around Smokefree Homes.   

29 CDDFT will be launching their smokefree Trust status on 1 October 
2019 which will ensure all smokers are identified on admission, treated 
for their tobacco dependency while they are in hospital and referred to 
local stop smoking services on discharge.  

30 Durham County Council will be reviewing their No Smoking Policy in the 
year to support employees to stop smoking. There will also be an 
alignment with Making Every Contact Count (MECC) to ensure there 
are tobacco specific messages in key settings.  

31 As Vaping emerges as the leading choice to quit smoking, we will be 
piloting a vape shops project to examine how independent vape shops 
can support people to quit smoking. The stop smoking service and 
trading standards will provide training to the shops. The pilot will be 
evaluated. We will also be undertaking work to better understand the 
vaping population.     

32 The contract for Solutions 4 Health provision of the Specialist Stop 
Smoking Service finishes on 31 March 2020. The options for potential 
re-procurement are currently being considered.   

33 Reducing tobacco dependency in pregnancy remains a key priority for 
Tobacco Control. Partners within the Alliance will continue to support 
the work Local Maternity Services (LMS) to achieve the national target 
reductions for smoking in pregnancy to 6% or less by 2022.  

34 Fresh will continue to advocate policy changes for tobacco control as 
well as implementing powerful communication campaigns designed to 
motivate people to quit smoking. 

Page 95



Conclusion 

35 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to note 
the recommendations in the report and the developments that have 
taken place to address tobacco control during 2018-19. 

Background papers 

• None 

Other useful documents 

• EHCP Annual Enforcement Plan 

Contact: Kirsty Wilkinson Tel:  03000 265445 

  

Page 96



 Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None 

Finance 

None  

Consultation 

None 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Resources are focused on groups of people, such as routine and manual 

workers, Gypsy Roma Travellers, people with mental ill-health, pregnant 

women and people who live in the more deprived areas of County Durham 

who are more likely to smoke. 

Human Rights 

No adverse implications 

Crime and Disorder 

A continued focus on illicit tobacco will have a positive impact on crime and 

disorder in local communities.  

Staffing 

No adverse implications  

Accommodation 

None 

Risk 

None 

Procurement 

None  

 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

 30 July 2019 

 Reducing Tobacco Dependency in 

Pregnancy (TDiP)  

 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council 

Cllr Lucy Hovvels, Portfolio Holder for Adults and Health Services 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide a progress report of the multi-agency strategic plan to 
reduce tobacco dependency in pregnancy (TDiP). 

Executive summary 

2 Smoking is the single most modifiable risk factor in pregnancy.  
Pregnant smokers require increased monitoring and interventions, and 
experience more complications around birth.  

3 Smoking at time of delivery in County Durham remains significantly 
higher (16.8%) than England (10.4%) (NHS Digital, Sept 18). Greater 
variance exists between the two clinical commissioning groups (CCGs).   
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield (DDES) smoking at time of 
delivery was 21.4% and North Durham 10.9% (NHS digital, Sept 18). 

4 National Institute of Clinical and Health Excellence (NICE) Public Health 
Guidance 26; Smoking: Stopping in pregnancy and after childbirth 
identified eight recommendations which local maternity systems should 
implement:  

(a) Maternity services routinely identifying pregnant women who 
smoke through Carbon Monoxide (CO) monitoring of all pregnant 
women, undertaking brief advice and referring them to NHS Stop 
Smoking Services for specialist support; 
 

(b) Other services and organisation who provide health and support 
for pregnant women should identify pregnant women who smoke, 
give brief advice and refer them to NHS Stop Smoking Services;  

 

Page 99

Agenda Item 12



(c) NHS Stop Smoking Services making timely contact with women 
via telephone and followed up by letter who are pregnant and 
smoke – making contact through routine maternity appointments 
where they have not been successful in contacting the woman; 
 

(d) NHS Stop Smoking Services providing initial and ongoing support 
including motivational interviewing, cognitive behavioural therapy 
and structured self-help and support;  
 

(e) NHS Stop Smoking Services to discuss the risks and benefits of 
Nicotine Replacement Therapy (NRT) with pregnant women who 
smoke;  
 

(f) NHS Stop Smoking Services – meeting the needs of 
disadvantaged pregnant women who smoke by ensuring services 
are flexible, coordinated and accessible; 
 

(g) Offering partners and others in the household who smoke help to 
stop;  
 

(h) Ensure midwives and other health and social care professionals 
who offer support to pregnant women are provided with quality 
training to deliver the interventions.  

 
5 A County Durham strategic plan to reduce tobacco dependency in 

pregnancy was developed in January 2019 following a multi-agency 
workshop which was held in November 2018.  The action plan aligns 
with NICE Guidance and Local Maternity System plans. A local target 
was set which aligns with the national ambition to reduce rates of 
smoking throughout pregnancy to 6% or less by 2022. 

6 Progress has been made in relation to the TDiP Action Plan since its 
development in January 2019, with further multi agency activity 
planned. 

Recommendations 

7 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

(a)  Note the contents of the report; 

(b)  Ensure organisational representation at the TDiP Working Group 
 to progress the plan;  

(c)  Maintain chief officer and organisational support and delivery for 
 a communications campaign led by the TDiP Working Group; 

Page 100



(d)  Support the delivery of targeted place based work working with 

 Shildon Health Express;   

 

(e) Provide chief officer support for the TDiP Strategic Plan and seek    

further assurances of the completion of the actions every 6 

 months into the Health & Wellbeing Board. 

Background 

8 The Public Health Strategic Plan outlines seven strategic priorities to 
improve health and reduce health inequalities. These include every 
child to have the best start in life and promoting positive behaviours.  
These will both be impacted by delivering on the strategic plan to 
reduce tobacco dependency during pregnancy (TDiP).  

9 The action on reducing TDiP also underpins the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy and Children and Young People’s Plan to give 
children the best start in life with good health and emotional wellbeing.  

The Taylors 

10 Sarah Taylor is one of the 894 women in 2017/18 who gave birth to her 
baby while continuing to smoke. John and Sarah both smoke, which not 
only impacts on their health and disposable income, but also impacts 
those around them through second hand smoke including their children 
Dan, Olivia and Callum and their unborn child. Improving the support 
available and enabling access to support at the earliest opportunity will 
ensure that both Sarah and John can quit smoking with the help of the 
maternity services and the local stop smoking service.  Their baby will 
be born with reduced complications because of quitting and will be born 
into a smoke free home, which will reduce the risk of sudden infant 
death and respiratory problems, infections, childhood obesity and 
chronic health problems.  John and Sarah will also benefit from a 
significant improvement in their long-term health. In turn, this means 
that their children are less likely to start smoking themselves as they 
age.  

Why is it important 

11 Smoking is the single most modifiable risk factor in pregnancy.  
Pregnant smokers require increased monitoring and interventions, as 
well as experiencing more complications around birth.  Due to the 
additional cost associated with these complications, there is a strong 
economic case for change.  The following table, taken from the 
Smokefree Action in Pregnancy Challenge Group which is the national 
evidence base, highlights the risks: 

Page 101



 

12 Smoking at time of delivery in County Durham remains significantly 
higher (16.8%) than England (10.4%) (NHS Digital, Sept 18). Greater 
variance exists between the two clinical commissioning groups (CCGs).   
Durham Dales Easington and Sedgefield (DDES) smoking at time of 
delivery was 21.4% and North Durham 10.9% (NHS digital, Sept 18) 

13 The chart below highlights smoking at the time of delivery (SATOD) 
data since 2010, comparing national, regional and local data.  The red 
line demonstrates the local ambition to reduce SATOD rates to 6% or 
less by 2022.  This will mean 600 babies will be born smoke free by this 
time which equates to 120 women not smoking during pregnancy per 
year in County Durham.  To achieve this target there is a requirement 
for radical system change and for all to prioritise this goal. 

Regional Support: Yale Strategic Systems Leadership Programme  

14 The Yale Strategic Leadership Programme is a partnership between the 
Global Health Leadership Initiative and Health Education England which 
operates over an Integrated Care System (ICS) footprint. This 
programme provides senior leaders from across the ICS the opportunity 
to collaborate more effectively across traditional boundaries and rethink 
conventional ways of working to address strategic system-level issues 
to deliver higher quality care for their populations they serve.  

15 It was agreed the Yale group in the North East would explore how to 
support the work of the Local Maternity System (LMS) to reduce 
smoking in pregnancy.  The problem being ‘too many women in the 
North East are still smoking at time of delivery’. A summary of the 
work to date has been produced which identifies that the narrative 
should change to a more treatment orientated approach to tackle 
tobacco addiction with further work to be done on how Foundation 
Trusts and chief officers, through to front line staff, have greater 
ownership of reducing smoking in pregnancy.  

16 The group have developed a script that can be used by professionals in 
the North East and the pathway for nicotine dependency has been 
rewritten, ensuring that carbon monoxide monitoring is key.  A system 

Page 102



wide launch will take place in September 2019.  Success will be to get 
to less than 6% SATOD by 2022.  There will be a mid-way evaluation by 
the Yale Group on behalf of the HSG in September 2021 to determine 
whether the region is on track. If it appears that the trajectory will not hit 
the target, a fresh Root Cause Analysis will be undertaken.  

 County Durham approach to treating dependency in pregnancy  

17 A County Durham strategic plan to reduce tobacco dependency in 
pregnancy was developed in January 2019 following a multi-agency 
workshop which was held in November 2018. The plan compliments the 
Local Maternity System plan while supporting local implementation. A 
local target was set which aligns with the national ambition to reduce 
rates of smoking throughout pregnancy to 6% or less by 2022. 

 
Current position 

 
18 A Terms of Reference was established for the TDiP steering group 

which includes membership from Durham County Council Public Health, 
Clinical Commissioning Groups, FRESH, the specialist Stop Smoking 
Service, Harrogate and District Foundation Trust, County Durham and 
Darlington Foundation Trust, Durham County Council Public Health 
Intelligence, Local Maternity System, Durham County Council Marketing 
and Communications and Durham County Council One Point (Appendix 
2). 

19 The TDiP group will report into the integrated steering group for children 
and feed into both the Tobacco Alliance Group and the Regional LMS 
Group. It will also report progress to the Health and Wellbeing Board.  

20 The first meeting of the working group took place on 1 March 2019, a 
multi-agency action plan was developed and agreed with five clear 
objectives (Appendix 3): 

(a) Objective 1: Intelligence, surveillance and performance monitoring 
(b) Objective 2: Commissioning 
(c) Objective 3: Training, awareness and workforce development 
(d) Objective 4: Audit & Improvement 
(e) Objective 5: Governance & Accountability. 

 
21 The Action Plan was endorsed by the Integrated Steering Group for 

Children at its meeting on the 18 March 2019 and was presented for 
discussion at the Tobacco Alliance meeting at its meeting on 10 April 
2019. 

 

 

Page 103



Progress against the action plan to date 
 

22 Progress has been made since the development of the plan in March 
2019. 

23 Facilitated focus groups were held with pregnant smokers to gain 
insights into their experiences. 11 participants took part, with the 
sessions having a focus on support and interventions offered, and any 
barriers that prevented a successful quit attempt. These sessions have 
provided invaluable qualitative insights into the experience of pregnant 
smokers and the findings will be used to inform the development of 
specific actions for the Reducing TDiP Action Plan.  

24 The focus groups revealed that, in reality, the referral pathways 
between maternity systems are not as robust as they should be; 
midwives are not consistently CO monitoring or asking people their 
smoking status and referrals are not finding their way to the local stop 
smoking service.  

“I’ve actually been through this 3 times and this pregnancy is the first 
time ever I haven’t heard back from anyone.” 

25 There is also absence of “safety netting” where all people involved in 
the care of the pregnant women identify their smoking status and refer 
into services, for example, the first time a woman sees her midwife can 
be between 8 and 12 weeks, there is often opportunity for earlier 
intervention from other health and allied health professionals. Women 
also revealed concerns about relapsing to tobacco dependency 
following birth.  

“The only thing I’m going to struggle with and I’ll be honest is probably 
afterwards.”  

“I just don’t know whether it’ll be the same when I’m not pregnant. 
Fingers crossed I can carry on.”    

26 In line with recommendations from the LMS and the Yale strategic 
group, there has been a narrative change from ‘Smoking in Pregnancy’ 
which reflected smoking in pregnancy as a lifestyle choice, to tobacco 
dependency in pregnancy.  This is a conscious shift back towards a 
more treatment orientated focus due to the appreciation of the level of 
addictions faced by women. However, we remain mindful of the broader 
social context of tobacco use.  

27 CDDFT are now recording CO readings with every woman at every 
visit including the 36 week antenatal appointment and at delivery.  The 
group are currently scoping how this can be collected at a local level 
which will support the performance monitoring process and future audit. 

Page 104



28 CO monitors have now been made available within Foundation 
Trusts, the monitors and consumables associated with them are now 
included on local inventory lists as mandated equipment for all 
midwives. 

29 The use of the remaining Love2Shop vouchers was explored with the 
Stop Smoking Service (SSS), the Public Health Pharmacist and Public 
Health Consultant in relation to the provision of e-cigarettes as a second 
product for women working with the SSS.  It was identified that 
additional research is required on a national basis before a decision 
could be made on this. The remaining vouchers were therefore used to 
purchase NRT products, to allow for dual treatment of women in the 
DDES area, which has been proven to be more effective.  All 
Love2Shop vouchers have now been spent. 

30 Including 12 weeks post-partum support for women has been 
considered for inclusion within the current contract because it is felt 
changes will make a difference. Unfortunately, due to timescales within 
the current contract it has not been possible to vary the current contract 
to allow this.  However, the new service specification is currently being 
developed and 12 weeks post-partum support will be considered for 
delivery from April 2020. 

31 Additional resource has been identified within the SSS to allow for 
both operational and strategic support for this agenda. 

32 SATOD and 26 week data is included within CCG contract with County 
Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust.  The data is reported 
and monitored through contract management processes within the 
CCG. 

33 The specification that Durham County Council Public Health holds with 
Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust for the 0-19 service has 
been revised to include key messages and expectations in relation 
to the importance of smoke free homes.  Key messages are currently 
being developed and will be shared across all practitioners to ensure 
that information shared with women and their families is consistent and 
clear.  CO monitoring by Health Visitors will be included within the 
place-based pilot being established in Shildon. 

34 An initial meeting has been held to scope working with Shildon Health 
Express to progress a dedicated piece of place based work to improve 
smoking in pregnancy rates in Shildon.  A 12-month action plan is 
currently being developed in partnership with the Local Councils 
Working Group. 

35 The pathway for referrals from the Foundation Trusts to the SSS has 
been amended so that there is no opt-out option within maternity.  

Page 105



Women are able to opt-out at the point of contact with the SSS.  This 
will reduce the numbers of opt-outs from the service 

36 The Yale Group have identified ‘too many women are smoking at time 
of delivery’ as a problem they wish to analyse.  A summary of this work 
is included at paragraph 14 of this report. 

37 A draft marketing and communications plan has been produced 
following a dedicated session at the last working group.  Aims and 
objectives have been identified and Durham County Council Public 
Health and Communications Team are working this up further to include 
key messages for specific target audiences. 

38 The plan will be monitored by the steering group on a quarterly basis.  

Conclusion 

39 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

(a) Note the contents of the report; 

(b) Ensure organisational representation at the TDiP Working Group;  

(c) Maintain chief officer and organisational support and delivery for 
communications campaigns led by the TDiP Working Group; 

(d) Support the delivery of targeted place based work working with 
Shildon Health Express; 

(e) Support the Strategic Plan and the implementation of any 
recommendations which may result.  

Background papers 

• None 

Contact: Tammy Smith Tel:   03000 265438 

 Kirsty Wilkinson Tel:  03000 265445 

  

Page 106



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

No implications. 

Finance 

Decisions in relation to future commissioning activity have been suggested by 

the group which may have a financial implication for specific agencies. 

Consultation 

Research has been conducted with pregnant women via the Specialist Stop 

Smoking Service to inform the development of some aspects of the action 

plan. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

No implications. 

Human Rights 

No implications. 

Crime and Disorder 

No implications. 

Staffing 

No implications. 

Accommodation 

No implications. 

Risk 

Reducing smoking during pregnancy will reduce the risk of specific negative 

outcomes for mothers and babies. 

Procurement 

No implications. 

  

Page 107



Appendix 2:  Reducing Tobacco Dependency in Pregnancy 
Steering Group Terms of Reference 

 

County Durham Reducing Tobacco Dependency in Pregnancy Steering Group 

Terms of Reference 

Aim 

To work together to reduce rates of smoking throughout pregnancy to 6% or less by 

2022. 

Objectives 

• To develop and improve intelligence and surveillance in relation to smoking in 
pregnancy, including monitoring of performance across the area. 

• To bring together commissioners of relevant services to ensure that 
interdependencies are identified and any issues in relation to service provision 
are addressed through effective contract management. 

• To develop local workforce and monitor training and awareness of 
practitioners and key stakeholders to ensure guidance and messages are in 
line with national guidance and best practice. 

• To develop and implement a cycle of audit and improvement in relation to 
existing and new service provision and procedures. 

• To provide local leadership on reducing smoking in pregnancy with clear 
governance and accountability and an agreed multi-agency strategic plan. 

• To develop a multi-agency marketing and communications plan to ensure that 
agreed guidance and messages are distributed to the wider populations. 

 

Membership  

Name Org and role Deputy 

Ailsa Rutter FRESH – SmokeFree North East Joanna Feeney 

Rebecca Scott Regional LMS Prevention Lead  

Craig Lee Solutions 4 Health Grace Wali 

Kirsty Roe PH Intelligence, DCC  

Rob Milner ND/DDES CCG  

Beverley Corner Darlington Community Midwife Team Allison Metters 

Gill O Neill DDPH, DCC  

Tammy Smith PH Advanced  Practitioner, DCC Kirsty Wilkinson 

Kirsty Wilkinson PH Advanced Practitioner, DCC Tammy Smith 

Susan Duggan HDFT  

Glenn Robinson TAP, DCC  

Stella Hindson DCC Marketing Lynsey Fleming 

Karen Davison Children Services  

Sara Blight Smokefree Lead, CDDFT  

Terry Fletcher CDDFT  

Julie Lane North Tees FT Midwife Team  

 Sunderland FT Midwife Team  

 

Page 108



Governance 

• The group will report into the integrated steering group for children via the 
Healthy Child Programme Group and feed into both the Tobacco Alliance 
Group and the Regional LMS Group. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting frequency 

• Quarterly for two hours. 

• The group will establish, if required, specific time limited task groups to 
complete actions and pathways. 

• Meetings will go ahead with minimum of three partners agencies present 

• Chair (Gill O’Neill) and vice chair (Tammy Smith). 
 

Review 

To be reviewed December 2019 

Work programme 

The work programme for the group will follow activity outlined within the action plan. 

 

 

 

 

Integrated Steering 

Group Children’s 

Healthy Child 

Programme 

Steering Group 

County Durham Reducing 

Tobacco dependency in 

Pregnancy Steering Group 

Tobacco Alliance 

Group 

Regional Local 

Maternity Services 

Specific time limited 

Task and finish 

groups 

Page 109



Appendix 3:  Reducing Tobacco Dependency in Pregnancy Action Plan 2019 -2022 

 

Tobacco Dependency in Pregnancy Action Plan  

 

County Durham  

 

2019-2022 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 110



Aim: To work together to reduce rates of smoking throughout 

pregnancy to 6% or less by 2022 

 

 

The chart above highlights that an additional 600 babies will be born smoke free by the year 2022/23 to reach the 

6%.  This is based on most up to date SATOD 18.2% (n=894) for 2017/18 and aiming for 6% (n=295) in 2022/23.   

This equates to an additional 120 women not smoking in pregnancy per year in County Durham. 

P
age 111



Objective 1: Intelligence, surveillance & performance monitoring 

• To develop and improve intelligence and surveillance in relation to tobacco dependency in pregnancy, including 
monitoring of performance across the area to track progress against target. 

 

Task 

number 

Action  Lead officer Timescale Update  

R A G 

1.1 Work with regional collection/accuracy 
and reporting of SATOD and 
implement effective measures of 
scrutiny over the data to achieve a 
significant drop in the local rate. 
 

Becca Scott 

LMS 

July 2019 Incentive evaluation identified that 

up to 25% of women have their 

smoking status recorded incorrectly 

at delivery 

This action is being taken forward 

at a regional level through the trust 

analysts. 

BS to update at the next meeting. 

1.2 Highlight GP practices with higher 
numbers of pregnant smokers to 
enable targeting of interventions. 
 

Rob Milner/ 

Kirsty Wilkinson 

PH/CCG 

March 2019 Action complete 

Data has been analysed at Practice 

level.  RM to work with practices to 

make them aware of the numbers. 

Data used to identify localities for 

place based work, such as Shildon. 

P
age 112



1.3 Continue to analyse SATOD data and 
variance between CCG’s and MSOAs 
to monitor change. 

Kirsty Roe 

PHI 

Ongoing Kirsty Roe receives and analyses 

this on an annual basis. 

1.4 Development performance framework 
to measure progress and outcomes 
 

Tammy Smith May 2019 Need to link into performance 

monitoring at a regional level.  

Potential to collect 36 week and 

SATOD data. 

Monitor referrals coming to the 

SSS, where are they coming from, 

any gaps, etc? 

1.5 Develop and implement a proxy local 
indicator based on CO monitoring at 36 
week antenatal appointment to use as 
a basis of a quality check against 
SATOD data (Need to check with 
KR/MF when is recorded 32 or 36 
weeks) 
 

Bev Corner 

FT 

Becca Scott 

LMS 

June 2019 CDDFT are now recording CO 

readings on every woman at 

every visit.  The lead for CDDFT 

feels the 36 week reading is not 

entirely accurate and could be 

misleading and has requested that 

it be changed to CO at delivery? – 

to be discussed at next workshop. 

Regional action in the LMS plan is 

at 36 weeks/delivery.  Status can 

be added into the electronic system 

at time of delivery. 

P
age 113



Link with BS in relation to other FTs 

that cover County Durham 

residents. 

This is currently collected.  Link 

with Kirsty Row on how to access 

this data more frequently than 

annually. 

1.6 Develop clear chart highlighting 
projection for 6% target and identifying 
numbers of babies to enable clear and 
understandable communication with 
strategic leaders. 

Kirsty Roe 

PHI 

April 2019 Action complete. 

Chart produced, to be updated on 

an annual basis. 

 

  

P
age 114



Objective 2: Commissioning  

• To bring together commissioners of relevant services to ensure that interdependencies are identified and any 
issues in relation to service provision are addressed through effective contract management. 

 

Task 

number 

Action  Lead 

officer 

Timescale Update  

R A G 

2.1 Scope the potential for inclusion of provision 
and maintenance of CO monitors within 
maternity contracts to ensure all FTs have 
appropriate equipment and ownership of the 
process.  Capture and share the data. 
 

Rob 

Milner 

CCG 

April 2019 Action complete. 
 
Link with LMS to identify 
commissioning timescale for 
maternity contracts. 
 

CDDFT have reviewed monitors 

and consumables and ordered as 

appropriate.  It is part of the local 

bespoke maternity PH plan that the 

maternity unit should have a 

SOP/inventory list in order to plan 

purchases as most CO monitors 

only have a 5-7 year life span.   

2.2 If incentive scheme is to continue consider 
vaping alternative to Love2shop vouchers.  
Explore with the SSS how this can be 
managed. 

Kirsty 

Wilkinson 

February 

2019 

Action complete. 

Vaping alternative was explored, 

more work would need to be done 

P
age 115



 PH on this before rolling it out with 

pregnant woman.  Additional NRT 

purchased using remainder of 

vouchers to allow for dual treatment 

of pregnant women in the DDES 

area, which is proven to be more 

effective. 

2.3 Public Health to consider 12 weeks post-
partum support for pregnant smokers 
through service review of stop smoking 
service contract regardless of involvement in 
incentive scheme, to reduce the numbers of 
women re-starting smoking once the baby is 
born.   
 

Kirsty 

Wilkinson 

PH 

April 2020 Action complete. 

Currently only those women who 

access support through incentive 

scheme receive support up to 12 

weeks post partum although 

continuous follow up by Midwife 

Care Assistants is encouraged. 

Stop Smoking Support review is 

underway with a new model 

expected to be in place by 1st April 

2020.  Discussions have taken 

place to explore the potential for 

varying the contract to do this 

sooner, but this will not be possible. 

The 12 week post-partum support 

to be included within the new spec, 

when developed. 

P
age 116



2.4 Improve referral forms (needs to be 
automated) considering GDPR ensuring 
correct status of smoking or non-smoking 
being captured based on CO reading.  
 

Craig Lee 

SSS 

FT 

Bev 

Corner 

CDDFT 

September 

2019 

GDPR issues have now been 

addressed.   

Significant issues exist in relation to 

the information that is included on 

the forms from CDDFT to the SSS. 

BC will pick this up at the FT and 

CL continues to include this within 

the training delivered direct to 

community midwives.  Online 

completion was discussed by the 

group but BC felt this was a long 

way off and would not be 

deliverable within the timescales of 

this plan. 

S4H have provided Craig Lee with 

an outline of what needs to be done 

by CDDFT to set up this system. 

Beverley Corner has forwarded this 

to CDDFT IT department and is 

awaiting confirmation as to whether 

or not they can proceed. 

2.5 Provide clarity on role of Specialist 
Pregnancy Advisor within the SSS? 
Consider a potential over reliance on one 
post to be both strategic and operational. 

Kirsty 

Wilkinson 

April 2019 Action complete. 

P
age 117



 PH 

Grace 

Wali 

SSS 

Smokefree Life County Durham 

have identified support for the SIP 

advisor.  Eve/Grace to support. 

CL meeting colleagues to outline 

his role. 

KW to keep this in mind during 

review of service.  Stop Smoking 

Support review is underway with a 

new model expected to be in place 

by 1st April 2020. 

Craig Lee will be handing over level 

2 support and training/midwifery 

training to Dawn Cockburn. He will 

maintain the strategic aspects of 

the pregnancy role alongside some 

of the responsibilities previously 

held by the service's Public Health 

Specialist, Eve Would have, who 

left the service in April. 

2.6 PH to consider single contact details for 
referrals to service so that this remains 
consistent through any procurement 
exercises.  
 

Kirsty 

Wilkinson 

PH 

April 2020 This will need to be part of any new 

commission, however, we need to 

ensure that there is a process 

across the region for SSS to ensure 

County Durham residents are able 

P
age 118



to access the service through a no 

wrong door approach. 

2.7 Work with the SSS to conduct qualitative 
insight into the lost to follow ups and barriers 
to referrals with pregnant smokers.  Utilise 
the some of the remaining vouchers as an 
incentive for attendance. 
 

Kirsty 

Wilkinson 

Tammy 

Smith 

PH 

Craig Lee 

SSS 

April 2019 Facilitated session have been 

completed.  The qualitative data 

collected is currently being coded, a 

report will be published based on 

findings for the next meeting of the 

steering group. 

Conduct facilitated sessions on an 

annual basis to monitor change. 

A report is in the process of being 

drafted. 

2.8 CCG’s to performance monitor SATOD – to 
see what is in the maternity care pathway?  
SATOD is IAF indicator 
 

Rob 

Milner 

CCG 

April 2019 Action complete. 

SATOD and 36 week data included in 

CDDFT contract as local quality 

requirement. Reported and monitored 

through contract management 

process.    

2.9 Include CO monitoring by HV’s as part of the 
0-19 service specification review ensuring 
that key messages and expectations are 
developed and shared with service in 
relation to the importance of smoke free 
homes. 

PH April 2019 Action complete. 

Revised specification is complete.   

There is an agreement to trial this 

within specific high prevalence 

P
age 119



 areas by HDFT as part of the 

contract extension.  This will be 

conducted as part of the place 

based work within Shildon. 

HV’s within Shildon will need to be 

provided with C monitors and 

receive VBA training as part of pilot 

programme. 

Need to ensure key messages are 

shared with HDFT. 

2.10 Scope current messages being provided to 
those families who are conceiving via IVF, 
ensuring they align with the strategic plan. 
 

Gill O 

Neill 

PH 

June 2019 Should be smokefree whilst doing 

IVF. 

- Needs to be joined into this 

- What is the pathway? 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 120



Objective 3: Training, awareness and workforce development 

Task 

number 

Action  Lead 

officer 

Timescale Update  

R A G 

3.1 Educate practitioners including children’s 
social care and early help staff on framing 
the conversation with mum around 
tobacco dependency.  Ensure top up and 
refresher sessions for midwifes and HVs 
are included within a training plan.   
 

Kirsty 

Wilkinson 

DCC 

BS 

LMS 

July 2019 Needs to be Quality Assured training 

Develop a train the trainer (2 people) 

RS to pick up, KGW and RS to meet 

Included as part of LMS work plan. 

3.2 Change narrative to ensure that SSS 
appointment comes under “maternity” 
appointment to enable attendance by 
women during work time. 
 

Craig Lee 

SSS 

 

September 

2019 

Needs to be looked at. Can SSS 

appointment be carried out at the 

same time as midwife appointment?  It 

is not feasible due to capacity to have 

a SSS advisor at every midwife appt. 

CL to mock up narrative that 

practitioners should be using with 

women to enable attendance.   

Should include ‘clinical antenatal 

appointment with specialist service’. 

P
age 121



3.3 To develop a multi-agency marketing 
and communications plan to ensure that 
agreed guidance and messages are 
distributed to stakeholder and the wider 
populations. 
 

Lynsey 

Fleming 

DCC 

April 2019 Include the actions below, as 

referenced. 

Currently being drafted. 

3.4 Ensure that when women vape this is 
recorded as non-smoking, ensure this 
message is included within any training or 
awareness delivered to all practitioners 
including children’s social care and early 
help. 
 

SD 
HDFT 
 
CL 
SSS 
 
KW 
DCC 
 
JF 
FRESH 
 
RM 
CCG 
 
KD 
DCC 

November  

2019 

Message delivered as part of the SSS 

standard training. 

Need to include this within workforce 

plan for each organisation. 

JF updated that a position statement 

has been drafted by the FT and is 

currently being reviewed.  JF to 

circulate this for wider circulation to 

organisations. 

Organisations to consider how this 

can be disseminated across 

workforce. 

3.5 Link with GP and other services to share 
key messages – preconception advice. 
CO screening in contraceptive clinics, 
consider potential for brief advice at 
LARC removal and contraception 
reviews. 
 

TS 

DCC 

November 

2019 

Workforce development. 

Links with 3.8. 

P
age 122



 Develop workforce plan which 

includes key messages for raising 

awareness across key stakeholders 

3.6 Facilitate narrative change from smoking 
to tobacco dependence 
 

ALL May 2019 Action complete. 

Referenced in action 5.1. 

Need to ensure any comms/marketing 

work references this. 

3.7 Potential of ‘CO’ communications 

• Empowering pregnant women to 
expect to be tested. 

• Know your score. 
 

Lynsey 

Fleming 

DCC 

May 2019 Include as key message within comms 

plan 

3.8 Ensure risks of smoking in pregnancy are 
widely known and clearly communicated. 
Do health professionals and LA staff such 
as childrens service practitioners fully 
understand the risks? 
 

TS 

DCC 

November 

2019 

Workforce issue. 

Scope existing material that can be 

shared with practitioners to raise 

awareness of risks. 

Do FRESH have anything we can 

use? 

Establish a stepped approach to 

sharing information and set targets ver 

the next 6 months 

P
age 123



3.9 Carry out dedicated social marketing 
work with One Point Service based on 
women aged <20 years in relation to the 
risks of smoking, including smoking whilst 
pregnant.  Mothers under 20 years old 
are twice as likely to smoke throughout 
pregnancy. 

Lynsey 

Fleming 

DCC 

Comms 

May 2019 LF to pull together comms plan 

3.10 Work with GPs to ensure CO monitoring 
and brief advice in relation to smoking is 
given at 8 week postnatal check. 
 

Rob 

Milner 

CCG 

August 2019 This needs to be reviewed 

Work needs to be done @ Primary Care 

as 8 week postnatal check focuses on 

baby and mother.  Could this be part of 

the checks? 

Need to scope this and look at it, may be 

delayed due to development of PCNs. 

Rob Milner to consider timescale and 

adjust if necessary. 

To try and pilot this in Shildon 

 

 

 

 

P
age 124



Objective 4: Audit & Improvement  

Task 

number 

Action  Lead 

officer 

Timescale Update  

R A G 

4.1 Ensure a local annual audit against NICE 
guidance takes place. 
 

BS 

LMS 

July 2019 The tobacco in pregnancy audit has 

been agreed to be completed by SSS, 

LA including Early Help and One Point 

and Maternity in May 2020 

4.2 Explore improvements to referral 
processes through auditing cases.  
Identify barriers and where improvements 
can be made: 
 

• Not all smokers referred – why? 

• Why once referred not engaged? 

• Why is data incomplete? 
 

Becca 

Smith, 

LMS 

Timescale 

needed 

Audit process within FTs to be 

determined.  Is this being picked up 

through LMS? 

4.3 Conduct an audit on cases lost to follow 
up cross reference this with qualitative 
insights obtained through focus groups 
and develop improvement plan. 
 

Kirsty 

Wilkinson 

Tammy 

Smith 

PH 

Craig Lee 

June 2019 Insights reports is in progress, once 

completed an audit on cases will be 

carried out to identify potential 

improvements to systems. 

 

Conduct both on an annual basis to 

track progress. P
age 125



SSS 

4.4 Ensure primary care “safety netting” – to 
reduce people slipping through.  Develop 
clear processes to keep triggering 
interventions. 
 

Rob 

Milner 

CCG 

June 2019 Information collected as part of 

Insights work will inform this. 

Report will provide opportunities for 

improvements. 

4.5 DDES CCG have set up a smoking 
primary care group, developed a protocol 
in System 1 and EMIS.  Assessing 
smoking status – referral to SSS.   
 

Rob 

Milner 

CCG 

June 2019 Protocol on hold as currently flags at 

start of consultation which is deemed 

inappropriate to introduce VBA and 

make smoking cessation referral.  

Blocks access to clinical notes unless 

cleared. Further work needs to be 

done to see if it can be timed towards 

the end of a consultation. 

Template SSS referral forms have 

been uploaded to SystmOne and 

EMIS to make referral process easier. 

4.6 Work with Shildon Health Express to 
progress a dedicated piece of place 
based work to improve smoking in 
pregnancy rates in Shildon.  
 

Tammy 

Smith 

DCC 

June 2020 Shildon has the highest rates in 

County Durham with 25% of women 

being recorded as smoking at time of 

delivery.  

Initial meeting held 23rd April 2019.  

P
age 126



12 month action plan is being 

developed.  This will include running a 

pilot for SSS to be present at MW 

clinics in Shildon area, tied into the 

place based tobacco dependency in 

pregnancy project. 

Engagement from HV’s and Childrens 

Centres in this work will be vital.  

 

  

P
age 127



Objective 5: Governance & Accountability  

Task 

number 

Action  Lead 

officer 

Timescale Update  

R A G 

5.1 Encourage acceptance of tobacco being a 
dependency, and therefore a maternal 
clinical issue. Considering this scope the 
potential for support being delivered in 
maternity. 
 

Becca 

Scott  

LMS 

April 2019 Action complete. 

Change all language from ‘Smoking in 

Pregnancy’ to ‘tobacco dependency in 

pregnancy’ to encourage acceptance 

of the issues as a maternal clinical. 

Language change adopted locally and 

shared via reporting process. 

Organisational agreement across the 

group to change narrative. 

5.2 Work together with the regional LMS to 
influence curriculum on Northumbria 
midwifery course. 
 

Becca 

Scott 

LMS 

September 

2020 

LMS lead working with University to 

discuss curriculum developments. 

 

5.3 Encourage FT ownership for follow up of 
women who opt out of the referral.   
 

Bev 

Corner, 

FT 

February 

2019 

Action complete 

Pathway has been amended so that 

there is no opt out option within 

maternity.  All woman are to be 

P
age 128



referred to the SSS and they will 

manage the opt-out process. 

5.4 Ensure a maternity rep is included on FT 
Smokefree Board. 
 

Joanne 

Feeney 

FRESH 

March 2019 Action complete 

Jo Crawford is the Maternity Rep on 

the CDDFT Smokefree Board 

5.5 Identify key leads from Sunderland and 
North Tees and invite to the group. 
 

Craig Lee 

SSS 

March 2019 Action complete 

SSS have provided contact details.  

These are now included within the 

distribution for this group.  Ensure 

links with LMS exist to support cross 

boundary working. 

5.6 Ensure Yale Group are supported when 
analysing problem of ‘too many women 
are smoking at time of delivery’ and 
updates on progress are provided to this 
group as available. 

Gill 

O’Neill 

DDPH 

June 2019 The group identified that the narrative 

should change to a more treatment 

orientated approach to tackle tobacco 

addiction.  Further work to be done on 

how FTs and chief officers, through to 

front line staff, have greater ownership 

of reducing smoking in pregnancy.  A 

follow up meeting is being planned to 

progress these initial findings.   

 

P
age 129



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

   

  Health and Wellbeing Board 

 30 July 2019 

Joining the Dots County Durham 

 

Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County Council 

Councillor Lucy Hovvels, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult and 
Health Services 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To update the Health and Wellbeing Board on Macmillan Joining the Dots 
Programme. 

Executive summary 

2 Macmillan Joining the Dots is a service around non-clinical needs and 
that it is available from the point of a diagnosis to living with/beyond or 
end of life/palliative care and bereavement.  

3 The official launch of the service took place on the 24th January 2019 
with over 90 delegates attending. 30 local voluntary, statutory and 
charitable services attended the launch, an opportunity for them to meet 
the 6 new facilitators and 3 clients who had benefitted from using the 
Joining the Dots service.   

4 Macmillan Joining the Dots have been taking referrals since the 1st 
September 2018.   

5 The Governance of the Programme comes from the Programme Board, 
chaired by the Director of Public Health, Amanda Healy, with 
representation from Cllr Lucy Hovvels.   

6 The development of the service has been supported by a Coproduction 
Group, volunteers who themselves have been through a cancer journey.  
As the Programme moves into Phase 2, service delivery and 
sustainability, this group will continue to shape the service moving 
forward.   

7 The Programme is funded by Macmillan Cancer Support and the 
Northern Cancer Alliance and costs a maximum of £300,000 per annum.  
Currently, this funding is only secure until March 2020, however, with 

Page 131

Agenda Item 13



 
 

underspend the service is currently able to run until September 2020. 
The project team is looking at future funding options to extend the service 
beyond this time.  

8 The review of wellbeing and the implementation of social prescribing 
provides an opportunity to expand the principles of Joining the Dots to 
other long-term conditions and embed in a wellbeing approach.    

9 The Joining the Dots service is already ahead of the NHS Long Term 
Plan with regard the recommendation that by 2021, every person 
diagnosed with cancer will have access to personalised care including a 
needs assessment, care plan and health and wellbeing information and 
support.   

Recommendations 

10 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

(a) Note the contents of the report and development of the 
Programme since the last report. 

(b) Request further updates on the service when required.  
(c) Ensure partners cascade information on the service to their 

respective organisations and encourage employees to make 
referrals where relevant.  

(d) Support discussions around the sustainability of the service in 
due course.   

Background 

 
11 Cancer is the highest cause of death in England of the under 75’s.  

Cancer contributes significantly to the gap in life expectancy between the 
least and most deprived areas of County Durham. For men, cancer is the 
2nd biggest contributor to the gap between the least and most deprived 
areas of County Durham (19.4%).  For women, this is the largest 
contributor at 25%.   

12 There are approximately 15,000 people living in County Durham living 
with or beyond cancer.  This figure is projected to rise to 28,000 by 2030 
if the population increases as anticipated. 

 
 

Page 132



 
 

 
Figure 1: Predicted Cancer Prevalence by Age Group 

 
13 Improvement in diagnosis and treatment mean that more people are 

likely to survive cancer than die from it.  More than half of people 
diagnosed with cancer today are living more than 10 years.  Cancer can 
now be considered a long-term condition.    

14 The Macmillan Joining the Dots programme is part of a national 
Macmillan Cancer Support and local authority programme of work, one of 
four flagship areas.  The service has been in operation since November 
2015 and is an ongoing partnership primarily between Macmillan Cancer 
Support and Durham County Council.  
 

15 In January 2018, following comprehensive work undertaken and an 
options appraisal, the Programme Board made the decision to progress 
with implementation of the Macmillan Joining the Dots Service through 
varying the Wellbeing for Life contract.  

16 The Programme is governed by the Programme Board, chaired by the 
Director of Public Health with membership from the Portfolio Holder for 
Adults and Health and chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board; and has 
a Coproduction group which includes people who have been affected by 
cancer (coproduction volunteers), partners from primary and secondary 
care and clinical commissioning groups. 
 

17 The Programme was established to develop a new ‘social model’ of 
support which will make sure that all people affected by cancer in County 
Durham have the opportunity to receive early support for their individual 
holistic, non-clinical needs.   

 
18 The service began engaging clients in September 2018 with an official 

launch on the 24th January 2019.  Over 30 prominent voluntary and 
statutory organisations were part of the 90 people who attended the 

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

2015 2020 2025 2030 2035

65-74 75-84 85+ 65+

0 200 400 600

65-74

75-84

85+

65+

% change over time

Page 133



 
 

launch which provided attendees with an opportunity to meet the 
facilitators and clients that had previously benefitted from the service.  

 
19 The Macmillan Joining the Dots Service aims to: 

 

(a) Improve or increase the offer of support to people affected by 
cancer; 

(b) Improve the psychological well-being of people affected by 
cancer; 

(c) Increase the ability of people affected by cancer to live more 
independently; 

(d) Increase skills and knowledge regarding cancer among the 
workforce; 

(e) Improve systems and processes to support people affected by 
cancer; 

(f) Involve people affected by cancer in continuously improving 
services.  

Service Description 

20 The key components of the Macmillan Joining the Dots County 
Durham Service are: 

(a) The allocation of a Joining the Dots Facilitator available from the 
point of a cancer diagnosis and consistent throughout someone’s 
cancer experience;   

(b) Single and free access routes into the Joining the Dots service; 
(c) Identification of needs (Holistic Needs Assessment/ Concern’s 

Checklist); 
(d) Facilitated access to support for identified needs;  
(e) Follow up to ensure people are receiving the support that they 

need; 
(f) A structured plan for “step-down” in the level of support; 
(g) Ongoing support is available as agreed between the individual 

and the Facilitator and people are able to access support at any 
time should their circumstances change;  

(h) Access to support is available and tailored to individual needs.  
 

21 Macmillan Joining the Dots is available from cancer diagnosis to living 
with and beyond cancer or end of life.  

22 Referral pathways have been developed between the service and 
Hospital Trusts (including cancer treatment centres), Clinical 
Commissioning leads, voluntary sector organisations, Healthwatch, Age 
UK, pharmacies, Macmillan Information Centres, Macmillan Durham Not 
Alone, cancer support groups, GPs, GP Cancer Champions, Palliative 
Care Teams, Clinical Nurse Specialists and Hospices, amongst others. 

Page 134



 
 

Pathways with other partners are still under development and existing 
pathways will remain under constant review and engagement.     

23 Six (6) facilitators work across County Durham in three geographical 
areas.  The North of County Durham, based at The Greenhouse, Stanley, 
the South West, based at the Pioneering Care Partnership in Newton 
Aycliffe and the East, based at Heathworks, Easington. The facilitators 
are aligned to “teams around the patient” (TAPs).  

24 Between September 2018 and June 2019, the service engaged with 264 
clients, 156 of these people have a cancer diagnosis of their own. This 
shows that, although in its infancy, the service is already engaging with 
the friends, family and carers of someone with cancer who have often not 
accessed support previously. It has also allowed the service to work with 
friends, family and carers of those who are end of life, to help prepare for 
their passing.  This support focuses upon financial concerns, funerals, 
wills/probate and emotional issues.  Where relationships have already 
been established with the carers and family, the team continue to support 
the carers and family following their bereavement.  All clients to the 
service receive a personalised Macmillan Joining the Dots ring binder to 
store all notes regarding their interventions will all services.   

25 The North of the county (Consett, Stanley, Durham, Chester-le-Street) 
has the highest engagement, 41%, South West (Bishop Auckland, 
Barnard Castle, Crook, Willington) 35%, and East (Peterlee, Easington, 
Seaham) at 27%.  The East has been the most difficult area to engage 
with clients since the start of the project.  Running at a reduced staff 
capacity has been a contributing factor to this difficulty as has the clinical 
buy-in. The complexities of accessing cancer treatment for people who 
live in this area coupled with the reduced likelihood that they will ever be 
seen within County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust means that 
there is a greater dependence upon referrals from primary care who are 
further removed from cancer care pathways than secondary care 
providers. An additional Joining the Dots facilitator is due to be employed 
imminently, and additional work to engage clinical services outside of the 
county in line with patient flows, will help to increase support provided to 
people affected by cancer who live in the East of the county.   

26 Over 50% of the clients seen are currently undergoing treatment (the 
time when reportedly people have the most support). Lower levels of 
engagement in the service so far is from people who have had a recent 
diagnosis and those who are living beyond cancer.   

27 Although the service is engaging with people who have a range of 
cancers; breast, bowel and lung make up 60% of the cancers that are 
registered with the service.    

Page 135



 
 

28 81% engaging with the service to date are between the ages of 46-75, 
with 6% (17) below the age of 45 and 13% (33) above the age of 75.   

29 From September 2018 to the end of Quarter 4, March 2019, just over 
33% of the clients were male.  Between April 2019 to June 2019, there 
has been a significant increase in men engaging with the service, with an 
equal split of men and women accessing support.   

30 A significant part of the JTD service is ensuring that once facilitators have 
identified the holistic needs of the person affected by cancer, they 
signpost or refer to the most appropriate service to support the meeting 
of the holistic needs.  Referrals from the service to welfare rights and 
local cancer support groups are significantly higher than to other 
agencies. There is, however, good evidence of referrals for support to a 
number of areas including transport, housing, hospices and secondary 
care.  This has allowed the service to record specific case studies 
regarding their work with the service (Appendix 2 and 3). 

Macmillan Local Authority Partnership (MLAP) Programme 
Evaluation 
 

31 Macmillan Cancer Support have commissioned SQW to evaluate the 
Macmillan Local Authority Partnership (MLAP) programme across all four 
MLAP sites.  The evaluation aims to assess the rationale and approach 
taken, the partnerships, Macmillan’s strategic capability, and the 
scalability of the models being implemented. The evaluation will also 
share findings and learning with key stakeholders. 

32 The interim reports in both October 2018 and May 2019 highlighted the 
success in Durham of creating an effective partnership with the NHS 
Foundation Trust, the success in using Coproduction as a mechanism to 
designing an effective service and in responding to the increasing needs 
of the people affected by cancer.   

33 The final evaluation report is not due until March 2020. This poses some 
difficulties for Joining the Dots as the report will not be delivered in a 
timely manner to allow evidence based discussions around sustainability 
of the service.   

Local Evaluation 
 

34 Public Health has commissioned Teesside University to undertake the 
local evaluation for the Joining the Dots service, a more intensive 
evaluation focussing on 20 selected clients as well as individuals involved 
in the development and operational aspects of the service.   

Page 136



 
 

35 The primary aim of this evaluation is to study the person-centred 
outcomes of the Joining the Dots programme.  The evaluation will 
explore with stakeholders and partner organisations their understanding 
of the process for the JTDs service, to assess the referral pathways to 
see how many clients are referred to partner organisations, to explore the 
barriers to referral from delivery staff and partner experiences, to gain 
feedback from beneficiaries of the service. 

36 Ethical approval from the School of Social Sciences and Law Ethics 
Committee at Teesside University has been granted to undertake this 
study.   

37 Data collection began in June 2019, a preliminary report will be provided 
in September 2019 with a final report due in December 2019.   

Future Service Developments 

Patient Activation Measure (PAMS) 
 

38 PAMS is a patient-reported measure, providing a powerful and reliable 
measure of patient activation.  This will allow the Joining the Dots service 
to prioritise people who need most support to access services to meet 
their identified needs. PAMS will allow the service to measure activation 
at a start point and at any point along the cancer journey to assess 
progress or challenges. This also includes the potential for joint working 
with the Trust with risk stratification.    

 
Primary Care Recovery Pilot 

 
39 For people living beyond cancer, recovery can be a very difficult time.  

People often feel in limbo once they have finished treatment, they are no 
longer engaged with services that manage their health and maybe 
unlikely to hear about Joining the Dots. During the patient and carer 
engagement work these were the people who were most likely to be 
living with unmet needs.  Working with the Weardale Practice in 
Stanhope and the Macmillan GP Cancer Lead for DDES CCG, the 
Programme is piloting a scheme to assess the holistic needs of people 
affected by cancer who are living beyond treatment. The Practice is 
writing out to every patient that has had a diagnosis of cancer in the last 
3-5 years offering the Joining the Dots service.  

 
Pilot of Community Hubs 

 
40 The Macmillan Joining the Dots Programme team acknowledges that for 

the service to be successful, it also needs to be efficient and see as 
many people as possible in the right place at the right time. As a result, 
the service is piloting “clinic” appointments in Shotley Bridge hospital 

Page 137



 
 

alongside the chemotherapy unit. This allows people with higher 
activation levels of health to attend appointments in a more central place 
and while they are in hospital for other appointments.     

41 In the current pilot, which has been running for 7 weeks, five (5) clients 
have been motivated to attend weekly appointments, three of which were 
referred directly from the chemotherapy unit. The model being used at 
Shotley Bridge will be monitored closely and fully evaluated prior to 
determining whether to roll-out further.   

Buddy System 

42 Within the contract specification, the development of a Buddy System, 
which will see the recruitment of people affected by cancer as volunteers 
to support people engaged with the service once they no longer needed 
the more intensive support of a facilitator, was included. It has been 
important for the facilitators to embed into the service prior to this system 
being developed. The Programme team is now working with the service 
and other partners to plan the implementation of a buddying system.  

Sustainability 

43 The Programme is currently only funded until March 2020, through 
Macmillan Cancer Support and the Northern Cancer Alliance funding.  
Sustainability is a priority for the Programme. Initial discussions regarding 
this have taken place at the Programme Board and an options paper will 
be developed for the September board meeting.      

Conclusion 

44 As cancer is the highest cause of death in England of the under 75’s.  
Cancer contributes significantly to the gap in life expectancy between 
County Durham and England.  We are aware that 15,000 people living in 
County Durham are living with or beyond cancer, and that both diagnosis 
and treatment are improving.  Therefore, with increased need for holistic 
support, Macmillan Cancer Support and Durham County Council 
developed a new ‘social model’ of care.  Macmillan Joining the Dots 
began engaging with clients since September 2018. 

45 In partnership with the Wellbeing for Life service, there has been 
significant development of the Joining the Dots service.  The main areas 
of development have focussed upon developing the clinical referral 
pathways as this is the ‘bread and butter’ of the service.  There has been 
an increase in referrals in the past two months and in the hope that this 
will be maintained and increased, the buddying programme and PAMS 
will help to help with any capacity issues.   

Page 138



 
 

46 Progress justifies the sustainability of the service past March 2020.  
Using the expertise of the coproduction team and working with current 
partners, identification of pathways for sustainability need to be 
investigated.  At the Programme Board on the 4th June 2019, discussion 
began about how the Programme can be sustained for the future. This 
will culminate in an options paper being presented to the next 
Programme Board for decision about how we will action this.   

 

Background papers 

• None 

Contact: Mark den Hollander Tel:  03000 262759 
 Alison Cooke Tel:  03000 267345 
   

 

 

  

Page 139



 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Health & Social Care Act 2012 refers to Section 2B NHS Act 2006 which 

places a duty on each local authority to take such steps as it considers 

appropriate for improving the health of the people in its area. 

Finance 

Sustainability past March 2020 

Consultation 

No implications 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

No implications 

Human Rights 

No implications 

Crime and Disorder 

No implications 

Staffing 

No implications 

Accommodation 

No implications 

Risk 

No implications 

Procurement 

No implications 

  

Page 140



 
 

Appendix 2:  Case Study 1 

 

Client came to Macmillan Joining the Dots as first point of support.  The 

support I was able to offer included arranging transport and attending the 4 

chemotherapy sessions with the client as they had no close family. I also 

arranged the transport for the 20 sessions at James Cook and supported by 

attending the follow up tests and scans.  This client has become socially 

isolated and I have provided emotional support.  I meet with the client most 

weeks to see how they are doing and to provide practical solutions to 

problems. 

On referral to Macmillan Welfare Rights, the client applied for and received 

Attendance Allowance totalling £800. They also received a Macmillan Grant 

and support with clothing and fuel costs.    

Having fainted at home, I contacted the GP and requested a home care 

assessment and contact from a Macmillan nurse.  I also arranged for the client 

to receive a wheelchair.  The client later told me that they had stopped going 

into the kitchen as they were scared to stand up, so the wheelchair means 

they can use their kitchen again and prepare basic meals.   

The client’s medication caused severe constipation and chronic pain.  With 

permission from the client, I contacted the GP and requested an assessment.  

A change in medication led to the pain being alleviated.   

This intervention was also useful for reducing the stereotype that Macmillan 

nurses only worked with end of life patients.  Having convinced this client to 

work with a Macmillan nurse, this client now realises that this is not the case.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 141



 
 

Appendix 3:  Case Study 2 

 

On referral from the Macmillan Information Centre in Bishop Auckland, I met  

Len with a diagnosis of prostate cancer since 2016, untreated due to 

conflicting heath issues. In December 2017 Len was told that the cancer had 

spread to his bones and he had about 6 months to live. 

Len requested two items, a shower to replace his bath which he could not 

longer access and support with finance to get incontinence pants which he 

currently purchased himself.   

I contacted Social Care Direct who refused an assessment of Len as he had 

previously been assessed by an Occupational Therapist from Livin Housing.  

Livin has refused making alterations and offered Len a bungalow, something 

he did not want.      

The District Nurse assessed Ken for a continence grant which he was refused. 

Obviously, this was disappointing, but I applied to Wellbeing for Life for a 

Micro Grant to purchase some incontinence pants. This was approved, and I 

purchased 10 packs which I picked up from the pharmacy and delivered to 

Len.  

After a couple of appointments, I noticed that Len was struggling with his 

health and maybe needed some clinical intervention from a nurse. At his 

previous clinical appointment, he had been told that a referral would be made 

to the Macmillan nurse.  On investigation, it was found that this had not 

happened.  I arranged for this to occur.  Len now has an appointment booked 

in with a Macmillan nurse.  As Len moves towards the end of his life, we are 

starting to look at any arrangements that need to be made with regard his will 

and finances as he has a partner of 37 years but is not married.   

 

 

Page 142



Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
30 July 2019 
 
Joint Health and Social Care Commissioning Strategy for Adults 
and Young People (age 14+) with Learning Disabilities 
 
 
 
Report of Tricia Reed, Strategic Commissioning Manager, Learning 
Disabilities and Mental Health and  
Donna Owens, Partnership Strategic Manager, NHS Durham, 
Darlington and Teesside Mental Health and Learning Disability 
Partnership 
 

Electoral division(s) affected: 
Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 
 
1 The purpose of this report is to give an update on the development of a 

Joint Health and Social Care Learning Disability Commissioning 
Strategy for County Durham and circulate a version of the strategy for 
approval. 
 

Executive Summary 
 
2 A multi-agency Learning Disability Commissioning Strategy Group, 

chaired by the council’s Head of Commissioning, is working 
collaboratively across Health and Social Care to develop and 
implement a County Durham Joint Health and Social Care 
Commissioning Strategy for people with learning disabilities, with an 
emphasis on moving towards more outcomes-focused provision, 
increased choice and control, and supporting people with learning 
disabilities to remain living in their communities. 
 

3 The commissioning strategy is focused on adults with a learning 
disability and includes the needs of young people age 14+ making the 
transition to adult services. 

 
4 Key data and information has been analysed and feedback sought 

from a range of stakeholders in order to produce the strategy for 
approval. 

 
5 The strategy is included as Appendix 2 and has been circulated to 

other Durham County Council (DCC) and Clinical Commissioning 

Page 143

Agenda Item 14



Group (CCG) management groups and stakeholders, including service 
users, carers, providers and the general public for feedback. 

Recommendation(s) 
 
6 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

a) Consider the contents of the report and the commissioning 
strategy  
 

b) Approve the strategy and the commencement of the 
implementation of the strategy. 

Background 
 
7 The most recent Joint Commissioning Strategy for Learning Disabilities 

in County Durham covers the period 2009 – 2013 and was published 
in August 2009.  
 

8 It has been recognised by Commissioning Services that this strategy is 
no longer relevant, and that a new strategy is required which sets out 
the identified needs of our population and can then be used to inform 
commissioning intentions over the next 3 years. 

 
9 The development of a Learning Disability commissioning strategy is 

also a recommendation from Durham County Council (DCC) Internal 
Audit following a review of Learning Disability commissioning within the 
council. 

 
10 Peopletoo were commissioned by DCC in 2017/18 to develop the key 

principles for a Learning Disability commissioning strategy and 
undertook information analysis and stakeholder engagement to 
produce a report of findings and recommendations for further 
consideration. 

 
11 A multi-agency Learning Disability Commissioning Strategy Group, 

chaired by the Head of Commissioning, is working collaboratively 
across Health and Social Care to develop and implement a County 
Durham Learning Disability (LD) Joint Commissioning Strategy, with 
an emphasis on moving towards more outcomes-focused provision, 
increased choice and control, and supporting people with learning 
disabilities to remain living in their communities. 

 
12 The group has worked through the process of collating key 

data/information and feedback from stakeholders in order to produce a 
strategy for implementation, building on the work undertaken by 
Peopletoo. 

Page 144



13 As part of this process an Integrated Needs Assessment (INA) for 
Learning Disability services has also been developed and this is 
contained with the Durham Insight website. A link to Durham Insight is 
included in the strategy. 

 
Stakeholder Engagement 
 
14 Previous engagement was carried out by Peopletoo. Members of the 

Learning Disability Commissioning Strategy Group have since 
undertaken some further engagement work with Learning Disability in-
house and external providers/stakeholders, service user engagement 
leads, carer representatives and operational teams. They were asked 
to identify 3 key messages for commissioners to be prioritised within 
the strategy and also contribute to an analysis of strengths, 
weaknesses, opportunities and threats (SWOT), which have been 
incorporated into the strategy. 
 

15 The most common key messages identified by the providers were that 
there should be more robust communication systems, which can be 
easily understood by service users and care staff and that providers 
should be supported with service-specific training for service users 
based on their needs. 

 
16 The information collated was used alongside information on the 

national and local policy context, needs analysis, financial information, 
evidence and best practice to contribute to the draft strategy.  

 
Key Principles 
 
17 Building on the work co-ordinated by Peopletoo, the Learning Disability 

Commissioning Strategy Group, in collaboration with the local Learning 
Disability Provider and Stakeholder Forum, agreed the following key 
principles for the strategy: 
 

• Co-production – through appropriate service user, carer and 
provider representatives/mechanisms 

• Taking a whole-life approach including young people in 
transition and people who are ageing  

• A focus on early help, timely intervention and prevention 

• Promoting personalisation and progression 

• Improving outcomes such as increased independence and 
employment 

• Improving outcomes such as increased wellbeing, choice and 
control with shared responsibilities and community resilience 

• Delivering a co-ordinated approach to supporting individuals to 
achieve their goals 

Page 145



• Promoting and developing provider resilience and 
responsiveness to local needs 

• Increasing efficiency, cost-effectiveness and value for money 

• Ensuring services are safe and of high quality 
 

Vision 
 
18 The commissioning strategy includes a proposed shared vision for 

County Durham, which is “for all people with a learning disability in 
County Durham to have a good life in their community with the right 
support from the right people at the right time”.  
 

Strategic Aims and objectives 
 
19 The main aims of the County Durham Joint Health and Social Care 

Commissioning Strategy for People with Learning Disabilities are: 
  
a) Joint commissioning – Health and social care commissioners 

work collaboratively in partnership with other agencies to 
implement the commissioning strategy  

b) Improve understanding of needs – The health and social care 
needs of children (pre and post 18) and adults with a learning 
disability, including those who are ageing and those with 
dementia, are understood and used to inform commissioning 
decisions and service development activity, through improved 
information and data systems and engagement with stakeholders. 

c) Improve understanding of service provision and develop the 
market to better meet needs – Commissioners with the help of 
stakeholders will identify gaps in service provision and improve 
the availability, range, consistency and quality of learning 
disability services in the market.  This will include the continuation 
of work with NHS commissioners in respect of the ongoing 
requirements of Transforming Care. 

d) Improve outcomes and quality of life – Commissioners with the 
help of stakeholders will develop new ways to deliver services to 
achieve better outcomes and improve the lives of people with a 
learning disability and their carers/families. 

e) Deliver Transforming Care – Commissioners will work with 
stakeholders to meet the vision and values agreed by County 
Durham’s Transforming Care Programme Board and deliver the 
Regional Community Model of Care in County Durham.  
Transforming Care is about improving health and care services so 
that more people can live in the community, with the right support, 
and close to home, including people with learning disabilities who 
have autism and/or mental health issues and behaviour that may 
challenge current services. 

 

Page 146



20 The aims have been presented as a plan on a page within the strategy 
and are supported by a number of objectives. Detailed commissioning 
plans will be co-produced with service users, carers, providers and 
other stakeholders to help implement the strategy and achieve the 
objectives.  

 
Governance 
 
21 There will be a Learning Disability Strategy Implementation Group to 

oversee progress towards the aims and objectives identified in the 
strategy with this group reporting to the County Durham Integrated 
Care Board.  
 

22 A full description of the governance arrangements is shown in the 
governance chart in Appendix 1 of the strategy.  

 
Consultation 

 
23 The draft strategy was open for consultation on the DCC website 

during the period 4th – 30th June 2019 and links were also made with 
Durham County Carers Support for that provider to publicise the 
consultation to carers and provide a link to it via their own media. 
  

24 Inclusion North also organised a specific event for service users and 
carers, including easy-read versions of the strategy, to collect 
feedback from people with learning disabilities, including service users. 
The council’s Learning Disability engagement team have also 
supported the consultation. 

 
Conclusion 
 
25 After the consultation exercises were undertaken, feedback received, 

including from management groups, was evaluated and a final version 
of the Joint Health and Social Care Learning Disability Commissioning 
Strategy for Adults and Young People (age 14+) with Learning 
Disabilities was produced. 
 

Contact: Paul McAdam Tel:  03000 268407 
 Tricia Reed Tel:  03000 269095 
   

 

 

 

 

Page 147



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Legal Implications 
Any potential legal implications will be considered as part of more detailed 
commissioning plans on the implementation of the strategy. 

 
Finance 
There is no extra longer term funding identified for the implementation of the strategy 
and commissioning activity will include remodelling or decommissioning services, 
prioritisation of services based on need and reducing higher cost packages, taking 
into account the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 

 
Consultation 
A consultation exercise with service users was facilitated by Inclusion North and the 
DCC website was used to consult widely on the strategy with carers, providers, other 
stakeholders and the general public. 

 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
Recommendations/actions contained within the learning disability commissioning 
strategy will ensure compliance in relation to people with learning disabilities and 
their families/carers, including those with autism and mental health issues (adults 
and young people). Equality Impact Assessments will be completed where 

necessary. 
 
Human Rights 
None highlighted  

 
Crime and Disorder 
None highlighted at this stage – needs in relation to criminal justice are included 
within the strategy 

 
Staffing 
There may be staffing implication and capacity issues in relation to fully 
implementing the strategy in addition to other competing priorities.  
 

Accommodation 
None highlighted at this stage – accommodation needs are included within the 
strategy 

 
Risk 
The main risks in relation to implementing the strategy are related to time pressures 
and financial constraints across health and social care. 
 

Procurement 
Potential procurements will be considered within commissioning plans as part of the 
implementation of the strategy. 

 

Page 148



Appendix 2:  County Durham Joint Health and Social Care 
Commissioning Strategy for People with Learning Disabilities 

 
Attached as a separate document 
 
 

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

11 
  

 

 

 

County Durham Joint Health and Social Care 

Commissioning Strategy for People with Learning Disabilities 

(Adults and Young People aged 14+) 

2019 – 2022  
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 P
age 151



 

1 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

 
The way a learning disability is described can vary according to different settings and 
legislation, e.g. education, health and social care, criminal justice or benefits systems and it is 
important to value the person as a unique individual rather than a label. 
 
To help understand the needs of people with learning disabilities the following description is 
offered, which is based on the Department of Health1

 definition.  
 
A learning disability results in difficulties with understanding, learning and remembering 
information and making sense of new situations. This means that someone may have 
challenges with learning new skills and coping independently. Communication, self-care and 
awareness of health and safety can be affected and people with learning disabilities often have 
physical and/or sensory impairments.  
 
The definition covers people with autism who also have learning disabilities but not those with 
a higher-level autistic spectrum disorder who have average or above average intelligence – 
such as some people with Asperger’s Syndrome. Although the needs of people with autism are 
being addressed through other strategies, autism is often linked to learning disabilities as well 
as mental health. 
 
‘Learning disability’ does not include all those who have a ‘learning difficulty’, which is more 
broadly defined in education legislation. 
 
Further information on severe, moderate and mild learning disabilities can be found on the 

NHS Choices page on ‘What is a learning disability?' and in Durham Insight, a shared 

intelligence, research and knowledge base for County Durham. 

 
2. PURPOSE 

 

This strategy sets out how Health and Social Care will work together and with other partners to 
deliver better outcomes for people with learning disabilities, increasing choice and control and 
supporting them to remain living in their communities. The focus of the strategy is adults and 
young people aged 14-25 with learning disabilities. 

Put simply, our shared vision is for all people with learning disabilities to have a good life in 
their community with the right support from the right people at the right time. 

Durham County Council, North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), Durham Dales 
Easington and Sedgefield CCG and Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Trust face a range of 
challenges in delivering this vision, such as reducing financial resources as a result of 
austerity, varying capacity in the market, complexity of needs and disparity in practice. 
 
However, we remain committed to driving up quality and value for money; making changes that 
result in positive outcomes; responding to local needs and meeting statutory requirements. For 

                                                           
1 Department of Health (2001). Valuing People. London: The Stationery Office   

this to become a reality we must commission the right types of services from the right 
providers.  Through effective procurement, monitoring, workforce development, partnership 
working and support, we must ensure that organisations providing health and social care have 
sufficient capacity and high calibre staff to deliver the best outcomes for people who use these 
services and for their families and carers. 
 
Messages from local people, families, carers and organisations who support people with 
learning disabilities have influenced this strategy.  We have heard that people with learning 
disabilities want to be supported to live ordinary lives; to be listened to and have choices about 
where to live, who to live with and how to live their lives. At the same time people want to be 
safe, enjoy good health and have opportunities for learning and work, enjoy a variety of cultural 
and leisure activities and participate in their communities. 
 
We welcome further feedback on whether or not we have listened and responded in the best 
way possible within this strategy, which outlines our commissioning intentions over the next 
three years. 
 
 

3. BACKGROUND 
 

Durham County Council, the two Clinical Commissioning Groups (North Durham CCG and 

Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG) and Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Trust, 

with support from NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit, have developed this 

three year joint commissioning strategy.  

It outlines a shared commitment to supporting people with learning disabilities and helping 
them maximise their independence, choice and control.  
 
In trying to ensure that people with learning disabilities and their families have a good life in 

County Durham, public bodies must also help prevent people becoming lonely, isolated and 

vulnerable; protect people from harm or abuse and prevent people from dying unnecessarily 

through poor quality of care and support. 

These goals are very much in line with the County Durham Partnership’s Sustainable 

Community Strategy and the Health and Wellbeing Strategy, in particular making the area a 

healthier, happier and safer place for all people and narrowing the differences in healthy life 

expectancy between different groups of people. 

Underpinned by a strategic action plan, this strategy will guide commissioning, planning and 

decision-making processes for people with learning disabilities within Durham County Council 

(DCC) and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) over the next three years to contribute to 

these broader aims.  

The commissioning strategy will need to take into account wider work that is being undertaken 

regionally with other local authorities, CCGs and NHS England as well as local partnerships 

between Health, Public Health, Social Care, Education, Employers, Housing, the Voluntary and 

Community Sector Enterprise, Police and the Criminal Justice System.  

P
age 152

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/learning-disabilities/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/learning-disability/


 

2 
 

Joint commissioning between the CCGs and the council will be strengthened through the best 

use of resources; more integrated commissioning, contracting, monitoring and reviewing 

arrangements; and working together more effectively with service users, carers and providers 

to develop and manage the market. 

The NHS Long Term Plan involves Integrated Care Systems (ICS) and Sustainability and 

Transformation Plans (STPs).  Locally these cover Durham, Darlington and Teesside, and 

identify learning disability transformation as a key priority.  This has resulted in the recent 

introduction of the NHS Durham, Darlington and Teesside Mental Health and Learning 

Disability Partnership, which is a partnership of the five south of the region CCG’s and Tees 

Esk and Wear Valleys Trust (TEWV),and will also enable a collaborative approach to the way 

that health services are planned and delivered. 

The strategic priorities of the NHS Durham, Darlington and Teesside Mental Health and 

Learning Disability Partnership are: 

• To ensure that the services that are commissioned by the partnership are recovery 

focussed, improve the impact on patient outcomes, continue to obtain increasing levels 

of patient satisfaction and are safe 

• To improve the physical health of people with mental health and learning disability 

conditions 

• To improve the value for money of taxpayer-funded mental health and learning disability 

services 

• To ensure that the local health system is financially sustainable and that investment is 

available to meet national and local policy priorities 

• To commission the best available care and support efforts to improve the whole system 

of health and care in the North East  

This document describes how the draft strategy was developed; the vision and strategic aims; 

key principles, priorities and recommendations; and the steps required to improve services that 

are commissioned for people with learning disabilities. 

 

4. HOW THE STRATEGY WAS DEVELOPED 

 
The Council commissioned an organisation called Peopletoo to help develop a Learning 
Disability commissioning strategy for County Durham.  
 
Peopletoo gathered information and talked to key people who work across health and social 
care. The work was completed in January 2018 and resulted in a set of principles and themes 
that were felt to be important to include in County Durham’s Learning Disability commissioning 
strategy.  
 
The Council wanted to work with Health (colleagues from Clinical Commissioning Groups and 
Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Trust) to develop a joint commissioning strategy. 
 
A Learning Disability Joint Commissioning Strategy Group was set up in April 2018. The group 
included managers and staff from the different organisations (see Appendix 1) and developed 
a communication, engagement and consultation plan to ensure people from other services, 

people who have learning disabilities and family or carer representatives could contribute to 
and feedback on the commissioning strategy. A longer term engagement strategy is needed for 
ongoing involvement of people with learning disabilities in commissioning and service 
improvement. 
 
Building on the work of Peopletoo, the group undertook the following work, which led to the 
draft commissioning strategy: 
 

• Described the current position in terms of service provision and service usage, including 
costs and quality. 

• Analysed the needs of the current and future local population with learning disabilities 

• Identified gaps in current service provision across health and social care 

• Engaged with a wide range of stakeholders on current service provision, future needs 
and key areas of the strategy 

• Made recommendations on the development of future services  

• Development of a Learning Disabilities Joint Strategic Needs Assessment factsheet 
 

Early on in the process of developing the strategy, the Learning Disability Joint Commissioning 

Strategy Group agreed the scope of the strategy, the vision and the key aims and principles. 

These are outlined in the next sections. 

 

 

5. THE VISION 

 
This joint commissioning strategy for adults and young people aged 14-25 with learning 
disabilities establishes a shared vision, which mirrors the aspirations expressed in the national 
and local strategies and plans (see section 7): 
 
The shared vision in County Durham is for all people with learning disabilities to have a good 
life in their community with the right support from the right people at the right time.  
 
 
 

6. KEY PRINCIPLES 

 
Building on the work coordinated by Peopletoo, the Learning Disability Joint Commissioning 

Strategy Group agreed key principles for future commissioning of Learning Disability services 

in County Durham. These are illustrated and described as follows.  

P
age 153



 

3 
 

 
Co-production  
 
Through appropriate engagement and consultation with people who have learning disabilities, 
their families, carers and providers who support them, services are to be designed and 
developed through co-production. Co-production also involves reviewing services, information 
and advice together. This will ensure that services and support interventions are well-informed 
and effectively targeted towards meeting the needs and aspirations of individual service users.  
 
People with learning disabilities have said that they want: 
 

• Healthy, safe, fulfilling and meaningful lives  

• A home of their own and a place to live of their choosing 

• An education that prepares people for meaningful employment 

• To be connected to their communities through friendships, relationships, learning, work, 
leisure and recreational activities 

• To feel valued, respected and listened to 

• To receive good support, which may or may not be paid support 
 
Taking a whole-life approach including planning services for young people in transition 
 
A whole system approach across the life course will help to reduce the impact of transition 
between life stages and different ages and create a more positive experience especially for 
young people reaching adulthood and for individuals moving from children’s services to adult 
services or between different kinds of services, both in health and social care. This involves early 
holistic planning, joined-up working, focusing on individual skills and helping people to increase 
their independence. 
  
 
 
 

                                                           
2 https://www.disabilityrightsuk.org/independent-living-0 

A focus on early help, timely intervention and prevention 
 
Ensuring that people with learning disabilities, their families and carers are supported as early 
as possible not only offers more affordable and value-for-money solutions, but also better 
outcomes for individuals, families and communities.  
 
Access to the right information, advice and support is essential to building on the skills, resources 
and abilities that people and communities already have and enables them to use them more 
effectively. 
 
Preventative support, in line with the Care Act 2014 includes low level help and practical 
assistance with daily life; social and emotional support; help to maintain social networks; 
educational and vocational support and help to access relevant services. 
 
For those that need it, timely intervention from a health and social care system that is accessible, 
flexible and person centred will support independence, help prevent and manage crisis, avoiding 
unnecessary distress and placement breakdown.   
 
Promoting personalisation and progression 
 
The services commissioned by the Council and CCGs must demonstrate how and when they 
are meeting the identified outcomes of each individual they support. The commissioning 
approach should aim to keep service provision to the least intensive levels required to meet 
people’s needs, maximise their independence and reach their potential.  Co-production and the 
promotion of choice and control will help to ensure that every decision about an individual is 
made with the individual.  
 
Improving outcomes such as increased independence, employment, wellbeing, choice, 
control community resilience 
 

People should be able to live, work and be active participants in their community, making the 
best use of both their own and other available resources and opportunities.  
 
The 12 Pillars of Independent Living2 outline what people with learning disabilities need, to 
increase or maintain their independence: 
 

1. Appropriate and accessible information 
2. An adequate income 
3. Appropriate and accessible health and social care services 
4. A fully accessible transport system 
5. Full access to the environment 
6. Adequate provision of technical aids and equipment 
7. Availability of accessible and adapted housing 
8. Adequate provision of personal assistance 
9. Availability of inclusive education and training 
10. Equal opportunities for employment 
11. Availability of independent advocacy and self-advocacy 
12. Availability of peer counselling 

 

P
age 154

https://www.disabilityrightsuk.org/independent-living-0


 

4 
 

Adults with learning disabilities and/or autism have consistently asked for the reasonable 
adjustments that ensure that they are able to access the same opportunities that we all seek, as 
well as the opportunity to have their voice heard and challenge the prevailing thinking around 
learning disability services. It therefore seems that people with learning disabilities desire the 
same independence, choice and control over their lives that others enjoy. Personalisation and a 
‘whole-life’ approach aligned with people’s needs and aspirations can have a positive impact on 
their wellbeing. 
This must be at the heart of commissioning efficient and effective services to meet the needs of 
people with learning disabilities. 
 
Delivering a coordinated approach to supporting individuals to achieve their goals  

 
Health and social care services need to be effectively integrated (e.g. information and data 
sharing, joint commissioning arrangements and pooled budgets), removing the need for people 
with learning disabilities and their families to repeatedly tell their ‘story’ to multiple staff from 
different organisations, and promoting a holistic approach towards providing support. 
 
Promoting and developing provider resilience and responsiveness to local needs 
 
With the help of commissioners, providers of services for people with learning disabilities must:  
 

• Understand and adapt their services in response to the needs of the local population and 
the shared vision for learning disability services as set out in this joint commissioning 
strategy and the Council’s Market Position Statement, which outlines the commissioning 
intentions across children's and adult social care, public health and housing. 

• Develop resilience to effectively support individuals at all times, even when they are 
exhibiting challenging behaviour.  

 
As well as general competency based training, Positive Behavioural Support training and other 
appropriate training is required to support people with learning disabilities who have complex 
and challenging behaviour in a consistent and effective way. This training should be repeated 
regularly and accessed by established providers and those new to the local area and market. 
 
The consequence of not having a well-trained, resilient provider market are: 

• Significant pressure on statutory services 

• Reactive and crisis responses 

• The need to revise and adapt support packages and placements often at considerable cost 
and at short notice 

• Disruption and anxiety for individuals and their families during crises is further exacerbated 
if there is a need to change placements.  

 
Increasing efficiency and value for money 
 
Adopting the principles above should help with another key principle of ensuring value for money 
or cost-effectiveness, i.e. the optimal use of resources to achieve the intended outcomes. This 
may mean spending less, spending well and spending wisely. Another important commissioning 

                                                           
3 https://www.england.nhs.uk/learning-disabilities/care/ 
4 http://www.drivingupquality.org.uk/home 

goal is to achieve equity, i.e. spending fairly. In other words, success includes the extent to which 
services are available to and reach all people for whom they are intended. 
 
Ensuring services are safe and of high quality 
 
The significance of ensuring that services commissioned throughout people’s lives are safe 

and of good quality is highlighted within the Transforming Care Programme3; the Driving Up 

Quality Code for Commissioners and Providers4; and the Quality of Life Standards5. These 

apply to all people with learning disabilities, including those with autism, mental health issues 

and complex support needs who may have behaviour that challenges. Safety and quality 

standards raise aspirations and cover all areas of a person’s life, from where they live to where 

they work and how they are an equal member of their community.  

To be meaningful and effective, these safety and quality standards must be embedded into 

contracts and care planning with effective monitoring and review processes. Systems must be 

in place, underpinned by co-production, to deal appropriately with poor quality and lack of 

safety. 

 

7. NATIONAL POLICY CONTEXT 
 

This commissioning strategy is informed by a number of national legislative and quality 
requirements relevant to the commissioning of health and social care and support for people 
with learning disabilities. The statutory bodies must work together to meet statutory and other 
responsibilities outlined in the national policy and guidance.  
 
The policy context has three main elements: 

• Policy that applies to all citizens, which may have aspects relating to disability or 
exclusion  

• General health, social care and education policy 

• Learning disability specific policy  
 
Key health and social care legislative and policy documents are the Care Act (2014), the 
Children’s and Families Act (2014) and, more recently, the NHS Long Term Plan 2019-2024 
(2019).  
 
Policy specific to people with learning disabilities includes Building the Right Support (2015), 
which outlines the national Transforming Care programme; and the principles in Valuing 
People (2001) and Valuing People Now (2009) are considered relevant today. 
See Appendix 2 for further information on these and other important national policies. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

5 https://www.centreforwelfarereform.org/library/by-date/quality-of-life-standards-and-toolkit.html 
 

P
age 155

https://www.centreforwelfarereform.org/library/by-date/quality-of-life-standards-and-toolkit.html


 

5 
 

8. LOCAL CONTEXT 

 

Key relevant local policies and programmes are summarised in Appendix 3 and include the 

following: 

• Sustainable Community Strategy 2014-2030 

• County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016 to 2019 

• County Durham Strategy for children and young people with Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities (SEND) 2018-19 

• Children and Families Plan 2016-2019 

• County Durham Mental Health Strategic Plan 2018-2021 

• County Durham Think Autism Strategy 2018/19 – 2021/21 

• Market Position Statement (Durham County Council's vision for the future of social care) 

• Clinical Commissioning Group Commissioning Intentions, DDES and North Durham 
CCGs 2018/19 

• North East and Cumbria Learning Disability Transformation Programme 

• Integration  

• Better Care Fund 

• County Durham Housing Strategy 2019 

The County Durham Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is a statutory document that 
provides a detailed overview of the current and future health and wellbeing needs of the people 
of County Durham. The JSNA is available in the health and social care theme of the Durham 
Insight website and contains intelligence and information to help inform local plans and 
strategies, such as the County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the 
commissioning intentions of the Clinical Commissioning Groups, through highlighting areas of 
health and wellbeing which need improving.  

Durham Insight is a shared intelligence, research and knowledge base for County Durham, 
informing strategic planning across the Durham County Council and its partners, and by 
thematic partnerships.  The aim is to provide users with an easy way to access and share 
information, intelligence, research and knowledge for deeper insights about their local area or 
communities. It also informs and supports the JSNA and other assessments and strategies 
managed by the authority and its partners. 

A Learning Disabilities factsheet, held on Durham Insight, has been developed alongside, and 
as an integral part of this commissioning strategy. The factsheet brings together the evidence 
base, national and local profiles and local health and social care data analysis. It helps us to 
look at what has happened in the past, what is happening now, improves our understanding of 
what is likely to happen in the future and aids decision-makers in targeting resources to both 
areas and services. The factsheet will be updated as and when further information becomes 
available. 
 
The commissioning strategy should be read in conjunction with the factsheet for the context 
and evidence base. 
 
The next sections highlight some key points from Durham Insight and provide a basis for the 
strategic aims and objectives (page 18 of the strategy). 
 

9. PREVALENCE AND NEEDS 

In the UK, learning disabilities affect about 1.5 million people in the UK (around 2% of the 
population). It is estimated that of people with learning disabilities… 

 

The health and quality of life of people with learning disabilities are often worse than for other 

citizens. 

Whilst it is difficult to record the definitive number of people with learning disabilities both 
nationally and locally, estimations can be based upon research and population predictions, as 
well as GP registers and local authority data on the number of people using learning disability 
services. 

For more detailed information about learning disabilities and local data please see the Learning 

Disabilities factsheet within Durham Insight.  

37% of premature deaths

were avoidable

33% say they have

no friends

23% are identified on GP

registers (estimated)

15% have a home they can

call their own

6% are in paid employment 

2% estimated prevalence

of learning disabilities in adults

Compared 
to the 
general 
population, 
people with 
learning 
disabilites:

Have a lower life expectancy.

Men with learning disabilites die on average 13 - 20 years younger 
compared to those without, this increases to 20 - 26 years for women.

Experience higher levels of poor mental health.

Have greater and more complex health needs (such as long term 
conditions and muskuloskeletal problems).

These are often undiagnosed and untreated.

Are more likely to experience barriers to accessing healthcare service and 
experience poor levels of care.

Are three times as likely as people in the general population to have a 
death classified as potentially avoidable through the provision of good 
quality healthcare.

Are often the target of hate crime.

P
age 156

https://www.durhaminsight.info/jsna/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/learning-disability/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/learning-disability/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/learning-disability/


 

6 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10. CURRENT HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE SERVICE PROVISION  P
age 157



 

7 
 

This section gives an overview of relevant health and social care services available for people 

with learning disabilities in County Durham. 

10.1 Specialist Health services available for people with learning disabilities in County 
Durham 
 
Inpatient learning disability services commissioned by CCGs including acute assessment and 
treatment, provided by Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV). In the 
region, providers also include Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Trust (NTW) and 
independent sector providers. 
 
Services commissioned by NHS England specialised commissioning: 

• Learning Disability medium and low secure services (NTW and TEWV) 

• Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services Tier 4 learning disability services (NTW) 

• Forensic community outreach service and contract leads for prison health (TEWV) 

• Complex Neurodevelopmental Community Service (NTW) 
 
Community Learning Disability Services: 
Integrated teams exist in County Durham through a partnership between Durham County 
Council (the lead organisation) and TEWV. (TEWV are the lead for integrated community 
mental health teams other than learning disability services where the local authority is the lead 
agency).  
 
Enhanced Community Services provided by TEWV offer care home liaison and crisis work for 
people with learning disabilities who need emergency support, potentially preventing hospital 
admissions. There are two elements: the Specialist Health Team (which covers Durham and 
Darlington) and the newly commissioned Proactive Provider Liaison Team (for Durham, 
Darlington and Tees): 
 
The Specialist Health Team 
The Specialist Health Team is a tertiary level team, working 24/7 on a planned basis, providing 

assessment and intervention for adults who have a diagnosed learning disability and present 

with mental ill health and/ or behaviours that challenge. The skill mix within the team facilitates 

interventions utilising: 

• Positive Behavioural Support (PBS) approaches and /or Applied Behaviour Analysis within 

the Behaviour Function and: 

• Psychosocial approaches based on the Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) and 

Dialectical Behaviour Therapy (DBT) frameworks within the mental health function.  

Crisis response (7 days a week 8 -8) is also within the team’s establishment, based in and 

managed from Inpatients. Across both functions of the team, training and intensive home 

support are regularly provided, dependent on the needs of each service user referred.  

The Proactive Provider Liaison service 

The Proactive Provider Liaison (PPL) service will complement and liaise with existing 
community learning disability services. It will deliver flexible support to service providers who 
are supporting adults with Learning Disabilities and/or Autism across Teesside, Durham and 
Darlington. The service aims to help sustain community support arrangements and prevent 
unnecessary admissions to hospitals. To achieve this it will primarily work at a systems level 

with organisations to help services meet the needs of the people who receive their services. 
On occasions, the PPL service will also provide, if requested, additional capacity to enable 
existing specialist learning disability services provided by TEWV to deliver intensive community 
support for an individual. 
 
The Health Facilitation Team provides a link with the primary and secondary care services for 
people with learning disabilities for their care and support, at the same time promoting health 
and wellbeing. The team works with GP practices to ensure that reasonable adjustments are in 
place and people are identified with appropriate codes so they can receive a service which has 
been adjusted to meet their needs 
 
An Acute Liaison Nurse works between the Health Facilitation Team and the Acute Trust to 
ensure that people can receive hospital treatment in a planned way both as an in-patient and 
out-patient, by providing help with hospital passports and staff training. 
 
10.2 Adult Social Care for people with learning disabilities in County Durham 
 

Social care provision for people with learning disabilities is described in more detail in Durham 

Insight. In County Durham, care and support is arranged and delivered following needs 

assessment and care planning undertaken by three Learning Disability Locality teams and a 

Learning Disability Access Team, as well as a Transitions Team for young people aged 14-25. 

Approximately 1,700 people known to the learning disability teams use social care services, 

which mainly consist of a range of independent and third sector provision including supported 

living, supported accommodation, day care, respite and residential care as well as the use of 

Direct Payments and Individual or Virtual Budget arrangements intended to offer more choice 

and flexibility. The council also provides some in-house services. 

Commissioning arrangements include spot purchasing, procurement frameworks / provider 

panels or tailored individual packages tendered for highly specialised care packages. Some 

packages are joint funded the NHS and some, such as supported living and domiciliary care, 

are starting to be jointly commissioned. 

The type of services used by people with learning disabilities can be an indication of primary 

needs and can be analysed in terms of number of service users, spend and cost per head. 

Information for the strategy is primarily in relation to commissioned services for people age 14+ 

with learning disabilities in receipt of long-term social care. This is taken mainly from the Social 

Service Information Database (SSID), which will be replaced by a new system called Azeus in 

2020.  

Service usage 

Most people with learning disabilities receiving support in County Durham use day services, 
then supported living, followed by a range of services listed below.   

 

o Day Care – 55% 
o Supported Living  - 32% 
o Direct Payments – 19%  
o Transport – 17% 
o Residential Care (for people with Learning Disabilities)– 16% 

P
age 158



 

8 
 

o Home Care - 10% 
o Shared Lives (adult placement) – 3% 
o Nursing care (for people with Learning Disabilities) – 1% 
o Other services – 1% (e.g. extra care and other types of residential and nursing care 

registered for older people, dementia or mental illness). 
 

 

 

Based on November 2018 SSID data (Total 2,687; 1736 distinct service users) 
Note some individuals use more than one type of service. 
 

Spend 

In County Durham, the largest proportion of the council’s learning disability gross budget is 
spent on supported living, followed by residential care. The figures below include joint funding 
from Clinical Commissioning Groups. 

 
o Supported Living - £20m  
o Residential Care - £12.4m 
o Day Care - £6.7m  
o Direct Payments - £4.8m 
o Home Care - £1.5m  
o Transport - £400k 

 

 

Cost per head  

In 2017/18, the net expenditure on Learning Disability services per head of population for 
Durham County Council was £90.22, compared to £112.65 nationally. In addition, NHS bodies 
also incur significant expenditure in respect of learning disability service provision. 

Durham County Council tends to spend less per head of population on residential care than 
national averages, with £27.34 for Durham, compared to £38.48 nationally. 

Due to the individual nature of people using the services, there is a considerable range in costs 
incurred across service provision.  

The majority of applicable expenditure is in respect of supported living and residential care 
environments. For Durham County Council, Peopletoo identified that the average weekly cost 
for each service user was £810 for supported living and £769 for residential care. However, 
clearly this is influenced by a number of specific circumstances for each individual. Some 
service users have multiple services, and value for money, based on individual service need, is 
a key factor. 

 

11. FINANCIAL CONTEXT  

 

Nationally, more is spent on long term support for adults with learning disabilities aged 18-64 
compared to short term support. Over recent years there has been a trend towards greater 
provision of community-based services. 

 

In County Durham, the DCC learning disability net budget is approximately £41m, with £38m 
spent on care. In September 2018, the average weekly cost of a care package for a person 
with learning disabilities was £509.09 (£537 in Sep 2017).  
This is higher than for any other adult client group (e.g. £363 for Older People and £262 for 
Mental Health). 

956

557

329
294 283

168

52 23 25

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

Day care Supported
living

Direct
payments

Transport Residential
Care LD

Home Care Shared Lives Nursing
Care LD

Other

Service usage (Number of service users)

Day care Supported living Direct payments Transport Residential Care LD

Home Care Shared Lives Nursing Care LD Other

20

12.4

6.7

4.8

1.5

0.4

Proportion of spend (£million)

Supported Living

Residential Care

Day Care

Direct Payments

Home Care

Transport

P
age 159



 

9 
 

 
The range of weekly costs is £5.61 to £6,686.94. The graph below shows that a quarter of the 
people with learning disabilities recorded on SSID have care packages within the range of 
£500- £1,000 per week. Nearly 40% have care packages over £500 per week and 14% have 
packages costing over £1,000 per week. 
 

 

Minimum Cost £5.61 

Maximum Cost £6,686.94 

Average £509.09 
   

Main CCG spend for people with learning disabilities is on services delivered by Tees, Esk and 

Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV) and Independent hospitals as well as Section 

117 (joint funded with the local authority) and Continuing Health Care (CHC) packages of care.  

Spend also includes funding given to the local authority under the Transforming Care Funds 

Transfer Agreement. 

2018/19 financial information from the two CCGs is shown in the table below. North Durham 

(ND) CCG spends more than Durham, Darlington, Easington and Sedgefield (DDES) CCG on 

TEWV services in relation to specialist inpatient services. 

2018/19 spend DDES CCG ND CCG 
 

 
£m £m 

 
Reported LD expenditure 31 March 

2019 £13,677.9 £12,780.6 
 

    
TEWV Services £3,996.5 £6,140.5 

 
Independent Sector Providers £676.5 £904.4 

 

                                                           
6 DCC Adult Social Care Learning Disability SSID data 2018/19  

S117 packages £147.1 £316.2 
 

CHC Packages £8,395.7 £4,458.9 
 

Other £462.2 £960.6 
 

Total £13,677.9 £12,780.7 ` 

 

Impact of financial context on commissioning 

 

CCGs and local government are operating in a period of significant financial uncertainty 
brought about by a combination of on-going austerity and unfunded cost pressures. Funding 
reductions have been imposed since 2010/11, with pressures in social care services and other 
unfunded cost increases arising from pay and price inflation. The financial outlook for the 
council will continue to be extremely uncertain for the foreseeable future as the outcome of the 
pending Fair Funding Review will not be known until late 2019. 

Commissioning activity will need to take into account the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 

savings that the council has to make as a result of the ongoing funding uncertainty, which are 

in the region of £11.3 million for Adult and Health Services up to 2022/23.  

 

In addition to trying to reduce higher cost packages, Commissioners will have to prioritise those 

services that meet statutory needs and consider those services that demonstrate clear 

evidence of preventing people from requiring statutory services. 

 

Short-term funding may be available for new developments or for continuing effective short-

term funded services. However, commissioners will need to carefully manage expectations and 

agree exit strategies with providers, service users and other stakeholders. Commissioners also 

need to consider long-term sustainability issues and support providers and the Voluntary and 

Community Sector in accessing other sources of funding. 

 
 

12. KEY MESSAGES 
 

The strategic intelligence from Durham Insight, health and social care information6, policy 
context and stakeholder feedback are summarised in this section as key messages, some of 
which require further exploration. 
 
The key findings are accompanied, where possible, by information on what needs to happen 
and what is already happening in County Durham to address issues and gaps in service 
provision. These form the basis of the aims and objectives on page 18. All references can be 
found in the factsheet on Durham Insight. 
 
❖ In general, there is recognition that we need to strengthen leadership and governance 

around learning disability commissioning. We also know there needs to be closer working 

237

162

303

347

436

238

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450 500

£0 To £50

£50 To £100

£100 To
£250

£250 To
£500

£500 To
£1,000

£1,000+

Number of Clients

Profile of Provision Cost - Count of Clients

P
age 160



 

10 
 

relationships between health and social care commissioners, building on some good 
examples of joint commissioning (e.g. Supported Living and Transforming Care) and 
moving towards more integrated ways of working. 

 
❖ Having made progress developing the intelligence in Durham Insight, we need to improve 

understanding of the needs of people with learning disabilities and their families through 
information-sharing, better use of information and by regularly seeking and listening to the 
views of people who have learning disabilities, including individuals who use learning 
disability services and those who care for them.  

 
❖ In order to plan ahead, we especially need to improve our information and understanding 

on the needs of young people who are going to be making the transition to adult services 
and also people looked after by older carers who may need support in the future, as well as 
adults with learning disabilities who are ageing or with dementia. Earlier identification, 
planning and joint working will help to get the right support in place during a time which can 
otherwise be fraught with uncertainty, anxiety and stress. 

 
❖ In addition to understanding needs, we want to have greater awareness and understanding 

of services and technology which can help to increase people’s independence and 
progression through services. 

 
❖ As well as identifying need and shaping future services though coproduction, we need to 

work together on monitoring and reviewing our current services. This will help to ensure 
consistently high standards of quality and safety, fair and transparent pricing, identify where 
commissioners can support providers and develop the market to meet the needs of the 
local population. 

 

Whilst it is acknowledged that there is much more to do to achieve the longer-term vision for 
‘all people with learning disabilities to have a good life in their community with the right support 
from the right people at the right time’, the commissioning strategy outlines the following priority 
areas to address over the three years. 

a) Healthy lives 
 
What are the main issues? 
 
▪ People with learning disabilities have poorer physical and mental health compared to the 

general population. The NHS wants to address this health inequality by encouraging far 
more people to be registered on their GP Learning Disability Register, giving them the 
chance to access more support and have an annual health check to detect health 
conditions, which otherwise would go unnoticed. Health checks could also reduce the risk 
of people being admitted to hospital unnecessarily and emergency admissions. 

 
 
 
How are we doing? 
 
▪ Only 0.6% of people of all ages on GP registers in County Durham have learning disabilities 

recorded. As there is an estimated 2% of the population thought to have learning disabilities 

in the county, this suggests there may be a degree of unidentified and unmet need. This is 
similar to the North East and England rates (2016/17). 

 
▪ Although County Durham is performing slightly better than other areas of the North East on 

GP annual health checks, the proportion of eligible people (aged 14+) with learning 
disabilities having an annual health check is not significantly different to England.  The 
percentage of people on the learning disability register who have had an annual health 
check needs to increase from 51% to 75% by March 2020.  

 
▪ CCGs and Durham County Council are working in partnership with Healthwatch to increase 

the number of people with learning disabilities who take up free health checks. This 
includes surveys to find out what stops people having a health check, developing an easy 
read invite to all people with learning disabilities in County Durham and piloting health 
checks in community settings. 

 
▪ People should also have access, with reasonable adjustments, to mainstream health and 

community service providers and other specialist services, e.g. mental health services and 
drug and alcohol services. Providers and the Health Facilitation Team can help people with 
learning disabilities access services that the general population use when required. 

 
▪ Improving the uptake of health checks and other interventions such as oral health, sexual 

health, cervical screening, breast cancer and bowel cancer screening may help address 
health inequities in this population through earlier identification and treatment, as well as 
increased access to available health facilitation. 

 
What more do we need to do? 
 
▪ CCGs will need to: 

- set individual end of year targets for annual health checks; 
- ensure people already on GP Learning Disability Registers are offered an annual health 

check;  
- increase the numbers of people on their GP Learning Disability Registers and ensure 

they are offered an annual health check. 
 
▪ Commissioners and providers need to work together to raise awareness and understanding 

of screening, health interventions and health facilitation, ensuring more reasonable 
adjustments are made in health care settings. They also need to continue to support 
programmes such as The Learning Disabilities Mortality Review Programme (LeDer) and 
Stopping Over Medicating initiatives (STOMP/STAMP) initiatives. 

 
▪ Relevant and accessible information and advice should be available for people with 

learning disabilities and those who support them. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 161



 

11 
 

b) Support in the community 
 

What are the main issues? 
 
▪ Nationally, in 2013, Local Authorities reported that 74% of adults with learning disabilities 

known to them, lived with their family. The number of people with learning disabilities living 
with carers over 70 years old was predicted to double between 2013 and 2030. In 2016 
there were 184 carers over 65 years old open to learning disability teams in County 
Durham. A survey carried out by Durham County Carers Support7  with 50 carers identified 
anxieties about the future for the person they cared for.  
 

▪ While some people with learning disabilities manage to live independently or are cared for 
by family members or unpaid carers, people with moderate, severe or multiple and 
profound learning disabilities often need additional help from specialist health and social 
care services in the community. 
 

▪ Approximately 2,300 people with learning disabilities are known to the three integrated 
Adults Learning Disability Locality teams and the Transitions Team (approximately 100 
young people aged 14-25). New referrals are received through the Learning Disability 
Access Team and the Transitions Team. 

 
▪ Out of the total number of referrals received by the Learning Disability Access Team, 

approximately 16% (59 people) were passed on to the Locality teams in a 12 month period. 
8 Around 60 young people make the transition from children’s services to adult learning 
disability services each year. 

 
▪ Despite the new activity, the number of caseloads has remained relatively stable over a 

number of years. Most (86.5%) are in the 18-64 age group; 12.5% are over 65. The decline 
in numbers using services after the age of 64 potentially reflects reduced life expectancy. 

 
▪ However, between 2017 and 2035 the number of people with learning disabilities in County 

Durham aged 18-64 is predicted to fall slightly over time (2%) while the number aged 65+ is 

predicted to increase by around 27%. This is partly due to an increasing ageing population 

and the fact that people with learning disabilities are now living longer compared to previous 

decades. 

 

▪ The learning disability teams report that people with learning disabilities are living longer 

with more complex needs, which impacts on the services available, number of children and 

young people in the care system, child protection issues and complex legal processes 

surrounding people’s care.   

▪ Across the services there are more people with mild learning disabilities who have complex 
needs often related to offending, mental health issues including a diagnosis of personality 
disorder, substance misuse or trauma experienced within the care system. 

 

                                                           
7 County Durham Carers Support (2016) Findings from Looking into the Future survey: Carers of people with Learning 
Disabilities in County Durham. 

▪ Nationally and locally there is recognition that more needs to be done to address the effects 

of historical and negative methods of dealing with challenging behaviour, such as over-

medication, physical restraint, seclusion and the results of trauma and abuse that some 

people have encountered in the care system.  

 

▪ There is currently no clear pathway of treatment, including identification of need and 

accessible planned/structured support for individuals with Learning Disabilities whom have 

experienced trauma. It is recognised that a joint health and social care response to 

supporting individuals who present with trauma needs to be developed to prevent further 

system failure and harm to individuals  

 

▪ Suitable accommodation is integral to delivering effective care and support for people with 
learning disabilities, particularly those with complex needs. The Valuing People agenda and 
previous commissioning and housing strategies have prioritised the accommodation needs 
of people with learning disabilities. This resulted in a number of approaches within County 
Durham over the last decade such as de-registering and remodelling residential care as 
supported living and increased use of community alarm assistive technology and floating 
support. 

 

▪ Commissioning decisions are influenced by the geographical, largely rural, make-up of the 
county and impacted by cross-boundary service developments. Due to the size of County 
Durham, care home and supported living placements outside of the county are less 
common than placements made within the county from other local authorities. Non-
commissioned or ‘opportunistic’ accommodation-based services within County Durham can 
create pressures on the local health and social care system if the services do not match 
need and vacancies are filled by people outside of the area. 

 

▪ The combination of urban and rural areas, as well as deprivation alongside affluence also 
impacts on commissioning decisions, for instance deciding where to locate services to best 
meet the needs of the local population. 

 

▪ CQC registration criteria can also play a significant role in commissioning plans. CQC views 
larger settings as potentially institutional and favours small scale service models (for 8 or 9 
people at the most), nearer communities rather than in isolated settings. While a move 
away from large institutions is welcome, it does raise some issues around increased costs, 
financial sustainability and staffing arrangements. This can impact on the availability of 
suitable residential care and supported accommodation placements for those with the most 
complex needs and could potentially lead to delayed discharges. It is also important to 
remember that small-scale provision still needs to be safeguarded against organisational 
abuse. 

 

▪ The majority of the people known to the learning disability teams are men (60%) compared 
to women (40%). Relatively few are from Black Asian Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities.  

 
▪ Approximately 73 % of people known to the learning disability teams in County Durham 

access a range of services; some key ones are highlighted in later sections. 

8 Out of the total number of referrals received by the Learning Disability Access Team, approx. 16% were passed on to the 
Locality teams and transition teams in a 12 month period (59 out of 368 referrals Oct 17- Sep 18 SSID) 

P
age 162



 

12 
 

 
▪ The transition from children’s to adult services is often very challenging for young people 

with learning disabilities and their families due to change of services and professionals at a 
time of wider change in their lives, e.g. educational circumstances. If planned well in 
advance, the negative impact of these changes can be minimised. If a child, young person 
or their carer is likely to have needs when they turn 18 the local authority must assess their 
needs if there is significant benefit in doing so.  

 

▪ An assessment could be requested years in advance of their 18th birthday (e.g. age 14 or 
15) to allow for sufficient planning and transition time and avoid a gap in services. This is 
especially important for young people with complex needs requiring significant levels of 
support from adult services.9 

 

▪ The Transitions Team helps with earlier planning for young people who will require adult 
services in County Durham.  However, local stakeholders have identified that transitions are 
less smooth for young people who do not meet the criteria for the Transitions service or 
adult social care and that transitions need improving across other interfaces such as mental 
health and autism services. 

 

▪ People with learning disabilities can be vulnerable to being victims of discrimination and 
hate crime, which doesn’t always get reported or dealt with appropriately. 

 

▪ Some people with learning disabilities become involved in crime and enter the criminal 
justice system. They are mostly young and male and are likely to have additional needs 
such as mental health issues (e.g. personality disorder, depression) autism and Attention 
Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD). 

 

▪ There is limited research on people with learning disabilities in prisons but there is evidence 
to suggest that not enough is being done within the criminal justice system to identify and 
support people with learning disabilities. 

 

▪ For legal reasons, very few people with severe learning disabilities enter the criminal justice 
system, despite often having behaviour which challenges. Therefore, the majority of 
prisoners with learning disabilities would be expected to have mild learning disabilities. 
However, some reviews have found evidence of moderate and severe learning disabilities 
within the prison population. 10 People with severe learning disabilities and/or complex 
behaviours with a forensic background may be more likely to be in prison hospitals rather 
than general prisons. 

 
How are we doing? 

 
▪ County Durham has a higher rate (85%) of people in receipt of social care with learning 

disabilities in settled accommodation (higher than the England and North East average). 
 

                                                           
9 NICE (2016) Learning Disability Transition Pathway Competency Framework and NICE NG43 Transition from children’s to 
adults’ services for young people using health or social care services. 

▪ However, within the population of people with learning disabilities receiving support, County 
Durham has higher rates than the England and North East averages of: 

- Unemployment (only 1% are in paid employment) 
- Safeguarding enquiries (10%) 
- People receiving long term social care support (4.4 per 1,000)  

 
▪ Of the total number of people known to the Learning Disability Locality Teams and 

Transition Teams, 1,723 people at Sep 18 (73%) are recorded by DCC as being in receipt 
of care, most of whom receive long term care.   

 
▪ 14% (238 people) have care packages that cost £1,000 per week or more and the range 

extends to over £6,000 per week. Higher costs are associated with supported living and 
residential care, including overnight respite.  

 
 
▪ Supported Living: 

Over the last 25 years there has been a shift in County Durham towards commissioning 
supported living rather than residential care, linked to the Valuing People and Transforming 
Care agenda and the desire to support people to obtain more independence in the 
community. 32% of people with learning disabilities supported by the council are in 
supported living compared to 16% in residential care. 

 
There are currently 25 supported living providers delivering care and support for 
approximately 550 people with learning disabilities across the county. The majority are 
rated as good by the Care Quality Commission and DCC Commissioning. There is a wider 
variation in costs, ranging from £92 to £3,759 per week, with some people needing 
additional staffing levels due to complexity of need.15% of the supported living packages 
are joint funded with Health. 

 
Vacancies in supported living can result in void costs although most are filled within a few 
weeks. In 2017/18 there were 17 long-term voids of 30 weeks or more, spread over 14 
properties, this has fallen to 11 long-term voids of 30 weeks or more spread over 10 
properties (Commissioning data, April 2019). 

Work has been undertaken by commissioning and operational staff to reduce the number of 
voids over recent years, including decommissioning services with long term voids where 
they cannot be filled or re-modelled to meet needs. 

 
Learning disability teams have recorded a small number of people (6) for whom it has been 
difficult to find a suitable placement in the last year. These are from the East and North 
Locality Teams, with one person in the Access Team.  They are nearly all men who have 
autism and behaviours which challenge current services 

 
There is sufficient supported living provision in County Durham for people with learning 
disabilities needing lower levels of support but not enough provision for people with more 
complex needs requiring higher levels of support as an alternative to residential care. 

 

10 NEQOS (2018) Learning disability and autism in the North East and Cumbria 
 

P
age 163



 

13 
 

▪ Residential Care: 
There are 31 residential care homes for people with learning disabilities with a total of 247 
beds between them, mainly in the urban areas of County Durham. Additionally, there are 11 
care homes registered to care for people with learning disabilities as part of a wider 
spectrum of care specialisms. An additional 35 places are purchased by the council outside 
of County Durham (Sep 2018). The number of learning disability residential bed days has 
remained relatively stable over recent years at around 8,000 per month. 
 
Current occupancy is between 80-90% with around 60% of the learning disability care 
homes having vacancies ranging from 1-6 beds, mainly 1 or 2 vacancies. 

 
While in general the aim is to support people as close to home as possible, sometimes a 
choice is made to live out of the home area, e.g. to be closer to relatives or to live in a 
preferred care home outside of the county. At other times, a service may not be available 
locally to meet a person’s needs and the only option is an out of county placement. 

 
Residential care can be beneficial for some people, creating a safe supportive environment. 
It can be especially helpful for those making the transition from hospital or to adulthood as 
part of a pathway to more independent living. It can also be useful for planned or 
emergency respite. However, it can be associated with very high costs, including ‘hotel’ as 
well as care and support costs. Residential care is more restrictive than supported living in 
that it doesn’t allow the same degree of flexibility, independence or access to a wider range 
of welfare benefits.  

 
▪ Home Care: 10% of people with learning disabilities in receipt of social care use home care 

directly commissioned by Durham County Council. This is 168 people aged 14+ (Nov 
2018), around 5% of the total number of people using commissioned home care. The 
average levels of home care for this group have remained stable at around 4 hours per day 
per person.  The largest proportion of users of home care are older people and those with 
learning disabilities tend to access supported living rather than home care in County 
Durham. 

 
▪ Direct Payments:  

19% of people with learning disabilities in receipt of social care use Direct Payments to pay 
for support to live at home. This is 329 people aged 14+ (Nov 2018), which equates to 40% 
of the total number in receipt of Direct Payments.  78% were in the 21-64 age range. The 
most commonly used service was home care followed by day care. Approximately 14% 
were one off payments, 

 
Direct Payments are seen as a way of helping people have more choice and control. In 
2015/16, County Durham recorded a lower proportion of adults with learning disabilities on 
Direct Payments (20.9%), compared to the North East and England averages.  

 
▪ Shared Lives: 

There are 56 approved Shared Lives carers in 41 homes across the county. Around 112 
people (June 2018) are in Shared Lives and the majority have learning disabilities. Most are 
aged 18 – 69 years with a small number under 18 or over 70 

 
3% of people with learning disabilities in receipt of social care are receiving support within 
Shared Lives settings. Of these, 63 had overnight respite and 8 were receiving long term 

support. 41 people receive both long term support and respite, which is needed when their 
Shared Lives carer takes a break. 4 emergency placements were accommodated. 
 
Approximately half of new referrals (in a recent six month period) were not able to be 
accommodated, mainly due to lack of suitable carers in the preferred area, no availability 
for respite dates, issues with access (ground floor needed) or no waking night support 
available. 

 
▪ Day care: 

Day services are provided at 84 different locations across the county. 
55% of all people with learning disabilities in receipt of social care use day services 
commissioned or provided by the council; this is 956 people (Nov 2018), which is 74% of all 
people using commissioned day services. The number has remained relatively stable over 
the last several years. 129 people attend Care and Support Pathways, the council’s in-
house day service for people with complex learning disabilities eligible for social care, at 
various locations. 

 
People with learning disabilities use day services more than any other service, including 
those living in residential care and supported living and is generally seen as a cost-effective 
service. However national and local policy, in addition to the views of local stakeholders, 
indicate that there should be more focus on helping people into paid employment. This 
should involve access to benefits advice and help. 

 
▪ Respite (short breaks): 

The main types of respite services used by people with learning disabilities in County 
Durham are overnight breaks at residential care or nursing homes, with a smaller number 
using Shared Lives for respite. Around 45% of people with learning disabilities using 
overnight respite do so at Hawthorn House, the council’s in-house residential care respite. 
Day services also provide short breaks for carers. 

 
12% of people with learning disabilities in receipt of social care use respite services. 
This was 274 people in a recent 12 month period, which was 34% of all people (14+) using 
respite services commissioned or provided by the council. The majority were in the 21-64 
age group (83%) and male (65%); 15% had learning disabilities and were also on the 
autism spectrum.  

 
Commissioners have identified a need for more cost-effective respite services for people 

with learning disabilities and autism. There are also opportunities to develop in-house 

Shared Lives and Hawthorn House respite services. However, stakeholders have 

highlighted the need for improved short breaks choices and more availability of appropriate 

short break and emergency respite services for people with more complex needs.  

 

Some people are currently being supported in the community and experience repeated 

placement breakdown, hospital admission or require emergency provision. While they are 

smaller in number (less than 10 a year), the costs and pressure on the health and social 

care system of finding suitable placements at short notice can be significant. Most of these 

people have a combination of learning disabilities, autism and mental health issues 

including personality disorders. 

 

P
age 164



 

14 
 

Although there was a pilot emergency provision in 2017/18, which consisted of two 

emergency beds in a residential care home, there is currently no designated community 

facility for emergency/crisis provision in County Durham. Instead, care coordinators and/or 

commissioning staff will work with current providers or out of area providers to secure short 

term emergency solutions, either in residential care, supported accommodation or in the 

person’s home with additional social care and/or health input e.g. from the Specialist Health  

Team.  

Work is in progress to develop local emergency provision for people with learning 

disabilities who are in crisis. 

 

▪ Other services commissioned or provided by DCC include: 

 

- floating support for 90 people with learning disabilities, including parents, not eligible for 

social care support; 

- assistive technology / telecare for around 400 people with learning disabilities or mental 

health issues (15% of all people using commissioned telecare); 

- transport services for just under 300 people with learning disabilities (57% of all people 

using commissioned transport services); 

- education, employment and benefits support, which include support for young people or 

adults with learning disabilities, e.g. through Adult Learning and Skills, Welfare Rights, 

DurhamWorks (for 16-24 year olds), Employability Durham (25+), Durham Employment 

and Skills (DES) and supported employment initiatives linked to a small number of day 

services; 

- carer support, including adults and young carers of people with learning disabilities (144 

people over 70 years old caring for a person with learning disabilities were recorded by 

Durham County Carers Support in 2016); 

- public health services to improve physical and mental health and wellbeing of the local 

population, which can be accessed by people with learning disabilities, the degree to 

which depends largely on reasonable adjustments and the complexity of need; (public 

health services include sexual health services, drug and alcohol services, wellbeing 

services, bereavement and relationship support and service for those affected by 

domestic abuse); 

- advocacy services, which cover statutory requirements under the Care Act, Mental 

Health Act, Mental Capacity and Deprivation of Liberty as well as non-statutory 

community advocacy, which can all apply to people with learning disabilities (in 2018 

107 people with learning disabilities or learning difficulties and a small number of 

parents accessed the service); 

- Health advocacy commissioned on behalf of the CCGs; 

- Appropriate Adult Service, jointly commissioned with CCGs and the police for young 

people and vulnerable adults who have been detained by the police (which was 

accessed by 128 people with learning disabilities in a recent 12 month period). 

 

▪ In addition, due to local authorities’ responsibilities under the Care Act for assessment and 

meeting eligible care and support needs for prisoners located in their area, DCC provides a 

prison social care service for the four prisons situated in County Durham: 

- Deerbolt Prison for young offenders near Barnard Castle (population 385) 
- Durham Prison, a Remand Prison serving the courts in the Newcastle, Durham, 

Teesside and Cumbria area (population 922) 
- HMP Frankland High Security prison for Category A, High Risk and Category B adult 

males (population 809) 
- Low Newton Prison for all remand and sentenced women aged 18 and over, serving the 

courts from the Scottish Borders to North Yorkshire across to North Cumbria (population 
343) 

 

▪ CCGs also commission services for people within the criminal justice system, including 

those with learning disabilities. These services include: 

- Prison healthcare 

- Liaison and Diversion services - engaging around 17 people with learning disabilities 

from County Durham, the majority aged 20-39. 

- Secure Outreach Transitions Team (SOTT) providing support for people in the 

community who have offending behaviours and/or convictions 

 

▪ There is also a senior community nurse providing support in the prisons within the region 

and learning disability nurses within HM Young Offender Institutions at Deerbolt, Durham 

and Low Newton 

▪ Low and Medium secure beds are commissioned by NHS England Specialised 

Commissioning. All high secure beds are commissioned by NHSE in other parts of the 

country.  

 
What more do we need to do? 
 
▪ Commissioners need to be prepared for possible demographic changes in the future and 

aim to predict, where possible, increase in demand for services or changes in service 
requirements.  This could involve more sophisticated methods of needs analysis and 
increased engagement with the local population who have learning disabilities and those 
that support them. 

 
▪ CCGs and DCC need to capture and analyse data and information from children’s services 

and the Transitions team as well as adult services, also people with learning disabilities and 
their carers. This will help to improve understanding of future needs, plan services earlier 
and support the transition between different types of service provision. 

 
▪ Latest policies, research, NICE guidance, best practice and the views of people with 

learning disabilities and their carers should inform future service developments with the aim 
of expanding the range of options for people with learning disabilities, maximising 
independence and progression while ensuring people are safe, happy and healthy.  
This may include: 
- More people having support and adaptations in their own home 
- People living alone or with others depending on choice, with the appropriate levels of 

support in place 
- Increased use of Direct Payments 
- Greater uptake of assistive technology 

P
age 165



 

15 
 

- Ensuring people both in and out of the county are appropriately placed / supported and 
their care is regularly monitored and reviewed  

- Supporting providers to develop services in line with the aims and strategic objectives in 
this commissioning strategy 

- Closer working between commissioners and housing colleagues to meet the housing 
needs for people with learning disabilities, develop appropriate accommodation-based 
services for people with higher level needs and influence the council’s Housing Market 
Position Statement  

- Helping people to increase independence with travelling and using public transport, e.g. 
travel training; training and awareness on reasonable adjustments 

- Increased support to gain and maintain employment (without current age restrictions) 
and advice and help on benefits. 

- More day services that offer support with independent skills and social inclusion and 
facilitate pathways to employment 

- Different models of support to help build more community resilience and connections 
with people, e.g. wellbeing services and other preventative approaches 

- Development of a joint health and social care model to support individuals who are 
experiencing lasting effects of trauma. 
 

▪ DCC, in collaboration with CCGs, plans to reduce the high costs in residential care and 
supported living through remodelling the pricing structure, taking into account the cost of 
inflation and national living wage. Work on residential and supported living may also need 
to involve remodelling service provision, decommissioning some services and 
commissioning more cost-effective alternatives, including developing in-house provision 
within Shared Lives, respite and day services. The need to reduce costs is a concern for 
CCGs as well as DCC due to joint funding of some services. 
 

▪ There is a plan for the Durham, Darlington and Teesside NHS Mental Health and Learning 
Disability Partnership to work collectively and over time to review the quality and 
effectiveness of all CCG / CHC funded packages of care. 

 
▪ The council needs to continue to manage vacancies and review and reduce long term voids 

in supported living, which may be associated with shared living, complexity of needs, poor 
accommodation, location, safeguarding concerns or other quality issues. 

 
▪ DCC needs to work closely with CCGs and the Care Quality Commission to commission 

appropriate, cost-effective care and accommodation that meet the long term needs of 
people with more complex needs requiring higher levels of support.  

 

▪ Commissioners must continue to work closely with planning and housing colleagues to 
prevent inappropriate accommodation schemes from emerging within the county and to 
secure the most suitable accommodation for people with learning disabilities, particularly for 
those with the most complex needs. 

 

                                                           
11 All CCGs are expected in 2019/20 to require adult inpatient capacity for no more than 18.5 adult inpatients per million 
adult population in both CCG commissioned beds and NHS England commissioned specialist beds. This will reduce to 13 and 

▪ Further work is needed to improve understanding on the needs of people with learning 

disabilities in prison and the wider criminal justice system, in order to ensure appropriate 

support is in place. 

 

 
c) Inpatient Care and Transforming Care 
 
What are the issues? 
 
▪ No more than 30 adults per million population with learning disabilities and/or autism are to 

be cared for in in-patient units by 2023/24, according to the NHS Long Term Plan. 
Improving the quality of inpatient care is also a priority. 

 
▪ CCGs are expected to reduce inappropriate hospitalisation of people with learning 

disabilities, autism or both to meet the targets by March 202011, continue to reduce 
inappropriate hospitalisation and remain on target as part of the Transforming Care 
programme, which pertains to people with learning disabilities and/or autism and other 
associated mental health conditions who display challenging behaviours. 

 
▪ The estimated initial cost to support the Transforming Care cohort in the community was in 

the region of £2.8 million for the council. NHS England and CCGs contribute to the costs 
through an arrangement of dowry payments and pooled funding.   

▪ Initially the number of individuals falling within the scope of the Transforming Care 
programme was relatively small, but the cohort has subsequently been expanded by NHS 
England to include: 

- Individuals with learning disabilities who are detained in hospital under Ministry of 
Justice restrictions (i.e. those who have a ‘forensic’ history or are at risk of 
offending); 

- Children who are currently hospital in-patients and meet the adult criteria for 
inclusion within the programme; 

- People already living in the community who are deemed to be ‘at risk’ of hospital 
admission should the preventative approach be insufficient to meet their needs.  

 

▪ For people who have been in hospital or residential / nursing care for a long time with very 
complex needs and often behaviour which challenges, the transition to less intensive 
support is difficult and requires providers with specialist skills and training (e.g. Positive 
Behavioural Support) and suitable accommodation to meet their multiple needs, e.g. large 
safe spaces, step down facilities and flexibility to respond to levels of fluctuating needs with 
appropriate staffing levels. 

 
 
 
 

17 adult inpatients per million adult population respectively for 2020/21. This equates to the overall target of 30 per million 
population which should be achieved by 2020/21 and maintained in subsequent years to 2023/24. 

P
age 166



 

16 
 

How are we doing? 
 
▪ Through the work of the County Durham Complex Care Group and Transforming Care 

Implementation Group, local health and social care partners are responding to the guidance 
set out in ‘Building the Right Support’, NICE and national and regional Transforming Care 
models. Direction and support is provided at a regional level by the South of the Region 
Transforming Care Collaborative Commissioning Hub as well as the North Cumbria and 
North East Learning Disability, Autism Transformation Partnership Board. 

 
▪ As part of this work a dynamic support register is maintained. This identifies individuals’ 

future care needs and tracks progress with discharge planning for individuals who are 
identified as part of the Transforming Care group. It includes people in the community who 
are at risk of hospital admission due to change in need or circumstances. The information is 
used to inform community care plans for the individuals and identifies what new provision 
needs to be commissioned. 

 
▪ Some people have been discharged into existing services; others have been discharged 

into newly commissioned services that have been developed with the allocated 
Transforming Care funding. 

 
▪ A 5 bed supported living service near the East coast of County Durham was commissioned 

in 2018/19 as part of the Transforming Care programme. This will provide accommodation 
and support for people moving from hospital, utilising the allocated Transforming Care 
funding and also for a smaller number of people requiring a move from provision which is 
unable to meet their increased levels of need. 

 
▪ Proposals are being developed for residential care and supported living for young people 

with complex needs. 
 
▪ Currently there are no delayed discharges from specialist acute hospitals for County 

Durham residents.  
 
▪ In 2018/19 there are no people with learning disabilities in CCG commissioned inpatient 

beds outside of the North East.  
 

▪ Positive Behavioural Support (PBS) is being promoted among local providers, with training 
offered by regional and local experts; a community of PBS practice has been established.  

 
▪ County Durham has made good progress with the Transforming Care programme in 

relation to planned discharges from hospital and preventing unnecessary hospital 
admissions but still has more work to do.  

 
▪ Through the Transforming Care work, learning disability teams and Commissioning have 

identified a service gap in the community for people with the most complex needs and 

behaviour that challenges services, either due to limited availability of suitable providers 

and /or lack of suitable accommodation. 

 
 

What more do we need to do? 
 
▪ Commissioners need to meet the Transforming Care planned discharge trajectories for 

children and adults in NHS and independent hospital settings commissioned by the CCGs 
or NHS England in the county and out of area, and also prevent hospital admissions for 
people in the community. 

▪ CCGs and DCC need to work together to commission new residential step-up / step-down 
and emergency provision for people with the most complex needs, either to help facilitate 
the transition from hospital to the community prior to longer term care provision or to 
prevent an unnecessary hospital admission, e.g. in a crisis at home or due to placement 
breakdown.  

 
▪ Commissioners also need to develop new services, which include accommodation and care 

to meet the longer term needs of people currently in hospital or at risk of hospitalisation 
where current provision cannot meet their needs. These services are likely to involve a mix 
of health and social care provision within a specialist supported living service and require 
skilled staff that can deliver positive behavioural support. 

 
▪ Around 40 people needing this type of provision are currently in hospital either awaiting 

discharge or have a longer term discharge date planned under the Transforming Care 

programme. This includes 5 young people known to the Transition team. Approximately 30 

people are in high-cost residential or nursing care, some of whom would benefit from 

moves toward more independent supported living in more cost-effective provision.  

▪ Commissioners have identified 9 people who are due to be discharged from hospital in the 
next 1- 2 years. 
 
13. EVIDENCE AND BEST PRACTICE  

 

It is important for commissioners to keep up to date with good practice and what is happening 
in other parts of the country, sharing with and learning from others to ensure that the best of 
services are offered to people with learning disabilities. 
 

The Learning Disability Commissioning Strategy Group will take into account best practice 

presented by Peopletoo in relation to accommodation, transitions, day activities / community 

engagement, employment and commissioning. Links to this information are included in 

Appendix 4. 

In addition, see ‘Research in Practice for adults- ‘Effective systems to support people with 

learning disabilities’- Strategic Briefing www.ripfa.org.uk. 

 

14. THE KEY PRIORITIES AND RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

Durham County Council and Clinical Commissioning Groups will work together on the aims 

and objectives shown on the following pages (pages 18-23) and will adhere to the vision and 

principles agreed with partners and stakeholders. 

P
age 167

http://www.ripfa.org.uk/


 

17 
 

We will support workforce development and culture change to ensure that alternative 

options and new ways of working are actively promoted and considered as positive alternatives 

by people with learning disabilities, their families and carers 

Through strong leadership, improved information, communication, engagement, 
consultation and co-production we will maintain, redesign or develop new services that are 
compatible with peoples’ needs, aspirations and capabilities, building on what already works 
well. 
 

15. IMPLEMENTATION 

Delivery framework 

There will be a delivery framework underpinning the strategic aims and objectives, which will 
include an action plan and detailed commissioning plans as necessary.  These will be 
developed and monitored through the County Durham Joint Learning Disability Commissioning 
Strategy Implementation Group, which will report to the Joint Commissioning Group as well as 
relevant DCC and CCG management groups. 

Monitoring, Review and scrutiny 

Each aim and objective will be monitored through the framework described above using a 

range of performance indicators and progress will be reported within the agreed governance 

framework. Sub groups or task groups, where required, will have a delivery plan and be 

accountable to the County Durham Joint Learning Disability Commissioning Strategy 

Implementation Group (JLDCSIG). 

How we will measure success 

A range of measurable outcome indicators will be developed as part of the delivery framework / 

action plan to be included in progress reports. These should include: 

• Meaningful clinical and patient outcome measures to assess the impact of changes / 

new interventions e.g. Patient reported outcome measures (PROM), Core-LD, Recovery 

Star and Clinical Outcome measures like Health of the Nation Outcome scores 

(HONOS) 

• Feedback from people using services and family, carers and providers. 

 

P
age 168



 
 
 

11 
  

 
County Durham Joint Health and Social Care Commissioning Strategy for People with Learning Disabilities 

Vision: For all people with a Learning Disability in County Durham to have a good life in their community with the right support from the right people at the right time. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aims 

1. Joint 

commissioning 

Objectives 

 

1.1 Establish a 

Joint Learning 

Disability 

Commissioning 

Strategy 

Implementation 

Group to monitor 

progress against 

aims, objectives 

and timescales 

 

2. Improve understanding 

of needs to commission 

appropriate services and 

facilitate partnership 

working   

3. Improve understanding 

of service provision and 

develop the market to 

better meet needs 

4. Improve outcomes and 

quality of life 

5. Deliver 

Transforming 

Care 

2.1 Ensure that 

commissioning to 

meet future needs is 

informed by accurate 

and up to date 

information and data 

across key public 

bodies 

3.1 Promote independence 

and progression including 

personalisation and the 

use of assistive 

technology 

4.6 Ensure there is specific support 

for people in police custody or the 

criminal justice system 

5.1 Ensure that 

people can live in 

their local area, 

even if they have 

complex needs 

that may present 

challenges by 

continuing to 

prioritise 

Transforming Care 

objectives 

1.2 Develop a 

meaningful and 

realistic 

communication, 

engagement and 

co-production 

plan 

3.2 Understand and 

manage the market 

including service 

mapping of all services 

4.1 Improve health and 

wellbeing by reducing health 

inequalities, improving healthy 

life expectancy and preventing 

illness and avoidable deaths 

3.3 Support providers to 

raise standards through 

quality monitoring and 

provider development 

4.2 Improve the quality of 

inpatient care 

4.3 Ensure carers get the right 

level of support and breaks  

4.5 Work with individuals, families 

and agencies to broaden the range 

of meaningful activities, 

opportunities and employment 

available 

2.3 Improve planning 

and partnership 

working to help 

prepare adults with 

learning disabilities 

who are ageing or 

with dementia or 

people with older 

carers for the future  

2.2 Improve joint 

working and develop 

more services that 

prepare young people 

for adulthood 

1.3 Jointly agree 

fees on an 

annual basis for 

key services 

4.4 Review current commissioned 

care and accommodation services 

and explore alternative models with 

a focus on improving outcomes, 

quality and safety 

P
age 169



 

19 
 

 

County Durham Joint Health and Social Care Commissioning Strategy for People with Learning Disabilities 

Vision: For all people with a Learning Disability in County Durham to have a good life in their community with the right support from the right people at the right time. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Aim 

Objectives 

What do we need to be good at?  

Improving co-production with people with 

learning disabilities 

 

Ensuring commissioning activity is 

underpinned by ordinary life principles 

What will help us achieve our objectives? (Enabling factors) 

1. Joint commissioning 

 

Health and social care commissioners work collaboratively in partnership with other agencies to implement 

the commissioning strategy 

1.2 Develop a meaningful and 

realistic communication, 

engagement and co-production 

plan 

 

1.3 Jointly agree fees on an 

annual basis for key services 

 

Ensuring cost and quality are well balanced 

Ensuring providers have knowledgeable, well trained 

and experienced staff 

Partnership working 

Strong partnership governance arrangements. 

Clear mechanisms for bringing together commissioners, providers, service users and carers. 

Communication 

Clear communication strategy agreed by all partners 

Performance Management 

Value for Money exercises to inform discussions and decisions around fees 

 

1.1 Establish a Joint Learning 

Disability Commissioning 

Strategy Implementation Group 

to monitor progress against 

aims, objectives and timescales 

Maintaining clear communication channels 

between health and social care 

 

  

 

P
age 170



 

20 
 

County Durham Joint Health and Social Care Commissioning Strategy for People with Learning Disabilities 

Vision: For all people with a Learning Disability in County Durham to have a good life in their community with the right support from the right people at the right time. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aim 
2. Improve understanding of needs 

The health and social care needs of children (pre and post 18) and adults with learning disabilities, including those who are ageing and those with 

dementia, are understood and used to inform commissioning decisions and service development activity, through improved information and data 

systems and engagement with stakeholders 

Objectives 

2.2 Improve joint working and 

develop more services that 

prepare young people for 

adulthood 

 

Improving joint working with carers. 

 

Service users and carers participating in 

local planning from an early stage 

What will help us achieve our objectives? (Enabling factors) 

What do we need to be good at? (Core deliverables) 

2.1 Ensure that commissioning 

to meet future needs is 

informed by accurate and up to 

date information and data 

across key public bodies 

 

Improving systems for data collection 

and analysis. 

 

Listening and responding to the voice 

of people with learning disabilities and 

those who support them.  

Supporting Arrangements 

In-depth strategic intelligence and detail on learning disabilities held in Durham Insight and Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

A strategic and operational approach to co-production  

Commissioning 

Accurate needs analysis to inform decisions on service provision  

Participation 

Systematic analysis of feedback received from people with learning disabilities and their families / carers. 

Stakeholder events on a regular basis 

 

2.3 Improve planning and partnership 

working to help prepare adults with 

learning disabilities who are ageing or 

with dementia or people with older 

carers for the future  

 

Develop a system to capture and 

analyse the needs of all children who 

are likely to need learning disability 

services in adulthood 

 

Ensure that transition planning is 

person-centred and focussed on 

preparation for adulthood. 

P
age 171



 

21 
 

County Durham Joint Health and Social Care Commissioning Strategy for People with Learning Disabilities 

Vision: For all people with a Learning Disability in County Durham to have a good life in their community with the right support from the right people at the right time. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

County Durham Draft Autism Strategy for Children, Young People and Adults 

Aim 

 
3. Improve understanding of service provision and develop the market to better meet needs 

Commissioners with the help of stakeholders will identify gaps in service provision and improve the availability, range, consistency and quality of learning 

disability services in the market.  This will include the continuation of work with NHS commissioners in respect of the ongoing requirements of Transforming 

Care. 

Objectives 

What do we need to be good at? (Core deliverables)  

Refocusing commissioning activity to help people make 
progress and be as independent as possible. 
 
Being more responsive to the needs of individuals and 
those who support them. 
 
Increasing understanding and use of a broader range of 
assistive technology. 

What will help us achieve our objectives? (Enabling factors) 

Commissioning 

Service mapping of all services available which can be commissioned or signposted to. 

Greater awareness and understanding of the range of assistive technology available and how this can be used 

Communication 
 

A clear communication strategy outlining how needs are identified and how to access support if needed. 

 

Gathering the views of service users and those who support them on service provision and potential improvements 

 

Quality Management 
 

Regular quality monitoring of service providers. 

 

Clear feedback on quality 

 

Support for providers to improve quality standards, e.g. Practice Improvement, Safeguarding, Provider Development 

 

 

 

3.2 Understand and manage the 

market including service 

mapping of all services 

 

3.1 Promote independence and 

progression including 

personalisation and the use of 

assistive technology 

 

3.3 Support providers to raise 

standards through quality 

monitoring and provider 

development 

 

Identifying both commissioned and non-commissioned services 
across the county, including cross-boundary arrangements 
 
Identifying gaps and duplication in service provision to inform 
commissioning intentions. 
 
Facilitating improved pathways and partnership working 
 
Working closely with CQC, planning and housing to ensure 
appropriate accommodation-based service models are 
commissioned 

Ensuring services are high quality, safe, cost 

effective, person-centred and outcome focused 

 

Addressing poor practice 

 

Sharing good practice 

P
age 172



 

22 
 

County Durham Joint Health and Social Care Commissioning Strategy for People with Learning Disabilities 

Vision: For all people with a Learning Disability in County Durham to have a good life in their community with the right support from the right people at the right time. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aim 

What do we need to be good at? (Core deliverables) 

Improving understanding of health 

needs, causes of morbidity and 

preventable deaths 

 

Helping people access appropriate 

health and wellbeing services  

What will help us achieve our objectives? (Enabling factors) 

Commissioning 
 

Joint / Integrated commissioning between partners overseen by Strategy Implementation Group including working together to commission packages for people with very complex needs 

 

Communication 

 
A clear communication strategy outlining how needs are identified and how to access support if needed 

 

Partnership Working and Supporting Arrangements 

 
A range of workstreams to support delivery of objectives. Closer links with DWP and other stakeholders such as Durham Works, Employability Durham, Durham Employment and Skills, Adult Learning and Skills 

Work with stakeholders to explore barriers to opportunities and employment. 

Joint working with stakeholders with regard to people in the criminal justice system 
 
Work of other groups such as Learning Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) Programme 

 

4. Improve outcomes and quality of life 

Commissioners with the help of stakeholders will develop new ways to deliver services to achieve better outcomes and improve the lives of people 

with learning disabilities and their carers / families 

4.3 Ensure carers 

get the right level 

of support and 

breaks  

 

4.4 Review current 

commissioned care and 

accommodation services and 

explore alternative models 

with a focus on improving 

outcomes, quality and safety 

 

Objectives 

4.1 Improve health and 

wellbeing by reducing health 

inequalities, improving 

healthy life expectancy and 

preventing illness and 

avoidable deaths 

 

Identifying future need and 

commissioning the right services 

 

Reducing voids and the range of 

fee rates in supported living 

 

Improving choice and value for 

money of short breaks 

 

 

4.2 Improve the 

quality of inpatient 

care 

 

Restricting use of 

seclusion, long term 

segregation and restraint 

 

Reducing length of stays 

with improved discharge 

planning 

Improving information and 

data on people with 

learning disabilities in the 

criminal justice system 

 

Ensuring that appropriate 

support is available 

 

 

4.5 Work with individuals, 

families and agencies to 

broaden the range of 

meaningful activities, 

opportunities and 

employment available 

4.6 Ensure there is 

specific support for 

people in police 

custody or the 

criminal justice 

system 

Improving engagement 

and co-production with 

carers. 

 

Developing responsive, 

flexible support, 

including short breaks 

 

 

Improving access to 

employment and training 

opportunities 

 

Developing an employment 

support pathway 

P
age 173



 

23 
 

County Durham Joint Health and Social Care Commissioning Strategy for People with Learning Disabilities 

Vision: For all people with a Learning Disability in County Durham to have a good life in their community with the right support from the right people at the right time. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

5. Deliver Transforming Care 

Commissioners will work with stakeholders to meet the vision and values agreed by County Durham’s Transforming Care Programme 

Board and deliver the Regional Community Model of Care in County Durham 

5.1 Ensure that people can live in their local area, even if they have complex needs that may present 

challenges by continuing to prioritise Transforming Care objectives 

 

Prioritising Transforming Care objectives and local delivery plans 

 

Improving community-based services, reducing the number of specialist learning disability in-patient beds 

 

Reducing the number of people inappropriately placed in hospital 

 

Developing services for people with very complex needs  

Partnership Arrangements 

 
Joint working between DCC and NHS services to identify suitable services in the community for people with complex needs 

 

Commissioning 

 
Joint commissioning between partners regarding discharge planning. 

 

Identifying and developing new services to meet the assessed needs  

 

Communication 

 
A clear communication strategy outlining how service needs are identified, services are developed and commissioned 

 

 

 

Aim 

Objectives 

What do we need to be good at? (Core deliverables) 

What will help us achieve our objectives? (Enabling factors) 

 

 

 

 

P
age 174



 
 
 

11 
  

 

Appendix 1 - Learning Disability Joint Commissioning Strategy 

Development and Implementation Group 

Name  Organisation Role 

Denise Elliott  Durham County Council Interim Head of Commissioning 

(Chair) 

Tricia Reed Durham County Council 

Tricia.reed@durham.gov.uk 

Strategic Commissioning Manager 

(Strategy development lead) 

Paul McAdam Durham County Council 

Paul.mcadam@durham.gov.uk 

 

Commissioning Policy and 

Planning Officer (Strategy 

development support and 

consultation/engagement lead) 

Suzanne Hawes Durham County Council PA  

Administrative Support 

Membership for specialist knowledge and strategy development support: 

Donna Owens NHS North Of England 

Commissioning Support Unit 

Partnership Strategic Manager - 

NHS Durham, Darlington and 

Teesside 

Mental Health and Learning 

Disability Partnership 

Tracy Joisce Durham County Council Strategic Manager, Operations 

(Learning Disability /Mental 

Health/Substance 

Misuse/Transitions) 

Judith Richardson Durham County Council Principal Support Officer 

Sian Gambles Durham County Council Transforming Care Transitions 

Officer 

 

Levi Buckley Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys 

NHS Foundation Trust 

Director of Operations - Durham 

and Darlington 

 

Carl Bashford Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys 

NHS Foundation Trust 

Head of Service 

Durham, Darlington and Teesside 

NHS Mental Health and Learning 

Disability Partnership 

Sheila Halpin Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS 

Foundation Trust 

 
Head of Adult Learning Disability 
Services (Durham and Darlington)  

 

Mark Smith Durham County Council Strategic Commissioning Manager- 

Children’s Services 

Paul Shadforth Durham County Council SEND and Inclusion Strategic 

Manager 

 

Michael Fleming Durham County Council Strategic Manager, Research and 

Public Health Intelligence 

Kirsty Roe Durham County Council Public Health Intelligence 
Specialist 
 

Andrew Gilmore Durham County Council Finance Manager- Adults and 

Health Services 

Louiza McIntosh Durham County Council Strategic Category Manager- 

Corporate Procurement 

Angela Harrington Durham County Council Strategy Team Leader – Adult and 

Health Services 

Mara Thompson Durham County Council Consultation and Prevention 

Officer- Co Durham Partnership 

Team 

 

Governance is through the County Durham Joint Commissioning Group and respective CCG 

and DCC management groups. 

The strategy group links to a learning disability provider and stakeholder forum and a 

consultation and engagement task group. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 175

mailto:Tricia.reed@durham.gov.uk
mailto:Paul.mcadam@durham.gov.uk


 

25 
 

Appendix 2 - National Policy Context 

 

a) General policy that applies to all citizens 

 

• The right to access public sector housing, consumer rights, welfare support, employment 
protection  

• The Human Rights Act 1998; the Equality Act 2010 and UN Convention on the Rights of 
Persons with Disabilities (anti-discrimination legislation) 

• Hate Crime legislation - disability hate incidents and disability hate crime (Criminal Justice 
Act 2003) state that any criminal offence can be a disability hate crime, if the offender 
targeted the victim because of their hostility or prejudice against disabled people 

 

b) Health, social care and education policy 

• People with learning disabilities are entitled to full access to mainstream healthcare, with 
reasonable adjustments being made as outlined in the NHS Long Term Plan, Improving 
Health and Lives; All Means All NHS targets) supported by Clinical Commissioning Group 
Improvement and Assessment Framework (Nov 2018) introduced by NHS England. This 
sets out a range of performance measures, including:  

o Reliance on specialist inpatient care for people with learning disabilities and / or 
autism; 

o Proportion of people with learning disabilities on the GP register receiving an annual 
health check; 

o Completeness of the GP learning disability register.  
 

• All social care policy underpins the delivery of learning disability support e.g. Children and 
Families Act; The Care Act (England); personalisation; Mental Capacity Act and Mental 
Health Act; and The Carers Action Plan 2018 – 2020, which builds on the National Carers 
Strategy. 
 

• Adult Social Care : Quality Matters  (July 2017) sets out a single view of quality and a 
commitment to improvement, an initiative which is co-led by partners from across the adult 
social care sector.  
 

• Your Data : Better Security, Better Choice, Better Care (July 2017) 
The commitments made by the Department of Health and its partners to ensure the health 
and social care system in England realises the full benefits of sharing data in a safe, secure 
and legal way.  

• Shaping the Future – Care Quality Commission’s Strategy for 2016 to 2021 – The strategy 
follows a series of consultations on Shaping the Future (March 2015) and Building on 
Strong Foundations (October 2015). CQC’s aim is to collaborate with local authorities and 
Clinical Commissioning Groups to deliver a more targeted and responsive approach to 
regulation, so more people receive high quality care.  
CQC’s role in protecting and promoting equality and human rights, including for people 
being cared for under the Mental Health Act or the Mental Capacity Act Deprivation of 
Liberty standards will also remain.  
 

• Children and Families Act 2014 introduced the Education, Health and Care (EHC) plan 
assessment process within the Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) 
provisions. As well as access to health and social care, children and young people with 
learning disabilities need access to education and there should be steps taken to address 
the labelling of people and focus on school performance which can be associated with 
exclusion. 

 

• The Preparation for Adulthood SEND Reforms (2014) focus on employment, independent 
living, community inclusion and health outcomes. 

 

• The Care Act 2014 states that wellbeing is the core outcome local authorities should be 
working towards and they have the duty to promote: 

o Control by the individual over their life; 
o Participation in work; 
o Suitability of living accommodation; 
o The individual’s contribution to society; 
o The individual’s views, wishes, feelings and beliefs; 
o The interests and wellbeing of family carers. 

 

• Personalisation (a whole system approach): 
o Mainstream and universal services, opportunities and activities; 
o Targeted support using self-directed approaches; 
o Choice and control, self-directed support; 
o Social / community capital. 
 

• Mental Capacity Act 2005 includes the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards: 
o Empowering people to make decisions for themselves wherever possible; 
o Protecting people who lack capacity, placing individuals at the heart of the decision-

making process; 
o Allowing people to plan ahead for a time in the future when they might lack the 

capacity. 
 
The Mental Capacity Act (Amendment) Bill 2017-19, not yet passed through Parliament at 
the time of writing, is a Bill to amend the 2005 Act in relation to procedures in accordance 
with which a person may be deprived of liberty where the person lacks capacity to consent, 
and for connected purposes (Liberty Protection Safeguards). 

 

• Mental Health Act 1983/2007 
o The Mental Capacity Act and the Mental Health Act are the main laws that govern 

admission to hospital. The Mental Health Act focuses on mental disorder and the 
definition includes learning disability but only where it is associated with very 
aggressive or risky behaviour or there is a significant additional mental health 
condition, which puts you or others at risk 

o A person may be detained for assessment (section 2) and treatment (section 3) or a 
person over 16 may agree to a voluntary admission if they have the mental capacity 
to consent and a psychiatrist agrees it is in their interests 

o If they lack capacity they can still be admitted to hospital as an informal patient under 
the Mental Capacity Act, if it is in their best interests, and through a DOLS if it is 
going to deprive them of their liberty. 

P
age 176



 

26 
 

c) Learning disability specific policy (England) 

 

• The NHS Long Term Plan (Jan 2019) 
This is a five year plan with a specific section (p 52) on the needs of people with learning 
disabilities and / or autism, which has a focus on improving understanding of needs; 
preventing deaths; improving health, diagnosis and access to specialist help; reducing 
inpatient care; raising standards within inpatient care and improving community care over 
the next five years. 
  

CCGs and local authorities must work together on: 
o Integrated Commissioning arrangements supported by Pooled Budget arrangements; 
o Integrated delivery through Community Multi-Disciplinary Learning Disability Teams; 

o Enhanced community capacity including services to support people who display 
behaviour that challenges, including those at risk of engaging in offending behaviour;  

o A reduction in specialist learning disability in-patient beds. 

 

Specific objectives in the Long Term Plan include: 

o Tackling the causes of morbidity and preventable deaths in people with learning 
disabilities and for autistic people; 

o Improving understanding of the needs of people with learning disabilities and autism, 
and work together to improve their health and wellbeing; 

o Reducing waiting times for specialist services (keyworker role for children and young 
people with learning disabilities, autism or both with the most complex needs); 

o Reducing the number of people in in-patient care and move more care to the community 
– (greater control of budgets locally and learning from New Care Models in tertiary 
mental health services, Personal Health Budgets where possible); 

o Increased investment in intensive, specialist, crisis and forensic community support and 
more personalised care in the community, closer to home including for children and 
young people; 

o Improving the quality of inpatient care to meet Learning Disability Improvement 
Standards - restricting use of seclusion, long term segregation and restraint particularly 
for children and young people and bringing down the length of time people stay; 12-
point discharge plan and reviewing policies for Community Treatment CTRs and 
CETRs. 

 

• NHS Improvement (July 2018) The Learning Disability Improvement Standards for 
NHS Trusts 
There are four standards, which include:  

o respecting and protecting rights; 
o inclusion and engagement; 
o workforce; 
o learning disability services standard (aimed solely at specialist mental health trusts 

providing care to people with learning disabilities, autism or both). 

 

• Department of Health and Social Care: The Government’s Mandate to the NHS (2018-
19) set an objective for the NHS to close the health gap between people with mental health 
problems, learning disabilities and autism and the population as a whole.  

 

• NHS England (2017) CCG improvement and assessment framework 2017/18; PQ 
HL443 [on Health Services: Learning Disability] 2015 

 
To support the Government’s mandate there are a range of performance metrics, including:  
o Reliance on specialist inpatient care for people with learning disabilities and / or autism;  
o Proportion of people with learning disabilities on the GP register receiving an annual 

health check;  
o Completeness of the GP learning disability register. 

 
The framework is intended to highlight variations and to allow rapid action to be taken when 
improvement is needed. 
 

• National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) 

There are a range of NICE publications on people with learning disabilities, including 
guidance, advice, NICE Pathways and quality standards. These can be found on the 
following link:/www.nice.org.uk/guidance/population-groups/people-with-learning-disabilities 

New guidelines include: 

o Care and support of people growing older with learning disabilities;  
o Children and young people with disabilities & severe complex needs: integrated health & 

social care support & service guidance;  
o Children and young people with severe complex needs: social care support;  
o Service model for people with learning disabilities and behaviour that challenges.  

 

• The Learning Disability Core Skills Education and Training Framework (July 2016)  
The aim of the framework is to support the development and delivery of learning disabilities 
education and training for health and care staff as in practice not all staff have the core 
skills and knowledge to care for, treat and support people with learning disabilities.  

 
The Framework sets out the necessary skills across three tiers.  
Tier 1:  knowledge for roles that require general awareness of learning disabilities;  
Health Education England (HEE) is currently producing eLearning materials to support Tier 
1 learning disability awareness training. This free online training will be available to all staff 
in 2019; 

Tier 2:  knowledge and skills for roles that will have some regular contact with people with 
learning disabilities;  
Tier 3: knowledge and skills for those providing care and support for people with learning 
disabilities.  

 

• National Learning Disability Mortality Review (LeDeR) Programme, NHS England 
(2015)/Department of Health (2013) Confidential Inquiry into the Premature Deaths of 
People with Learning Disabilities 

P
age 177

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/population-groups/people-with-learning-disabilities#panel-pathwayshttps://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/population-groups/people-with-learning-disabilities%23panel-pathways
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/population-groups/people-with-learning-disabilities#panel-pathwayshttps://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/population-groups/people-with-learning-disabilities%23panel-pathways
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/indevelopment/gid-qs10075
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/indevelopment/gid-ng10113
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/indevelopment/gid-ng10113
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/indevelopment/gid-ng10048
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/indevelopment/gid-qs10072


 

27 
 

The programme was led by the University of Bristol to review and learn from premature 
deaths of people with learning disabilities in order to improve care and support. Research 
has found that men with learning disabilities die on average 13 years sooner, and women 
with learning disabilities 20 years sooner, compared to those without learning disabilities. 
 
The second annual report and recommendations from the Learning Disabilities Mortality 
Review was published in May 2018 and accepted by the Government in September 2018. 
Recommendations include a public consultation on mandatory learning disability training for 
relevant staff by March 2019. 

 

• Transforming Care for People with Learning Disabilities (January 2015) and Building 
the Right Support, NHS England (October 2015) 
Nationally the Transforming Care Programme aims to reshape services for people with 
learning disabilities and/or autism with a mental health problem or challenging behaviour, to 
ensure that more services are provided in the community and closer to home, rather than in 
hospital settings. The programme arose as a result of Sir Stephen Bubb’s review of the 
Winterbourne View concordat following the exposure of systematic abuse of adults with 
learning disabilities at an independent hospital.  
 
The main principles are: 
o Personalised, safe and local services; 
o Transformed health and care services to improve the quality of care and outcomes; 
o Moving away from the use of long-stay, large-scale hospital services;  
o Ensuring more services are provided in the community and closer to home; 
o Change in attitudes and culture. 

 
CCGs and local authorities must work together on: 

• Integrated commissioning arrangements supported by Pooled Budget arrangements;  

• Integrated delivery through Community Multi-Disciplinary Learning Disability Teams; 

• Enhanced community capacity including services to support people who display 
behaviour that challenges, including those at risk of engaging in offending behaviour; 

• A reduction in specialist learning disability in-patient beds.  

 
Building the Right Support includes a national action plan to develop community services 
and close inpatient facilities for people with learning disabilities and / or autism, aiming to 
shift money from inpatient services to the community and reduce the use of inpatient beds 
by 35% - 50%. This target reduction is also set out in the Government’s Mandate to the 
NHS 2018-19. 
 
Although the national programme ended March 2019, the aims and objectives will require 

ongoing local commitment to plan and deliver services for this group of people. 

 

• No Voice unheard, no right ignored 2015 
Following a consultation for people with learning disabilities, autism and mental health 
conditions, the Government set a series of proposals to address the varying commissioning 
approaches and outcomes for people with learning disabilities. Plans include building on 
existing work, further legislative changes and more radical solutions to longer-term issues, 
as well as ongoing monitoring and review. 

 

• Valuing People (2001) updated by Valuing People Now (2009) – the principles were 
developed years ago but still provide the foundation for working with and for people with 
learning disabilities: 
o Involve people and families in all decision making about their lives (Nothing about us 

without us disability rights movement) – genuine person-centred practice; 
o Give people greater choice and control over where and how they live; 
o Support people into paid work; 
o Support to people to live lives as full and equal members of their communities; 
o Promote good health and equal access to health care; 
o Prepare people for adulthood with outcomes around employment, independent living, 

relationships and good health- with a ‘Local Offer’ and 0-25 Education, Health and Care 
Plans (The Children and Families Act); 

o Recognise the central role families have in people’s lives; 
o Apply all of above equally to people with the most complex needs, including people who 

challenge services (Transforming Care). 
 
 
Recent policy changes in the areas of employment, welfare, education and criminal justice: 
 

• Improving lives: the future of work, health and disability 2017 / Disability Confident 
Campaign 
The Government is committed to “making a step change in the life chances of people with 
learning difficulties, and learning disabilities”, recognising that people who have learning 
difficulties “have often not been well supported in employment”. The Government is taking a 
life course approach to increasing employment opportunities and encouraging employers to 
remove barriers and improve understanding of the needs of disabled people. 
Other initiatives include Access to Work and Work and Health Programme, which will 
replace the Work Programme and Work Choice Schemes. 
 

In June 2015, NHS England and NHS Employers launched the NHS Learning Disability 
Employment Programme which aimed to increase the employment within the NHS of 
people with learning disabilities. 

 
The Equality Act 2010 also places a duty on employers to make “reasonable adjustments” 
for their staff so that a disabled person is not at a substantial disadvantage compared to a 
non-disabled person. 

 
 

• Welfare and benefits 
People with learning disabilities may be entitled to a range of benefits including income-
replacement benefits, such as Employment and Support Allowance (ESA), or benefits to 
help with the extra costs of a disability, such as Disability Living Allowance (DLA) which is 
being replaced by Personal Independence Payment (PIP) for working-age adults. The 
means-tested version of Employment and Support Allowance – income-related ESA – is 
(together with other means-tested benefits and tax credits) being replaced by Universal 
Credit as a result of the Welfare Reform Act 2012. Campaigners have raised concerns 
about the impact of some aspects of welfare reform, particularly Universal Credit, on the 
most vulnerable members of society including those with learning disabilities. 

 

P
age 178

http://www.bristol.ac.uk/sps/leder/news/2018/leder-annual-report-2016-2017.html


 

28 
 

• Education 
o In addition to the Children and Families Act, the Special Educational Needs and 

Disability Code of Practice provides statutory guidance for organisations working with 
and supporting children and young people 0-25 years who have special educational 
needs or disabilities. Within Further and Higher Education, the needs of people with 
learning disabilities are also covered under the Equality Act. 

o Local authorities are required to publish a Local Offer, which sets out education, health 
and social care provision for children and young people with SEN or disabilities in the 
area. The offer must include:  
• the education and training provision available in FE and sixth form colleges, special 

post-16 institutions and other post-16 providers; and  
• services available to support young people in preparing for adulthood and 

independent living, including finding employment, obtaining accommodation and 
participating in society. 

 

• Criminal Justice 
The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (February 2016) recommends the full roll out 
of liaison and diversion services across England. This was following the Bradley Report in 
2009 and a follow up report in 2014, which reviewed how successfully offenders with 
mental health problems or learning disabilities were being diverted away from the criminal 
justice system to other services. 

 
 

Appendix 3 

Local context 

• In addition to the Council Plan and service plans (2016-2019) and the Sustainable 

Community Strategy for County Durham (2014-2030), some of the key areas of regional, 

sub-regional and local activity that have relevance for this commissioning strategy are:  

o County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016 to 2019; 

o Children and Families Plan 2016-2019; 

o Clinical Commissioning Group Commissioning Intentions DDES and North Durham 

CCGs 2018/19 updated July 2018; 

o The above are informed by the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment/Integrated Needs 

Assessment 

 

• Market Position Statement for Adult and Children’s Health and Social Care Services 
2019/21 (DCC) - the aim is to bring together information and analysis about the local 
market so that current and prospective providers understand the local context, what is likely 
to change and where opportunities might arise in the future. It will help providers to identify 
opportunities that they may tender for and develop their services to meet local need and 
demand. 

 

• Integration and the County Durham Integrated Community Care Partnership  
The vision for integrated care in County Durham is to bring together health, social care and 
voluntary organisations to achieve improved health and wellbeing for the people of County 
Durham through an Integrated Community Care Partnership (ICCP) arrangement.  

 

Organisations will work together to deliver joined up care under an agreed framework 
(Memorandum of Understanding). An Integrated Care Board will provide strategic 
leadership to the organisations working within the ICCP: DCC, the two CCGs, County 
Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) and Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys 
NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV).  

 
These organisations retain their own governance arrangements, but work as a network to 
improve flow and joined up care into Primary Care Home (PCH) and Team Around Patients 
(TAP). These approaches aim to reshape the way primary care services are delivered 
based on population needs, ensure a multi-disciplinary team approach and deliver 
comprehensive, personalised and consistent care for individuals. 

 
There are 13 Teams Around Patients (TAP) covering 69 GP practices. TAP utilise NHS 
community services, which provide a wide range of care, from supporting patients to 
managing long-term conditions, to treating those who are seriously ill with complex 
conditions, mostly in people’s homes or in community clinics or health centres.  

 

These integrated ways of working around primary care are supported by initiatives such as 
the GP Clinical Leadership model and a voluntary and community sector (VCS) Delivery 
Plan and the Advice in County Durham Partnership and referral route.  

 

• The Better Care Fund Plan (BCF) 2017-19  

The BCF Plan complements the approaches taken by the ICCP, Primary Care Home and 
Teams Around Patients.  It identifies how pooled funding will be used to enhance the range 
of community services the council commissions in conjunction with the NHS to achieve 
savings associated with preventing unnecessary hospital admissions. A Joint 
Commissioning Group is responsible for monitoring performance of the BCF programmes 
and projects. The BCF plan includes how additional monies (ACTiF) will be given to the 
local authority to meet social care needs, maintain provision in the provider market and 
alleviate pressure on the NHS. 

• Prevention  
The County Durham Partnership (CDP) has established a Prevention Steering Group and 
workstreams to develop a more proactive approach to prevention across the county 
including:  

 
o Building on Best Practice  

o Maximising Funding  

o Preventing Demand for Services  
 

In addition, mental health and suicide prevention have been chosen by the partners as an 
area of high priority for ‘prevention at scale’, work which is supported by the Local 
Government Authority. 

 

• North East and Cumbria Learning Disability Transformation Programme 
North East and Cumbria is one of five fast track sites selected because of high numbers of 
people with learning disabilities in hospital settings. Fast track areas have access to a share 
of a £8.2 million transformation fund to accelerate service redesign. An overarching North 

P
age 179

http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws


 

29 
 

East & Cumbria (NE&C) plan is supported by the 13 Local Authority plans to reduce the 
need for admission to hospital and improve community services for people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism with a mental health problem or challenging behaviour.  

 

• NHS Durham, Darlington and Teesside Mental Health and Learning Disability 
Partnership (formerly known as Accountable Care Partnership) for Health Funded 
Learning Disability Services  
A partnership is being developed between CCG’s in the region and Tees, Esk and Wear 
Valleys Foundation Trust for NHS funded learning disability services across the areas, 
aiming to enhance the quality of care packages and services, maximise and control spend 
and deliver the Transforming Care agenda.  

• Joint commissioning between DCC and CCGs (e.g. transport, public health and 
Transforming Care) and regional commissioning facilitated through the North East 
Association of Directors of Adult Services (ADASS) group and the national ADASS 
commissioning network.  
 

• Partnership work between commissioning, adult safeguarding and the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) in County Durham to ensure there is safe, effective and best quality 
service provision in the County; information sharing, quality assurance and provider 
development are key areas of focus. 

 

• County Durham Autism Strategy and action plan 2019-2021 – all-age strategy approved 
by the Health and Wellbeing Board and Cabinet in April 2019  

 

• County Durham Mental Health Strategy 2018-2020 - developed by the County Durham 
Mental Health Partnership Board. 

 

• Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Strategy (2019) and Joint 
Commissioning Plan 2017/18 (DCC/ND CCG/ DDES CCG) 

 

• County Durham Housing Strategy 2019 – developed to consider housing issues in the 
County and to provide a strategic framework to inform actions and investment to result in 
positive outcomes for housing related themes in the county.  

 

• Replacement of the Social Services Information Database (SSID)  
Separate system procurements have been undertaken for Adult and Health Services and 
Children and Young People’s Services to replace SSID with new social care information 
systems.  The new system for Adults and Health services is expected to be in place by 
summer 2020 and the anticipated improved data collation and analysis will benefit future 
commissioning 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 4   Links to information on examples of best practice  
(supplied by Peopletoo)  
 
Newcastle – KeyRing Network 
 
https://www.keyring.org/keyring-north-east/newcastle-networks  
  
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aw72fRA09f0&list=PLBKQgmAn7Fnjl0OcQKKeDz-
OW4FxEt8sp&index=5  
 
 
Lilyhill Gardens, East Ayrshire - Assisted Living Development  
http://www.innovationexchange.scot/eac-lilyhill-gardens.html 
  
Kent County Council - Increasing the use of Shared Lives  
https://local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/lga-learning-disability-s-d9a.pdf 
(See pages 20-21)  
 
 
Newcastle – ‘Virtual Cluster’ Model  
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IYPKxmT0wJo&index=8&list=PLBKQgmAn7Fnjl0OcQKKe
Dz-OW4FxEt8sp 
  
 
Nottingham City Council – ALT Support Advisor  
http://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/John_Bolton_Outcome_Based_Commissioning_Paper_Ap
ril_2015.pdf     (See page 15)  
 
https://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/_library/Nottingham_City_end_of_project_benefits_re
port_template.doc 
 
 
Lincolnshire County Council – Independence Development via ALT  
https://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/_library/Lincolnshire_End_of_project_benefits_report.
doc 
  
Cumbria – Reducing Waking Nights via ‘Just Checking’ Kit  
https://local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/lga-learning-disability-s-d9a.pdf 
  
Broom Lane, South Manchester – ALT supported, specialist residential scheme for 
young adults with LD and/or Autistic Spectrum Disorders  
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2015/mar/24/housing-technology-to-help-young-adults-
with-complex-needs-to-live-independently 
  
How do I? – App using Near Field Communication (NFC) technology to deliver 
instructional videos to young adults with LD  
https://www.nesta.org.uk/inclusive-technology-prize-finalists/how-do-i 
  
Amy Garvey House, London – Transition bedsits for 11 people, aged 18-25  
https://www.rbkc.gov.uk/kb5/rbkc/fis/service.page?id=uWCampyrh0I&familychannel=9  

P
age 180

https://www.keyring.org/keyring-north-east/newcastle-networks
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aw72fRA09f0&list=PLBKQgmAn7Fnjl0OcQKKeDz-OW4FxEt8sp&index=5
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aw72fRA09f0&list=PLBKQgmAn7Fnjl0OcQKKeDz-OW4FxEt8sp&index=5
http://www.innovationexchange.scot/eac-lilyhill-gardens.html
https://local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/lga-learning-disability-s-d9a.pdf
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IYPKxmT0wJo&index=8&list=PLBKQgmAn7Fnjl0OcQKKeDz-OW4FxEt8sp
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IYPKxmT0wJo&index=8&list=PLBKQgmAn7Fnjl0OcQKKeDz-OW4FxEt8sp
http://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/John_Bolton_Outcome_Based_Commissioning_Paper_April_2015.pdf
http://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/John_Bolton_Outcome_Based_Commissioning_Paper_April_2015.pdf
https://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/_library/Nottingham_City_end_of_project_benefits_report_template.doc
https://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/_library/Nottingham_City_end_of_project_benefits_report_template.doc
https://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/_library/Lincolnshire_End_of_project_benefits_report.doc
https://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/_library/Lincolnshire_End_of_project_benefits_report.doc
https://local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/lga-learning-disability-s-d9a.pdf
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2015/mar/24/housing-technology-to-help-young-adults-with-complex-needs-to-live-independently
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2015/mar/24/housing-technology-to-help-young-adults-with-complex-needs-to-live-independently
https://www.nesta.org.uk/inclusive-technology-prize-finalists/how-do-i
https://www.rbkc.gov.uk/kb5/rbkc/fis/service.page?id=uWCampyrh0I&familychannel=9


 

30 
 

  
Broom Lane, Manchester – 3-tiered supported living scheme for up to 18 people with a 
diagnosis of autism 
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2015/mar/24/housing-technology-to-help-young-adults-
with-complex-needs-to-live-independently 
  
Islington Council – Transitions flat for young people 
https://local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/winterbourne-view-joint-i-d45.pdf  
 
Newburn Street – Supported housing for adults with LD to support development of 
independence  
http://www.keyring.org/what-we-do/newburn-street  
 
Lewisham Heart n Soul's Allsorts – Creative workshops tailored for people with LD  
https://www.local.gov.uk/lewisham-councils-focus-high-quality-creative-and-arts-activities 
  
Leeds City Council – Setting up a social enterprise to provide care and support services 
for LD  
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/aspire-ba7.pdf 
  
Blackpool City Council – internships taking place within Blackpool Council, with a 
classroom based in council offices  
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Your-Council/Blackpool-Council-jobs/Project-Search/Project-
Search.aspx 
  
https://www.learningdisabilitytoday.co.uk/council-project-helps-youngsters-with-learning-
disabilities-get-in-to-work  
 
The National Grid’s ‘Let’s work together’ – employee-led Supported Internship 
programme for young people with LD aged 17- 25  
http://employabilityletsworktogether.com/ 
  
https://www.preparingforadulthood.org.uk/downloads/employment/employability---lets-work-
together.htm 
 
https://councilfordisabledchildren.org.uk/news-opinion/news/employability-lets-work-together 
  
Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead ‘Leading by Example’ – proactively 
targeting and approaching local employers  

https://www.base-uk.org/sites/default/files/%5buser-raw%5d/11-06/case_study_-
_ways_into_work_and_legoland.pdf 
 
 
 
 

Foxes Academy, Somerset - a special, state-funded school combining a diverse 
curriculum with use of community and realistic work environment  
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/620734/Foxes_2
0Academy_20-_20Good_20Practice_20Example.pdf 
  

North Ayrshire Council ‘Enterprising Minds’ – Supporting people with LD to set up their 
own enterprises  
http://www.innovationexchange.scot/nac-enterprising-minds.html 
  
South-West Gloucestershire – job coach for people with LD  
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215893/dh_1223
86.pdf   (pages 17-18)  
 
 
Nottinghamshire County Council – Issuing contracts which require increased levels of 
service user independence  
http://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/John_Bolton_Outcome_Based_Commissioning_Paper_Ap
ril_2015.pdf  
 

 
 
 

P
age 181

https://www.theguardian.com/society/2015/mar/24/housing-technology-to-help-young-adults-with-complex-needs-to-live-independently
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2015/mar/24/housing-technology-to-help-young-adults-with-complex-needs-to-live-independently
https://local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/winterbourne-view-joint-i-d45.pdf
http://www.keyring.org/what-we-do/newburn-street
https://www.local.gov.uk/lewisham-councils-focus-high-quality-creative-and-arts-activities
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/aspire-ba7.pdf
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Your-Council/Blackpool-Council-jobs/Project-Search/Project-Search.aspx
https://www.blackpool.gov.uk/Your-Council/Blackpool-Council-jobs/Project-Search/Project-Search.aspx
https://www.learningdisabilitytoday.co.uk/council-project-helps-youngsters-with-learning-disabilities-get-in-to-work
https://www.learningdisabilitytoday.co.uk/council-project-helps-youngsters-with-learning-disabilities-get-in-to-work
http://employabilityletsworktogether.com/
https://councilfordisabledchildren.org.uk/news-opinion/news/employability-lets-work-together
https://www.base-uk.org/sites/default/files/%5buser-raw%5d/11-06/case_study_-_ways_into_work_and_legoland.pdf
https://www.base-uk.org/sites/default/files/%5buser-raw%5d/11-06/case_study_-_ways_into_work_and_legoland.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/620734/Foxes_20Academy_20-_20Good_20Practice_20Example.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/620734/Foxes_20Academy_20-_20Good_20Practice_20Example.pdf
http://www.innovationexchange.scot/nac-enterprising-minds.html
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215893/dh_122386.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215893/dh_122386.pdf
http://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/John_Bolton_Outcome_Based_Commissioning_Paper_April_2015.pdf
http://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/John_Bolton_Outcome_Based_Commissioning_Paper_April_2015.pdf


 

31 
 

 

Governance for Learning Disability Commissioning Strategy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                             

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

County Durham Integrated Care Board 

Chair: Stewart Findlay 

 

 

Health & Wellbeing Board 

Chair: Cllr Lucy Hovvels  

Integrated Steering Group for Children 

Chair: Margaret Whellans / Alex Sinclair 

 

Clinical 

Commissioning 

Groups  

County Durham Partnership  

Durham Safeguarding 

Children Partnership 

Chair: Michael Banks 

 

Adults Wellbeing and 

Health / CYPS 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

Chairs: Cllr John Robinson 

/ Cllr Christine Potts 

Durham Insight  

Children & Families 

Partnership 

Chair: Margaret Whellans  

LD Commissioning Strategy Implementation Group 

Chair: Denise Elliott 

 

Employment Group 

Chair:  

Lee Alexander 

 

 

Stakeholder 

Engagement 

Chair: 

Paul McAdam 

 

Specialist Residential 

Care Group 

Chair: 

Judith Richardson 

 

Transforming Care 

Implementation Group 

Chair: 

Tricia Reed 

 

Complex Care Group 

Chair: 

Tricia Reed 

 

Joint Commissioning Group for Adults and Children 

  

Chair: Denise Elliott 

NHS 

Foundation 

Trusts  

 

Durham 

County 

Council  

 

Safeguarding Adults 

Board 

Chair: Lesley Jeavons 

 

Integrated Commissioning Group 

Chair: Jane Robinson / Stewart Findlay 

 

Transforming Care 

Service Developments 

Group 

Chair: 

Tricia Reed 

 

Other workstreams / 

task groups to be 

established 

 

 

Durham, Darlington 

and Teesside Mental 

Health and Learning 

Disability Partnership  

Chair: Nicola Bailey 

 

P
age 182



 

32 
 

With thanks to the following partner organisations 

 

      

         

P
age 183



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Joint Health and Social Care 

Commissioning Strategy for 

People with Learning 

Disabilities  

Health and Wellbeing Board

July 2019P
age 185



Purpose

• Joint Health and Social Care 

Commissioning Strategy for people with 

learning disabilities (adults and young 

people in transition aged 14+)

• Three year strategy 2019- 2021

VISION

For all people with a learning 

disability in County Durham to 

have a good life in their 

community with the right support 

from the right people at the 

right time

P
age 186



Key principles
• Co-production 

• Whole-life approach

• A focus on early help, timely intervention and 

prevention

• Promoting personalisation & progression

• Improving outcomes such as increased 

wellbeing, independence, employment, 

choice and control 

• Promoting resilience of individuals, 

communities and providers

P
age 187



Main Aims

• Joint commissioning between health 

and social care 

• Improve understanding of needs

• Improve understanding of service 

provision and develop the market to 

better meet needs 

• Improve outcomes and quality of life

• Deliver Transforming Care

(Supported by a number of objectives)

P
age 188



Action to Date

• Development of strategy

• Consultation – managers, stakeholders, 

service users, carers and public

• Finalisation of strategy

Next Steps 

• Multi-agency Strategy Implementation 

Group to oversee the implementation of 

the strategy

P
age 189



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

             

        

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

 30 July 2019 

 Better Care Fund  

Quarter 4 2018/19 Performance 

  

Report of Paul Copeland, Strategic Programme Manager: 
Integration, Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board 
with a summary of the Better Care Fund (BCF) Quarter 4 2018/19 
Performance metrics. 

Executive summary 

2 Performance against the BCF four key metrics and deliverables are 
measured against current targets and historical performance. 

3 BCF Q4 2018/19 revealed positive performance in two out of the four 
key metrics notably, the impact of Reablement/Rehabilitation on people 
aged 65 years+ who remained at home 91 days after discharge from 
hospital, and Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC) delayed days per 
100,000 adult population which continues to show a marked 
improvement against current targets and historical performance. 

4 Permanent admissions of older people aged 65 years + to 
residential/nursing care homes per 100,000 population did not meet the 
Q4 2018/19 target. Non-elective admissions did not achieve the Q4 
2018/19 target and were higher than the same period in 2017/18. 

Recommendation(s) 

5 The Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

a) note the content of this report; 

b) agree to receive further updates in relation. 

Background 

6 The BCF is a jointly agreed programme of service delivery to support 
health and social care projects which enable integration through a 
pooled budget arrangement. 

Page 191

Agenda Item 15



7 The BCF allocation for Durham in 2018/19 was £68.35m, which 
includes the improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) allocation to support 
adult social care, reduce pressure on the NHS and support the social 
care provider market.  

8 The BCF for 2017/19 was required to meet four conditions: 

• the BCF plan including the minimum contribution to the pooled 
fund must be ‘signed off’ by the Health and Wellbeing Board and 
by the constituent Local Authority and Clinical Commissioning 
Group/s (CCG); 

• the plan must demonstrate how the area will maintain in real 
terms, the level of spend on social care services from the 
minimum CCG contribution to funding in line with inflation; 

• that a specific proportion of the areas allocation is invested in 
NHS out of hospital community services, or retained pending 
release as part of a local risk share agreement; 

• all areas must implement the High Impact Change Model (HICM) 
for managing Transfers of Care to support system wide 
improvements in relation to transfers of care. 

National Metrics 

9 The BCF policy framework set out the national metrics for measuring 
performance and progress through the BCF programme and included 
the following: 

• Permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 years+) to 
residential/nursing care homes 

• Non-elective admissions 

• The percentage of older people (aged 65 years+) who remained 
at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into 
reablement/rehabilitation 

• Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC) delayed days 

Performance Metrics 

10 A traffic light system is used in the report, where ‘green’ indicates ‘on’ or 
‘better than target’, ‘amber’ which signals ‘within 2.0% of target’ and 
‘red’ which denotes ‘below target’ or ‘target not achieved’. 

 

Page 192



Permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 years+) to 
residential/nursing care homes per 100,000 population 

Indicator Historical 

Q4 
2017/18 

Actual 

Q4 
2018/19 

Target 

Q4 
2018/19 

Performance 
against 
target 

Permanent 
admissions of older 
people (aged 65 
years+) to 
residential/nursing 
care homes per 
100,000 population 

750.6 779.5 743.6  

 

11 The Q4 2018/19 rate of older people (aged 65 years+) permanently 
admitted into residential or nursing care homes per 100,000 population 
at 779.5 was above the target of 743.6 and higher than in the same 
period in 2017/18. 

12 The number of residential / nursing care home permanent admissions 
are subject to fluctuations. Annual admissions per 100,000 population 
range from a high of 820.9 in 2014/15 to a low of 736.3 in 2015/16. 
Further analysis indicates that the longer term trend remains fairly 
static. 

13 Permanent admissions remain a challenging target, the relatively 
narrow focus of this indicator omits to consider the age of admission, 
length of stay and the number of discharges from residential / nursing 
care homes. The average age of admissions to residential care is 
currently 86.5 years and 82.3 years for nursing care.  The number of 
discharges from residential and nursing care homes have consistently 
exceeded the number of admissions over the past four years by a total 
of 140. 

14 The costs of residential and nursing home care can best be represented 
by the number of bed days commissioned which accounts for the 
number of discharges and length of stay. In 2018/19 the number of bed 
days commissioned was 947,319, a decrease of 1.0% from 956,958 in 
2017/18. However, over a four year period the trend indicates a 
consistent reduction in bed days representing a decrease of 7.0% from 
a high of 1,018,618 in 2015/16 (includes full fee payers) 

15 Careful consideration is given to all potential permanent admissions to 
residential / nursing care homes in order to ensure that only those 

Page 193



people who cannot be safely managed within their own home are 
admitted.  

Non-Elective admissions/100,000 population (per 3 month period) 

Indicator Historical 

Q4 
2017/18 

Actual 

Q4 
2018/19 

Target 

Q4 
2018/19 

Performance 
against 
target 

Non-Elective 
admissions per 
100,000 population 
per (3 month period) 

3061 3180 3002.9  

 

16 The Q4 2018/19 outturn figure for non-elective admissions was 3180 
per 100,000 population against a target of 3002.9.  Non-elective 
performance was unsuccessful in meeting the target. 

17 There has been a positive and sustained reduction in bed days for 
patients aged 65+.  There was an increase in bed days for 65+ people 
over the winter period, as is seen every year, but this was lower than in 
previous winters.  This is a trend that had not been observed in previous 
years. 

18 Significant work has been undertaken to support patients in care homes 
with additional health and social care services. This support has been 
through digital initiatives like HealthCall, clinical staffing linked to care 
homes, training for care home staff, relationship building between 
H&SC staff and care homes etc.  There has been a marked reduction in 
admissions to hospital for people living in nursing/residential care 
homes which is the impact of all of the initiatives that have been put in 
place. 

19 These successes can be attributed to Teams Around Patients (TAPs) 
and integrated working across health and social care with a focus on 
avoiding admission and supporting discharge from hospital to help 
people return to independence. 

20 The CCG’s are working with County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust to benchmark and investigate and analyse the most 
common pathways and reasons for non-elective admissions.  The aim 
of this transformation work is to identify where a difference can be made 
in terms of admission avoidance, no delays during hospital treatment 
and then discharge and community/primary care management.   This 

Page 194



will be a rolling programme of work and updates will be provided as 
improvements are made. 

Percentage of older people (aged 65 years+) who were still at home 
91 days after discharge from hospital into 
reablement/rehabilitation 

Indicator Historical 

Q4 
2017/18 

Actual 

Q4 
2018/19 

Target 

Q4 
2018/19 

Performance 
against 
target 

Percentage of older 
people (aged 65 years+) 
who were still at home 
91 days after discharge 
from hospital into 
reablement/rehabilitation 

89.1 85.9 85.9  

 

21 Reablement/rehabilitation has continued to perform well in Q4 2018/19 
and remained on target with 85.9% of older people aged 65 years+ 
remaining at home following discharge from hospital. 

Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC) delayed days per 100,000 
population 

 Indicator Historical 

Q4 
2017/18 

Actual 

Q4 
2018/19 

Target 

Q4 
2018/19 

Performance 
against 
target 

Delayed days from 
hospital (DToC) per 
100,000 population (3 
month period) 

323 136 309  

 

22 Q4 2018/19 delayed days per 100,000 population has exceeded the 
target.  Activity and performance has excelled compared to the same 
period in 2017/18. 

23 In Q4 2018/2019 there were 578 total delayed days (equivalent to 6.49 
DToC beds). 

24 Key factors which have influenced positive DToC performance in 
Durham area: 

Page 195



• System Leadership 

• System Ownership 

• Process 

• Outcomes (for the patient) 

25 Between April 2018 – March 2019 Durham had the 4th lowest overall 
rate of delayed days per 100,000 in England. 

Contact: Paul Copeland Tel:  03000 265190 

  

Page 196



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Any legal implications concerning the BCF programme have been considered 

and addresses previously. 

Finance 

The BCF 2018/19 allocation for Durham was £68.35m, which includes the 

iBCF allocation to support adult social care. 

Consultation 

As required through the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The Equality Act 2010 requires the council to ensure that all decisions are 

reviewed for their potential to impact upon people. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

No requirement for a risk sharing agreement with the BCF. 

Procurement 

None. 

 

 

 

Page 197



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

            

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

 30 July 2019 

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

2016-19 Performance Report   

 

Report of Jenny Haworth, Head of Strategy, Transformation and 
Partnerships 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide the final performance report (Q4 2018/19) related to the 
priorities and outcomes in the County Durham Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 2016-19. 

Executive summary 

2 There are 86 PIs which have been updated since the last reporting 
period, Quarter 2 of 2018/19. 

3 Of these, 48 have an associated target: 

• 22 are achieving their target 

• 2 are within 2% of their target 

• 24 have failed to reach their target. 

4 38 are trackers: 

• 19 have improved compared to the last reporting period 

• Performance has deteriorated for 7 PIs compared to the previous 
reporting period 

• 5 are within 2% of the last reporting period 

• 7 are indicators with no polarity.  

5 Smoking at time of delivery has failed to reach its target and is well 
above the national average.  

6 The number of young people admitted to hospital as a result of self-
harm has seen a significant reduction.   

7 We are also performing well in regard to treating those with eating 
disorders; there are 4 indicators and they are all achieving their target. 

Page 199

Agenda Item 16



2 

 

Recommendations: 

8 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 

• Note the performance highlights and areas for improvement 
identified throughout this report. 

• Note the actions taking place to improve performance.  

• Note the performance against the 2017/18 and 2018/19 Quality 
Premium Indicators. 

 

  

Page 200



3 

 

Background 

9 During the life cycle of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 
2016-19, a 6-monthly performance report has been provided to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board. This report is structured around the six 
strategic objectives of the JHWS and provides a final update on 
progress made against the strategic actions and performance 
outcomes.  

10 Work is currently underway to develop a new Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2019-23 and a new performance management 
framework will be agreed to underpin this.  

11 The Performance Scorecard attached at Appendix 2 includes all of the 
performance indicators within the JHWS 2016-19.  

12 Due to the nature of the performance data being reported, there is 
significant variation in the time periods associated with each indicator. 
For example, several indicators have a time lag of over 12 months. This 
report includes the latest performance information available nationally, 
regionally and locally. 

13 The following rating system is used for performance indicators and is 
consistent with the rating system used by the County Durham 
Partnership: 

 
Performance Against 

Target 
Direction of Travel 

Performance Against 
Comparators 

Banding 

 

Target achieved or 
exceeded 

 

Improved / Same Better than comparator 
 

 

Performance within 2% 
of target 

 

Within 2% of previous 
performance 

Within 2% of 
comparator 

 

Performance more 
than 2% away from 

target 

Deteriorated by more 
than 2% 

More than 2% worse 
than comparator 

 

 

14 For the Clinical Commissioning Group Quality Premium Indicators, the 
rating system reflects that shown in the CCGs’ combined performance 
report.  

 
Performance Against Target Banding 

 

Target achieved or exceeded 
 

 

Data not available in the month of the CCG combined performance report 
to know target position 

 

Not achieving target  

Page 201



4 

 

Overview of Performance at Quarter 4, 2018/19 

15 There were seven actions within the JHWS 2016-19 Delivery Plan 
carried forward into Quarter 4 of 2018/19. Of these, two are behind 
target with a revised date of March 2021, one is complete and four are 
on target. 

16 The following sections of the report are structured by JHWS objective 
and provide updates about the following: 

• Status of delivery plan actions 

• Areas for improvement  

• Other areas for improvement, i.e. where performance has a 
significantly deteriorating trend and/or is significantly behind the 
national average 

• Highlights and achievements. 
 
 

Objective 1: Children and young people make healthy choices and 
have the best start in life 

 
17 There is one action carried forward into Quarter 4 of 2018/19, which is 

on target. 

Areas for improvement 

Smoking at time of delivery (SATOD) 

18 The percentage of mothers smoking at the time of delivery for 2018/19 
is 17.4% (852 out of 4,895 mothers), which has not achieved target and 
is above both the national and North East averages. 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

18.0% 

(2017/18) 

Percentage of 

mothers smoking 

at time of 

delivery 

17.4% 

(2018/19) 

[provisional] 

14.7% 

10.6% 

(2018/19) 

[provisional] 

15.5% 

(2018/19) 

[provisional] 

↓ 

 

19 SATOD ranges from 13.7% in North Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group (ND CCG) to 20.5% in Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Group (DDES CCG). DDES is the highest 
SATOD rate in the North East and 6th highest of all CCGs in England. 

20 A narrative change has been made away from the use of the term 
‘smoking in pregnancy’ and toward ‘tobacco dependency in pregnancy’. 
This is in line with a recommendation from the regional Local Maternity 

Page 202



5 

 

System (LMS). The Integrated Care System health strategy group has 
also become a chief officer level champion of reducing tobacco 
dependency in pregnancy.  

21 The ‘Yale’ group, which covers the central and southern integrated care 
partnerships, has identified reducing tobacco dependency in pregnancy 
as a key area for them to support the LMS and local delivery change. 
The Director of Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council is a 
member of this group. 

22 The County Durham Tobacco Dependency in Pregnancy steering group 
has produced a three-year plan, endorsed by the Integrated Steering 
Group for Children, with an ambition to reduce tobacco dependency in 
pregnancy to 6% or less by 2022. A place-based pilot is currently being 
discussed in Shildon to work alongside the local community to address 
smoking at the time of delivery rates within Shildon. A 12-month action 
plan is currently in development for this piece of work which will link into 
the countywide Tobacco Dependency in Pregnancy Plan.  

Other areas for improvement 

Breastfeeding 

23 Breastfeeding initiation falls to CDDFT, which is UNICEF Baby Friendly 
accredited and is due for reassessment in February 2021 - and will then 
hopefully be working towards Gold accreditation. 

24 Breastfeeding initiation is showing a slight improvement, increasing to 
57.8% from 57.7% for the same period last year. However, prevalence 
of breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks continues to fall. Both PIs remain well 
below the national average. 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

57.7% 

(2017/18) 

Breastfeeding 

initiation 

57.8%                

(2018/19) 
Tracker 

74.5% 

(2016/17) 

59% 

(2016/17) 
↑ 

29.0% 

(2017/18) 

Prevalence of 

breastfeeding at 6-8 

weeks from birth 

28.6% 

(2018/19) 
Tracker 

46.4% 

(2018/19) 

33.7% 

(2018/19) 
↓ 

 

25 In 2018/19, 1,441 infants were breastfed at 6-8 weeks. During this 
period, new marketing material was produced to increase sign-up to the 
Breastfeeding Friendly County Durham Scheme and an Infant Feeding 
Conference was held. This was to raise awareness of the benefits of 
breastfeeding amongst practitioners and other stakeholders. It also 

Page 203



6 

 

encouraged the sign up to support the Breastfeeding Call to Action 
which includes supporting mothers in their communities, supporting 
local businesses to be breastfeeding-friendly and addressing the social 
and cultural norms through education of children and young people. 

26 The number of businesses signed up to the Breastfeeding Friendly 
County Durham scheme has increased to 155 (by the end of June 
2019). Both Beamish Museum and East Durham College have received 
training and are now fully accredited.  

27 County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service and both of the 
County Durham CCG’s have now made contact with the Infant Feeding 
Practitioner and are currently in discussion for her to deliver 
training. The Fire and Rescue Service is keen to provide general 
education for its staff, as well as ensuring a more positive environment 
for staff returning to work following maternity leave. The service also 
wants to receive training so that it can share positive messages in 
relation to breastfeeding at partnership events, such as open days and 
public events. The Infant Feeding Practitioner is working with the Fire 
and Rescue Service to develop this. 

 
28 Discussions with both Asda and Sainsbury’s have been delayed. 

Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust is currently following up 
with key contacts to progress this.  

 
29 The Infant Feeding Conference held in June 2019 was attended by 

almost 200 practitioners and stakeholders. Information provided at the 
conference was well received and keynote speakers shared valuable 
information in relation to messages around infant behaviours.   

 
30 Durham County Council is currently progressing an audit of venues and 

contact points and a schedule of training is being delivered. 

Overweight / Obese children (aged 4-5) 

31 The percentage of children aged 4 to 5 classified as overweight or 
obese has continued to rise, increasing from 24.1% to 25% from 
Quarter 2 to Quarter 4 (2018/19). 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

24.3% 

(2015/16) 

Percentage of 

children aged 4-5 

classified as 

overweight or obese 

25.0% 

(2017/18) 
Tracker 

22.4% 

(2017/18) 

25.0% 

(2017/18) 
↑ 

 

Page 204



7 

 

32 The strategic review of the child healthy weight pathway found that the 
existing Family Initiative Supporting Children's Health (FISCH) model in 
County Durham fails to engage and retain families and the numbers of 
clients achieving or sustaining positive outcomes raises concerns 
around the impact of the programme. 

33 In March 2019, following this review and subsequent options appraisal, 
Public Health SMT agreed to introduce the HENRY1 approach within the 
re-procurement of the 0-25 service and introduce an integrated, locality-
based, children, young people and family focused physical activity offer 
within the context of the developing wellbeing model. 

Percentage of patients seen with face to face second contact within 9 
weeks of referral to CAMHS 

34 The breakdown for the two CCGs is: ND CCG reports for April 2018 to 
February 2019 is 75.76% and DDES 74.5% for the same period. 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

90.6% 

(2017/18) 

Percentage of 

patients seen with 

face to face second 

contact within 9 

weeks of referral to 

CAMHS 

75.8%  

(Apr 18-Feb 19) 
90% NA NA ↓ 

 

35 For ND CCG, in February, the percentage of patients with a second 
contact within nine weeks of referral achieved 64.86% which was 
attributable to 39 breaches: 

• 33 were due to capacity issues in the team and all were impacted 
by high demand for appointments.  

• 6 were attributable to data quality (where the patient has not yet 
been seen for a second appointment) and steps will be taken to 
correct PARIS.  

                                         
1 The Henry approach (Health, Exercise, Nutrition for the Really Young) is currently commissioned in 
around 35 local authority areas and has the strongest evidence base of any national healthy start 
initiative in the UK, with ‘statistically significant’ sustained changes reported in parenting, diet, physical 
activity, emotional wellbeing and lifestyle habits. 

Page 205



8 

 

36 For DDES CCG, the percentage of CAMHS patients with a second 
contact within 9 weeks of referral target was not achieved in February, 
reporting 77.95%, which was attributable to 29 breaches: 

• 23 were affected by capacity issues in the team. 

• 6 were attributable to data quality. 

37 Due to the under-performance throughout the year, the indicator is 
below the 90% threshold at 75.8%, however a month-on-month 
increase has been noted from October 2018. 

Performance highlights 

Eating Disorders 

38 Across both PIs for eating disorders, both ND and DDES CCGs are 
performing well above target. 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

73.9% 

(2017-

18) 

Proportion of eating 

disorder patients seen 

within 4 weeks of 

referral for NICE 

approved treatment 

(routine) (DDES) 

100% (YTD 

2018-19) 
75% NA NA ↑ 

Not 

available 

Proportion of eating 

disorder patients seen 

within 1 week of 

referral for NICE 

approved treatment 

(urgent) (DDES) 

100% (YTD 

2018-19) 
50% NA NA NA 

84.0% 

(2017-

18) 

Proportion of eating 

disorder patients seen 

within 4 weeks of 

referral for NICE 

approved treatment 

(routine) (ND) 

83.3% (YTD 

2018-19) 
75% NA NA ↓ 

100% 

(2017-

18)" 

Proportion of eating 

disorder patients seen 

within 1 week of 

referral for NICE 

approved treatment 

(urgent) (ND) 

100% (YTD 

2018-19) 
50% NA NA ↔ 

Page 206



9 

 

Young people aged 10-24 admitted to hospital as a result of self-harm  

39 As the table below indicates, there has been a considerable reduction in 
the number of 10 to 24-year olds admitted to hospital as a result of self-
harm. This measure is a rate per 100,000 and, as the 10 to 24-year old 
population of County Durham is circa 93,000, this is a considerable 
reduction in real terms as the count has reduced from 377 in 2016/17 to 
326 in 2017/18 (13.5% reduction). 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

400.8 

(2016/17) 

Young people aged 

10-24 admitted to 

hospital as a result of 

self-harm 

350.1 

(2017/18) 
Tracker 

421.2 

(2017/18) 

458.0 

(2017/18) 
↓ 

 

40 There has been a review of crisis services which aim to provide a 
swifter referral into CAMHS. Anecdotally, this has had a positive effect 
on reducing rates of self-harm. 

41 The trend line for this PI in County Durham shows a continued reduction 
since 2011/12: 

 

 

Objective 2: Reduce health inequalities and early deaths 

42 There are 3 actions carried forward into Quarter 4 of 2018/19, two are 
behind target and one is on target.  The outcome is to reduce mortality 
from cancers and circulatory diseases.   

 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Hospital Admissions as a Result of Self-Harm 10-24 
year olds)

Durham NE England Linear (Durham)

Page 207



10 

 

Areas for improvement 

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer 
within 62 days of an urgent GP referral for suspected cancer – DDES 
CCG 

43 DDES has failed to meet its target of 85% of patients receiving their first 
definitive treatment for cancer within 62 days of an urgent GP referral 
for suspected cancer. However, there is a small improvement on the 
same period last year. 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

79.7% 

(Oct-

Dec17) 

Percentage of patients 

receiving first 

definitive treatment for 

cancer within 62 days 

of an urgent GP 

referral for suspected 

cancer – DDES CCG 

80.7%  

(Oct-Dec 18) 
85.0% 

82.3% 

(2017/18) 
NA ↑ 

 
44 ND CCG has remained just above target at 85.6%.  

45 In February 2019, DDES CCG achieved 70.93% against the threshold 
of 85%. Urology (6), Lung (5), Head & Neck (3), Lower GI (3), Upper GI 
(2), Gynae (2), Skin (2) and Haematology (2) were the pathways 
affected. Health care provider-initiated delay (10) was the main reason, 
along with winter pressures, including diagnostic waits for PET scans 
and long waiters coming through in February. 

46 No CCG in the North East region achieved the 62-day target in 
February 2019.  

47 The following actions have been taken: 

• Two new permanent cancer navigators are now in post to join the 
one remaining member of staff. Staff continue to focus on lung 
and colorectal pathways, with flexibility to work across a number 
of pathways as and when required.  

• Cancer Alliance funding has been utilised to hold additional 
diagnostic sessions with local providers. 

• Weekly cancer Patient Tracking List (PTL) meetings have been 
revised within CDDFT. Detailed patient level discussions take 

Page 208



11 

 

place for those patients within 14 days of breaching the 62-day 
target. 

• The CCGs have been providing service improvement support to 
CDDFT cancer services from July 2018, following receipt of 
transformation funding from the Northern Cancer Alliance. 

Successful completion as a percentage of total number in drug 
treatment – opiates and non-opiates recorded  

48 Across both PIs (opiates and non-opiates) both targets were not met.  
Treatment for opiates has reduced from the same period last year and 
remains below both the national and North East averages. Treatment 
for non-opiates has improved on the same period last year and County 
Durham is performing well against the North East average but is a long 
way short of the national average. 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

6.0% 

(2017) 

Successful 

completions as a 

percentage of total 

number in drug 

treatment – Opiates 

5.1% (Oct17 – 

Sep18 

representations 

to Mar19) 

6.0% 
6.5% 

(2017) 

4.9% 

(2017) 
↓ 

25.7% 

(2016) 

Successful 

completions as a 

percentage of total 

number in drug 

treatment – Non-

Opiates 

28.3% (Oct17 - 

Sep18 

representations 

to Mar19)  

31.5% 
36.9% 

(2017) 

25.8% 

(2017) 
↑ 

 

Four-week smoking quitters 

49 Estimated smoking prevalence (persons aged 18 and over) has 
improved and for the first time is not significantly different to both 
national and regional averages. It is estimated that, in 2018, 
approximately 63,000 adults smoked, around 29,000 fewer than in 
2012.  

 

 

Page 209



12 

 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

3306.8 

[2497 

quitters] 

(2017/18) 

Four-week smoking 

quitters per 100,000 

18+ smoking 

population [Number of 

quitters] 

3063.1       

[2313 quitters] 

(2018/19) 

3311 

[2500 

quitters] 

NA NA ↓ 

 

50 Many residents stopped smoking with support from Stop Smoking 
Service (SSS) activities throughout 2018/19.  However, the rate of four-
week smoking quitters is relatively low for 2018/19 compared to the 
same period for the previous year.  This indicator has missed its target. 

51 Smoking causes 16 different types of cancer. Of the 6.7 million people 
who smoke in England, almost a third live in the North. This month has 
seen the launch of a mass media campaign, #Quit16, targeted at those 
living in the North East, North West and Yorkshire and the Humber.  
The link then directs users to Smoke Free Life County Durham. 

52 The latest data release (2018) from the Tobacco Control Profiles 
indicates that the Durham smoking prevalence figures (15.0%) are 
above the England average (14.4%), however, below the regional 
average (16.0%). 

53 Whilst there has been a continued reduction in smoking prevalence 
since 2011, this has slightly increased in Durham during 2018 (from 
14.3% in 2017).  

 

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

2 0 1 0 2 0 1 1 2 0 1 2 2 0 1 3 2 0 1 4 2 0 1 5 2 0 1 6 2 0 1 7 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9

SMOKING PREVALENCE

County Durham North East England

Page 210

http://www.quit16.co.uk/support-to-quit.php
https://www.smokefreelifecountydurham.co.uk/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/tobacco-control/data#page/4/gid/1938132885/pat/6/par/E12000001/ati/102/are/E06000047/iid/92443/age/168/sex/4


13 

 

54 Throughout 2018/19, SSS activities to reduce smoking included 
promoting services within GP practices for smokers with long-term 
conditions and carrying out targeted locality-based campaigns with 
partner organisations such as Fresh and Public Health England. 
Campaigns included Stoptober, encouraging smokers to quit for 31 
days in October; Quit 16, highlighting that smoking causes 16 types of 
cancer; Health Harms, focusing on the personal harm caused by 
smoking; and ‘No Smoking Day’, an annual health awareness day 
intended to help smokers quit.  

55 The Director of Primary Care for DDES CCG has been identified as the 
CCG lead for Tobacco Control. Fresh North East undertook a DDES 
CCG “Time-out” event and reiterated the messages around making 
every contact count in relation to smoking for general practice, 
promoting Ask, Advise and Act at every opportunity. The CCG is looking 
at streamlining the referral process from general practice to the SSS to 
make it easier for people to get the support they need to quit smoking. 
General practices supported National No Smoking Day in March and 
the Quit 16 Campaign. 

Performance highlights 

Number of eligible people who receive a health check 

56 As the data below indicates, uptake of the NHS Health Check has 
exceeded target and has increased from the same period last year.   

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

8432 

(2017/18) 

Number of eligible 

people who receive a 

health check 

9642 

(2018/19) 
9000 NA NA ↑ 

 

Cancer Treatment 

57 For both CCGs early treatment (within 31 days) for cancer is surpassing 
the target, however, ND CCG has seen a reduction of 2.4% which is 
statistically significant. 

 

 

Page 211



14 

 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

97.3% 

(Oct-

Dec17)" 

Percentage of patients 

receiving first definitive 

treatment for cancer 

within 31 days from 

diagnosis (decision to 

treat date) - DDES 

CCG 

98.0%               

(Oct-Dec18) 
96.0% 

97.5% 

(2017-

18) 

NA ↑ 

99.4% 

(Oct-

Dec17)" 

Percentage of patients 

receiving first definitive 

treatment for cancer 

within 31 days from 

diagnosis (decision to 

treat date) – ND CCG 

97.0%               

(Oct-Dec18) 
96.0% 

97.5% 

(2017-

18)" 

NA ↓ 

 

Quality Premium Indicators (QPI)  

Endocrine, Nutritional & Metabolic problems 

58 These local targets relate to patients with diabetes in each of the 
County Durham CCGs. 

59 The target has been missed for 17/18, with final achievement at 53.9% 
for DDES against a target of 70%. This was mirrored for ND CCG, with 
final achievement of 42.8% against the same target of 70%. 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator 

Latest 

Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

NA 

Endocrine, Nutritional & 

Metabolic problems (QPI) 

DDES - The percentage of 

patients newly diagnosed with 

diabetes in the preceding 1 

April -31 March who have 

been referred to a structured 

education programme within 

9 months after entry on to the 

diabetes register 

53.9% 

(2017/18) 
70% NA NA NA 

 

 

Page 212



15 

 

NA 

Endocrine, Nutritional & 

Metabolic problems (QPI) ND - 

The percentage of patients 

newly diagnosed with diabetes 

in the preceding 1 April -31 

March who have been referred 

to a structured education 

programme within 9 months 

after entry on to the diabetes 

register 

42.8% 

(2017/18) 
70% NA NA NA 

  

60 Despite repeated communications to practices and improved referral 
pathways, progress towards the target was slow. It became apparent in 
Q4 that there was a significant data quality issue relating to how 
practices were coding ‘new episodes of diabetes’. The impact of this 
was that practices have indeed been referring the majority of the newly 
diagnosed type 2 diabetics for structured education, however, this has 
not been picked up by existing local data-reporting mechanisms or the 
National Diabetes Audit, as these look only at the outcomes for a 
population defined as newly diagnosed on the clinical system.  

 

Objective 3: Improve the quality of life, independence and care and 
support for people with long term conditions 

61 There no actions carried forward into Quarter 4 of 2018/19. 

62 A separate report on the Better Care Fund (BCF) is being presented to 
the Health and Wellbeing Board on 30 July 2019, which includes an 
update on the BCF performance indicators.  

Areas for improvement 

Falls and injuries in the over 65s 

63 The performance measures in the JHWS scorecard are taken from the 
Public Health Outcomes Framework, which provides benchmarking with 
national and regional data. These indicators have a time lag of over 12 
months and show the trend over time. 

64 The number of falls has increased from the same period last year and is 
above both the national and North East averages. 

 

 

Page 213



16 

 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

2346 

(2016/17) 

Falls and injuries in 

the over 65s. (Age-

sex standardised rate 

of emergency 

hospital admissions 

for falls or falls 

injuries in persons 

aged 65 and over per 

100,000 population) 

2432             

(2017/18) 
Tracker 

2170 

(2017/18) 

2320 

(2017/18) 
↑ 

 

Hip fractures in the over 65s 

65 The number of hip fractures has also increased on the same period last 
year and again is above both the North East and national averages. 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

622 

(2016/17) 

Hip fractures in over 

65s. (Age-sex 

standardised rate of 

emergency 

admissions for 

fractured neck of 

femur in persons 

aged 65 and over per 

100,000 population) 

680              

(2017/18) 
Tracker 

578  

(2017/18) 

638 

(2017/18) 
↑ 

 
66 The local Falls Prevention Strategy 2018-21 includes actions from both 

a community and acute perspective, to reduce the number of falls and 
improve on performance. 

67 A report was presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 8 May 
2019, which provided an update on the significant work underway within 
the acute hospital sites to reduce the incidents of inpatient falls, as well 
as progress being made with regard to the Community Action Plan of 
the strategy. A positive impact on outcomes should be seen in the 
medium term. 

68 As part of the Teams Around Patients performance management, North 
of England Commissioning Support (NECS) collects local data based 

Page 214



17 

 

on a rate per 1,000 population (GP registered). The table below shows 
the latest local data for Q4 2018/19, provided by NECS. 

Indicator Actual - North 
Durham CCG / 

(Target) 

Actual - DDES 
CCG / (Target) 

Actual - County 
Durham / 
(Target) 

Rate per 1,000 population 
of emergency admissions 
for injury from a fall (65+ 
years) 

5.81 

(5.22) 

4.25 

(4.44) 

4.96 

(4.79) 

Rate per 1,000 population 
of emergency admissions 
for hip fractures (65+ years) 

1.51 

(1.55) 

1.52 

(1.69) 

1.51 

(1.63) 

 

NHS Continuing Health Care 

69 North Durham CCG failed to meet its target of less than 15% of 
assessments which took place in an acute hospital setting. 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

NA 

NHS Continuing Health 

Care (QPI) ND b) full 

NHS CHC 

assessments take 

place in an acute 

hospital setting (QPI)  

 

18.7% 

(Feb19) 

 

less than 

15.0% 
NA NA NA 

 
70 Assessment of eligibility for CHC should usually be deferred until an 

accurate assessment of future needs can be made, following post-acute 
recovery. To affect this accurate assessment, appropriate NHS funded 
post-acute recovery provision should be routinely available and used. 

71 An action plan was formulated, with a 15% target by March 2018. ND is 
running between 10 and 20% monthly, with a quarterly figure of just 
15%, so on target currently. Reduction is dependent on the discharge to 
assess work continuing, collaborative work with DCC and working 
closely with the discharge teams in hospital. 

 

 

 

Page 215



18 

 

Overall experience of making a GP appointment  

72 Both DDES and ND CCGs failed to meet their target of 85% for 
2017/18. This is part of a survey commissioned by NHS England and 
conducted by Ipsos Mori. 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

73.0% 

(2016/17) 

Overall experience 

of making a GP 

appointment (QPI) 

DDES 

70.6% 

(2017/18) 

85.0% or 3 

percentage 

points 

increase in 

July 2018 

68.6% 

(2017/18) 

70.4% 

(2017/18) 

(North 

East and 

Yorkshire) 

↓ 

76.0% 

(2016/17) 

Overall experience 

of making a GP 

appointment (QPI) 

ND 

72.2% 

(2017/18) 

85.0% or 3 

percentage 

points 

increase in 

July 2018 

68.6% 

(2017/18) 

70.4% 

(2017/18) 

(North 

East and 

Yorkshire) 

↓ 

 

Performance highlights 

Reducing Gram Negative Bloodstream Infections (GNBSIs) and 
inappropriate antibiotic prescribing in at risk groups  

73 Both DDES and ND reduced GNBSIs and inappropriate antibiotic 
prescribing, however DDES failed to reach its target. ND is performing 
well above target and has continued to reduce GNBSIs since recording 
began in 2015/16. 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator 

Latest 

Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

Baseline 

151 

(2015/16) 

Reducing Gram Negative 

Bloodstream Infections 

(GNBSIs) and 

inappropriate antibiotic 

prescribing in at risk 

groups a) reducing gram 

negative blood stream 

infections (BSI) across the 

whole health economy 

(QPI) ND 

128 

(Apr18-

Feb19) 

161 NA NA ↓ 

Page 216



19 

 

Baseline 

236 

(2015/16) 

Reducing Gram Negative 

Bloodstream Infections 

(GNBSIs) and 

inappropriate antibiotic 

prescribing in at risk 

groups a) reducing gram 

negative blood stream 

infections (BSI) across the 

whole health economy 

(QPI) DDES 

235 

10.0% 

reduction 

(or 

greater) 

NA NA ↓ 

 

74 ND has also reduced inappropriate antibiotic prescribing for UTI in 
primary care. 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

5,603 

bii) reduction of 

inappropriate antibiotic 

prescribing for urinary 

tract infections (UTI) in 

primary care - number 

of Trimethoprium items 

prescribed (QPI) ND 

3282 

(Apr18-Feb 

19) 

10% 

reduction 

(or 

greater) 

NA NA ↓ 

 

Objective 4: Improve Mental health and Wellbeing of the Population 

75 There are two actions carried forward into Quarter 4 of 2018/19; one is 
complete and the other is on target. 

Areas for improvement 

Gap between the employment rate for those with a long-term health 
condition and the overall employment rate 

76 Between October and December 2018, the gap between the overall 
employment rate and the rate for those with a long-term health condition 
has decreased, compared to the same period in 2017, however it is 
above both the national and North East averages.  

 

 

Page 217



20 

 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

21.3% pts      

(Oct-

Dec17) 

Gap between the 

employment rate for 

those with a long-

term health condition 

and the overall 

employment rate 

16.9% pts 

(Oct-Dec 

18) 

Tracker 

11.4%pts 

(Oct-

Dec18) 

14.3%pts 

(Oct-

Dec18)" 

↓ 

 
Performance highlight 

Hospital admissions as a result of self-harm 

77 Hospital admissions as a result of self-harm were 186.1 for 2017/18, 
which is down from 204.4 for 2016/17. Durham has performed better 
than the regional average and is just above the national average (within 
2%). 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

204.4 

(2016/17) 

Hospital admissions 

as a result of self-

harm. (Age-sex 

standardised rate of 

emergency hospital 

admissions for 

intentional self-harm 

per 100,000 

population) 

186.1 

(2017/18) 
Tracker 

185.5 

(2017/18) 

243.5 

(2017/18) 
↓ 

 

Objective 5: Protect vulnerable people from harm 

78 There is one action carried forward into Quarter 4 of 2018/19, which is 
on target. 

Areas for improvement 

Percentage of individuals who achieved their desired outcomes from the 
adult safeguarding process 

79 The Quarter 4 data for 2018/19 is a rolling year and for this period 1817 
out of 1910 people (94.8%) achieved their desired outcomes from the 
adult safeguarding process. This is a fall from the same period last year, 

Page 218



21 

 

when 1742 out of 1811 people (96.2%) achieved their desired 
outcomes. 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

96.2% 

(2017/18) 

Percentage of 

individuals who 

achieved their desired 

outcomes from the 

adult safeguarding 

process 

95.1% 

(2018/19) 
Tracker NA NA ↓ 

 
Performance highlight 

80 As at 31st March 2019 there were 431 children on a child protection 
plan, which equates to a rate of 42.9 per 10,000 population. This is 
below latest national and North East averages and a decrease from the 
same period in 2018. 

81 This is largely driven by a reduction in the number of CPP cases open 
for more than a year.  This indicates that CP children are receiving more 
timely responses. 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

49.7 (at 

31-Mar-

18) 

Number of children 

with a Child Protection 

Plan per 10,000 

population 

42.9 [Prov.]  

(at 31 Mar 

19) 

Tracker 

45.0 

(31 Mar 

2018) 

66.0   

(31 Mar 

2018) 

↓ 

 

Objective 6: Support people to die in the place of their choice with the 
care and support they need 

82 There are no actions carried forward into Quarter 4 of 2018/19 for 
objective 6. 

Performance highlight 

Deaths in Usual Place of Residence 

83 The proportion of deaths in the usual place of residence in both CCGs 
is above the national and regional averages. DDES GGC has reduced 
slightly from 52.1% to 50.2% for the period April to December 2017.  

Page 219



22 

 

Previous 

Data 
Indicator Latest Data 

Target 

2018/19 

National 

Average 

North 

East 

Average 

Direction 

of Travel 

52.1% 

(Apr17-

Dec17) 

Proportion of deaths in 

usual place of 

residence (DDES 

CCG) 

50.2% 

(Apr18-

Dec18) 

Tracker 

46.7% 

(Oct18-

Dec18) 

48.6% 

(Oct18-

Dec18) 

↓ 

51.7% 

(Apr17-

Dec17) 

Proportion of deaths in 

usual place of 

residence (North 

Durham CCG) 

51.8% 

(Apr18-

Dec18) 

Tracker 

46.7% 

(Oct18-

Dec18) 

48.6% 

(Oct18-

Dec18) 

↑ 

 

 

 

 

Contact: Stephen Tracey, Corporate Equality & Strategy Manager, 
Transformation and Partnerships 

 

 Tel:  03000 268029 

Email: Stephen.tracey@durham.gov.uk 

 

   

  

Page 220



23 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Performance management is crucial to ensure that key legal / statutory 

requirements are being discharged appropriately. 

Finance 

Performance management is a key activity in delivering efficiencies and value 

for money. 

Consultation 

The content of the performance management process was agreed with the 

Health and Wellbeing Board and was part of the consultation on the Joint 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS). 

A new JHWS 2019-23 is being developed for County Durham and 

consultation is underway with stakeholders.  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy includes actions which contribute to 

community safety priorities.  

Staffing 

Performance management is a key element of resource allocation. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

Effective performance management can help to highlight and manage key 

risks. 

Procurement 

None.  

Page 221



24 

 

Appendix 2:  Performance Scorecard 

 

This is provided as a separate document (pdf). 

 

Page 222



Indicator
Latest Data @ 

Q2

Latest Data @ 

Q4

2018/19

Target

Direction of 

Travel (same 

period 

previous year)

Data same 

period 

previous 

year

Next Data 

Refresh
National North East

Similar 

Councils

Breastfeeding initiation

57.8%

[CCG data 

combined]

(Jul-Sep 18)

57.8%                

(2018/19)
Tracker 

57.7%

(2017/18)

Q4

(Oct-Dec 19)

74.5%

(2016/17)

59%

(2016/17)
Not available

Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks from birth
29.6%

(Jul-Sep18)

28.6% 

(2018-19)
Tracker 

29.0%

(2017/18)

Q4

(Oct-Dec 19)

46.4%

(2018-19)

33.7%

(2018-19)

30.3%

(2015/16)

Percentage of children aged 4-5 classified as overweight or 

obese

24.1%

(2016/17)

25.0% 

(2017/18)
Tracker 

24.3%

(2015/16)

Q3  

(2018/19)

22.4%

(2017/18)

25.0%

(2017/18)
Not available

Percentage of children aged 10-11 classified as overweight 

or obese

37.7%

(2016/17)

37.1%            

(2017/18)
Tracker 

37.7%

(2016/17)

Q3  

(2018/19)

34.3%

(2017/18)

37.5%

(2017/18)
Not available

Percentage of patients seen with face to face second 

contact within 9 weeks of referral to CAMHS

86.8%

(Apr-Jun18)

75.8% 

(Apr18-Feb19)
90% 

90.6%

(2017/18)

Q3 

(Apr-Sep19)
Not available Not available Not available

Admission episodes for alcohol specific conditions - under 

18's (rate per 100,000)

56.2

(14/15-16/17)

53.1                          

(15/16-17/18)
Tracker 

56.2

(14/15-16/17)

Q1 19/20 

(16/17-18/19)

32.9

(15/16-17/18)

62.7

(15/16-17/18)
Not available

Percentage of exits from young person's substance misuse 

treatment that are planned discharges

91%

(Apr-Jun18)

82% 

(2018/19)
79% 

89%

(2017/18)

Q3 

(Apr-Sep18)

79%

(Apr-Jun18)
Not available Not available

Under 16 conception rate
5.4

(2016)

4.1

(2017)
Tracker 

5.4

(2016)

Q4 

(2017)

2.7

(2017)

4.2

(2017)

6.1

(2015)

Under 18 conception rate (rolling annual rates)
22.3

(Jul 16 - Jun17)

24.4

(Mar 2018)
Tracker 

25.9

(Mar 2016)

Q3 

(Jul-Sep 18)

17.3

(2018)

24.0

(2018)

28.6

(2015)

Percentage of mothers smoking at time of delivery
17.6%

(Jul-Sept 18)

17.4%                          

(2018/19)

[Provisional]

14.7% 
18.0%

(2017/18)

Q1 

(April-June 19)

10.6% 

(2018/19)

[Provisional]

15.5% 

(2018/19)

[Provisional]

Not available

Infant mortality rate
4.3

(2015-17)

4.3

(2015-17)
Tracker 

4.6

(2014-16)

Q3 2019/20

(2016-18)

3.9

(2015-17)

3.3

(2015-17)

3.7

(2012-14)
Emotional and behavioural health of Looked After 

Children [lower score is better]

16.0

(2016/17)

15.5             

(2017/18)
Tracker 

14.7

(2015/16)

Q3 

(2018/19)

14.2

(2017/18)

14.1

(2017/18)

14.0

(2017/18)

Young people aged 10-24 admitted to hospital as a result 

of self-harm

400.8

(2016/17)

350.1            

(2017/18)
Tracker 

400.8

(2016/17)
Mar-20

421.2

(2017/18)

458.0

(2017/18)
Not available

Proportion of five year old children free from dental decay
74.2%

(2016/17)

74.2%

(2016/17)
Tracker 

64.9%

(2014/15)
Tbc

76.7%

(2016/17)

76.1%

(2016/17)
Not available

Joint Health and Wellbeing Board Performance Scorecard: 2018/19 Q4

Key - Direction of Travel: Improved / Deteriorated Within 2.0% / Deteriorated more than 2.0%

Strategic Objective 1: Children and young people make healthy choices and have the best start in life

P
age 223



Proportion of eating disorder patients seen within 4 weeks 

of referral for NICE approved treatment (routine) (DDES)
Not available

100%

(YTD 2018-19)

75% 


73.9% 

(2017-18)
2019/20 Not available Not available Not available

Proportion of eating disorder patients seen within 1 week 

of referral for NICE approved treatment (urgent) (DDES)
Not available

100%

(YTD 2018-19)

50% 
N/A Not available 2019/20 Not available Not available Not available

Proportion of eating disorder patients seen within 4 weeks 

of referral for NICE approved treatment (routine) (ND)
Not available

83.3% 

(YTD 2018-19)

75% 


84.0% 

(2017-18)
2019/20 Not available Not available Not available

Proportion of eating disorder patients seen within 1 week 

of referral for NICE approved treatment (urgent) (ND)
Not available

100%

(YTD 2018-19)

50% 


100%

(2017-18)
2019/20 Not available Not available Not available

All cause mortality for persons aged under 75 years per 

100,000 population

385.87

(2015)

385.87

(2015)
Tracker 

407.1

(2014)

Q3 2019/20

(2016-18)

334.43

(2015)

397.2

(2015)
Not available

Mortality from all cardiovascular diseases  (including heart 

disease and stroke) for persons aged under 75 years per 

100,000 population

78.2

(2015-17)

78.2

(2015-17)
Tracker 

79.2

(2014-16)

Q3 2019/20

(2016-18)

72.5

(2015-17)

82.9

(2015-17)
Not available

Mortality from cancer for persons aged under 75 years per 

100,000 population

150.1

(2015-17)

150.1

(2015-17)
Tracker 

159.6

(2014-16)

Q3 2019/20

(2016-18)

134.6

(2015-17)

155.9

(2015-17)
Not available

Mortality from liver disease for persons aged under 75 

years per 100,000 population

26.1

(2015-17)

26.1

(2015-17)
Tracker 

22.6

(2014-16)

Q3 2019/20

(2016-18)

18.5

(2015-17)

25.2

(2015-17)
Not available

Mortality from respiratory disease for persons aged under 

75 years per 100,000 population

42.8

(2015-17)

42.8

(2015-17)
Tracker 

42

(2014-15)

Q3 2019/20

(2016-18)

34.3

(2015-17)

44.2

(2015-17)
Not available

Number of eligible people who receive a health check.  
4412               

(Apr-Sep18)

9642              

(2018-19)
9000 

8432

(2017-18)

Q3 

(Jul-Sep19)
Not available Not available Not available

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment 

for cancer within 31 days from diagnosis (decision to treat 

date) - DDES CCG 

99.2%

(Apr-Jun18)

98.0%              

 (Oct-Dec18)
96.0% 

97.3%

(Oct-Dec17)

Q2 2019/20

(Apr-Jun 19)

97.5%

(2017-18)
Not available Not available

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment 

for cancer within 31 days from diagnosis (decision to treat 

date) - North Durham CCG

98.6%

(Apr-Jun18)

97.0%               

(Oct-Dec18)
96.0% 

99.4%

(Oct-Dec17)

Q2 2019/20

(Apr-Jun 19)

97.5%

(2017-18)
Not available Not available

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment 

for cancer within 62 days of an urgent GP referral for 

suspected cancer - DDES CCG

85.0%

(Apr-Jun18)

80.7%               

(Oct-Dec18)
85.0% 

79.6% 

(Oct-Dec17)

Q2 2019/20

(Apr-Jun 19)

82.3%

(2017-18)
Not available Not available

Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment 

for cancer within 62 days of an urgent GP referral for 

suspected cancer - North Durham CCG

84.3%

(Apr-Jun18)

85.6%              

(Oct-Dec18)
85.0% 

87.5% 

(Oct-Dec17)

Q2 2019/20

(Apr-Jun 19)

82.3%

(2017-18)
Not available Not available

Cancer diagnosed at early stage (QPI)  - ND

2016/17

performance  data

released

Jan-18

to be assessed  Q4 

2018/19

47.6%

(2017)

4 percentage 

point 

improvement 

or >60.0%


49.9% 

(2016)

Q1 

(2018 -

date tbc)

52% 

(2017)
Not available Not available

Strategic Objective 2: Reduce health inequalities and early deaths

P
age 224



Cancer diagnosed at early stage (QPI)  - DDES

2016/17

performance  data

released

Jan-18

to be assessed  Q4 

2018/19

49.7%

(2017)

4 percentage 

point 

improvement 

or >60.0%


50.7% 

(2016)

Q1 

(2018 -

date tbc)

52% 

(2017)
Not available Not available

Male life expectancy at birth (years)
78

(2014-16)

78.3                         

(2015-17)
Tracker 

78.1

(2013-15)

Q4 

(2016-18)

79.6

(2015-17)

77.9

(2015-17)
Not available

Female life expectancy at birth (years)
81.3

(2014-16)

81.4                      

(2015-17)
Tracker 

81.2

(2013-15)

Q4 

(2016-18)

83.1

(2015-17)

81.6

(2015-17)
Not available

Successful completions as a percentage of total number in 

drug treatment - Opiates

5.2%

(Apr17 - Mar18 

representations to 

Sep 18)

5.1%

(Oct17 – Sep18 

representations to 

Mar19) 

6.0% 
6.0%

(2017)

Q3

(Sep 19)

6.5%

(2017)

4.9%

(2017)

Top Quartile: 

6.9% - 8.9%

Successful completions as a percentage of total number in 

drug treatment - Non Opiates

27.8%

(Apr17 - Mar18 

representations to 

Sep 18)

28.3%

(Oct17 - Sep18 

representations to 

Mar19) 

31.5% 
25.7%

(2016)

Q3 

(Sep 19)

36.9%

(2017)

25.8%

(2017)

Top Quartile: 

34.2% - 38.9%

Percentage of alcohol users that left alcohol treatment 

successfully who do not re-present to treatment within 6 

months

31.7%

(Apr17 - Mar18 

representations to 

Sep 18)

30.6%

(Oct17 - Sep18 

representations to 

Mar19)   

28.1% 
27.5%

(2016)

Q3 2019/20

(Jul-Sep19)

39.0%

(2017/18 

representation

s to Sep 18)

30.8%

(2016)

Top quartile: 

39.2% - 43.7%

Alcohol related admissions to hospital per 100,000 

population

177.95

[Prov]

(Apr-Jun17)

707

(2017-18)
Tracker 

754.84

(2016/17)

Q2 2019/20

(Jul-Sep 19)

632 

(2017/18)

862

(2017/18)
Not available

Four week smoking quitters per 100,000 18+ smoking 

population [Number of quitters]

736.3

[556 quitters]

(Apr-Jun18)

3063.1

 [2313 quitters] 

(2018/19)

3311

(2500 quitters) 

3306.8

[2497 quitters]

(2017/18)

Q3

(2019/20)
Not available Not available Not available

Estimated smoking prevalence of persons aged 18 and 

over

14.3%

(2017)

15.0%

(2018)
Tracker 

14.3%

(2017)

Q4 

(2019) 

14.4%

(2018)

16.0%

(2018)
Not available

Proportion of physically active adults
66.7%

(2016/17)

61.9% 

(2017/18)
Tracker 

63.2%

(2015/16)
2019/20

66.3%

(2017/18)

62.7%

(2017/18)
Not available

Excess weight in adults  (aged 18+) (Proportion of adults 

classified as overweight or obese)

67.7%

(2016/17)

66.7% 

(2017/18)
Tracker 

67.5%

(2015/16)
2019/20

62%

(2017/18)

66.5%

(2017/18)
Not available

The percentage of women in a population eligible for 

breast screening at a given point in time who were 

screened adequately within a specified period

78.6%

(2017)

77.8%            

(2018)
70.0% 

78.1%

(2016)

Q4 

(2018)

74.9%

(2018)

77.5%

(2018)
Not available

The percentage of women in a population eligible for 

cervical screening at a given point in time who were 

screened adequately within a specified period

76.4%

(2017)
75.9%           (2018) 80.0% 

76.9%

(2016)

Q4 

(2018)

71.4%

(2018)

74.2%

(2018)
Not available

The percentage of people eligible for bowel screening who 

were screened adequately within the previous 2½ years

61%

(2017)

61.1%            

(2018)            
60.0% 

60.9%

(2016)

Q4 

(2018)

59%

(2018)

60.4%

(2018)
Not available

Excess winter deaths
23.1%

(2014-17)

20.6%

(2016-17)
Tracker 

20.8%

(2015-16)

Q3 2019/20

(2015-18)

21.6%

(2016/17)

19.5%

(2016/17)
Not available

P
age 225



Percentage of people with learning disabilities that have a 

health check - DDES

46.7%

(2013/14)
Not available Tracker N/A Not available

Data release 

unknown

44.2%

(2013/14)

56.6%

(2013/14)
Not available

Percentage of people with learning disabilities that have a 

health check - ND

60.3%

(2013/14)
Not available Tracker N/A Not available

Data release 

unknown

44.2%

(2013/14)

56.6%

(2013/14)
Not available

Endocrine, Nutritional & Metabolic problems (QPI)  DDES

The percentage of patients newly diagnosed with diabetes 

in the preceding 1 April -31 March who have been 

referred to a structured education programme within 9 

months after entry on to the diabetes register

56.3%

(Mar 18)

53.9%

(2017/18)
70.0% N/A Not available Monthly Not available Not available Not available

Endocrine, Nutritional & Metabolic problems (QPI)  ND

The percentage of patients newly diagnosed with diabetes 

in the preceding 1 April -31 March who have been 

referred to a structured education programme within 9 

months after entry on to the diabetes register

42%

(Mar 18)

42.8%

(2017/18)
70.0% N/A Not available Monthly Not available Not available Not available

Prevalence of diabetes (recorded diabetes in the 

population registered with GP practices aged 17 and over)

7%

(2014/15)

7.6%        

(2017/18)    
Tracker 

7.6%

(2016/17)

Replaced see 

below

6.8% 

(2017/18)

7.2%

(2017/18)
Not available

Estimated diabetes diagnosis rate
85.9%

(Mar16-Feb17)

86.1%                 

(Mar17-Feb 18) 
Tracker 

83.4%

(Mar15-Feb16)
Tbc

78%

(Mar17-Feb18)

82.5%

(Mar17-Feb18)
Not available

Carer reported quality of life
8.4 

 (2016-17)

8.4

(2016-17)
Tracker 

8.7  

 (2014-15)

Q2 

(2019/20)

7.7 

(2016/17)

8.3

(2016/17)

7.9

(2016/17)

Overall satisfaction of carers with support and services 

they receive (Extremely/Very Satisfied) (BCF)

43.3%

(2016/17)

43.3% 

(2016/17)
46.0% - 54.0% 


54.4%

(2014-15)

Q2 

(2019/20)

41.2%

(2014/15 

National 

Survey)

49.3%

(2014/15 

National 

Survey)

45.7%

(2014/15 

National 

Survey)

The percentage of service users reporting that the help 

and support they receive has made their quality of life 

better

94.5%

(2016/17)

95.2%

(2017/18)
Tracker 

92.1%

(2015/16)

Q3 

(2018/19)

92.4%

(2016/17)

93.8%

(2016/17
Not reported

Proportion of people using social care who receive self-

directed support 

94.8%

(as at Jun 18)

95.5% 

(At Mar19)
Tracker 

94.5%

(At Mar 18)

Q3 

(as at 30 Sep-

19)

89.7%

(ASCOF 

2017/18)

97.2%

(ASCOF 

2017/18)

91.9%

(ASCOF 2016-

17)
Adults aged 65+ per 100,000 population admitted on a 

permanent basis in the year to residential or nursing care 

(BCF)

392.5

(Apr -Sep 18)

779.5

(2018/19)
726.2 

750.6

100,000

(2017/18)

Q4

(Apr- Dec 19)

585.6

(ASCOF 2017-

18)

794.5

(ASCOF 2017-

18)

683.5

(ASCOF 2016-

17)
Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at 

home 91 days after discharge from hospital into 

reablement/ rehabilitation services (BCF)

86.1%

[Prov]

(Jan-Jun18)

85.9% 

(2018/19)
85.9% 

89.1%

(2017/18)

Q3  

(Apr-Sep 19)

82.9%

(2017/18 - 

ASCOF)

83.9%

(2017/18 - 

ASCOF)

83.3%

(2016/17 - 

ASCOF)
Emergency readmissions within 30 days of discharge from 

hospital

12.4

(2011/12)

12.4

(2011/12)
Tracker 

12.1

(2010/11)

Data release 

date TBC

11.8

(2011/12)

12.7

(2011/12)
Not available

Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 

population

3.4

(Aug 18)

1.6 

(Mar 2019)
Tracker 

3.4

(Feb 2018)

Q3

(Dec 19)

9.1

(Mar 2019)

6.8

(Mar 2019)

9.6

(Mar 2019)

Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 

population (BCF)

378

(Apr-Jun 18)

136 

(Jan-Mar19)
309 

325

(Jan-Mar18)

Q3 

(Apr-Sep19)
Not available Not available Not available

Strategic Objective 3: Improve the quality of life, independence and care and support for people with long term conditions

P
age 226



Falls and injuries in the over 65s. (Age-sex standardised 

rate of emergency hospital admissions for falls or falls 

injuries in persons aged 65 and over per 100,000 

population)

2347

(2016/17)

2432             

(2017/18) 
Tracker 

2239

(2016/17)

Q1 

2019/20

(2018/19)

2170

(2017/18)

2320

(2017/18)
Not reported

Hip fractures in over 65s. (Age-sex standardised rate of 

emergency admissions for fractured neck of femur in 

persons aged 65 and over per 100,000 population)

622

(2016/17)

680              

(2017/18) 
Tracker 

622

(2016/17)

Q1 

2019/20

(2018/19)

575

(2016/17)

643

(2016/17)
Not reported

Proportion of people feeling supported to manage their 

condition

64.2%

(2016/17)

61.6% 

(2017/18)
Tracker 

64.2%

(2016/17)

Q3

(2019/20)

64%

(2016/17)

68.3%

(2015/16)
Not available

Non Elective admissions per 100,000 population (per 3 

month period) (BCF)

3,064

(Apr-Jun18)

3,180 

(Jan-Mar19)
3,003 

3,061 

(Jan-Mar18)

Q2 

(Apr-Sep18)
Not available Not available Not available

Type 1 A&E attendances (QPI) DDES 23,030
57,892 

(Apr18-Feb19)
74,098 N/A N/A Q3 2019/20 Not available Not available Not available

Non elective admissions with zero length of stay (QPI) 

DDES
4,143

10,056 

(Apr18-Feb19)
11,836 N/A N/A Q3 2019/20 Not available Not available Not available

Non elective admissions with length of stay of 1 day or 

more (QPI) DDES
8,162

21,135 

(Apr18-Feb19)
25,651 N/A N/A Q3 2019/20 Not available Not available Not available

Type 1 A&E attendances (QPI) ND 20,783
52,492 

(Apr18-Feb19)
72,154 N/A N/A Q3 2019/20 Not available Not available Not available

Non elective admissions with zero length of stay (QPI) ND 3,783
9,625

(Apr18-Feb19)
11,429 N/A N/A Q3 2019/20 Not available Not available Not available

B Non elective admissions with length of stay of 1 day or 

more (QPI) ND
6,014

15,480

(Apr18-Feb19)
19,065 N/A N/A Q3 2019/20 Not available Not available Not available

The number of people in receipt of Telecare 
2727

(At Jun18)

2672 

(2018/19)
Tracker 

2720

(2017/18)

Q3 

(At 30 Sep 19)
Not available Not available Not available

Number of residential/nursing care beds for people ages 

65 and over commissioned by Durham County Council

229,903

(Jul-Sep18)

913,829

(2018/19)
Tracker 

899,637

(2017/18)

Q4

(Oct-Dec19)
Not available Not available Not available

Reducing Gram Negative Bloodstream Infections (GNBSIs) 

and inappropriate antibiotic prescribing in at risk groups 

2017/18

a) reducing gram negative blood stream infections (BSI) 

across the whole health economy (QPI) DDES

251

(Apr17-Mar18)
235 

(Apr18-Feb19)

10.0% 

reduction (or 

greater)


Baseline

236

(2015/16)

Q3 

2019/20
Not available Not available Not available

bi) reduction of inappropriate antibiotic prescribing for 

urinary tract infections (UTI) in primary care - 

Trimethoprium:Nitrofuratoin prescribing ratio  (QPI) DDES

0.462

(Apr17-Mar18)

0.462

(Apr17-Mar18)

10% reduction 

(or greater)  1.842
Q3 

2019/20
Not available Not available Not available

P
age 227



bii) reduction of inappropriate antibiotic prescribing for 

urinary tract infections (UTI) in primary care  - number of 

Trimethoprium items prescribed (QPI) DDES

3978

(Apr17-Mar18)

3978

(Apr17-Mar18)

10% reduction 

(or greater)  8,600
Q3 

2019/20
Not available Not available Not available

c) sustained reduction of inappropriate prescribing in 

primary care (QPI) DDES

1.2868

(Apr17-Mar18)

1.2868

(Apr17-Mar18)

 value of 1.161 

items per STAR-

PU.
N/A Not available

Q3 

2019/20
Not available Not available Not available

Reducing Gram Negative Bloodstream Infections (GNBSIs) 

and inappropriate antibiotic prescribing in at risk groups 

a) reducing gram negative blood stream infections (BSI) 

across the whole health economy (QPI) ND

182

(Apr17-Mar18)

182

(Apr17-Mar18)

10.0% 

reduction (or 

greater)


Baseline

151

(2015/16)

Not available Not available Not available

bi) reduction of inappropriate antibiotic prescribing for 

urinary tract infections (UTI) in primary care - 

Trimethoprium:Nitrofuratoin prescribing ratio (QPI)  ND

0.584

(Apr17-Mar18)

0.584

(Apr17-Mar18)

10% reduction 

(or greater)  1.929 Not available Not available Not available

bii) reduction of inappropriate antibiotic prescribing for 

urinary tract infections (UTI) in primary care  - number of 

Trimethoprium items prescribed (QPI) ND

4024

(Apr17-Mar18)

4024

(Apr17-Mar18)

10% reduction 

(or greater)  7,204 Not available Not available Not available

c) sustained reduction of inappropriate prescribing in 

primary care (QPI ) ND

1.167

(Apr17-Mar18)

1.167

(Apr17-Mar18)

value of 1.161 

items per STAR-

PU.
N/A Not available Not available Not available Not available

Reducing Gram Negative Bloodstream Infections (GNBSIs) 

and inappropriate antibiotic prescribing in at risk groups 

2018/19

a) reducing gram negative blood stream infections (BSI) 

across the whole health economy (QPI) DDES

96

(July18)

235 

(Dec18)
236 

Baseline

151

(2015/16)

Not available Not available Not available

bii) reduction of inappropriate antibiotic prescribing for 

urinary tract infections (UTI) in primary care  - number of 

Trimethoprium items prescribed (QPI) DDES

3302

(Jun17-Jul18)

3041 

(Dec 18)

10% reduction 

(or greater)
N/A 6,689 Not available Not available Not available

ci) sustained reduction of inappropriate prescribing in 

primary care (QPI) DDES

1.278

(Jun17-Jul18)

1.252 

(Dec18)

<1.161 items 

per STAR-PU
N/A Not available Not available Not available Not available

cii) additional reduction in the number of antibiotics 

prescribed in primary care (QPI)  DDES

1.281

(May17-Jun18)

1.252 

(Dec18)

<0.965 items 

per STAR-PU
N/A Not available Not available Not available Not available

Reducing Gram Negative Bloodstream Infections (GNBSIs) 

and inappropriate antibiotic prescribing in at risk groups 

a) reducing gram negative blood stream infections (BSI) 

across the whole health economy (QPI) ND

63

(Jul18)

128

(Apr18-Feb19)
161 

Baseline

151

(2015/16)

Not available Not available Not available

bii) reduction of inappropriate antibiotic prescribing for 

urinary tract infections (UTI) in primary care  - number of 

Trimethoprium items prescribed (QPI) ND

3485

(Jun17-Jul18)

3282 

(Apr18-Feb 19)

10% reduction 

(or greater)  5,603 Not available Not available Not available

c) sustained reduction of inappropriate prescribing in 

primary care (QPI ) ND

1.165

(Jun17-Jul18)

1.138 

(Apr18-Feb19)

<1.161 items 

per STAR-PU
N/A Not available Not available Not available Not available

cii) Additional reduction in the number of antibiotic 

prescribed in primary care 

1.168

(May17-Jun18)

1.138 

(Apr18-Feb19)

<0.965 items 

per STAR-PU
N/A Not available Not available Not available Not available

NHS Continuing Health Care (QPI)  DDES

a) cases with a positive NHS CHC Checklist have an NHS 

CHC eligibility decision made by the CCG within 28 days 

from receipt of the Checklist (or other notification of 

potential eligibility)

93%

(as at 31 Mar 18)

80.0% 

(Feb19)

More than 

80.0% within 

28 days

N/A Not available Not available Not available Not available

NHS Continuing Health Care (QPI) DDES

b) full NHS CHC assessments take place in an acute 

hospital setting (QPI)  DDES

17%

(as at 31 Mar18)

11.6% 

(Feb19)

less than 

15.0%
N/A Not available Not available Not available Not available

P
age 228



NHS Continuing Health Care (QPI)  ND

a) cases with a positive NHS CHC Checklist have an NHS 

CHC eligibility decision made by the CCG within 28 days 

from receipt of the Checklist (or other notification of 

potential eligibility)

90%

(as at 31 Mar 18)

90.0%

(Feb19)

More than 

80.0% within 

28 days

N/A Not available Not available Not available Not available

NHS Continuing Health Care (QPI) ND

b) full NHS CHC assessments take place in an acute 

hospital setting (QPI)  ND

12%

(as at 31 Mar 18)

18.7%

 (Feb19)

less than 

15.0%
N/A Not available Not available Not available Not available

Overall experience of making a GP appointment  (QPI) 

DDES

Annual publication 

Aug 2019

70.6% 

(2017/18)

85.0% or 3 

percentage 

points 

increase in July 

2018


73.0%

(2016/17)

Q4 2019/20

(published July 

2019)

68.6% 

(2017/18)

70.4% 

(2017/18) 

(North East 

and Yorkshire)

Not available

Overall experience of making a GP appointment (QPI)  ND
Annual publication 

Aug 2019

72.2% 

(2017/18)

85.0% or 3 

percentage 

points 

increase in July 

2018


76.0%

(2016/17)

Q4 2019/20

(published July 

2019)

68.6% 

(2017/18)

70.4% 

(2017/18) 

(North East 

and Yorkshire)

Not available

Gap between the employment rate for those with a long 

term health condition and the overall employment rate

23% pts

(Jan-Mar18)

16.9% pts

(Oct-Dec 18)
Tracker 

21.3% pts

(Oct-Dec17)

Q3

(Jan-Mar19)

11.4%pts (Oct-

Dec18)

14.3%pts

(Oct-Dec18)
Not available

Suicide rate (deaths from suicide and injury of 

undetermined intent) per 100,000 population [number of 

suicides]

12

(2015-17)

[166]

12

(2015-17)

[166]

Tracker 

12.6

(2014-16)

[174]

Q3 

2019/20

9.6

(2015-17)

10.8

(2015-17)
Not reported

Hospital admissions as a result of self-harm. (Age-sex 

standardised rate of emergency hospital admissions for 

intentional self-harm per 100,000 population)

204.4

(2016/17)

186.1 

(2017/18)
Tracker 

204.4

(2016/17)

Q4 

(2018/19)

185.5

(2017/18)

243.5

(2017/18)
Not available

Excess under 75 mortality rate  in adults with serious 

mental illness per 100,000 population

451.7

(2014/15)

451.7

(2014/15)
Tracker 

485.4

(2013/14)

Data release 

date TBC

370

(2014/15)
Not reported Not reported

Percentage of people who use adult social care services 

who have as much social contact as they want with people 

they like

46.3%

(2017/18)

46.3%

(2017/18)
Tracker 

49.2%

(2016/17)

Q3 2019/20

(2018/19)

46.0%

 (2017/18)

49.8%

(2017/18)
Not available

Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia -

DDES CCG

75.6

(2014/15)

82.0

(2018)
Tracker 

81.4 

(2017)

Data release 

date TBC

67.5

(Mar 2018)

72.4 

(Mar 2018)
Not reported

Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia -

North Durham CCG

67.3

(2014/15)

68.2 

(2018)
Tracker 

67.6 

(2017)

Data release 

date TBC

67.5

(Mar 2018)

72.4 

(Mar 2018)
Not reported

Strategic Objective 4: Improve mental health and wellbeing of the population

P
age 229



Improve inequitable rates of access to Children & Young 

People’s Mental Health Services (QPI)  DDES

Part 1: Number of children and young people receiving 

treatment

51%

[3330]

(2017/18)

51%

[3330]

(2017/18)

14.0% increase 

based on 

2016/17 

baseline



2200

(2016/17)

[baseline]

Not available Not available Not available

Improve inequitable rates of access to Children & Young 

People’s Mental Health Services (QPI) DDES

Part 2: Children & Young People with diagnosable mental 

health condition receiving treatment

58%

(2017/18)

58%

(2017/18)

increase in 

activity to 

enable 32.0% 

of young 

people 

starting 

treatment



5714

(2016/17)

[baseline]

Not available Not available Not available

Improve inequitable rates of access to Children & Young 

People’s Mental Health Services (QPI)  ND

Part 1: Number of children and young people receiving 

treatment

38%

[2565]

(2017/18)

38%

[2565]

(2017/18)

14.0% increase 

based on 

2016/17 

baseline



1860

(2016/17)

[baseline]

Not available Not available Not available

Improve inequitable rates of access to Children & Young 

People’s Mental Health Services (QPI)  ND

Part 2: Children & Young People with diagnosable mental 

health condition receiving treatment

59%

(2017/18)

59%

(2017/18)

increase in 

activity to 

enable 32.0% 

of young 

people 

starting 

treatment



4372

(2016/7)

[baseline]

Not available Not available Not available

Percentage of repeat incidents of domestic violence 

(referrals to MARAC)

13%

(Apr-Sep18)

15.1%

(Jan-Mar19)

Less than 

25.0%
N/A

12.1%

(2017/18)
TBC

27%

(Jun16-Jul17)
Not available

28%

(Jun16-Jul17)

The proportion of people who use services who say that 

those services have made them feel safe and secure

89.3%

(2016/17)

90.9%

(2017-18)
Tracker 

91.4%

(2015/16)

Q3

(2018/19)

86.3%

(2017/18)

90.9%

(2017/18)

88.3%

[Unitary 

authorities]

(2017/18)

Number of children's assessments where risk factor of 

parental mental health is identified 

916

[Prov]

(2017/18)

1878 

(2018/19) 
Tracker 

916

[Prov]

(2017/18)

Q3 

[Final] 

(2018/19)

Not available Not available Not available

Number of children's assessments where risk factor of 

parental domestic violence is identified 

1282

[Prov]

(2017/18)

2318 

(2018/19) 
Tracker 

1282

[Prov]

(2017/18)

Q3 

[Final] 

(2018/19)

Not available Not available Not available

Number of children's assessments where risk factor of 

parental alcohol misuse is identified 

498

[Prov}

(2017/18)

905

(2018/19) 
Tracker 

498

[Prov}

(2017/18)

Q3 

[Final] 

(2018/19)

Not available Not available Not available

Number of children's assessments where risk factor of 

parental drug misuse is identified 

526

[Prov]

(2017/18)

1171

(2018/19) 
Tracker 

526

[Prov]

(2017/18)

Q3 

[Final] 

(2018/19)

Not available Not available Not available

Number of children with a Child Protection Plan per 

10,000 population

45.9

(at 30-Sep-18)

42.9

(at 31 Mar 19)
Tracker 

49.7

( at 31-Mar-

18)

Q3 2018/19

(at Jun-19)

45.0

(31 Mar 2018)

66.0

(31 Mar 2018)

50.0

(31 Mar 2018)

Percentage of individuals who achieved their desired 

outcomes from the adult safeguarding process

95.3%

(Apr-Sep18)

95.1% 

(2018/19)
Tracker 

96.2%

(2017/18)

Q3 

 (Sept-Dec19)
Not available Not available Not available

Strategic Objective 5: Protect vulnerable people from harm

Strategic Objective 6: Support people to die in the place of their choice with the care and support that they need

P
age 230



Proportion of deaths in usual place of residence (DDES 

CCG)

51.7%

(Jul17-Jun18)

50.2% 

(Apr18-Dec18)
Tracker 

 52.1% (Apr17-

Dec17)

Q4

(Jan19-Mar19)

46.7%

(Oct18-Dec18)

48.6%

(Oct18-Dec18)
Not available

Proportion of deaths in usual place of residence (North 

Durham CCG)

50.4%

(Jul17-Jun18)

51.8% 

(Apr18-Dec18)
Tracker 

51.7% (Apr17-

Dec17)

Q4

(Jan19-Mar19)

46.7%

(Oct18-Dec18)

48.6%

(Oct18-Dec18)
Not available

P
age 231



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Health and Wellbeing Board

30 July 2019

JHWS Q4 2018/19 

Escalation Areas

1

P
age 233



Escalation Areas and Strategic Objectives

Strategic Objective 1: Children and young people make healthy choices and have 

the best start in life

• Smoking at time of delivery

• Percentage of patients seen with face to face second contact within 9 weeks of referral 

to CAMHS

Objective 3: Improve the quality of life, independence and care and support for 

people with long term conditions

• Falls and injuries in the over 65s

• Hip fractures in the over 65s

Strategic Objective 4: Improve Mental Health and Wellbeing of the Population

• Gap between the employment rate for those with a long-term health condition and the 

overall employment rate

2

P
age 234



Percentage of mothers smoking at time of delivery

3

19.4

17.6 17.6 17.5 16.8
17.8

16.6

18.7

0

5

10

15

20

25

Q1
2017/18

Q2
2017/18

Q3
2017/18

Q4
2017/18

Q1
2018/19

Q2
2018/19

Q3
2018/19

Q4
2018/19

%

Quarter

Durham

North
East

Target

England
Annual Data for 
County Durham 
At year end 2017/18 
- 18%
At year end 2018/19 
- 17.4% (provisional)

P
age 235



Percentage of CAMHS patients seen with a second contact 
within 9 weeks of referral (monthly breakdown)

4

90

78

65

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

%

Month

Target

DDES

ND

P
age 236



5

Falls and injuries in the over 65s including hip fractures

P
age 237



7

Gap between the employment rate for those with a long term 
health condition and the overall employment rate 

56.9

49.1
52.3

50.4
53.1

50.5 49.4
51.3

54.7 54.3
58.4

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Oct-Dec
08

Oct-Dec
09

Oct-Dec
10

Oct-Dec
11

Oct-Dec
12

Oct-Dec
13

Oct-Dec
14

Oct-Dec
15

Oct-Dec
16

Oct-Dec
17

Oct-Dec
18

%
 

Period

LTHC Employment Rate Durham

LTHC Employment Gap Durham

LTHC Employment Gap NE

LTHC Employment Gap England

P
age 238



8

Questions and Comments?

P
age 239



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

             

       
 Health and Wellbeing Board 

 30 July 2019 

 Healthwatch County Durham  
Annual Report 2018/19 and  
Workplan 2019/20 
 

Report of Brian Jackson, Chair, Healthwatch County Durham 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of the report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board 
with the Healthwatch County Durham (HWCD) annual report 2018/19 
and priorities for 2019/20 

Executive summary 

2 The annual report covers the highlights from 2018/19, how we set our 
priorities, how we’ve made a difference, how we have helped people to 
find the answers they need, how our volunteers help us and, our priorities 
for next year. 
  

3 Feedback was provided by 1681 people on the services they use and 
304 people contacted us for information and signposting.  We carried out 
10 Enter and View visits to GP practices and hospital wards and 
delivered 24 engagement events. A total of 22 volunteers gave 275 days 
of their time, which is equivalent to more than a full time member of staff.   

 
4 The annual report was published on our website on 30 June 2018 and 

shared with Healthwatch England, the Care Quality Commission, NHS 
England, Clinical Commissioning Groups, Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and Durham County Council.  

 
Recommendation(s) 
 
5 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are requested to receive the 

recommendations outlined in Healthwatch County Durham annual report. 
 

 

 

 

Page 241

Agenda Item 17



Background 

6 Healthwatch County Durham is the consumer champion for health and 
social care and delivers an evidence based workplan agreed by an 
independent board. 

7 The workplan comprises our core functions of information and 
signposting, Enter and View visits and volunteering, public priorities and 
workplan requests that have been agreed by the Healthwatch County 
Durham board 

8 Healthwatch County Durham is hosted by the Pioneering Care 
Partnership, Citizen’s Advice County Durham and Durham Community 
Action. 

Key events over the last year 

9 In June 2018 we were awarded the County Durham Young Carers 
Charter in recognition of our efforts to include young carers in our work 

10 Two of our projects were recognised at the national Healthwatch 
England Awards.  Our project to make it easier for people to find quality 
information on case homes won the #ItStartsWithYou award and our 
work to help vulnerable women on health screening and safeguarding 
was highly commended in the ‘helping people have their say’ category 

11 We published our meaningful engagement statement this year, to make 
sure our definition is absolutely clear, about what it means to engage 
with Healthwatch, and the public, in a meaningful way 

12 We hosted a successful cancer screening stakeholder meeting in 
August where we shared recommendations from our cancer screening 
engagement last year with the people who can influence change.  
Several commitments were made  

13 Our recommendations from last year are being used by the newly 
established Community Pharmacy Awareness Group, set up by the 
LPC and Public Health 

Choosing our priorities 

14 We held a public vote to ask people to choose the health and social 
care services they would like us to look at.  This was advertised in 
Durham County News, meaning every household got the chance to vote 
and promoted by our volunteers and local groups, including young 
parents, young carers, cancer patents and Alzheimer’s Society.  

15 More than 600 households took part and the services they chose were; 
mental health, GP appointment systems, dementia services and 
transitions from children’s to adult services  

Page 242



16 The board accepted workplan requests to deliver independent 
engagement for public bodies including; changes to vascular services, 
Enter and View visits for CDDFT Quality Improvement Board, care 
navigation and supported living for people with learning disabilities  

Delivering the workplan 

17 We spoke to over 500 people about their experiences of GP 
appointment systems producing a checklist for GPs to consider which 
has been endorsed by the CCGs and shared with all practices  

18 We spoke to over 350 staff and services users about mental health 
services using anonymous questionnaires, detailed 121 case studies 
and ‘what one thing’ comments cards at drop ins. We have worked with 
TEWV throughout who have welcomed the recommendations and have 
shared with the Mental Health Strategic Partnership Board 

19 50 patients shared their views on dementia services which we have 
published and shared with partners including the Dementia Strategy 
Implementation Group  

20 Almost 100 young people and their families told us their experiences of 
transitions from children to adult services.  The recommendations have 
been welcomed by the Integrated Steering group for Children and 
Young People and a transitions working group has been established  

21 We were commissioned by NHSE to host six information and listening 
events on changes to vascular services and to produce an independent 
report on over 250 returned patient surveys 

22 We visited nine supported living schemes and had 32 conversations 
with tenants. Nine staff members and eight family members also shared 
their views which we have shared with DCC 

23 We were asked by the CCGs to carry out an independent evaluation of 
care navigation, speaking to almost 500 patients and staff about their 
experiences.  The CCG have developed an action planned based on 
the findings 

24 We were asked by CDDFT Quality Improvement Board to carry out 
Enter and View visits in UHND and DMH as part of their patient 
experience improvement plans. We carried out six visits with 
Healthwatch Darlington and the reports have been shared throughout 
the trust with outcomes including a commitment to noise reduction at 
night  

25 In response to a successful pilot, we received requests to carry out 
Enter and View visits in six more GP surgeries.  The recommendations 
were well received and improvements already being made locally 

Page 243

http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/gp_appointments_report_2018.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/gp_appointments_report_2018.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/gp_appointments_report_2018.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/gp_appointments_report_2018.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/news/helping-gps-help-you
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/news/helping-gps-help-you
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/mental_health_services.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/mental_health_services.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/mental_health_services.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/mental_health_services.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/dementia_report.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/dementia_report.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/transitions_report.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/transitions_report.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/care_navigation_report.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/care_navigation_report.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/ev_executive_summary.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/ev_executive_summary.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/ev_executive_summary_0.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/ev_executive_summary_0.pdf


Our priorities for next year 

26 We will continue to work with partners to look at actions and outcomes 
from the work we have done on mental health, dementia, transitions 
and GP appointment systems, as requested by the public 
 

27 We always act on significant intelligence.  This year, when 22 members 
of the public contacted us with concerns about the reported closure of 
Ward 6 at BAGH we contacted CDDFT and as a result of letters and 
conversations agreed to support them with targeted patient engagement 
 

28 We will be part of a national project led by Healthwatch England, to 
gather to views of over 250 people on the NHS Long Term Plan 
 

29 We have agreed to carry out an independent review of telehealth in 
three pilot care homes 
 

30 We will roll out our Enter and View programme to more GP practices 
and to care homes 
 

31 We will work with young people on their use of pharmacy services 
 

32 We will support Public Health by engaging with people about flu 
immunisation to understand any barriers 

Conclusion 

33 This has been another busy year for Healthwatch County Durham and 
as ever we rely on partners in the Health and Wellbeing Board to 
consider the feedback we share with them from the public, patients, 
services users and carers and use their influence to make any 
improvements.   
 

Contact: Marianne Patterson Tel:  0191 3781037 
 Denise Rudkin Tel:  0191 3781037 
   

  

Page 244



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

All local Healthwatch are required to publish an annual report by 30 June each 
year and submit to Healthwatch England and local commissioners 

Finance 

Healthwatch County Durham is commissioned by Durham county Council and 
the finances managed by Pioneering Care Partnership, the contract holder 

Consultation 

Engagement and consultation is the core work of Healthwatch County Durham 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Healthwatch County Durham adheres to Pioneering Care Partnership’s 
equality and diversity policy and training 

Human Rights 

N/A 

Crime and Disorder 

N/A 

Staffing 

Healthwatch County Durham has 4.5 FTE staff 

Accommodation 

N/A 

Risk 

N/A 

Procurement 

The current contract runs to March 2020 

Page 245



This page is intentionally left blank



2018-19

Annual Report

Page 247



2Healthwatch County Durham

Page 248



3Healthwatch County Durham

Contents

Message from our Chair 4

About us 6

Highlights from our year 8

How we’ve made a difference 12

Helping you find the answers 23

Our volunteers 27

Our finances and plans for next year 30

Thank you 33

Contact us 34

Page 249



4Healthwatch County Durham

Message from
our Chair

These changes have included the 

reconfiguration of vascular services and the 

expansion of integrated care services. On a 

local level, there has also been the 

introduction of care navigation services to 

speed up the present GP appointment systems.

We have spoken with patients and members of 

the public from all over County Durham on 

issues ranging from dementia care, mental 

health services, pharmacy services, and young 

people’s transition to adult care.

We have shared recommendations for 

improvements - based on people’s experiences 

- with NHS England, the local clinical 

commissioning groups (CCGs) and County 

Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust, 

as well as with the Health and Wellbeing Board 

and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. In 

many cases our recommendations have been 

listened to, leading to real improvements in 

services for everyone - as you will see as you 

read this report.  

My thanks to all those services that have 

allowed us to visit and speak to patients and to 

those who have acted on our 

recommendations.

I would also like to thank all the board 

members, staff and volunteers at Healthwatch 

County Durham for their continued support. 

You can be sure we will be working just as 

hard next year to make sure your voice is 

heard!

“The County Durham Health and Wellbeing 

Board continue to have strong links with 

Healthwatch County Durham. Brian Jackson’s 

contributions at board meetings are valued 

as is the work undertaken by Healthwatch 

County Durham, which has allowed 

recommendations to be put forward that aim 

to improve services for local people.”

Councillor Lucy Hovvels, Chair of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board

It has been a year of significant change for health and social care services 

in County Durham. The entire Healthwatch County Durham team has 

worked hard to make sure both patients and the public have had a voice in 

these changes and I have been incredibly proud to see the difference our 

work has made.

Brian Jackson

Chair, Healthwatch County DurhamPage 250



Changes you want to see

5Healthwatch County Durham

Last year, 1,681 people spoke to us about their experiences of different 

areas of health and social care in County Durham. Here are just a few of 

the changes you told us you want to see.

+ GP practices to listen to our 

recommendations for improving appointment 

systems so they meet your needs.

+ Regular text or email updates that provide 

practical support and advice for patients 

using mental health services.

+ Specialist transition coordinators to be 

appointed to ensure continuity of care for 

young people moving to adult services.

+ Early referral to support services for people 

living with dementia so they have prompt 

help, support and advice.

Did you know...?
All our recommendations for service 

improvements and changes are based on what 

you tell us – and we don’t keep them to 

ourselves! We share all our findings and 

recommendations with:

+ Commissioners and services providers in 

County Durham who have the power to 

make services better.

+ Healthwatch England. 

+ Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspectors.

Page 251



6Healthwatch County Durham

About us

We are the independent champion for people using local health and social 

care services. We listen to what people like about services and what could 

be improved. We share their views with those with the power to make 

change happen. People can also speak to us to find information about 

health and social care services available locally. 

Our sole purpose is to help make care better for people.

As Chair of Healthwatch England, it’s my role to make 

sure your Healthwatch gets effective support and that 

national decisions are informed by what people are 

saying all over England.

If you were one of the 400,000 people who shared their 

experiences with us last year, I want to say a personal 

thank you. Without your views, Healthwatch wouldn’t be 

able to make a difference to health and social care 

services, both in your area and at a national level. One 

example of this is how we shared 85,000 views with the 

NHS, to highlight what matters most, and help shape its 

plans for the next decade.

If you’re part of an organisation that’s worked with, 

supported or responded to Healthwatch County Durham, 

thank you too. You’ve helped to make an even bigger 

difference.

None of this could have been possible without our 

dedicated staff and volunteers, who work in the 

community every day to understand what is working and 

what could be better when it comes to people’s health 

and care.

If you’ve shared your views with us then please keep 

doing what you’re doing. If you haven’t, then this is your 

chance to step forward and help us make care better for 

your community. We all have a stake in our NHS and 

social care services: we can all really make a difference 

in this way.

Healthwatch is here to make care better

Sir Robert Francis QC

Healthwatch England Chair

Page 252



7Healthwatch County Durham

Our purpose

To find out what matters to you and 

to help make sure your views shape 

the support you need.

Our approach

People’s views come first – especially 

those that find it hardest to be heard. 

We champion what matters to you and 

work with others to find solutions. We 

are independent and committed to 

making the biggest difference to you. 

+ Visiting services to see how they work. 

+ Running surveys and focus groups. 

+ Going out in the community and working 

with other organisations. 

Our main job is to raise people’s concerns with 

health and care decision-makers so that they 

can improve support across the country. The 

evidence we gather also helps us recommend 

how policy and practice can change for the 

better.

People are at the heart of everything we do

We play an important role bringing communities and services together. 

Everything we do is shaped by what people tell us. Our staff and 

volunteers identify what matters most to people by:

Our vision is simple

Health and care that works for you. People want health and social care 

support that works – helping them to stay well, get the best out of services 

and manage any conditions they face. 

Page 253



8Healthwatch County Durham

our year

Highlights from

Page 254



Find out about our resources and the way we have engaged and 

supported more people in 2018-19. Our resources:

9Healthwatch County Durham

1,681 people shared their health and 

social care stories with us.

We have 22 volunteers helping to carry 

out our work. In total, they gave up 2,061 

hours or 275 days of their time.

304 people accessed Healthwatch advice 

and information online or contacted us 

with questions about local support - 30% 

more than last year.

We carried out 10 Enter and View visits to 

different services to understand people’s 

experiences. We made 40 recommendations to 

improve services and promote patients’ needs.

We organised 32 of our own engagement events 

ranging on topics from care navigation to 

vascular services.

14% more people engaged with us through 

our website and social media than last year.

Page 255



10Healthwatch County Durham

We are proud to have been recognised for our work on a number of 

occasions this year, both locally and nationally.

Receiving recognition for our projects and research

In June 2018, we were awarded the County 

Durham Young Carers Charter in recognition of 

our efforts to include young carers in our work. 

We believe young carers deserve the same rights as any 

other child or young person and should have access to the 

same facilities, services and support.

We have a nominated member of staff who takes a lead 

on support for young carers and have worked closely with 

The Bridge Young Carers Service to ensure young carers 

have a say in the future of local health services. For 

example, young carers were included in our work on 

young people’s transition to adult services. 

As a result, Family Action has added a new commitment 

to the Schools Young Carers Charter to make sure 

teachers put in extra support for young carers who are 

transitioning between schools or from school to college.

Praised for giving young carers a 

voice

Our project to make it easier for people to find 

quality information about County Durham care 

homes won the #ItStartsWithYou award at the 

national event.

The #ItStartsWithYou award recognises an individual 

or group that has worked passionately to improve 

care in their community and it was our volunteer 

Tony Bentley who caught the judges' eyes. 

It was Tony's own experience of looking for a care 

home for his mother that originally inspired the 

project and he has spearheaded much of the work 

involved.

Our work with vulnerable women on the accessibility 

of health screening was also highly commended in 

the "Helping people have their say" category.

National awards success
We were thrilled when two of our projects to 

improve local health and social care were 

recognised at the Healthwatch England 

Awards in October 2018.

Denise Rudkin (L), Claire Cowell, and 
Julia Catherall (R) accepting the award

Philippa May (L) from Family Action 

presenting the Young Carers Charter 

to Denise Alexander 
Page 256



11Healthwatch County Durham

Opening up our 2018-19 priorities to public vote

We strive to ensure our work focuses on the services and issues that matter 

most to people in County Durham. So, we decided to hold a public vote to 

enable residents to choose the four main health and social care services 

we would look at in 2018-19 by rating six services in order of priority. 

More than 600 people took part in the vote, either online, by post or by speaking to one of our 

volunteers. We gathered contributions from a huge range of groups, including: young parents; young 

carers; residents supported by the Alzheimer’s Society and cancer patients.

Thank you to everyone who contributed their views and to our volunteers who spent many hours 

meeting people and collecting surveys. The four services that were selected to be the core of our 

work this year are shown below.

As well as our research in these four areas, a number of ongoing pieces of work also formed part of 

our work-plan for 2018-19:

+ Volunteering.

+ Information and signposting.

+ Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STPs).

+ Enter and View visits.

We also delivered meaningful engagement for a number of other organisations about services that 

are undergoing or facing change. These included vascular services and care navigation. 
Page 257



12Healthwatch County Durham

a difference

How we’ve made

Page 258



13Healthwatch County Durham

Transitioning from children’s to adult services

Young people’s transition from children’s services to adult health and 

social care was selected by residents of County Durham as one of the 

priority areas they wanted us to examine this year.

To find out how well transition processes are working we used a variety of methods to engage 

young people and their parents and carers. These included an online survey, face-to-face meetings, 

and consultations with relevant groups. We asked whether people felt supported through the 

transition process and if they believe the right services are actually available to support young 

people at this key time. 

Our findings showed that while there is support to ensure good transitional care this can be patchy 

and inconsistent – echoing the national picture. Unfortunately, a poor transition can have serious 

consequences for the young person, including: broken relationships with health and social care 

practitioners, disengagement with services, and deteriorating health (Watson, 2005; Singh, 2009).

We made a series of recommendations based on our findings (see below). These are underpinned by 

the NICE Quality Standard QS140 (2016), which covers the entire transition period. 

“We were grateful to receive 

the report from Healthwatch in 

relation to services for young 

people transitioning from 

children’s to adult services. It 

highlighted there is significant 

work for the Integrated 

Steering Group for Children to 

consider. As a result of this we 

have set up a sub group under 

the leadership of Martyn 

Stenton to move forward with 

this important area of work.”

Durham County Council 

Integrated Steering Group for 

Children 

+ Young people should be put at the centre of a well-

planned and integrated transition process to ensure they 

remain engaged with health and social care providers.

+ An integrated approach to commissioning services should 

be adopted jointly by children’s and adult services.

+ Children’s and adult health and social care services 

should plan transition together, to ensure the young 

person’s transition is personalised to meet their needs.

+ More information needs to be available and easily 

accessible – 100% of respondents felt it would be a good 

idea to have information about what to expect when a 

young person moves to adult services.

+ The young carers we talked to felt a website would be a 

better way to access information as leaflets can get lost.

Page 259



14Healthwatch County Durham

We have worked hard this year to improve people’s experiences of GP 

services, as it is clear this is a high priority for many living in the county. 

Working to improve GP services for everyone 

In particular, people have told us that not being able to access a timely 

GP appointment when they need it is a major concern for them. 

It is the subject our information and signposting team receives the highest number of calls about 

and has been raised repeatedly in all of our Enter and View visits to GP practices. It was also 

chosen by residents as one of the four priority areas of health and social care they wanted us to 

focus on this year. 

“The work of Healthwatch in County Durham 

is extremely valuable in helping the CCGs to 

understand the views of staff and 

patients. The work they have done on our 

care navigation system has helped us to 

influence the development of the next phase 

and we have welcomed their constructive and 

collaborative approach.

“We view Healthwatch as an important 

partner in helping us gather the information 

we need to improve services for patients in 

challenging times... I see Healthwatch as a 

vital part of informing commissioning.”

Joseph Chandy, Director of Commissioning, 

Strategy and Delivery (Primary Care), North 

Durham and Durham Dales, Easington and 

Sedgefield CCGs

In light of these concerns, we carried 

out extensive research with patients to 

help us develop a number of practical 

recommendations we could share with 

GPs for improving their services. 

We spoke to 539 people about GP 

appointment systems, including more 

than 100 conversations with patients 

during Enter and View visits at local GP 

surgeries. Our volunteers, and many 

local patient participation groups, did a 

great job in encouraging people in their 

communities to have a say.

We produced a report of our findings 

that highlighted examples of good 

practice and developed a simple 

checklist that GP practices could use to 

help them identify ways to improve 

patient experience.

Page 260

http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/news/helping-gps-help-you


15Healthwatch County Durham

The CCGs and local authority have welcomed our recommendations for improving GP services 

and have helped us to disseminate them to GPs. A letter, signed by the CCG Director of Quality 

and CCG Director of Nursing, has been sent to all GP practices advising them to use our checklist 

and recommending our Enter and View visits as a valuable way to gather independent patient 

feedback. We have also shared our insights with other strategic organisations, including the CCG 

Joint Quality Committee and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee GP review group.

As well as our work on appointment systems, we have continued our 

programme of Enter and View visits to GP practices. These are designed to 

gather information about what patients feel works in a service and what 

needs improving.

A summary of our findings and recommendations 

from our Enter and View visits this year was 

shared with all GP practices in the county. 

Improvements are already being seen by 

patients as a result of these recommendations, 

including:

+ A practice presenting their Enter and View 

report during their Care Quality Commission 

(CQC) inspection and improving their rating 

from “good” to “outstanding”.

+ A review of screens in one practice to make 

the reception more accessible.

+ Changes to car-parking bays at another 

practice to make it more accessible to people 

with disabilities.

+ A practice employing more nurse practitioners 

to reduce waiting times for appointments.

“We found the whole experience of 

Enter and View to be a positive one. 

Staff that were interviewed felt it 

was a very professional yet friendly 

and stress-free experience. 

“As a practice we found it a very 

useful source of independent 

feedback, which we presented at our 

recent CQC inspection, where we 

improved our rating from ‘good’ to 

‘outstanding’. I would strongly 

recommend Enter and View to all 

practices.”

Dr Jonathan Smith, Silverdale 

Family Practice

Enter and View

Our work this year to improve GP services has also included an independent evaluation of the 

new care navigation system introduced by local CCGs to address the challenges people have 

reported about getting an appointment. The CCGs asked us to carry out this work and we spoke 

to over 350 patients and 115 staff at nine GP surgeries about the new approach. The CCG has 

developed an action plan to address our recommendations based on this research, including 

offering grants for improvements to GP premises so they can provide greater confidentiality. 

We are delighted with the positive response that all our recommendations have received and 

hope GP practices will continue to use our checklist and Enter and View visits to improve their 

services in future, making it easier for patients to see the right health professional first time.

For more information:

Checklist for GP practices: www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/news/helping-gps-help-you

Care navigation report: 

www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/care_navigation_report.pdf

Care navigation

Page 261

http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/ev_executive_summary_0.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/care_navigation_report.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/news/helping-gps-help-you
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/care_navigation_report.pdf


16Healthwatch County Durham

Collaborating with mental health service users and providers 
to improve support in County Durham

Our project gathered views and experiences from more than 

300 mental health service users and professionals. People 

could contribute their thoughts via an online survey or one-

to-one conversations.

We held information stands at various venues around the 

county to make it as easy as possible for people to speak to 

us. These included the county’s two specialist mental health 

hospitals, Lanchester Road Hospital in Durham and West Park 

Hospital in Darlington. We also collected 13 detailed case 

studies from service users with the support of different  

mental health groups. 

Our recommendations to improve services based on the 

information we gathered from service users included: 

+ To consider implementing interim services to support 

patients while they are waiting for treatment.

+ To offer a regular text or email service for service users 

that provides practical support and advice.

+ To introduce a direct referral route to debt advice and/or 

advocacy services to help people manage the financial 

hardship that often accompanies mental health problems.

We are liaising closely with Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 

Foundation Trust to ensure our recommendations are 

delivered wherever possible for the benefit of everyone –

patients, carers, relatives and staff. We will continue to 

collate information on the experiences of mental health 

service users and to work with local support services to 

ensure those with poor mental health receive the right 

support and advice to improve their mental wellbeing.

We have spent a lot of time this year looking at how well mental health 

services are working in the county, after it was highlighted as a key 

priority for residents by our public vote. 

We strive to engage people from as wide a variety of backgrounds as possible in our research. On 

this project, we quickly realised our detailed survey was too challenging for some people with 

poor mental health to complete. We did not want to exclude their views, so to overcome this we 

adopted an approach of asking one simple question - What one thing could have improved 

your experiences of mental health services? - to make it easier for them to contribute.

“What one thing…?”

Page 262



17Healthwatch County Durham

As well as researching service user 

experiences, we also wanted to know how 

mental health professionals thought their 

work affected their own mental health. The 

majority of staff surveys were completed by 

NHS professionals (81%) but we also received 

responses from workers at mental health 

charities and independent organisations.

Some staff reported positive thoughts about 

mental health in the workplace, e.g. citing 

supportive teams and good teamwork. 

However, almost half of respondents felt 

mental health was not adequately supported 

with comments including: “needs more 

awareness and resources”, “there is stigma”, 

and “burnout from intense caseloads is a 

problem”.

Suggestions for improving support included: 

reducing caseloads, flexible working, and 

managers really listening to staff concerns.

We carried out 13 detailed case studies as 

part of this project, which are included in the 

final report (see below). Client X was one of 

those who contacted us. They told us about 

the difficulties they had encountered when 

moving between local authority areas and NHS 

Trusts as the criteria for support is not always 

the same across all areas.

Client X has complex mental health needs and 

has received support for a number of years. 

When they moved they had to wait for some 

of the services they required and worried 

their mental health would deteriorate so they 

would be unable to look after their young 

family. They felt they had to look for more 

support themselves to prevent this – and after 

we had met them we were able to help. 

We have been in contact with the client for 

over a year and have signposted and referred 

them to a number of agencies and offered 

practical advice and support. 

Each time we help someone we learn more 

about the long-term conditions people are 

living with, what services and support are  

available, and how people can access them. 

All of this information is then collated and 

used to make recommendations for how to 

improve services, while also enabling us to 

make our own service more effective.

Highlighting the experiences of mental health staff

From survey to signposting – how we have continued to help one of 

the contributors to our research

For more case studies: 

Full report: www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/mental_health_services.pdfPage 263

http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/mental_health_services.pdf


18Healthwatch County Durham

We want as many people as possible in County Durham to have their say 

on the services they use. However, with a population of more than half a 

million, and a team of only 4.5 staff, we can’t reach everybody on our 

own, even with 22 fantastic volunteers. So…

Making engagement more meaningful

…this year, as well as our direct engagement work, we have encouraged and supported other health 

and social care organisations to engage with patients and services users in a more meaningful way 

about service quality and improvement.

We shared our meaningful engagement statement with everyone we believe should be engaging 

with patients and service users and published it openly on our website. We wanted our partners to 

be absolutely clear about Healthwatch expectations for engaging with us and the local community 

in an effective manner.  

“We asked Healthwatch to use their 

skills and resources to undertake this 

patient engagement to help pinpoint 

areas where we’re getting things right 

and things they would like to see 

changed or improved. We’re delighted 

that, overall, the feedback was very 

positive. The engagement was also 

helpful in that it revealed some patients 

found it difficult to sleep at night due 

to noise on the wards, prompting us to 

initiate our Invest in Rest Charter. This 

commits us to ensuring wards offer a 

restful environment at night.”

Jason Cram, Associate Director of 

Nursing, County Durham and 

Darlington NHS Foundation Trust

As a result, several key organisations asked for our 

advice on carrying out meaningful engagement.

+ NHS England asked for our views on how best to 

speak to patients about changes to vascular 

services. We gave feedback on the letter and 

questionnaire it was planning to send to patients 

and hosted six information and listening events for 

the organisation. 290 people shared their views 

with us at these events and NHS England will be 

using our findings to make sure the new service 

model meets patients’ needs. 

+ The local foundation trust and CCGs invited us to 

help them gather patients’ perspectives on the 

proposals to close a ward at Bishop Auckland 

General Hospital. We already had a good working 

relationship with the trust after our programme of 

Enter and View ward visits at two hospitals with 

Healthwatch Darlington, so when our Chair 

contacted them about patients’ concerns they were 

keen to work with us to gather more information. 

+ Northern Cancer Alliance has been keen to learn 

more about our engagement model and has asked 

us to join its regional Public Involvement Forum, 

which has been set up to make sure patients are at 

the heart of all decisions. 

By using this collaborative approach - influencing how 

other organisations understand and implement 

engagement - we have been able to make sure many 

more people across the county have had a say on the 

future of services than we could have done alone. 

More on our Hospital Enter and View visits:

www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/ev_executive_summary.pdf

www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/news/improvements-being-made-wards-following-our-enter-

and-view-visitsPage 264

http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/news/making-engagement-more-meaningful
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/news/update-bishop-auckland-general-hospital-ward-6
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/ev_executive_summary.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/ev_executive_summary.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/news/improvements-being-made-wards-following-our-enter-and-view-visits


19Healthwatch County Durham

“We invited members of Healthwatch 

County Durham to speak at the 

Northern Cancer Alliance public 

involvement learning and sharing 

event in March 2019. This provided 

attendees with an opportunity to hear 

how the Healthwatch team had 

worked with their local community to 

understand the barriers to attending 

for cancer screening appointments. 

This excellent piece of work 

illustrated a best practice approach to 

engaging with local communities and 

the impact that this type of work can 

have on local services.”

Jo Mackintosh, Engagement and Co-

design Project Manager at Macmillan

Alongside our partnership work we have continued to provide 

opportunities for patients and public to share their views about services 

with us directly and to use these to influence those who provide them. 

Our key areas of focus this year were decided by public 

vote, to make sure they really fitted with people’s core 

concerns. The vote was advertised in Durham County 

News (which is delivered to every household), in social 

media, local press, and through voluntary sector 

partners, to make sure it reached the widest audience.

Over the year, we have tailored our engagement 

methods to reach different communities and enable 

them to have their say. 

+ We visited all the memory cafes and dementia friendly 

events in the county to enable 50 people living with 

dementia to have their say on dementia services. 

+ We spoke to almost 100 young people and their 

families at events and through partner agencies to 

highlight the challenges of transitioning from 

children’s to adult services.

+ We offered a range of ways for mental health service 

users to engage with us, recognising it might be 

especially difficult for them to share their 

experiences. These included detailed, one-to-one 

conversations which were included as case studies in 

our report online and paper surveys, and comment 

cards asking “What one thing would have made your 

experience better?” for people at hospital drop-ins 

who found it difficult to do more. 

+ We used an anonymous survey for mental health staff 

to talk about their own mental health. Altogether, 

more than 300 people shared their views of mental 

health services in the way that was best for them.

We have been pleased to see all of these views being 

listened to by the people who can make services better.  

We will continue to deliver meaningful engagement and 

to encourage others to do the same and hope it will soon 

become standard practice in County Durham.

“Their meaningful engagement 

statement has been helpful in the 

development of our refreshed 

primary care strategy and in our 

engagement plans for possible 

service changes.”

Joseph Chandy, Director of 

Commissioning, Strategy and 

Delivery (Primary Care), North 

Durham and Durham Dales, 

Easington and Sedgefield CCGs

For more information:

+ Meaningful engagement statement: 

www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/meaningful_engagement_statement

_september_2018.pdf

+ Our response to concerns for closing ward 6 at Bishop Auckland General Hospital:

www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/news/update-bishop-auckland-general-hospital-ward-6

Leading by example

Page 265

http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/news/speedy-referrals-vital-wellbeing-those-living-dementia
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/news/shining-light-transitions-services
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/mental_health_services.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/sites/default/files/meaningful_engagement_statement_september_2018.pdf
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/news/update-bishop-auckland-general-hospital-ward-6


20Healthwatch County Durham

Assessing access to dementia services and networks

Investigating access to dementia support services was another key area of 

focus for our team in 2018-19, following the public vote to set our priorities. 

Taking a lead from the priorities in the Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategic Plan 2018-21, we 

directed our efforts to finding out more about referrals to dementia support services, including:

+ Were referrals being made?

+ Were they timely?

+ Were there any significant variations across                                                                                                  

the county?

+ Could we identify and share any good                                                                                  

practice?

“Clearly the main issue to come out of 

this for future work is the need for 

speedy referral into support services and 

the role of the NHS in that process –

either GPs or clinics, etc. To see some 

focus on improvement there is not a 

surprise and, though we have done quite 

a lot of work on that already, we 

definitely need to make sure we keep 

the focus on it in future as a priority.”

Neil Jarvis, chair of the Dementia 

Strategy Implementation Group

We received 50 responses to our surveys. The 

majority of the people who completed the 

survey were happy with the way in which they 

had been referred into services.

Some of the key messages from patients were:

+ Early diagnosis is important – for a 

significant number of patients it had taken 

more than four weeks for a referral to 

relevant services.

+ Timely advice about, and referral to, 

support networks helped patients, carers 

and families through difficult and 

challenging times.

Good support networks

Over the engagement period we visited a 

number of excellent, well-attended support 

groups in the county. These included memory 

cafes, singing for the brain, and games for the 

brain. All the groups run by the Alzheimer’s 

Society are also supported by volunteers.

Making pharmacies more accessible

Our research last year into local 

pharmacy services is still having an 

impact. 

One of our recommendations, based on your 

experiences, was to make pharmacies more 

accessible – and the Local Pharmaceutical 

Committee (LPC), which represents all NHS 

pharmacy contractors in the area, took this on 

board. 

As part of the LPC’s response, Chief Officer 

Greg Burke visited Durham's Blind Life group to 

talk to members about the support available at 

pharmacies for people with visual impairments. 

These include a "talking label" that can tell 

people what is in their medication. 

A Community Pharmacy Awareness Group 

has also been set up by the LPC and Public 

Health in response to our finding that many 

people do not know about the full range of 

services pharmacies can provide.

We will continue to support the LPC 

during 2019-20 and are specifically looking 

at ways to engage with young people to 

find out more about their experience and 

knowledge of pharmacy services.
Page 266



21Healthwatch County Durham

Improving cancer screening 

for all

Our research into the barriers that 

stop people accessing cancer 

screening has continued to have an 

impact this year. In August 2018, 

representatives from key 

organisations, including NHS 

England and local NHS Trusts, came 

together with cancer survivors to 

consider our findings.

A lot of time was spent discussing our 

recommendations for improving screening 

programmes - all based on the feedback that 

members of the public gave us about their 

experiences of them.

It was great so many people were able to 

attend and several commitments were made by 

attendees to take forward our ideas for making 

screening more accessible (see right).

We were also pleased to learn our reports have 

been shared with the Cancer Services Manager 

at County Durham and Darlington NHS 

Foundation Trust and with the Cervical 

Screening Programme Board.

Some key outcomes from the meeting were:

+ A representative from NHS England agreed to 

check that information about when patients 

should expect to be called for screening 

(including age criteria) is included in invite 

letters and information leaflets so that 

patients are clear what the criteria is for 

each programme.

+ Clear messages on the importance of 

accessing all screening, regardless of other 

treatment or testing, will be reiterated by 

cancer specialist nurses to patients.

+ Weardale Practice is in the top ten nationally 

for cervical screening uptake and has been 

shared as an example of good practice on 

what should be done if patients do not 

attend their screening appointments.

+ Public Health are keen for screening 

promotion to take place throughout the year, 

not just during national campaigns, to build 

long-term consistent messages.

Delegates sharing ideas at our cancer screening stakeholder event
Page 267



Have your say

Share your ideas and experiences and help 

services hear what works, what doesn’t, and 

what you want from care in the future.

www.healthwatchlocal.co.uk

t: 03000 683 000

e: enquiries@healthwatchlocal.co.uk

22Healthwatch County Durham

Spreading the Healthwatch 

word with more accessible 

information

We are always striving to make sure 

our service is accessible and that 

our research engages people from 

all communities. 

With this in mind, we created an easy-read 

postcard for people with a learning disability or 

difficulty that outlines how we can help if they 

need advice about health and social care. 

The postcard is now being given to every new 

recipient of a care package in the county who 

has a learning disability or difficulty.

Our thanks to Paul James from Durham County 

Council, and staff and service users at the 

Options Project at the Pioneering Care Centre 

(above), for their help with this project.

Service users from the Options Project with the new postcard

Have your say

Share your ideas and experiences so service 

providers know what is working, what isn’t, and 

what you would like from care in the future.

w: www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk

t: 0800 304 7039

e: healthwatchcountydurham@pcp.uk.net

Did you know..?
The Accessible Information Standard (AIS) 

was introduced by the government in 

2016.

The standard aims to make sure people 

who have a disability, impairment or 

sensory loss are provided with 

information they can easily read or 

understand, and with whatever support 

they need to communicate easily with 

health and social care services. 

All organisations that offer NHS or adult 

social care must now follow the 

Accessible Information Standard by law. 

This includes doctors, dentists, hospitals 

and social workers.

(Source: www.mencap.org.uk)

Page 268

http://www.mencap.org.uk/


23Healthwatch County Durham

the answers

Helping you find

Page 269



24Healthwatch County Durham

Are you looking for advice?

Our information and signposting team can help if 

you have a question about a health or social 

care service or you need help to identify where 

you can access the right support. Please get in 

touch and don’t struggle on alone.

w: www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk

t: 0800 304 7039

e: healthwatchcountydurham@pcp.uk.net

What services do people want to know about?

People don’t always know how to get the information they need to make 

decisions about their own health and care. Healthwatch plays an important 

role in providing advice and pointing people in the right direction for the 

support they need.

Here are the most common things people ask us:

31% Emergency 
dental appointments

19% Lack of support

30% Complaint 

or concern

19% Register or 

attend GP, dentist 

or other service

Page 270



25Healthwatch County Durham

Another client who contacted us this year was 

having difficulty accessing the support they 

needed for their mental health needs. 

The client had been discharged from a long-term 

support programme and a re-referral to the 

service by their GP had been refused. They felt 

their mental health was declining as a result and 

that they needed continual support to maintain 

living independently, with which their GP agreed.

Our signposting team spoke with the client and 

agreed to refer to the specialist Rethink Mental 

Illness Advocacy Team, which has been able to 

support them to access the services they need to 

ensure their mental health continues to improve.

Helping you access the right 

support for you

There are many organisations 
providing care and support in 
County Durham but sometimes it 
can be difficult to know how to find 
the right one for you. Last year, we 
helped 304 people in the region 
access the advice and information 
they needed. 

If you need advice and information you can 
access our team in a number of ways, including:

+ Calling us on our Freephone number.

+ Sending us a text or email.

+ At community events.

+ Via social media, where we also post useful 
local information.

+ At networking meetings and focus groups.

Signposting you to the advice and information you need

Making you aware of your rights 

One of the clients who contacted us this year 

was worried they hadn’t been given a choice of 

hospital when they needed to see a consultant. 

We called the GP’s secretary who confirmed 

the client had been referred to the hospital 

with the shortest waiting list. We advised the 

client they could change to their preferred 

hospital but there would be a longer wait to 

see a consultant. The client then contacted 

their GP’s secretary directly to make a decision 

that best suited their circumstances.

“Thanks for your help … speaking to 

you has kept me in control of 

managing my life.”

Did you know...?
In some cases you will have more than one 

clinic or hospital to choose from. The list 

of options will be the same whether you 

decide to book online or over the phone.

In most cases you have the legal right to 

choose the hospital or service you'd like 

to go to, including private hospitals as 

long as they provide services to the NHS. 

(Source: www.nhs.uk)

Page 271

http://www.nhs.uk/


26Healthwatch County Durham

Raising patients’ concerns 

over possible ward closure at 

Bishop Auckland General 

Hospital

In October 2018, we were 

contacted by many members of the 

public concerned about the 

reported closure of ward 6 at 

Bishop Auckland General Hospital. 

We immediately contacted County Durham and 

Darlington NHS Foundation Trust, which runs the 

hospital, to make them aware of these concerns 

and to ask for clarification of their plans. 

We also attended the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee at Durham County Council where 

the trust’s plans were discussed at length. At 

this meeting, the trust’s executive director, 

Carole Langrick, confirmed ward 6 would stay 

open while its future was considered.

The trust has acknowledged the process could 

have been managed better and decided to hold 

a public consultation on the ward’s future after 

further discussions with staff.

We shared our guidance on meaningful public 

engagement with the trust in the hope it would 

help ensure people's views were really listened 

to in the public consultation. Then in February 

2019 the CCG approached us to carry out an 

independent engagement project to review 

ward 6 and identify ideas for potential future 

service models. 

We spent time at the hospital between April and 

June 2019, gathering the views of patients and 

their families. Once we have analysed this 

information we will share our findings with the 

trust and CCG to help them develop options for 

future models of care that will best meet 

people's needs. 

Healthwatch County Durham at Bishop Auckland General Hospital in November 2018

“I was reassured to hear the ward will remain 

open until there has been appropriate 

engagement with staff, patients and the 

public, and that the findings and proposals 

for the future of ward 6 will be shared with 

partners and stakeholders.”

Brian Jackson, Chair of Healthwatch County 

Durham

Page 272



27Healthwatch County Durham

Our volunteers

“It’s such a privilege to 

volunteer for Healthwatch 

County Durham and to work as 

equals in our roles with such a 

wonderful, professional 

team.”
Healthwatch County Durham volunteer

Page 273



28Healthwatch County Durham

We are always grateful for the contributions our volunteers make to our 

work but this year we have also been thrilled to see their efforts 

recognised further afield.  

National and local recognition for our hard-working volunteers

In June 2018, another of our volunteers, 

Paul Stokes, was recognised for his hard 

work with our team at a celebration of 

volunteers at Durham Cathedral.

The County Durham Volunteer Awards 2018 

acknowledged that Paul had “been recognised 

for his dedication and commitment in 

volunteering his time to help others”.

The event was held as part of Volunteers’ Week 

and recognised volunteers from many different 

organisations. As well as the award ceremony, 

attendees were given tea and cake and a tour 

of the cathedral, including the Open Treasures 

exhibition.

Volunteer Tony wins a  

national Healthwatch award

In October 2018, our volunteer Tony Bentley 

received the #ItStartsWithYou Healthwatch 

England award. 

This award recognises an individual or group that 

has worked passionately to improve health and 

social care services for their community – which 

Tony certainly has.

Tony spearheaded the development of a best 

practice website that care homes can refer to in 

order to make sure their own sites have all the 

information the public could need. This involved 

close work with a local care home provider, Kaydar, 

and computer company Consett Computers.

The finished website is now live and Durham County 

Council have contacted every care home provider in 

the region to encourage them to learn from it.

Volunteer Celebration Week

Left: Paul Stokes with Marianne Patterson, 

Project Lead for Healthwatch County Durham

Tony Bentley (L) with Norreen and Angus 

Burns from Kaydar at their website launch

Page 274



29Healthwatch County Durham

Our 22 volunteers help us in a huge 

variety of ways. We couldn’t have 

the impact we do without their 

support. They help us make care 

better for everyone in their 

communities. Some of the work 

they do includes:

+ Raising awareness of the work we do in 

communities around the region.

+ Visiting services to make sure they are 

meeting people’s needs.

+ Supporting our day-to-day running, e.g. 

governance.

+ Collecting people’s views and experiences of 

services, which inform our reports. 

What do our volunteers do?

Our volunteers come from all walks 

of life and each brings a different 

insight to the work we do. In 

return, we are committed to giving 

them the best support we can and 

providing opportunities for personal 

and professional development. 

The training attended by volunteers during 

2018-19 has included sessions on the General 

Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), 

safeguarding and first aid.

A group of volunteers also attended a dementia 

friendly workshop with the staff team, run by 

representatives from the Alzheimer’s Society.

A chance to develop and learn new skills

At Healthwatch County Durham, we share a 

commitment to being dementia friendly and 

include this in service recommendations as part 

of our wider work during visits to care homes, 

hospitals, GP practices, and other health and 

social care providers.

Volunteers attend a focus group workshop to share their views and influence changes in their area

“We are always accompanied on visits and 

given lots of team-working opportunities with 

the immediate coordinator, her manager or 

associated leads, and, where necessary, with 

the team as a whole.”

Volunteer

Page 275



30Healthwatch County Durham

Our finances

and

next year

our plans for

Page 276



31Healthwatch County Durham

How we use our money

2% Additional income 

90% Funding received 

from local authority

8% Income from CIC 

reserves

£218,476 

Total 

income

To help us carry out our work, we 

are funded by our local authority. 

In 2018-19 we spent £218,122.

We also received £3,800 of 

additional income from NHS England 

and Durham Dales, Easington and 

Sedgefield CCG.

CIC remaining at the end of 

2018/19 is £24,224

Surplus remaining at the 

end of 2018/19 is £17,453

61% How much we 

pay our staff

10% How much it costs 

to run our Healthwatch

£218,122 

Total 

expenditure
29% Our operational 

costs

Page 277



32Healthwatch County Durham

Message from our Chief 
Executive

I am delighted that Healthwatch 

County Durham continues to 

develop, engaging more local 

people year-on-year to better 

understand local issues and 

concerns and inform future thinking 

around health and social care 

service design. 

Looking back

+ Access to GP appointments continues to be 

high on the agenda and the ongoing 

programme of GP Enter and View visits has 

led to system improvements. 

+ The inclusive and responsive approach to 

engagement has proved to be very 

successful. Use of social media surveys, in 

addition to traditional engagement 

techniques to support public voting, has 

worked well.  

+ 2018 was an award-winning year with 

national recognition of two Healthwatch 

County Durham projects.  

+ The Information and Signposting service saw 

an increase in take-up of 30% on the previous 

year, demonstrating the need for impartial 

access to support.

Thank you 

Healthwatch County Durham could not achieve 

so much without the support of local people 

and communities, so I would firstly like to thank 

them for helping to shape the 2018-19 work-

plan and for continuing to tell us what is 

important to them.  

Healthwatch County Durham benefits from a 

strong volunteer team, which dedicated more 

than 2,000 hours in support of our work this 

year - an increase of 24% on the previous year. 

The work they do is vital to help us reach across 

the whole of County Durham.

The independent board’s oversight and focus on 

health and social care issues helps to effectively 

direct the work of the staff team. I would like 

to thank both the board and staff team for their 

continued drive and passion without which 

Healthwatch County Durham would not achieve 

so much. 

“Healthwatch County Durham works

tirelessly to engage with people and 

communities so their work can truly

reflect issues that are meaningful 

locally.”

Carol Gaskarth

Chief Executive - Pioneering Care PartnershipPage 278



33Healthwatch County Durham

+ Members of the public who have shared their 

views and experiences with us.

+ All of our amazing staff and volunteers.

+ The many voluntary and community 

organisations that have contributed to our 

work, including: Pioneering Care Partnership, 

Citizens Advice County Durham and Durham 

Community Action.

+ Partners and organisations we have worked 

with during the year including: NHS England; 

Durham County Council; North Durham and 

Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCGs; 

County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation 

Trust; North East Ambulance Service (NEAS); 

GP surgeries; the Local Pharmaceutical 

Committee; and Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys 

NHS Foundation Trust.

+ The patient participation groups and patient 

reference groups that support our work.

“I would like to thank Healthwatch 

County Durham, and in particular 

Marianne Patterson and Chris Cunnington-

Shore, for their continued work with the 

committee and their commitment to 

ensuring that patients’, families’ and 

carers’ views and experiences of health 

and social care services are communicated 

during engagement and consultation 

processes.”

Councillor John Robinson, Chair of 

Durham County Council’s Adults,

Wellbeing and Health Overview Scrutiny 

Committee

Thank you

Thank you to everyone who is helping 

us to put people at the heart of 

health and social care, including:

Page 279



Contact us

34Healthwatch County Durham

Healthwatch County Durham

Whitfield House

St Johns Road

Meadowfield Industrial Estate

Durham

DH7 8XL

+ Email: healthwatchcountydurham@pcp.uk.net

+ Twitter: @HWCountyDurham

+ Facebook: Healthwatch County Durham

+ Instagram: @healthwatchcodurham

+ Web: www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk

The organisation holding the local Healthwatch 

contract as of 31 March 2019 is the Pioneering 

Care Partnership (PCP), Carers Way, Newton 

Aycliffe, DL5 4SF.

+ 01325 321234

+ enquiries@pcp.uk.net

We confirm that we are using the Healthwatch 

Trademark (which covers the logo and 

Healthwatch brand) when undertaking work on 

our statutory activities as covered by the 

licence agreement. 

Registered Charity: 1067888

Company Limited by Guarantee No: 3491237

Telephone:

+ 0191 378 1037 (office landline)

+ 0191 378 7695 (volunteer support)

+ 0800 304 7039 (Freephone signposting)

+ 07756 654218 (text)

Our annual report will be publicly available on 

our website from 30 June 2019. We will also be 

sharing it with Healthwatch England, the Care 

Quality Commission, NHS England, Clinical 

Commissioning Groups, Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee and our local authority.

We share all of our reports with Healthwatch 

England and the people who are responsible for 

the service.

If you need this report in an alternative format 

please contact us.

© Copyright Healthwatch County Durham 2019Page 280

mailto:healthwatchcountydurham@pcp.uk.net
http://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/
mailto:enquiries@pcp.uk.net


35Healthwatch County Durham

Page 281



Whitfield House

St Johns Road

Meadowfield Industrial Estate

Durham

DH7 8XL

Web: www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk

Telephone: 0800 304 7039

Email: healthwatchcountydurham@pcp.uk.net

Twitter: @HWCountyDurham

Facebook: Healthwatch County Durham

County Durham

Pioneering Care Partnership

Registered Charity No: 1067888

Company Limited by Guarantee No: 3491237

© 2019 Healthwatch County Durham is run by the Pioneering Care Partnership (PCP), Durham Community Action and 

Citizens Advice County Durham

Page 282



heAlcohol

1

P
age 283

A
genda Item

 18



he

2

• Communications planning and development of 

resources by public health.

• Letter from Police and Crime Commissioners 

(Durham, Northumbria and Cleveland) to 

Secretary of State for Health and Social Care 

regarding Prevention Green Paper and impact 

of alcohol harm to individuals, communities, 

public sector and wider economy.

• Continued social media promotions by Balance 

– links with cancer, health warning labels, risks 

to young people.

• Press release by Balance calling for minimum 

unit price in England following figures by NHS 

Health Scotland showing fall of alcohol sales.

P
age 284



heTobacco

3

P
age 285



he

4

• Communications planning and 

development of resources by public 

health

• 16 Cancers campaign

• Uplift by Fresh and public health

• Adverts on TV, radio, buses, newspapers

• Quote retweets 

• Digital advert in Durham City screen

• Posters/flyers distributed to customer 

access points, One Point hubs, family 

centres, council depots.

• Promotions to DCC staff via intranet.

P
age 286



heMental health

5

P
age 287



he

6

Mental health awareness week – 13 May

• DCC messages to staff, signposting to time to 

change champions and other sources of 

support.

• Press release and video of DCC member of 

staff and time to change champion sharing 

personal experience of mental health. 

Reached more than 8,500 people on 

Facebook with more than 2,500 views.

Healthwatch report

• Mental health report published in May 2019

• Covers engagement with over 300 service users working in 

mental health services.

• Includes survey results, case studies and recommendations

• Letters to BBC and MP’s regarding TV Licenses

P
age 288



he

Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust

7

TEWV have supported STOMP and the Lester tool.

STOMP – Stopping the over medication of people with a 

learning disability, autism or both

TEWV NHS Trust has issued social media, e-bulletin messages 

and communications to clinical commissioning groups, signposting 

to: 

• Web information https://www.tewv.nhs.uk/stomping-out-over-

medication/

• Short film https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=litglxqbEg8&t=35s

Lester Tool – tool to assess physical health

Posters to raise awareness of regular physical health monitoring for 

those with a serious mental illness and social media messaging 

signposting to online info 

https://www.tewv.nhs.uk/services/promotingphysicalhealth/

P
age 289

https://www.tewv.nhs.uk/stomping-out-over-medication/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=litglxqbEg8&t=35s
https://www.tewv.nhs.uk/services/promotingphysicalhealth/


heBreastfeeding

8

P
age 290



he

9

National Breastfeeding Celebration 

Week – 17 June
• Press release issued by DCC public 

health working with Growing Healthy 

Infant Feeding Team about help and 

support networks in County Durham

• Sharing of social media about support 

networks

DCC summer guide issued to 

residents in the county
• Highlights breastfeeding friendly 

venues in County Durham.

• Reference to Big Latch on event taking 

place in August.

DCC public health web pages
• Updated details of breastfeeding 

friendly venues.

P
age 291



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

             

       

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

 30 July 2019 

Integrated Care System 

 

Report of Dr Stewart Findley, Chief Officer, Clinical Commissioning 
Groups 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board 
with an overview of the Integrated Care System proposal. 

Executive summary 

2 On 19 June 2019 the North East and North Cumbria was confirmed as 
one of a small number of Integrated Care Systems (ICS) across the 
country. 
 

3 The ICS is not a new organisation, it is a collaboration of existing NHS 
commissioners and providers, as well as partners.  This status is a vote 
of confidence in the strength of how we work together as a system, 
although it is acknowledged that there is lots still to be done to improve 
the health and wellbeing of our communities 

Recommendation(s) 

4 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to 
receive the report, and provide comment at the meeting as necessary. 

Background 

5 The quality of our health and care services is amongst the best in the 
country, however we are not making fast enough improvements to the 
overall health of our population.   
 

6 Healthy life expectancy in the North East and North Cumbria remains 
amongst the poorest in England, with high unemployment and low 
levels of decent housing, and significant areas of deprivation. These 
contribute to some of the starkest health inequalities, early death rates 
and highest sickness levels in England, driving much of the pressure 

Page 293

Agenda Item 19



that health and social services struggle to manage, so we know things 
need to change.  

 
7 The ambition is to significantly improve health outcomes for people in 

the North East and North Cumbria (NENC) and we are focused on 
creating a common purpose and joint ambition to drive improvements in 
health, wealth and wellbeing.   
 

8 Working together across organisations in a coordinated and targeted 
way can have a major impact on health outcomes.  This is 
demonstrated by the success seen in reducing early deaths due to 
cardiovascular disease by 50% between 2001 and 2012. This was 
achieved through a systematic programme of health checks and stop-
smoking initiatives, working with public health leads, GPs, pharmacists, 
hospitals and commissioners.  The scale and ambition of this work is 
what the integrated care system wants to achieve across a number of 
key priorities. 
 

9 By working with local communities and staff, and by ensuring system 
and clinical leaders agree joint plans, priorities will be developed 
collectively for an integrated care system which allows the 
transformation of people’s health and wellbeing and the ability to deal 
more effectively with the day to day challenges faced by services.  
 

10 Whilst for most people their health and care needs are best met by 
integrated, place-based services, NHS organisations are committed to 
work together ‘at scale’, where appropriate to harness collective 
resources and expertise to make faster progress on improving health 
outcomes.   For a small number of strategic issues working at scale 
makes sense and adds value.  
 

11 Work with partners will continue and the Health and Wellbeing Board 
will remain the fundamental building block for the ICS. 
 

12 The proposal is that there will be one Integrated Care System, with four 
Integrated Care Partnerships.  Details of the emerging operating model 
and levels of working in the ICS are detailed in Appendix 2. 
 

13 The following emerging joint priorities are focused on improving 
people’s health and wellbeing and ensuring safe and sustainability 
services, and have been informed by the views of senior doctors, 
nurses and other stakeholders: 
 

(a) Improving population health 
(b) Improving outcomes for those with poor Mental health 
(c) Transforming care for people with learning disabilities  
(d) Optimising the quality and sustainability of health services 

Page 294



(e) Better use information technology 
(f) Building a motivated and flexible workforce 

 
Further details of the priorities are provided in Appendix 2. 

14 Details of how decisions will be made, and how engagement will be 
undertaken are provided in Appendix 2.  For place-based activity, work 
will continue through Health and Wellbeing Boards which are a crucial 
forum for local authorities, CCGs and partners to assess the needs of 
local populations and jointly commission services. 
 

15 Each ICS is required to establish a ‘Partnership Assembly’ that brings 
together NHS commissioners and providers with local authority and 
other partners.  These will focus on issues that cut across wider 
boundaries, and will be decision-making structures that are based on 
building consensus for working ‘at scale’.  The ambition is to establish 
this by early 2020, and discussions are taking place with the leadership 
of local authorities across the North East and North Cumbria on how 
such a body is best constituted to maximize the impact that can be 
made together on improving health and wellbeing outcomes for our 
population. 

Conclusion 

16 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board will receive an overview of 
the ICS proposals and will have an opportunity to share their views at 
the meeting. 

Background papers 

• None 

Other useful documents 

• North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System  
(Appendix 2) 

Contact: Sarah Burns Tel:  0191 371 3217 
   

  

Page 295



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

No implications.  Individual organisation governance remains unchanged.  

Finance 

No implications 

Consultation 

No implications 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

No implications 

Human Rights 

No implications 

Crime and Disorder 

No implications 

Staffing 

There are no current implications for staffing. Initiatives to optimise service 

sustainability may impact positively on staffing levels for health services in 

future.  

Accommodation 

No implications 

Risk 

No implications 

Procurement 

There are no current procurement implications.   

Page 296



1 
 

  

North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System   
 

1. Background and context 
 
On the 19th of June 2019 the North East and North Cumbria was confirmed by NHS England as one of 
a small number of ‘Integrated Care Systems’ across the country.  Securing this status is a real vote of 
confidence in the strength of how NHS organisations, and our partners, work together as system – 
but we know that there is much still to do to improve the health and wellbeing of the communities 
that we serve.  
 
Our ICS is a collaboration of NHS commissioners and providers, and our partners, and not a new 
organisation with statutory powers.  Subsidiarity remains our guiding principle, with the majority of 
our work focused in places and neighbourhood; but, alongside this, our ICS provides a mechanism to 
build consensus on those issues that need to be tackled at scale.  
 
Whilst the quality of our health and care services is amongst the best in the country – with strong 
performance against key targets and progress tackling issues such as cancer death rates – we are not 
making fast enough improvements in improving the overall health of our population. Healthy life 
expectancy in the North East and North Cumbria remains amongst the poorest in England, with high 
unemployment and low levels of decent housing, and significant areas of deprivation. These 
contribute to some of the starkest health inequalities, early death rates and highest sickness levels in 
England, driving much of the pressure that health and social services struggle to manage, so we 
know things need to change.  
 
Our ambition is to significantly improve health outcomes for people in the North East and North 
Cumbria (NENC) by working with, and through, communities, partner organisations and our staff. 
We are focused on creating a common purpose and joint ambition to drive improvements in health, 
wealth and wellbeing.   
 
Working together across organisations in a coordinated and targeted way can have a major impact 
on health outcomes.  This is demonstrated by the success we have had in reducing early deaths due 
to cardiovascular disease by 50% between 2001 and 2012. This was achieved through a systematic 
programme of health checks and stop-smoking initiatives, working with public health leads, GPs, 
pharmacists, hospitals and commissioners.  The scale and ambition of this work is what our aspirant 
integrated care system wants to achieve across a number of our key priorities. 

 

2. Our vision  
 

By working with local communities and staff – and by ensuring system and clinical leaders spend 
time together to develop and agree joint plans – we are collectively developing priorities for an 
integrated care system that allows us to transform people’s health and wellbeing and deal more 
effectively with the day to day challenges faced by services.  Our vision is: 
 

• To fundamentally shift health outcomes for the local people – working with our partners to 
challenge health inequalities and improve healthy life expectancy  
 

Page 297



2 
 

• To continue to raise standards so services are high quality and delivered effectively. This includes 
making sure everyone has access to safe, quality care, at the right time and in the right place – 
whether in the community, hospital or another setting.   

 
• To support staff in working across organisational boundaries and strengthen links between 

services based in different parts of the system, through more clinical networking and joint 
priorities. 
 

• To value and develop our workforce – providing the opportunity to develop skills, knowledge 
and flexibility to work across multiple settings.  We will focus on attracting people to our work in 
the organisations which make up our integrated care system and do more to retain our staff 
within the North East and North Cumbria. 

 

• To make improved use of information and technology to personalise health and care services, 
reduce duplication of effort and speed up access to services, particularly for people who are at 
greatest risk of poor health outcomes.  

 

3. The importance of working at ‘place’ with the added 
value of working ‘at scale’ 

 
Our integrated care system will build upon existing local place-based leadership and responsibilities 
of clinical commissioning groups, to plan and arrange services for local populations. This will involve 
local primary care networks (GPs and other health and care professionals) and NHS foundation 
trusts, working with local authority and voluntary sector partners, in improving health and wellbeing 
through extending the reach and effectiveness of our services. 
 
While recognising that for most people their health and care needs are best met by integrated, 
place-based services, NHS organisations are committed to working together ‘at scale’, where 
appropriate to harness our collective resources and expertise to make faster progress on improving 
health outcomes.    
 
For a small number of strategic issues working at scale makes sense and adds value. The geography 
of our ICS recognises the connections between communities and centres of population, how patients 
access services and move through existing systems, and established networks of health professionals 
who have a long history of collaboration and working together on shared issues.    
 
This geography of our ICS is already reflected in the footprint of our Northern Clinical Senate and 
Northern Deanery, our Clinical Networks (including the Northern Cancer Alliance) and Joint CCG 
Committee, as well as our Urgent and Emergency Care Network, Academic Health Sciences Network 
and Local Professional Networks for Digital Care and Community Pharmacy services.  We also plan 
and deliver prevention initiatives with our local authority partners on a NENC footprint, including our 
highly-regarded and effective tobacco and alcohol control programmes FRESH and Balance. 
 
We see the advantage of working at this scale will allow us to: 
 

• Collectively prioritise based on a shared understanding of need  

• Target our investment on shared priorities 

• Mobilise our collective resources – including our 170,000 strong health and care workforce 

• Set stretching and consistent service standards – especially for vulnerable groups 

Page 298



3 
 

• Manage pressures together as a system 

• Share and spread best practice   

• Make better use of technology and digital resources 

• Develop shared functions and reduce duplication  

• Acting with ‘one voice’ to represent the region, securing additional resources and influencing the 
direction of national health and care policy. 
 

4. Working with our partners  
 
Our local authority partners have told us consistently that working together with the NHS at place 
level through Health and Wellbeing Boards needs to be the fundamental building block of any 
integrated care system.   
 
This will remain the scale at which we do the vast majority of our joint working with local authorities, 
especially the work we do together at neighbourhood level with integrated health and social care 
teams based on primary care networks, as well as the joint commissioning we do at local 
authority/CCG level - for example through the Better Care Fund and via joint Public Health initiatives. 
 
Our local authority partners have also told us that there is scope for working together on a small 
number of strategic issues that transcend these boundaries. After a joint session with local authority 
social care, public health and housing colleagues in November 2018 we identified the following areas 
for further development and discussion. 
 

• Population health and prevention  

• Improving children’s health and wellbeing 

• Joint workforce development 

• Digital care  

• Commissioning services for vulnerable groups 
 
On population health we are already working through our Prevention Board (co-chaired by system 
leaders from NHS and local authorities) to identify the strategic priorities we intend to invest in.  This 
includes the £1million surplus from our commissioning support provider NECS which was allocated 
by the NECS Customer Board (made up of our 12 CCGs) to expanding alcohol and tobacco control 
initiatives and strengthening public health provision in our hospitals.  NHS and local authority leads 
are also working together on innovative approaches to reduce smoking in pregnancy facilitated by 
the Yale University System Development programme. 
 
ADASS and Public Health leads already participate in our strategic forums and are helping us to 
develop proposals on all of these issues for consideration by NHS and local authority decision-
makers.  We are also developing strategic partnership arrangements with HealthWatch and 
Voluntary Organisations Network North East (VONNE) to coordinate how we ensure a strong voice 
for service users and the voluntary sector in the development of our ICS. 
 

5. Our emerging operating model  
 
One integrated care system, supporting our places and integrated care 
partnerships. 
 

Page 299



4 
 

As an ICS we are clear that subsidiarity is our guiding principle.  It is in our ‘places’ where the 
majority of services will continue to be commissioned, planned and delivered, whilst those places 
can still work together with their neighbours at scale where this genuinely adds value.  As one of the 
largest integrated care systems we recognise that our operating model is therefore different to 
other places, and that our constituent organisations work across three levels of scale: 
 
Place – populations of circa 150,000 to 500,000 people will be the main focus for partnership 
working between the NHS and local authorities in our cities, boroughs and counties.  In these areas, 
primary care networks (providing services to populations of circa 30,000-50,000 people) will support 
collaboration between GP practices, social care, other community based care providers and 
voluntary sector organisations and build upon work already underway. 
 

 
 
Integrated care partnerships (ICPs) – populations of around one million (with the exception of North 
Cumbria, which has unique geographical and demographic features).  These are focused on 
collaboration and clinical networking between neighbouring NHS hospital trusts, to ensure safe and 
sustainable services.    The geographies of our four integrated care partnerships are based on where 
people live, how patients use acute services and the location of hospital sites.   
 
Through hospitals and clinical commissioning groups working more closely, ICPs will be able to plan 
and tailor care to the needs of the local population, while reducing some of the costs associated with 
planning and delivering services.  Some ICPs are also exploring how to share and spread best 
practice in primary and community care from their constituent places. Our ICPs are also exploring 
with local and combined authorities how we can work together on local economic development and 
workplace health, and extending NHS employment opportunities to local people.  
 

Page 300



5 
 

Integrated care system – a population of circa 3.1 million people, focussed on ‘at scale’ priorities 
that multiplies our collective impact.  
 

Levels of working in our Integrated Care System: 
 

 
 

6. Joint priorities for an integrated care system 
 
Our emerging joint priorities are focused on improving people’s health and wellbeing and ensuring 
safe and sustainability services, and have been informed by the views of senior doctors, nurses and 
other stakeholders. They are: 
 
1. Improve population health through increasing public awareness and developing screening to 

better prevent, detect and manage the biggest causes of premature death: cancer, 
cardiovascular disease and respiratory disease.     

 
2. Improving outcomes for people who experience periods of poor mental health, particularly 

those with severe and enduring mental illness, and doing more improve the emotional wellbeing 
and mental health of children and young people, and breaking down the barriers between 
physical and mental health services. 

 
3. Transforming care for people with learning disabilities and improving the health and care 

services they receive so that more people can live in the community, with the right support, and 
close to home. 
 

Page 301



6 
 

4. Optimising the quality and sustainability of health services, especially those identified as 
‘vulnerable’ (for example due to workforce pressures), by delivering joint solutions devised by 
clinicians, to ensure all patients have fair access to safe and effective care. 
 

5. By improving how we use information technology to meet the needs of care providers, patients 
and the public, helping people to make appointments, manage prescriptions and view health 
records online. 

 
6. By building a motivated and flexible workforce, looking after their health and wellbeing and 

ensuring that they have the skills and support that they need, whilst developing how we recruit 
and retain staff in priority areas. 

 
 

7. How will we make decisions together? 
 
Engagement with patients and service users will remain at the heart of how we make decisions, at 
whatever level we work.   For ‘place-based’ (CCG and local authority level) activity, we will continue 
to work through existing Health and Wellbeing Boards, which provide a crucial forum for local 
authorities, CCGs and wider partners to assess the needs of local populations and jointly commission 
services; as well as the governing bodies of CCGs and the boards of Foundation Trusts. The 
performance of local health services will continue to be examined by both local and regional Health 
Scrutiny Committees. 
 
For issues that cut across wider boundaries, we are working to develop decision-making structures 
that are based on building consensus for working ‘at scale’.  Each ICS is required to establish a 
‘Partnership Assembly’ that brings together NHS commissioners and providers with local authority 
and other partners.  Our ambition is to establish such a body by early 2020, and we are currently in 
discussions with the leadership of local authorities across the North East and North Cumbria on how 
such a body is best constituted to maximize the impact we can make together on improving health 
and wellbeing outcomes for our population. 

 

Page 302



 

             

        

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

30 July 2019 

Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

merger proposal 

 

Report of Dr Stewart Findley, Chief Officer, Clinical Commissioning 
Groups 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of the report is to notify members of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board of the proposed Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
merger. 

Executive summary 

2 Dr Stewart Findley will outline the proposal to form new CCGs to 
replace the five CCGs in Teesside, Darlington and Durham.  

3 It is anticipated that the new CCGs would come into effect from 1 April 
2020. 

Recommendation(s) 

4 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to 
receive the report, and provide comment at the meeting. 

Background 

5 In 2018, NHS England and NHS Improvement advised CCGs that they 
would be reducing their administration costs by 20% by 31 March 2020. 

6 In turn, they asked all CCGs to reduce their own running costs by 20% 
in the same timescale. Whilst the reduction does not apply to the health 
services commissioned by CCGs, and therefore will not affect frontline 
patient services, it does apply to CCG staffing arrangements. 

7 If the CCGs remain as five separate groups, and reduce their budget it 
may not be possible to fulfil all of their responsibilities with significantly 
less staff. 

Page 303

Agenda Item 20



8 Merging the CCGs is a logical next step following closer working over 
the last few years. CCGs will be able to take a more streamlined 
approach to commissioning and simplify governance arrangements. 
The new organisation/s will be more efficient, saving money from 
management to direct towards patient care, and will be able to support 
health and care partners in improving local people’s health and the 
services they use, as well as implementing priorities in the NHS Long 
Term Plan. 

9 The CCGs would keep current local arrangements for engaging with 
people and health professionals in the places where they live and work 
and look for opportunities to improve that engagement, so that they stay 
in touch with, and take account of their needs. 

10 If supported by the CCG Governing Bodies and by NHS England, the 
new CCG/s would be created on 1 April 2020, following the dissolution 
of the existing CCGs. 

Consultation 

11 The CCGs are talking to local Healthwatch organisations to understand 
their views on the proposals and to make sure that a wide range of local 
people’s views are taken into account. Through their ongoing outreach 
activity and events they will be helping communities to receive and 
understand information about this proposal and gathering people’s 
views.  

Conclusion 

12 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board will have an understanding 
of the proposals, and will be able to share their thoughts on the 
proposed merger. 

Background papers 

• Proposals for new clinical commissioning groups for Tees Valley 
and Durham CCGs (Attached as Appendix 2). 

• Presentation (Attached as Appendix 3) 

Other useful documents 

• None 

Contact: Sarah Burns Tel:  0191 371 3217 
   

  

Page 304



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

CCGs are a statutory requirement under the Health and Social Care Act 

Finance 

CCGs must reduce their own running costs by 20% by 31 March 2020 

Consultation 

Consultation will be undertaken by Healthwatch. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None 

Human Rights 

None 

Crime and Disorder 

None 

Staffing 

CCG staffing arrangements will be impacted by the financial requirements for 
CCGs to reduce their own running costs by 20% by 31 March 2020 

Accommodation 

None 

Risk 

Not merging will impact on the ability to make the financial reductions 

Procurement 

None 

 

 

 

 

Page 305



This page is intentionally left blank



  

Proposals for new clinical 

commissioning groups for Tees 

Valley and Durham CCGs  
This document describes a proposal to form new CCGs 

with effect from 1 April 2020 to replace the five clinical 

commissioning groups in Teesside, Darlington and 

Durham.  

June 2019 

  

Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group 
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group 

Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning Group 
North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group 

South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group 

Page 307



What are we asking for your views about? 

We are asking what you think about proposals to create new clinical commissioning 

group/s to replace the five clinical commissioning groups in Teesside, Darlington and 

Durham.  

 

Our Governing Bodies have asked that we consider whether CCG mergers might 

offer further benefits to our current way of working and if so what might be the best 

CCG arrangements to achieve this. The options for consideration are:  

 

1. A single CCG across the Integrated Care System1 i.e. Cumbria and the North 

East,  

2. A single CCG across the 5 CCGs currently working together in our 

collaborative i.e. NHS Darlington CCG, NHS Durham Dales, Easington and 

Sedgefield CCG, NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG, NHS North 

Durham CCG and NHS South Tees CCG 

3. A single CCG across each Integrated Care Partnership2 i.e. the Southern ICP 

and the central ICP, or; 

4. A single Tees Valley CCG and a single Durham CCG with a continued shared 

management structure.  

 

What is not included? 

This proposal is not about any other NHS organisations – like hospitals and mental 
health, community or family doctor (GP) services - or any health or care services 
provided by the NHS or local councils. It does not affect any services we buy from 
voluntary and community sector (VCS) or any other organisations. 
 

What are clinical commissioning groups? 

CCGs took over responsibility for planning, buying and monitoring (commissioning) 
local health services in April 2013. They work to improve population health, by 
tackling health inequalities, to improve life expectancy and the quality of life and to 
ensure local people can get the services they need when they are unwell. 
 
They are membership organisations, with local family doctors (GP practices) as their 
members. 
 

                                            
1 The Integrated Care System will coordinate the work of the 4 ICP areas (see below) in Cumbria and 
the North East including financial and staffing resources, and ‘at scale’ shared clinical service 
improvements to ensure improved outcomes for the population of Cumbria and the North East.  
 
2 The Integrated Care Partnerships (ICP) have been set up to focus on ‘place’ and ensure the 
sustainability of services for the local population that meet quality and clinical standards as well as 
addressing workforce challenges, core performance and financial standards. They include NHS 
Foundation Trusts, CCGs and other key stakeholders. There are 4 ICPs across Cumbria and the 
North East. 

Page 308



Responsible for commissioning most hospital and healthcare services in the local 
area, CCGs are regulated by NHS England and are accountable to the Secretary of 
State for Health and Social Care. The types of services commissioned by CCGs 
include: 

• planned hospital care 

• rehabilitative care 

• urgent and emergency care (including out-of-hours and NHS 111) 

• most community health services 

• mental health services 

• learning disability and/or autism services 
 
Our proposals will not affect any of these services or your ability to use them. 
 

What are the current arrangements? 

There are five CCGs covering Teesside, Darlington and Durham: 

• NHS Darlington CCG 

• NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 

• NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG 

• NHS North Durham CCG  

• NHS South Tees CCG 
Between them, they commission NHS services for a population of over 1.2 million 
people. 
 
They cover the following areas: 
 

 
 
The 5 CCGs across Durham and the Tees Valley have been working together under 
a joint leadership and management team with a single Accountable Officer (Dr Neil 
O’Brien) and two Chief Officers (Dr Stewart Findlay and Mrs Nicola Bailey) since 
October last year. 
  

Page 309



Whilst changes have been implemented to help joint working we have maintained a 
strong focus on local communities and the delivery of the new NHS Long Term Plan 
priorities locally, such as Primary Care Networks (PCN)3 and we would ensure this 
continued. 
 
There is a move nationally however, to reduce the total number of CCGs and create 
more ‘strategic’ commissioning organisations, the NHS plan states this would 
‘typically involve a single CCG for each Integrated Care System area’, which in our 
case would be for Cumbria and the North East. Whilst this is intended to support 
greater efficiency, and improve population health by supporting providers to work 
with local government, we believe that we can achieve more for our local people  if 
we keep a greater level of local focus.  
  
Our CCG collaborative work and the management changes we have already made, 
mean that our CCGs are already in a good position to demonstrate the benefits of 
working across a larger population base with a shared management 
resource.  Given national expectations and the desire to ensure as much resource 
as possible is freed up for investment into front line health services, we believe that 
we should give this serious consideration.  
  
In each CCG, member GP practices come together in a “council” that directs the 
work of the organisation. CCGs also have a governing body made up of elected GPs 
and other clinicians, including a nurse, a hospital consultant, and lay people. The 
governing body ensures that the CCG follows the direction set by the members and 
makes decisions that will provide the best outcomes for patients. 
 
Although each CCGs appoints its own members to a governing body and other 
committees, since 2018/19 these have been operating as committees in common in 
Tees Valley and in Durham (that is, one meeting at which members take decisions 
together or separately, as appropriate). The CCGs’ clinical leaders are central to 
making these decisions.  
 
All five CCGs commission primary care (services provided by, and in, general 
practice) and have a Primary Care Commissioning Committee.  
 
Based on the health needs of local people, and to help reduce health inequalities, 
NHS England gives money to CCGs to pay for local NHS services. Money allocated 
to our CCGs is spent within each of the CCG local areas. Within the CCGs’ annual 
budget, there is a separate allocation for administration (or “running”) costs, which 
helps to determine their total staffing. 
 

                                            
3 All General Practices are now part of a Primary Care network. Primary care networks build on the 
core of current primary care services and enable greater provision of proactive, personalised, 
coordinated and more integrated health and social care by working closely with partners in health and 
social care. 

Page 310



Since October 2018, all five CCGs have implemented a shared management 
structure to try and avoid duplication and to cut down on management costs.  

 

Why are we making changes? 

In 2018, NHS England and NHS Improvement told us that they would be reducing 
their administration costs by 20% by 31 March 2020. 
 
In turn, they asked all CCGs to reduce their own running costs by 20% in the same 
timescale. Whilst the reduction does not apply to the health services that we 
commission (and therefore will not affect frontline patient services), it does apply to 
CCG staffing arrangements. 
 
If we remain as five separate CCGs, and reduce our budget it may not be possible to 
fulfil all our responsibilities with significantly less staff. 
 
Merging the CCGs is a logical next step following our closer working over the last 
few years. We will be able to take a more streamlined approach to commissioning 
and simplify our governance arrangements. The new organisation/s will be more 
efficient, saving money from management to direct towards patient care, and be able 
to support our health and care partners in improving local people’s health and the 
services they use, as well as implementing the priorities in the NHS Long Term Plan. 
 
We will keep our current local arrangements for engaging with people and health 
professionals in the places where they live and work and look for opportunities to 
improve that engagement, so that we stay in touch with, and take account of, their 
needs. 
 
If supported by our Governing Bodies and by NHS England, the new CCG/s would 
be created on 1 April 2020, following the dissolution of the existing ones. 
 

Page 311



What is the best way to reduce our costs whilst retaining a strong 

connection with our local people and partners? 

We think the best way we could balance reducing costs with keeping a local focus 
would be through creating two single CCGs instead of the five that we have now. 
 
We would make the savings in ways such as reducing some costs that all 5 CCGs 
have to pay such as audit costs and by appointing members to two governing bodies 
(rather than a combination of the membership of five governing bodies) and through 
shared clinical leadership across the Durham and Tees Valley. 
 
We are looking to achieve the rest of the savings required in two ways. For some 
time, we have appointed staff to vacant posts only if their role is essential, looking to 
share staff with our partners where this is sensible. We are also reducing our 
buildings where these are not being or will not be fully used.  
Ultimately, if we do not achieve our savings target, we run the risk of further staff 
cutbacks and impacting on the services we commission. 
 

How will fewer CCGs impact on our members and partners? 

By moving to two CCGs, we know that there may be concerns about the dilution of 
the voice of five smaller CCGs. However, we are already working with groups of GP 
practices and others at a local level across Durham and Tees Valley that focus on 
people’s health and wellbeing in local communities. We will be strengthening the 
clinical leadership within the new CCGs.  
 

How will having one CCG impact on patients and their carers? 

Two single CCGs would ensure consistency and help make our resources go further, 
delivering fair outcomes for patients no matter where they live. It would not affect 
frontline patient services. Our financial resources are directly linked to supporting 
these communities in improving health outcomes and reducing inequality. 
 
As many of our existing teams already work across Durham and Tees Valley there 
are good relationships and engagement networks in all areas that put local people’s 
views and experiences at the heart of our decision-making. We will continue to build 
on these relationships and strengthen joint working with partners. 
 
So that people’s voices are heard no matter where they live in Durham and Tees 
Valley, we will continue to meet our statutory duties to provide information about, and 
opportunities to influence, our plans, priorities and any future plans to change 
services. 

What would you like my views about? 

We would like to know what is important to you, as an individual (or organisation), so 
that we can reflect upon this in the process to create a new CCG.  
At the end of this document you will find a small number of questions that we would 
like to ask you about our proposals. 
 

Page 312



How will my views be used? 

All of the views that we receive will be summarised and presented to the CCG 
Governing Bodies to help them decide on a proposal to create a new CCG/s. 
 

Who will make the final decision? 

The Governing Bodies of each CCG will make the decision about whether to apply to 
NHS England to merge the CCGs once they have the views of GP ‘members’, staff, 
partners and the public. 
 
The results of this engagement will be discussed when the Governing Bodies 
consider the merger proposal at their meetings in August 2019 in Tees Valley and in 
Durham.  
 
NHS England will then review our plans and let us know whether we can proceed by 
November 2019. 

Working with Healthwatch 

We are talking to local Healthwatch organisations to understand their views on our 
proposals and to make sure that a wide range of local people’s views are taken into 
account. Through their ongoing outreach activity and events they will be helping 
communities to receive and understand information about this proposal and gathering 
people’s views.  
 
You can contact your local Healthwatch for more information:  
 

Page 313



 

How do I tell you my views? 

 

Please complete the form on page nine and return it by one of the following 
methods: 
 
Email:  
 
Post:  
 
Online: https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/V5XMG6N 
 
by no later than 31st July 2019 
  

Page 314

https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/V5XMG6N
https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/V5XMG6N


Proposal to create two new CCGs in Durham and Tees Valley 

 
Your views 
 
Please use a separate sheet of paper if you need more space to respond. 
 
1 Are you responding as an individual or on behalf of an organisation? 
(Please tick which one applies): 
 

o As an individual 
o On behalf of an organisation (please state which below) 

 
 
……………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
2 Please indicate which Clinical Commissioning Group area you live in?  
 

o NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group  
 

o NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Group  

 
o NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on- Tees Clinical Commissioning Group  

 
o NHS North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group  

 
o NHS South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group  

 
o Don't know 

 

 
 
3 What benefits could you see from CCGs merging? 
 
……………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
 
4 What concerns do you have about a CCG merging? 
 
……………………………………………………………………………….. 
 

Page 315



……………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
5 Is there anything else you’d like to tell us, or any questions which have not 
been answered? 
 
……………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………….. 
 

 
The feedback from this engagement will be available on CCGs and 

Healthwatch websites 

Page 316



County Durham and the Tees Valley 
Clinical Commissioning Groups

Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group

Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group

Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning Group

North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group

South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group

Proposals for new clinical 

commissioning groups for 

Tees Valley and Durham 

CCGs 

P
age 317



County Durham and the Tees Valley 
Clinical Commissioning Groups

What are the current arrangements?

There are five CCGs covering Teesside, Darlington 

and Durham:

• NHS Darlington CCG

• NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 

CCG

• NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG

• NHS North Durham CCG 

• NHS South Tees CCG

P
age 318



County Durham and the Tees Valley 
Clinical Commissioning Groups

Between them, they plan, buy and monitor 

NHS services for a population of over 1.2m 

million people.

P
age 319



County Durham and the Tees Valley 
Clinical Commissioning Groups

What do CCGs do?
• CCGs plan, buy and monitor (commissioning) most hospital and healthcare 

services in the local area.

• The types of services commissioned by CCGs include:

▪ planned hospital care

▪ rehabilitative care

▪ urgent and emergency care (including out-of-hours and NHS 111)

▪ most community health services

▪ mental health services

▪ learning disability and/or autism services

CCGs are regulated by NHS England and are accountable to the Secretary of 

State for Health and Social Care. 

• Our proposals will not affect any of these services or your ability to 

use them.

P
age 320



County Durham and the Tees Valley 
Clinical Commissioning Groups

Why do we want to make these 

changes? 
• Shared Accountable Officer and management team 

since Oct 2018, working at scale whilst retaining strong 

focus on local communities but,

• Long Term Plan requires:

▪ Fewer CCGs 

▪ Creation of ‘strategic’ commissioning organisations

▪ Reduction in running costs by 20% 

▪ Need to focus on transforming services across 

providers to provide better outcomes for patients and 

to reduce inequality

• Merger could help us provide these and additional 

benefits

P
age 321



County Durham and the Tees Valley 
Clinical Commissioning Groups

Our Proposals
1. Single CCG across the ICS i.e. Cumbria and the North East

2. Single CCG across the 5-CCG collaborative: merger of Darlington 

CCG, Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield CCG; Hartlepool & 

Stockton-on-Tees CCG; North Durham CCG and South Tees CCG.

3. Single CCG across each Integrated Care Partnership: i.e. the 

southern ICP (South Tees CCG, Hartlepool and Stockton on Tees 

CCG and Darlington CCG) and the central ICP (Durham Dales, 

Easington and Sedgefield CCG, North Durham CCG, South 

Tyneside CCG and Sunderland CCG)

4. Two CCGs with a shared management structure i.e. a single 

Tees Valley CCG and a single Durham CCG whilst retaining a 

shared management structure

P
age 322



County Durham and the Tees Valley 
Clinical Commissioning Groups

What our proposals are NOT about

• This proposal is not about any other NHS 

organisations – like hospitals and mental 

health, community or family doctor (GP) 

services - or any health or care services 

provided by the NHS or local councils. 

• It does not affect any services we buy from 

voluntary and community sector (VCS) or 

any other organisations.

P
age 323



County Durham and the Tees Valley 
Clinical Commissioning Groups

Principles
• No detrimental impact on patient services.

• Balance of benefits between commissioning at scale with 

understanding local needs.

• Focus on local work with practice networks, local authorities and 

others is retained and remains a priority.

• Strong clinical leadership both within the CCGs and the local system 

is supported.

• Greater level of management efficiency so that funding can be 

directed to patient care.

• Not be distracted from delivery of our key priorities including 

transformation of clinical pathways and the development of local 

primary care networks.

• Any changes are fit for purpose in the longer term, supporting our 

endeavours to work effectively with partners whilst ensuring the 

CCGs have a strengthened voice in system decision making.

P
age 324



County Durham and the Tees Valley 
Clinical Commissioning Groups

Expected benefits

We will be able to:

• Progress our work to create a stronger, clearer and more consistent 

commissioning voice for our area, building on the strong foundations 

of locality-based GP-led commissioning and be more able to deliver 

the resilient and sustainable NHS services that local people need.

• Have the ability to transform patient pathways across locally linked 

providers, which will help us to address health inequalities.

• Eliminate the significant administrative burden that comes from 

running five statutory organisations.  Operating more streamlined 

corporate functions would enable us to focus more of our people 

and resources on delivering improved services and better patient 

experience.

P
age 325



County Durham and the Tees Valley 
Clinical Commissioning Groups

Why we think option 4 would work best

• We can retain a local focus whilst making greater 

savings

• It will support pathway transformation and greater 

equality in clinical outcomes across our populations

• It will strengthen our work with the Local Authorities

• It will help us use our clinical leadership effectively 

across a broader population base

• It will support financial sustainability

• It is likely to be supported by partners, stakeholders and 

NHS England

P
age 326



County Durham and the Tees Valley 
Clinical Commissioning Groups

What this will mean for patients and the public
• Our proposals do not affect any of the services we buy or your ability to use 

them 

• Two single CCGs would ensure consistency and help make our resources 

go further, delivering fairer outcomes for patients no matter where they live. 

It would not affect frontline patient services.

• As many of our existing teams already work across Durham and Tees Valley 

there are good relationships and engagement networks in all areas that put 

local people’s views and experiences at the heart of our decision-making. 

We will continue to build on these relationships and strengthen joint working 

with partners.

• So that people’s voices are heard no matter where they live in Durham and 

Tees Valley, we will continue to meet our statutory duties to provide 

information about, and opportunities to influence, our plans, priorities and 

any future plans to change services.

P
age 327



County Durham and the Tees Valley 
Clinical Commissioning Groups

What happens next?
• We are working with the local Healthwatch organisations 

to engage with patients and the public to get their views 

on our plans

• We are talking to our partners, like providers and the 

Councils and to stakeholders, like MPs and other CCGs 

to get their views

• These will inform the decisions our Governing Bodies will 

make in their meetings at the end of August

• If we decide to submit an application to NHS England in 

August as required, they will tell us whether we can 

establish the new CCGs from April 2020

• We will continue to engage partners, stakeholders and 

the public during this time

P
age 328



County Durham and the Tees Valley 
Clinical Commissioning Groups

Please have your say

• What other:

▪ Benefits or challenges do you think there will be if we 

go ahead with the proposed mergers?

▪ What other factors should we consider before we 

make any decisions about progressing the proposals?

• What are your views on the emerging preferred 

option?

• Do you have any views on the new name(s) of 

the organisation(s)?

P
age 329



County Durham and the Tees Valley 
Clinical Commissioning Groups

How to engage further

• Your local Healthwatch is working with us to 

gather public views.

• They can be contacted at:

P
age 330


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the meeting held on 8 May 2019
	8 A Vision for County Durham: Report and Presentation of Corporate Director Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council
	Item 8 - A vision for County Durham presentation

	9 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment: Report of Director of Public Health, Durham County Council
	10 Area Action Partnership update: Report and presentation of Area Action Partnership Coordinator, East Durham Rural Corridor AAP, Durham County Council, and presentation from Revitalise Project
	Item 10 - Revitalise Project presentation

	11 Tobacco Control Annual Update: Report of Director of Public Health, Durham County Council
	12 Tobacco Dependency in Pregnancy: Report of Director of Public Health, Durham County Council
	13 Joining the Dots update: Report of Director of Public Health, Durham County Council, and update from Service User
	14 Joint Health and Social Care Commissioning Strategy - Learning Disabilities: Report of Strategic Commissioning Manager, Learning Disabilities and Mental Health, Durham County Council
	Item 14 - Joint Commissioning Strategy LD - Strategy
	Item 14 - Joint Commissioning Strategy LD - Presentation

	15 Better Care Fund Q4 performance: Report of Strategic Programme Manager Integration, Durham County Council
	16 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy Q4 performance update: Report and presentation of Head of Strategy, Transformation and Partnerships, Durham County Council
	Item 16 - JHWS Appendix 2 - Q4 2018-19 Scorecard
	Item 16 - JHWS Escalation Areas

	17 Healthwatch County Durham Annual report 2018/19 and Workplan 2019/20: Report of Chair, Healthwatch County Durham
	Item 17 - Healthwatch - Annual Report

	18 Health and Wellbeing Board Campaigns: Presentation of Director of Public Health, Durham County Council
	19 Integrated Care System: Report of Chief Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups
	Item 19 - ICS - Appendix 2

	20 Clinical Commissioning Group merger: Report of Chief Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups
	Item 20 - CCG Merger Proposal - Appendix 2
	Item 20 - CCG Merger Proposal - Appendix 3


